

Technische Universität München

TUM School of Computation, Information and Technology

Semicausality in Quantum Information Theory

Markus Hasenöhrl

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Computation, Information and Technology der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitz:

Prof. Dr. Simone Warzel

Prüfer*innen der Dissertation:

1. Prof. Dr. Michael M. Wolf

2. Prof. Dr. Dariusz Chruściński

Die Dissertation wurde am 21.11.2022 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Computation, Information and Technology am 27.04.2023 angenommen.

Acknowledgments

First, and foremost I would like to thank my supervisor, Prof. Michael M. Wolf for his constant support, his insight, trust and encouragement throughout the last three years. On top of that, I'd like to thank him for his flexibility when adjusting my contract during my last few weeks at the university.

More broadly, I would like to thank both, Prof. Wolf and Prof. König for creating such an amazing environment in which open discussion (not only about science) was always strongly encouraged, which made my time in the M5 group extremely enjoyable. And Silvia, the heart and sole of our chair, for managing all non-scientific matters so perfectly.

A special thanks goes to Prof. Dariusz Chruściński for agreeing to be a reviewer on the committee as well as to Prof. Simone Warzel for being the chair of the committee. Thank you both so much.

Moreover, I would like to thank Matthias Caro not only for the countless hours we spent struggling through our joint projects - I hope you enjoyed this at least a tiny little bit as much as I did.

The last three years would not have been the same without my colleagues and friends: Matthias, Alex, Vjosa, Yifan, Tim, Farzin, Zahra, Shin Ho, Chokri, Amanda, Angela, Libor, Cambyse, Li, Margret, Andreas and Javier. Thank you all for making this such a pleasant experience.

Letztes, aber definitiv nicht zuetzt gebührt der Dank meiner Famile. Allen voran meinen Eltern, die mich immer bedingsungslos unterstützt haben; meinen Großeltern aus Loig und Bergheim von denen ein wichtiger Teil die Vollendung leider nicht mehr miterleben durfte; meiner Schwester Maria mit Mike; meinen Schwiegereltern Regina und Karl; und zu guter letzt Johanna, deren Zuspruch und Motivation (nicht nur) in letzter Zeit besoders wichtig war. Danke!

"The first principle is that you must not fool yourself — and you are the easiest person to fool. So you have to be very careful about that. After you've not fooled yourself, it's easy not to fool other scientists. You just have to be honest in a conventional way after that."

——— Richard P. Feynman

Zusammenfassung

Diese Dissertation befasst sich mit verschiedenen Fragestellungen in der Theorie der offenen Quantensysteme, welche alle auf der Idee des gerichteten Informationsflusses, welche im folgenden als Semikausalität bezeichnet wird, aufbauen.

In unserem ersten Beitrag benutzen wir Semikausalität um ein verallgemeinertes Modell für interaktionsfreie Messungen nach Elitzur-Vaidman herzuleiten. Der wesentliche Beitrag hierbei ist die vollständige Analyse des so entstandenen Modells. Das Hauptresultat ist die Antwort auf die Frage, welche Objekte man mittels komplett interaktionsfreier Messungen unterscheiden kann.

Der zweite Beitrag ist motivert durch die Frage, wie man den Verfallsprozess von Quantengeräten beschreiben kann. Als einfaches Modell untersuchen wir dynamische Halbgrupppen von sog. Superkanälen. Diese gehen mathematisch aus semikausalen Kanälen durch eine Ähnlichkeitstransformation hervor. Wir charakterisieren diese dynamischen Halbgruppen indem wir eine Normalform für die zugehörigen Generatoren ableiten. Diese ist analog zur GKSL Form von Generatoren gewöhnlicher quantendynamischer Halbgruppen.

Als letzten Beitrag verallgemeinern wir die Techniken, welche wir für Superkanäle entwickelt haben. Diese Verallgemeinerung führt zu einer Charakterisierung der Generatoren quantendynamischer Halbgruppen, welche eine atomare von Neumann Algebra invariant lassen.

Abstract

This dissertation treats several topics in the theory of open quantum systems, all of which are related to one-way information flow – a concept called semicausality.

In our first contribution, we use semicausality to derive a generalized model of "interaction-free" measurements in the spirit of the Elitzur-Vaidman bomb-tester experiment. We subsequently analyze that model, and provide a complete answer to the question of which objects can be discriminated in an "interaction-free" manner.

Motivated by the question "How can we describe the decay-process of quantum devices over time?", we study dynamical semigroups of superchannels, which are related to dynamical semigroups of semicausal channels by a similarity transform. We characterize these dynamical semigroups by providing a normal form for their generators – analogous to the GKLS-form for ordinary quantum dynamical semigroups.

Finally, we extend the scope of the techniques developed for superchannels to characterize the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups with an invariant atomic von Neumann algebra.

List of contributed articles

Core articles as principal author

- I) [1] Markus Hasenöhrl and Michael M. Wolf "Interaction-Free" Channel Discrimination Published in Ann. Henri Poincaré (2022); https://doi.org/10.1007/s00023-022-01175-z
- II) [2] Markus Hasenöhrl and Matthias C. Caro
 Quantum and classical dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal channels
 Published in J. Math. Phys. 63, 072204 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0070635

Further articles as principal author under review

- III) [3] Markus Hasenöhrl and Matthias C. Caro
 On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups with invariant subalgebras
 Accepted in Open Syst. Inf. Dyn.; https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2202.06812
- I, Markus Hasenöhrl, am the principal author of the core articles I, II, and III.

Contents

1	Inti	oduction	1	
	1.1	Outline	1	
	1.2	Summary of Results	2	
2	Elements of the Mathematical Structure of Quantum Theory			
	2.1	Notation and Functional Analysis Basics	3	
	2.2	Quantum Mechanics	4	
		2.2.1 States and Observables	4	
		2.2.2 $$ Transformations of States and Observables: Completely Positive Maps $$.	5	
		2.2.3 The Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism	7	
3	Sen	nicausality, Invariant Algebras and Superchannels	9	
	3.1	Semicausal CP-maps are semilocalizable	10	
	3.2	CP-maps with an invariant algebra	12	
		3.2.1 von Neumann algebras in a nutshell	13	
		3.2.2 Normal Form	15	
	3.3	Transformations of Quantum Channels: Superchannels	15	
4	"Int	eraction-Free" Measurements	19	
	4.1	Concepts	20	
	4.2	Results	21	
5	Dyı	namical Semigroups	25	
	5.1	Motivation	25	
	5.2	General Theory	26	
	5.3	Special Cases	28	
		5.3.1 Quantum Dynamical Semigroups	28	
		5.3.2 Quantum Dynamical Semigroups of Semicausal Maps	29	
		5.3.3 Quantum Dynamical Semigroups with Invariant Algebra	30	
		5.3.4 Semigroups of Superchannels	32	
Bibliography 3				

Appendices

Α	Core Articles	43
	A.1 "Interaction-Free" Channel Discrimination	43
	A.2 Quantum and classical dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal	
	channels	107
в	Further articles as principal author under review	143
	B.1 On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups with invariant subalgebras .	143

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Outline

One-way processes are an important class of processes in many areas of science and technology. The most fundamental one-way process is certainly the flow of time (and the related notion of entropy). It is hard to imagine a world without the notion of cause and effect and without the inherent assumption that actions at a later time do not influence actions at an earlier time.

Another class of one-way processes (which is, as we will see, directly related to the direction of time) are one-communication processes. Quantum channels on a bipartite system that allow for one-way communication only are called semicausal channels. In this thesis, we investigate consequences of the structure of semicausal channels.

In our first contribution, semicausality is used to axiomatically derive a physical model that generalizes the notion of "interaction-free" measurements, as intruduced by Elitzur and Vaidman in their bomb-tester experiment [4]. In that work, we also use semicausality (in the form of superchannels) as a technical tool in the analysis of the model. This led to a full characterization for when totally "interaction-free" measurements are possible.

In our second contribution, we analyze the mathematical structure of semicausal channels and superchannels directly. Here, one notes that the set of semicausal channels as well as the set of superchannels becomes a semigroup under composition. This allows us to investigate the dynamics of these classes of objects – an endeavor that can be physically motivated by the question "How can we describe the decay-process of quantum devices over time?". The dynamics is investigated by studying (continuous) one-parameter semigroups of these objects. Our result is a characterization of the respective generators – analogous to the GKLS-form.

Finally, in our third contribution, we aim to find a more general mathematical setting such that the techniques developed for superchannels and semicausal channels can be applied. This leads us to the study of one-parameter semigroups of quantum channels that leave a given von Neumann algebra invariant. Our main finding is a normal form for the corresponding generators. This thesis is structured as follows: In the remaining section of Chapter 1, we briefly outline the content of the contributed articles [1], [2] and [3]. In Chapter 2 we introduce the relevant machinery of quantum mechanics with emphasis on the axiomatic justification of completely positive maps as maps between quantum states. Chapter 3 formally introduces the notion of semicausality as well as the related notion of CP-maps with an invariant von Neumann algebra, and superchannels. The later objects are motivated thoroughly, because they form the basis of (the interpretation of) Article [2].

Chapter 4 is an introduction to Article [1] and gives a high-level summary of the results therein. Chapter 5 is concerned with the theory of continuous one-parameter semigroups, also known as dynamical semigroups. After motivating and summarizing some of the fundamental results in this field, in particular the one-to-one relation between dynamical semigroups and their generators, we move on to quantum dynamical semigroups, which are of special interest of us. This sets the stage to discuss the results of Articles [2] and [3], where we characterize dynamical semigroups of superchannels and quantum dynamical semigroups with an invariant von Neumann algebra.

1.2 Summary of Results

As outlined in the last section, our results use and investigate semicausality in several ways. In the remainder of this section, we summarize our results.

- Article [1]: "Interaction-free" channel discrimination
 - In this work, we propose and investigate a new generalization of "interaction-free" measurements. Namely, we view the Elitzur-Vaidman bomb-tester experiment as specific case of a quantum channel discrimination problem – with the additional requirement that the discrimination should be "interaction-free". Using semicausality, we derive a model that gives a general meaning to the term "interaction-free". Subsequently, we analyze this model thoroughly. Our main finding is a characterization for when totally "interaction-free" measurements are possible or impossible.
- Article [2]: Quantum and classical dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal channels

In this work, we investigate (the generators of) one-parameter semigroups of quantum superchannels, which are the most general admissible transformation between quantum channels. On a physical level, this investigation promises to shine light on the question "How do quantum devices age?". On a mathematical level, we use the relation between superchannels and semicausal channels and a newly developed technique to arrive at a normal form for the generators of one-parameter semigroups – analogous to the famous GKSL-form for ordinary quantum dynamical semigroups.

• Article [3]: On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups with invariant subalgebras In this work, we aim to generalize the techniques developed for superchannels and semicausal channels in Article [2]. We find that an appropriate generalization of quantum dynamical semigroups of semicausal channels are quantum dynamical semigroups that leave a given von Neumann algebra invariant. Our main finding is a refinement of the GKSL-form for the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups, if the invarinat von Neumann algebra is atomic.

Chapter 2

Elements of the Mathematical Structure of Quantum Theory

In this chapter, we will review some elements of the mathematical structure of quantum theory that are of particular relevance to our work. In terms of the level of abstraction and scope, we will follow Ref. [5].

2.1 Notation and Functional Analysis Basics

We start by fixing the notation. Throughout, \mathcal{H} with some subscript denotes a separable complex Hilbert space, with an inner product denoted by $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$, which is assumed to be linear in the second argument and anti-linear in the first one. We will use Dirac-notation throughout. If \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y} are (complex) Banach spaces, then we denote by $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}; \mathcal{Y})$ the Banach space of continuous linear operators $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$. We abbreviate $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{X})$ by $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$. We define the dual space $\mathcal{X}^* = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}; \mathbb{C})$. In addition to the norm-topology, we can consider the weak-* topology on \mathcal{X}^* , which is the weakest topology such that for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$, the linear functional $\ell_x : \mathcal{X}^* \to \mathbb{C}, x^* \mapsto x^*(x)$ is continuous. The weak-* topology has several nice properties. First, the closed unit ball in \mathcal{X}^* is weak-* compact (this is the famous Banach-Alaoglu theorem). Moreover, if \mathcal{X} is separable, then the weak-* topology is metrizable and hence the notions of compactness and sequential compactness coincide. A map $T : \mathcal{Y}^* \to \mathcal{X}^*$ is weak-* continuous if it is continuous when both \mathcal{Y}^* and \mathcal{X}^* are equipped with the weak-* topology. An important property of weak-* continuous linear maps $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{Y}^*; \mathcal{X}^*)$ that we will use repeatedly is that they have a predual map. More precisely, we have the following:

Lemma 2.1.1. [6, Proposition 2.4.12] $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{Y}^*; \mathcal{X}^*)$ is weak-* continuous if and only if there exists a map $T_* \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}; \mathcal{Y})$ such that $(y^* \circ T_*)(x) = T(y^*)(x)$ for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$ and all $y^* \in \mathcal{Y}^*$.

We will often call weak-* continuous linear maps $normal^1$.

A Banach space of particular interest is the space of bounded linear operators on a Hilbert space, which has a rich structure. The adjoint $X^{\dagger} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ of $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is uniquely defined

¹Normality is often only defined for positive linear maps – and then in terms of bounded increasing nets of operators. It can be shown that for positive maps, normality and weak-* continuity are equivalent properties. Hence, we feel justified to drop this distinction altogether and use weak-* continuity and normality synonymously.

by the relation $\langle \psi | X \phi \rangle = \langle X^{\dagger} \psi | \phi \rangle$, for all $| \psi \rangle, | \phi \rangle \in \mathcal{H}$. The [†]-operation turns $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ into a *-algebra (in fact a von Neumann algebra). An operator $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called self-adjoint (or hermitian) if $X^{\dagger} = X$. A self-adjoint $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called positive semidefinite, denoted by $X \ge 0$, if $\langle \psi | X \psi \rangle \geq 0$ for all $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$. The square-root lemma [7, Theorem VI.9] (or the functional calculus) says that for $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ with $X \geq 0$, there exists a unique positive semidefinite operator $\sqrt{X} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that $X = \sqrt{X}\sqrt{X}$. For any operator $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, we define $|X| = \sqrt{X^{\dagger}X}$. For some fixed orthonormal basis $\{|e_n\rangle\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of \mathcal{H} , we define the set of trace-class operators $S_1(\mathcal{H}) = \{ \rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \mid \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \langle e_n \mid |\rho| e_n \rangle < \infty \}$. In fact the definition of $S_1(\mathcal{H})$ does not depend on the particular choice of the basis, nor does the linear functional tr : $S_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathbb{C}$, defined by $\rho \mapsto \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \langle e_n | \rho e_n \rangle$. The trace-class operators become a Banach space with norm $\|\rho\| = \operatorname{tr}[|\rho|]$. The Riesz representation theorem tells us that for every $\ell \in (\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}))^* = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H});\mathbb{C})$ there exists a unique $L \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that $\ell(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}[L\rho]$ for all $\rho \in \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H})$. The corresponding mapping $\ell \mapsto L$ is an isometric isomorphism $(\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}))^* \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Thus we can identify $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ as the dual of $\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H})$. This identification allows us to define the weak-* topology on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ as the weakest topology such that the mappings $L \mapsto \operatorname{tr}[L\rho]$ are continuous for all $\rho \in \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H})$. Moreover, for any $T_* \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_B))$ there is a normal map $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A))$ such that

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[T(X_{\mathsf{B}})\rho_{\mathsf{A}}\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[X_{\mathsf{B}}T_{*}(\rho_{\mathsf{A}})\right]$$

for all $\rho_{\mathtt{A}} \in S_1(\mathcal{H})$ and $X_{\mathtt{B}} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{B}})$. By Lemma 2.1.1, this is a one-to-one correspondence and the transition between Heisenberg and Schrödinger picture.

Let us further introduce two other topologies on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. The weak operator topology (WOT) is the weakest topology such that the map $X \mapsto \langle \psi | X \phi \rangle$ is continuous for all $|\psi\rangle, |\phi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$. The strong operator topology (SOT) is the weakest topology such that the map $X \mapsto X | \psi \rangle$ is continuous for all $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$.

Finally, we define the commutator of a set $S \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ as $S' = \{X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \mid [X, S] = 0 \text{ for all } S \in S\}.$

2.2 Quantum Mechanics

We are now ready to introduce the mathematical framework of quantum mechanics.

2.2.1 States and Observables

In operational quantum mechanics, physical experiments are usually described by a two-part procedure consisting of a state preparation step and a measurement step. The goal here is to predict the probability of certain measurement outcomes (or, equivalently, the expectation of observables), given the description of the preparation and the measurement apparatus.

It is a postulate of quantum mechanics that for any experiment, the set of observables can be associated with the self-adjoint elements of a C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} . Since states and observables together are supposed to predict expectation values of observables, it is natural to associate states with continuous linear functionals on \mathcal{A} . To comply with the probabilistic interpretation, every state $\omega \in \mathcal{A}^*$ is then further required to be positive (in the sense that $\omega(A) \ge 0$ for all $A \ge 0$) and to have unit norm.

In this thesis, we will only consider the case $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Moreover, we assume all states to be normal (in the sense of Section 2.1). Since $\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H})^* \cong \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, Lemma 2.1.1 implies that for every normal state $\omega \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})^*$, there is a unique $\rho \in \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H})$ such that $\omega(X) = \operatorname{tr} [\rho X]$ for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Moreover, the positivity of ω translates to $\rho \geq 0$ and $\|\omega\| = 1$ translates to $\operatorname{tr} [\rho] = 1$. Thus, we identify the set of states with the positive semidefinite trace-class operators with unit trace, a.k.a. density operators:

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H}) = \{ \rho \in \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}) \mid \rho \ge 0, \operatorname{tr}[\rho] = 1 \}.$$

2.2.2 Transformations of States and Observables: Completely Positive Maps

In this part, we will introduce and motivate very carefully completely positive maps as physical transformations of states and observables. We do so in order to provide the analogy for the axiomatization and interpretation of superchannels in Section 3.3. In the last section, we have stated that in quantum mechanics, observables - associated to a measurement process - are described by operators on a Hilbert space and that the state of a system - associated with a preparation step - is described by a density operator. It is clear that the separation into these two parts is not unique. After all one could regard the whole experiment as a preparation step for reading a number off some display; or, equivalently, one can consider the whole process as part of the measurement procedure and the preparation step just consists of doing nothing. In this regard, it is essential to formalize the notion of "Doing something to a system", so that the whole process of an experiment can be decomposed and analyzed in parts.

Assume that we have access to a physical system, whose preparation is described by a density operator $\rho \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H})$. Now suppose that we "do something" to the system. Certainly, the whole process (preparation + "do something") can be regarded as a preparation step (e.g. by a third party). Thus, the system will be described by a density operator $\rho' \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H})$. Since this sort or reasoning holds independently of the initial preparation process, there must be a map $T_{\mathcal{D}}$: $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H})$ mapping ρ to ρ' . Not every such map is physical. To be physical it must comply with the structure of quantum mechanics. Suppose that the inner workings of the preparation process were such that with probability p, the system was prepared in state $\rho_1 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H})$ and with probability (1 - p) in state $\rho_2 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H})$. Then, for us not knowing the inner workings, we will describe the preparation step by the operator $\rho = p\rho_1 + (1 - p)\rho_2$. If we now "do something", then the state will be $T_{\mathcal{D}}(\rho)$. On the other hand, if the state were ρ_1 , then the final state will be $T_{\mathcal{D}}(\rho_1)$ and $T_{\mathcal{D}}(\rho_2)$ if the state were ρ_2 . However, for us not knowing the inner workings, we will describe this situation by the state $pT_{\mathcal{D}}(\rho_1) + (1 - p)T_{\mathcal{D}}(\rho_2)$. Thus, to reconcile these two points of view, we must demand that

$$T_{\mathcal{D}}(p\rho_1 + (1-p)\rho_2) = pT_{\mathcal{D}}(\rho_1) + (1-p)T_{\mathcal{D}}(\rho_2)$$

for all $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{H})$ and $0 \leq p \leq 1$. In conclusion, the probabilistic structure of quantum mechanics implies that transformation maps are convex-linear. It can be shown that such map $T_{\mathcal{D}}$ can be uniquely extended to a (bounded) trace-preserving positive linear map $T_*: S_1(\mathcal{H}) \to$ $S_1(\mathcal{H})$ (by first extending to positive traceclass operators via $T_*(P_+) = \operatorname{tr}[P_+] T_{\mathcal{D}}(\frac{P_+}{\operatorname{tr}[P_+]})$ and then to all of $S_1(\mathcal{H})$ by linearity - see e.g. [8, Page 175 and Proposition 2.30]). A further structure of quantum mechanics is that composite systems are described by tensor products. That is, if we have two systems **A** and **B** with associated Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B then the associated Hilbert space of the combined system is $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$. If we "do something" on system **B** and do nothing on system **A** then the transformation on the combined system is naturally given by $\operatorname{id}_A \otimes T_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$. Given that this map is associated with a transformation, it has to be a (bounded) trace-preserving positive linear map. Clearly the argument just given is valid for any choice of the system **A**. It turns out that the property (positivity) holding for infinite-dimensional \mathcal{H}_A is already implied if positivity of $\operatorname{id}_A \otimes T_*$ holds for all finite-dimensional \mathcal{H}_A . We thus make the following definition:

Definition 2.2.1. (CP-map)

A linear map $T_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}) \to S_1(\mathcal{H})$ is called completely positive (CP), if $(\mathrm{id}_n \otimes T_*) : S_1(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H}) \to S_1(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H})$ is a positive linear map for all $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

A linear map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called completely positive if $(\mathrm{id}_n \otimes T) : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H})$ is a positive linear map for all $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

A completely positive and trace-preserving (CPTP) linear map $T_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}) \to S_1(\mathcal{H})$ is called (Schrödinger) quantum channel. A completely positive and unital (i.e., $T(\mathbb{1}) = \mathbb{1}$) linear map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called (Heisenberg) quantum channel.

Remark 2.2.2. It is immediate from the definition that a normal linear map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is completely positive if and only if the corresponding predual map $T_* : \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H})$ is completely positive. Moreover, $T(\mathbb{1}) = \mathbb{1}$ is equivalent to tr $[T_*(\rho)] = \text{tr}[\rho]$ for all $\rho \in \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H})$. Thus Heisenberg quantum channels are precisely the dual maps of Schrödinger quantum channels.

Do we need further restrictions for physical "do something" maps? The answer to this question appears to be no, because the following theorem due to Stinespring [9] shows that completely positive maps can be dilated to a Hamiltonian evolution an a larger system - thus we recover ordinary quantum theory.

Theorem 2.2.3. (Stinespring dilation theorem) Let $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{I}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{0})$ be a normal CP-map. Then there exists a Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_{E} and an operator $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{0}; \mathcal{H}_{I} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ such that

$$T(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V \tag{2.2.1}$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{I})$.

The pair (V, \mathcal{H}_{E}) can be chosen such that span{ $(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V|\psi\rangle | X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{I}), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{0}$ } is dense in $\mathcal{H}_{I} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E}$. In that case, we call the pair (V, \mathcal{H}_{E}) minimal. Moreover, in that case, we have the following uniqueness statement: If $(\tilde{V}, \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}})$ is another pair satisfying (2.2.1), then there exists an isometry $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{E}; \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}})$ such that $\tilde{V} = (\mathbb{1}_{I} \otimes U)V$.

Remark 2.2.4. Stinespring proved his dilation theorem for CP-maps on arbitrary C^* -algebras, \mathcal{C} [9]. More precisely he proved that there exists a Hilbert space \mathcal{K} and a *-representation $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$ such that $T(X) = V^{\dagger} \pi(X) V$ for all $X \in \mathcal{C}$. If \mathcal{C} is a von Neuman algebra (or even W^* -algebra) and T is normal, then it can be shown that π can be chosen normal as well [10, P. 137]. Moreover, normal *-representations have a special form [11, Proposition 2.7.4]: namely, they can be written as a composition of an amplification, an induction and a spatial isomorphism. If $C = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{I})$, then inductions are trivial and the spatial isomorphism can be absorbed into the operator V, leading to the specialized form (2.2.1) for normal CP-maps. A proof of the uniqueness statement can be found e.g. in [12, P. 46].

A well known corollary to the Stinespring dilation theorem is that normal CP-maps admit a Kraus representation.

Theorem 2.2.5. Let $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be a normal CP-map. Then there exists a family of operators $\{K_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that

$$T(X) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} K_n^{\dagger} X K_n,$$

where the series SOT-converges for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$.

Proof. (sketch) Chose an orthonormal basis $\{|e_n\rangle\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of \mathcal{H}_{E} in Stinespring's theorem and define $K_n = (\mathbb{1} \otimes \langle e_n |) V$. The properties are then routinely verified. \Box

2.2.3 The Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism

An important tool (not only when dealing with CP-map) in finite-dimensional quantum information theory is the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism (a.k.a. channel state duality). In this part (and whenever we deal with the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism) we will only consider finite-dimensional Hilbert spaces.

Definition 2.2.6. (Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism) Let \mathcal{H}_{A} and \mathcal{H}_{B} be finite-dimensional Hilbert spaces and let $\{|a_{n}\rangle\}_{n=1}^{d_{A}}$ be an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}_{A} .

The Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism is the linear map $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A);\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ defined by

$$\mathfrak{C}_{\mathsf{A};\mathsf{B}}(T) = (\mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes T)(|\Omega\rangle \langle \Omega|),$$

where $|\Omega\rangle = \sum_{n=1}^{d_{\mathbf{A}}} |a_n\rangle \otimes |a_n\rangle$.

Remark 2.2.7. Note that the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism depends on the choice of basis $\{|a_n\rangle\}_{n=1}^{d_{\mathbb{A}}}$. Throughout, we will assume some arbitrary but fixed choice.

The Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism is useful because of the following properties

Theorem 2.2.8. (Choi's theorem, [13])

• $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}$ is a bijective linear map with inverse given by

$$\mathfrak{C}_{\mathtt{A};\mathtt{B}}^{-1}(\tau)(\rho) = \mathrm{tr}_{\mathtt{A}}\left[(\rho^T \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathtt{B}})\tau\right],$$

where ^T is the transpose w.r.t. $\{|a_n\rangle\}_{n=0}^{d_A}$.

- A linear map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B})$ is hermiticity preserving (i.e. T(H) is self-adjoint whenever H is self-adjoint) if and only if $\mathfrak{C}_{A:B}(T)$ self-adjoint.
- A linear map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B})$ is completely positive if and only if $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(T)$ is positive semidefinite.
- A linear map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B})$ is trace-preserving if and only if $\operatorname{tr}_{B}[\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(T)] = \mathbb{1}_{A}$.
- A linear map $T: \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B})$ is unital if and only if $\operatorname{tr}_{A}[\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(T)] = \mathbb{1}_{B}$.

Thus some relatively complex properties translate to much simpler properties when one looks at them through the lens of the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism. In later applications, it is also useful to know how to do similarity transformations with the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism. Here is a helpful lemma, proven in [2, Lemma V.20].

Lemma 2.2.9. (Translation Lemma, [2, Lemma V.20]) Let $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$ be given by

$$T(X) = \operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{E}}\left[(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes L_{\mathsf{B}})(L_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}})X(R_{\mathsf{A}}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}})(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes R_{\mathsf{B}}^{\dagger})\right],$$

with Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_{C} and \mathcal{H}_{E} , operators L_{A} , $R_{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}; \mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{C})$ and L_{B} , $R_{B} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{C} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}; \mathcal{H}_{B} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$. \mathcal{H}_{E}). Then, for $S \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B}))$ and $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A})$,

$$\left[\mathfrak{C}_{\mathbf{A};\mathbf{B}}^{-1} \circ T \circ \mathfrak{C}_{\mathbf{A};\mathbf{B}}\right](S)(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{\mathbf{E}}\left[V_L(S \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathbf{C}})\left(W_L \rho W_R^{\dagger}\right) V_R^{\dagger}\right]$$

with $V_L = L_{\mathsf{B}} \mathbb{F}_{\mathsf{B};\mathsf{C}}$, $V_R = R_{\mathsf{B}} \mathbb{F}_{\mathsf{B};\mathsf{C}}$; and $W_L = L_{\mathsf{A}}^{T_{\mathsf{A}}}$, $W_R = R_{\mathsf{A}}^{T_{\mathsf{A}}}$. Here, the partial transpose on \mathcal{H}_{A} is taken w.r.t. $\{|a_n\rangle\}_{n=0}^{d_{\mathsf{A}}}$ and $\mathbb{F}_{\mathsf{B};\mathsf{C}}$ is the flip operator, flipping systems B and C .

Chapter 3

Semicausality, Invariant Algebras and Superchannels

In this chapter, we introduce the notion of semicausality and its most important applications. Section 3.1 is devoted to the equivalence between semicausality and the more constructive notion of semilocalizability for CP-maps. In Section 3.3, we introduce superchannels [14], that is transformations between quantum channels. We study the relation between superchannels and semicausal CP-maps and discuss the fundamental results [14].

The notion of semicausality was introduced by Beckman et al. [15]. It captures the intuition of one-way communication $\mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{B}$, or, more precisely the impossibility of communication from \mathbb{B} to \mathbb{A} . In order to ensure this, we demand that for a semicausal CPTP-map $T_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{B}}) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{B}})$,

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{B}}\left[T_{*}(\rho_{\mathsf{A}\mathsf{B}})\right] = T_{*}^{\mathsf{A}}(\operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{B}}\left[\rho_{\mathsf{A}\mathsf{B}}\right])$$

holds for some CPTP-map $T^{\mathtt{A}}_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{A}}) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{A}})$ and all $\rho_{\mathtt{AB}} \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{B}})$. That is to say that the reduced evolution on system A does not depend on the B-part of the system. Formally, we say that such a map is Schrödinger $\mathtt{B} \not\to \mathtt{A}$ semicausal.

We can also find the corresponding condition in the Heisenberg picture, which is useful for technical reasons. If T_* is a Schrödinger $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal map, with reduced map T_*^A and corresponding dual maps T and T^A , then

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[(T^{\mathsf{A}}(X_{\mathsf{A}}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}})\rho_{\mathsf{A}\mathsf{B}}\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[T^{\mathsf{A}}(X_{\mathsf{A}})\operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{B}}[\rho_{\mathsf{A}\mathsf{B}}]\right]$$
$$= \operatorname{tr}\left[X_{\mathsf{A}}T^{\mathsf{A}}_{*}(\operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{B}}[\rho_{\mathsf{A}\mathsf{B}}])\right]$$
$$= \operatorname{tr}\left[X_{\mathsf{A}}\operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{B}}\left[T_{*}(\rho_{\mathsf{A}\mathsf{B}})\right]\right]$$
$$= \operatorname{tr}\left[(X_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}})T_{*}(\rho_{\mathsf{A}\mathsf{B}})\right]$$
$$\operatorname{tr}\left[T(X_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}})\rho_{\mathsf{A}\mathsf{B}}\right]$$

holds for all $X_{\mathtt{A}} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{A}})$ and all $\rho_{\mathtt{A}\mathtt{B}} \in \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{B}})$. Thus, if T_* is Schrödinger $\mathtt{B} \not\to \mathtt{A}$ semicausal, then

$$T(X_{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}}) = T^{\mathbf{A}}(X_{\mathbf{A}}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}}.$$
(3.0.1)

We call a map satisfying (3.0.1) Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal. Let us summarize the previous discussion in the following definition, in which we replace that letter T by L, because we make no assumptions such as complete positivity in general.

Definition 3.0.1. (Semicausal map)

A bounded linear map $L_*: \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is called Schrödinger $B \not\to A$ semicausal, if there exists $L^A_*: \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_A) \to \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_A)$ such that $\operatorname{tr}_B[L_*(\rho)] = L^A_*(\operatorname{tr}_B[\rho])$ for all $\rho \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$. A bounded linear map $L: \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_A) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_A)$ is called Heisenberg $B \not\to A$ semicausal if there exists $L^A: \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ such that $L(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = L^A(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$ for all $X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$.

Remark 3.0.2. We have already seen that L_* being Schrödinger $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal implies that L is Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal. Moreover, a converse is also true, i.e. the predual-map of a normal Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal map is Schrödinger $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal.

Remark 3.0.3. Requiring that a map L is Heisenberg $\mathbb{B} \not\rightarrow \mathbb{A}$ semicausal is equivalent to requiring that L leaves the von-Neumann algebra $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{A}}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{B}}$ invariant - this was already noted in [16]. This observation, together with the realization that the techniques developed for semicausal maps in Article 2 can be extended to capture the more general case of maps with an invariant atomic von-Neumann algebra led to the investigations in Article 3.

In the next part we discuss an operational characterization of semicausal CP-maps.

3.1 Semicausal CP-maps are semilocalizable

The usefulness of semicausal CP-maps comes from the fact that they have an operational interpretation in terms of a concept called semilocalizability (see Fig. 3.1 for a visual representation).

Definition 3.1.1. (Semilocalizable CP-map)

A CP-map $T_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is called Schrödinger $B \not\to A$ semilocalizable if there exist Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_E and \mathcal{H}_F , an operator $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_F)$ and an isometry $U : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_F \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ such that

$$T(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{E}} \left[(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes U) (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}}) \rho (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}})^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes U)^{\dagger} \right]$$

for all $\rho \in \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$.

A normal CP-map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is called Heisenberg $B \not\to A$ semilocalizable if the predual map is Schrödinger $B \not\to A$ semilocalizable. In particular, T is Heisenberg $B \not\to A$ semilocalizable if it is given by

$$T(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V, \text{ with } V = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}}),$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$.



Figure 3.1: Interpretation of a Schrödinger $\mathbb{B} \not\to \mathbb{A}$ semilocalizable CP-map in terms of two processes: 1) A CP-map $G_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{A}}) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{F}})$, defined by $G_*(\rho_{\mathbb{A}}) = A \rho_{\mathbb{A}} A^{\dagger}$ that acts on Alice's side and sends a temporary system \mathbb{F} to Bob; and 2) a *CPTP-map* $F_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{F}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{B}}) \to$ $S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{B}})$, defined by $F_*(\rho_{\mathbb{FB}}) = \operatorname{tr}_{\mathbb{E}} [U \rho_{\mathbb{FB}} U^{\dagger}]$ that acts on Bob's side and processes the system \mathbb{F} .

Remark 3.1.2. By using that U is an isometry, it is easy to see that semilocalizable maps are semicausal.

Remark 3.1.3. If T_* is trace-preserving, then A is an isometry. Hence the CP-maps F_* and G_* , defined in Fig. 3.1 are both trace-preserving.

Remark 3.1.4. A pivotal point in the definition above is that U is an isometry. In fact, if we drop this requirement then every CP-map $T_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ (for finite-dimensional spaces) can be decomposed as

$$T_* = (\mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes F_*) \circ (G \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{B}}), \tag{3.1.1}$$

for CP-maps F_* and G_* , with signature defined in Fig. 3.1, as the following teleportation-inspired construction shows: Define $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}} = \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}}$ and $|\Omega\rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{d_{\mathbf{A}}} |a_i a_i\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}}$, where $\{|a_i\rangle\}_i$ is some fixed orthonormal basis of $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}}$ and $d_{\mathbf{A}}$ is the dimension of $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}}$. We then define

$$F_*(\rho_{\mathsf{AAB}}) = (\langle \Omega | \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}}) \left[(\mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes T)(\rho_{\mathsf{AAB}}) \right] (|\Omega\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}}), \quad \text{and} \quad G_*(\rho_{\mathsf{A}}) = |\Omega\rangle \langle \Omega | \otimes \rho_{\mathsf{A}}.$$

It is then easy to verify (3.1.1). Note also that the construction doesn't depend on T_* being completely positive - however, then G_* also wouldn't be completely positive.

While semicausality is an axiomatic notion for the impossibility of communication $B \rightarrow A$, semilocalizability explicitly gives a mechanism by which A communicates with B. The pleasing fact is that these two notions are equivalent. This equivalence was conjectured in [15], first proven by Eggeling et al. [16] and later rediscovered by Piani et al. [17]. Both proofs were in the finitedimensional setting. An extension to the infinite-dimensional setting can be found in Ref. [18]. We state the theorem as follows: **Theorem 3.1.5.** (Semicausal CP-maps are semilocalizable) A CP-map $T_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is Schrödinger $B \not\to A$ semicausal if and only if it is Schrödinger $B \not\to A$ semilocalizable. It follows that a normal CP-map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is Heisenberg $B \not\to A$ semicausal if and only if it is Heisenberg $B \not\to A$ semicausal if and be a value of $A \to A$ semicausal if and only if it is Heisenberg $B \not\to A$ semicausal if and be a value of $A \to A$ semicausal if and be a value of $A \to A$ semicausal if and be a value of A \to A semicausal if and be a value of $A \to A$ semicausal if a value of A \to A semicausal if a value of $A \to A$ semicausal if a value of $A \to$

The proofs essential ingredient is the uniqueness of the Stinespring dilation up to unitaries. Since the techniques involved play an important role in Articles [2] and [3], we paraphrase the proof of references [16, 18].

Proof. For technical convenience, we prove the statement in the Heisenberg picture. Let $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$ be a normal CP-map satisfying the semicausality condition $T(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) = T^{A}(X_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}$. Clearly, $T^{A} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A})$ is also a normal CP-map (take partial trace w.r.t. some state). Applying Stinespring's dilation theorem (Theorem 2.2.3) to both maps yields that there exist Hilbert spaces $\mathcal{H}_{E}, \mathcal{H}_{F}$ and operators $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}; \mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ and $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}; \mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ such that

$$T(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V, \text{ and } T^{\mathtt{A}}(X_{\mathtt{A}}) = A^{\dagger}(X_{\mathtt{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{F}})A$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$ and all $X_{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A})$ and such that $S = \operatorname{span}\{(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{F})A|\psi_{A}\rangle | X_{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}), |\psi_{A}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{A}\}$ is dense in $\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{F}$. The semicausality relation then reads

$$V^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{E}})V = [A^{\dagger}(A_{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}})A] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}}$$
$$= (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}})^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}})(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}}).$$

It follows form the density of S that span{ $(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{F} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})|\psi_{AB}\rangle | X_{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}), |\psi_{AB}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}$ } $\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}$ } is dense in $\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{F} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}$. Hence $(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}, \mathcal{H}_{F} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$ is a minimal dilation. Moreover, $(V, \mathcal{H}_{B} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ is another dilation of the same map $(X_{A} \mapsto T^{A}(X_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})$. Thus, by the uniquenesspart of Theorem 2.2.3, there exists and isometry $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{F} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}; \mathcal{H}_{B} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ such that $V = (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})$. This is the claim. \Box

In the next section, we generalize the notion of semicausality and state a generalized semicausality, semilocalizability equivalence theorem that is an important result in Article [3].

3.2 CP-maps with an invariant algebra

In the last sections we introducted semicausal CP-maps and characterized them in terms of semilocalizability. In this section, we are going to generalize the results of the previous sections. To this end, note that saying that $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal is equivalent to stating that T leaves the type-I factor von Neuman algebra $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$ invariant. In view of the explicit representation of semicausal CP-maps, this observation immediately suggests a generalized question: "How do (normal) CP-maps that leave a generic von Neuman algebra invariant look like?".

The partial answer to this question (we were only able the question for atomic von Neuman algebras – which does, however, include the important finite-dimensional case) is one of the main

results of Article [3] (alongside answering the corresponding question for GKLS-generators). Before stating the result, we review some von Neumann algebra theory.

3.2.1 von Neumann algebras in a nutshell

The main aim of this interlude is to define the relavant notions from the theory of von Neuman algebras so that the results (which are presented in Sections 3.2.2 and 5.3.3) of Article [3] can be readily understood. We start with the fundamental definition.

Definition 3.2.1. A subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ that is closed under adjoints and (topologically) closed w.r.t. the weak operator topology is called *weakly closed *-algebra*. If a weakly closed *-algebra contains the identity, then it is called a *von Neuman algebra*.

Qualitatively, there is not a big difference between weakly closed *-algebras and von Neumann algebras, since any weakly closed *-algebra is (unitarily equivalent to) the direct sum of the zero matrix and a von Neuman algebra. On a technical level, we have

Lemma 3.2.2. [19, Proposition 5.1.8] If $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is a weakly closed *-algebra, then there exists a projection $P \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $P \ge Q$ for all projections $Q \in \mathcal{A}$ and $P\mathcal{A}P = \mathcal{A}$.

Let P be the projection given by the lemma above. Define $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{0}} = \operatorname{range}(P)$ and $\mathcal{H}_{0} = \mathcal{H}_{\overline{0}}^{\perp}$. Then \mathcal{H} is unitarily equivalent to $\mathcal{H}_{\oplus} = \mathcal{H}_{0} \oplus \mathcal{H}_{\overline{0}}$, i.e. $\mathcal{H} = U_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{H}_{\oplus}$ for some unitary $U_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\oplus}; \mathcal{H})$. Let $P_{0}^{\oplus} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\oplus}; \mathcal{H}_{0})$ and $P_{\overline{0}}^{\oplus} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\oplus}; \mathcal{H}_{\overline{0}})$ be the projections onto the corresponding summands and define $P_{0} = P_{0}^{\oplus}U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$ and $P_{\overline{0}} = P_{\overline{0}}^{\oplus}U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$. Then, $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}} = P_{0}\mathcal{A}P_{0}^{\dagger}$ is a von Neuman algebra and

$$\mathcal{A} = U_{\mathcal{A}}(0_0 \oplus \mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}}) U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}, \qquad (3.2.1)$$

where 0_0 is the zero operator in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_0)$.

An important point that makes von Neuman algebras appealing is that there is a well-developed representation theory. The fundamental result in that domain is that every von Neuman algebra is unitarily equivalent to a direct integral of factors (see [20] Chapter 14 and in particular Theorems 14.2.1 and 14.2.2 for in an introduction to direct integrals and the corresponding representation theorems). Thus classifying von Neuman algebras can be reduced to the classification of factors. Those are defined and categorized as follows:

Definition 3.2.3. A von Neuman algebra $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called a factor if $\mathcal{A} \cap \mathcal{A}' = \mathbb{C}\mathbb{1}$.

- A factor \mathcal{A} is said to be of type-I, if it possesses a minimal non-zero projection $P \in \mathcal{A}$. That is, there is no projection $Q \in \mathcal{A}$, with 0 < Q < P.
- A factor \mathcal{A} is said to be of type-II, if it is not of type-I, but it possesses a non-zero finite projection $P \in \mathcal{A}$. That is, there is no projection $Q \in \mathcal{A}$ with 0 < Q < P such that range(Q) = Vrange(P) for some partial isometry $V \in \mathcal{A}$.
- A factor \mathcal{A} is said to be of type-III, if it does not posess any finite non-zero projection $P \in \mathcal{A}$. Hence, if and only if it is neither type-I nor type-II.

Remark 3.2.4. If \mathcal{H} is finite-dimensional and $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is a factor, then it is of type-I. To see this, note that any non-zero projection $P_0 \in \mathcal{A}$ is either minimal or there exists a projection $P_1 \in \mathcal{A}$ with $0 < P_1 < P_0$. By repeating this conclusion, we obtain a sequence of projections $P_0 > P_1 > P_2 > \cdots > 0$. This sequence has to terminate for some $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. This is so, because dim(range(P_i)) \geq dim(range(P_{i+1})) + 1 and thus, if the sequence were infinite, then dim(range(P_0)) = ∞ . This contradicts that \mathcal{H} is finite-dimensional.

Classifying factors is a quite complicated (and still not fully completed) endeavor, easily filling hundreds of pages [21–23]. However, for the case of type-I factors the theory is very clear-cut.

Theorem 3.2.5. Let $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be a type-I factor. Then there exist Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B and a unitary $U_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H})$ such that

$$\mathcal{A} = U_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}})U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}.$$

Remark 3.2.6. The previous theorem yields a concrete form for a type-I factor. It is easy to see that saying that a linear map T is semicausal is essentially equivalent to saying that $T(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ for some type-I factor \mathcal{A} .

In light of the previous remark and by taking into account that the representation theory for type-II and type-III factors is incomplete, it seems necessary to restrict our attention to von Neuman algebras whose direct integral decomposition consists only of type-I factors. However, even that case turns out to be tricky in general (due to measure-theoretic complications), so that we were unable (in Article [3]) to fully characterize CP-maps that leave a von Neumann algebra of that kind invariant. Thus, we had to restrict to so-called atomic algebras. Atomic von Neumann algebras are abstractly defined as follows.

Definition 3.2.7. [21, Definition 5.9]

A von Neumann algebra $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called *atomic* if for every non-zero projection $P \in \mathcal{A}$ there exists a non-zero minimal projection $Q \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $Q \leq P$.

Remark 3.2.8. If \mathcal{H} is finite-dimensional, then every von Neumann algebra $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is atomic. Thus, our results cover the finite-dimensional case. This assertion can be seen by the same argument given in Remark 3.2.4.

The crucial point in using atomic von Neumann algebras is that they are exactly those von Neuman algebras that are unitarily equivalent to a direct sum of type-I factors. A proof of this fact can be found e.g. in the appendix of [24]. Combining (3.2.1) with the previous fact and Theorem 3.2.5, we arrive at the following (consistent and equivalent) definition for atomic weakly closed *-algebras.

Definition 3.2.9. A weakly closed *-algebra $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called *atomic* if

$$\mathcal{A} = U_{\mathcal{A}} \left(0_0 \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} (\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i}) \right) U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger},$$

for a Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_0 , sequences of Hilbert spaces $\{\mathcal{H}_{A_i}\}_{i\in I}$ and $\{\mathcal{H}_{B_i}\}_{i\in I}$ indexed by a countable index set I, and a unitary $U_{\mathcal{A}}: \mathcal{H}_{\oplus} \to \mathcal{H}$, where $\mathcal{H}_{\oplus} = \mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \bigoplus_{i\in I} (\mathcal{H}_{A_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_i})$.

We further define for all $i \in I$ the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_i = \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{B}_i}$. For all $k \in I \cup \{0\}$, let $P_k^{\oplus} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\oplus}; \mathcal{H}_k)$ be the orthogonal projection onto \mathcal{H}_k and let us define $P_k \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_k)$ as $P_k = P_k^{\oplus} U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$.¹ Hence, an arbitrary element $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$ can be written as SOT-convergent series $X_{\mathcal{A}} = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger} (X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i}) P_i$, for some operators $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$, with $\sup_{i \in I} ||X_{\mathbf{A}_i}|| < \infty$.

3.2.2 Normal Form

We are finally prepared to state our normal form for (normal) CP-maps with an *atomic* invariant weakly closed *-subalgebra - a central result in Article [3]. Slightly more generally, our result is a normal form for normal CP-maps T with the property that $T(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{C}$, for two atomic weakly closed *-algebras \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} . Since we are now dealing with two algebras, we need to distinguish them in the notation in Definition 3.2.9. For the algebra $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}})$: the index set is called I; the Hilbert spaces $\{\mathcal{H}_i\}_{i\in I\cup\{0\}}$ are denoted by $\mathcal{H}_{i:\mathcal{A}}$, with $\mathcal{H}_{i:\mathcal{A}} = \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i}$ $(i \in I)$; and the operators P_i are called $P_{i:\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}}; \mathcal{H}_{i:\mathcal{A}})$. For the algebra $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}})$: the index set is called J; the Hilbert spaces $\{\mathcal{H}_j\}_{j\in J\cup\{0\}}$ are denoted by $\mathcal{H}_{j:\mathcal{C}}$, with $\mathcal{H}_{j:\mathcal{C}} = \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{C}_j} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{D}_j}$ $(j \in J)$; and the operators P_j are called $P_{j:\mathcal{C}} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}; \mathcal{H}_{j:\mathcal{C}})$. With this notation in place, we can state our result:

Theorem 3.2.10. (Normal form for CP-maps, [3, Theorem 5]) Let $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}})$ and $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}})$ be two atomic weakly closed *-algebras. For a normal CP-map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}})$ defined by $T(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V$, with $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$, the following are equivalent

- 1. $T(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{C}$.
- 2. There exist an operator $V_0 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}; \mathcal{H}_{0:\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$; and for all $i \in I$ and $j \in J$ Hilbert spaces $\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}}$, operators $A_{ij} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{C}_j}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}})$, and isometries $U_{ij} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{D}_j}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$, such that
 - V can be decomposed as

$$V = (P_{0:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_0 + \sum_{i \in I, j \in J} (P_{i:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_{ij}P_{j:\mathcal{C}},$$

with $V_{ij} = (\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes U_{ij})(A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{D_i})$, s.t. the series SOT-converges.

• The relation $U_{ik}^{\dagger}U_{il} = \delta_{kl}\mathbb{1}$ holds for all $i \in I$ and $k, l \in J$.

The representation in 2 can be chosen such that $\operatorname{span}\{(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{F_{ij}})A_{ij}|\psi\rangle | X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_i}), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{C_j}\}$ is dense in $\mathcal{H}_{A_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{F_{ij}}$.

3.3 Transformations of Quantum Channels: Superchannels

In this section, we introduce quantum superchannels. We will describe them axiomatically, describe their relation to semicausality and state the fundamental representation theorem. Historically, superchannels were the first step towards higher-order quantum theory [25]. They were introduced in [14], where also the fundamental representation theorem was proven. Although superchannels can be treated in the infinite-dimensional setting [26], we restrict ourselves to the

 $^{^1\}mathrm{Note}$ that this definition is consistent with the one introduced in the first paragraph above.

finite-dimensional case.

In Chapter 2, we introduced quantum channels as the mathematical solution to the problem: Suppose you are handed a quantum system, what's is the most general thing that you can "do with it". Now, suppose you are handed an (unknown) apparatus – mathematically described as a quantum channel – what is the most general thing you can "do with it"? Superchannels are the mathematical answer to this question. It is interesting to note at this point that one doesn't have to stop asking this question on the level for superchannels (i.e. one can ask, what's the most general transformation on superchannels), but that one can repeat this indefinitely. This leads to the hierarchical framework of higher-order quantum theory [25]. To derive superchannels, we proceed as for quantum channels. Denote by $CPTP(\mathcal{H})$ the set CPTP maps on $\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}) = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. To every "do something with a quantum channel" action there should be an associated map $S_{\rm TP}: {\rm CPTP}(\mathcal{H}) \to {\rm CPTP}(\mathcal{H})$. Similar to quantum channels, $S_{\rm TP}$ has to comply with the probabilistic structure of quantum theory - in that case with the probabilistic structure of quantum channels, not that of density matrices. The probabilistic structure of quantum channels is richer than just their convex structure. Suppose Eve implements a quantum channel by the following procedure: First she lets the system interact with her system E, where the interaction is described by an isometry $U: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}$ (which, of course can be extended to a unitary on a larger space). Then she perform an n-valued projective measurement on E where the associated projections are denoted by P_0, P_2, \ldots, P_n . The resulting channel is then given by

$$T(\rho) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} T_i(\rho),$$

where $T_i(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{E}} [(\mathbb{1} \otimes P_i) U \rho U(\mathbb{1} \otimes P_i)]$. Suppose this channel is subject to our "do something" action, then the resulting channel is $S_{\mathrm{TP}}(T)$. Suppose that many experiments (with different input states) are performed, using $S_{\mathrm{TP}}(T)$. Moreover, suppose that Eve keeps a list of outcomes of her measurement for each of these experiments. It should be possible – on physical grounds – to predict the outcome statistics of the experiment conditional on Eve's measurement outcome (if we know Eves outcome). However, in general, this can't be inferred from $S_{\mathrm{TP}}(T)$ alone. So, a full description of a "do something" operation must entail more than just a map on CPTP(\mathcal{H}). To take this into account, note that the map T_i has the generic form of a completely positive trace non-increasing map, as a consequence of Ozawas theorem [27]. Thus in order to predict outcomes of arbitrary settings we should really have a map $S_{\downarrow} : \mathrm{CP}_{\downarrow}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathrm{CP}_{\downarrow}(\mathcal{H})$, where $\mathrm{CP}_{\downarrow}(\mathcal{H})$ denotes the set of completely positive trace non-increasing maps. Moreover, if $\{T_i\}_{i=0}^n$ are trace non-increasing CP-maps such that $T = \sum_i T_i$ is trace-preserving, then

$$S_{\downarrow}(\sum_{i} T_i) = \sum_{i} S_{\downarrow}(T_i).$$
(3.3.1)

My claim is now that S_{\downarrow} can be uniquely extended to a linear map: First note that (3.3.1) holds, even if the T_i 's only add up to a trace non-increasing map. This is because, by Ozawa's theorem in that case there is always a CP-map Q such that $\sum_i T_i + Q$ is trace-preserving. Moreover, since

$$\sum_{i} S(T_i) + S(Q) = S(\sum_{i} T_i + Q) = S(\sum_{i} T_i) + S(Q),$$

it follows that $S(\sum_i T_i) = \sum_i S(T_i)$ whenever $T_i \in \mathsf{CP}_{\downarrow}(\mathcal{H})$. Since $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathcal{H};\mathcal{H}}(\mathsf{CP}_{\downarrow}(\mathcal{H})) = \{\rho \in \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H} | \rho \geq 0, \operatorname{tr} [\rho] \leq \dim(\mathcal{H}) \}$, we can extend S uniquely to a bounded linear map, by the same arguments as for CPTP-maps. Thus our "do something" maps are bounded linear maps S such that S(T) is CP whenever T is CP and S(T) is CPTP whenever T is CPTP. As for the derivation of channels, we will also require that these maps are consistent with the tensor product structure. If we have a bipartite system $\mathbb{A} + \mathbb{B}$ and a channel $T : S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{B}}) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{B}})$ and if we know how to do something to a channel acting only on \mathbb{B} then it is natural to describe its action on T by $(\operatorname{id}_{S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{A}})} \otimes S)(T)$. By the same arguments as above, $(\operatorname{id}_{S_1(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{A}})} \otimes S)$ should also map CP-maps to CP-maps and channels to channels. Thus we arrive at the definition of a superchannel.

Definition 3.3.1. A linear map $\hat{S} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}))$ is called superchannel, if for all $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the map $(\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{S}_1(\mathbb{C}^n)} \otimes \hat{S}) : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{S}_1(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H})) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{S}_1(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H}))$ has the property that $(\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{S}_1(\mathbb{C}^n)} \otimes \hat{S})(T)$ is a CP-map whenever T is a CP-map and $(\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{S}_1(\mathbb{C}^n)} \otimes \hat{S})(T)$ is CPTP whenever T is CPTP.

Remark 3.3.2. Note note that it is not enough to just require that Choi operators of channels are mapped to Choi operators of channels to ensure the positivity of the transformation map. To see this, let $0 < \alpha < 1$, let $\sigma_{\rm B} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\rm B})$ and $\tau_{\rm B} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\rm B})$ be different density operators, and let $|a_0\rangle, |a_1\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\rm A}$ be orthogonal unit vectors. Define the linear map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\rm A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\rm B}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\rm A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\rm B})$ by

$$T(\rho_{\mathbf{A}\mathbf{B}}) = \frac{\alpha}{d_{\mathbf{A}}} \operatorname{tr}\left[\rho_{\mathbf{A}\mathbf{B}}\right] \left(\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}} \otimes (\sigma_{\mathbf{B}} - \tau_{\mathbf{B}})\right) + \operatorname{tr}\left[|a_{0}\rangle\langle a_{0}|\operatorname{tr}_{\mathbf{B}}\left[\rho_{\mathbf{A}\mathbf{B}}\right]\right] \left(\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \tau_{\mathbf{B}}\right).$$

For Choi operators of channels, i.e. if $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{B}}[\rho_{\mathsf{AB}}] = \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $\rho_{\mathsf{AB}} \geq 0$, we have

$$T(\rho_{AB}) = \mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes (\alpha \sigma_{B} + (1 - \alpha) \tau_{B})$$

This is a positive operator and $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{B}}[T(\rho_{\mathsf{AB}})] = \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}}$. Thus, T maps Choi operators of channels to Choi operators of channels. However, T is not positive since

$$T(|a_1\rangle\langle a_1|\otimes\tau_B) = \frac{\alpha}{d_{\mathsf{A}}}\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}}\otimes(\sigma_{\mathsf{B}}-\tau_{\mathsf{B}})$$

is not a positive semidefinite operator.

Remark 3.3.3. The reader might rightfully be surprised about the linearity of superchannels. After all, what is wrong with the transformation $T \mapsto T \circ T$, which one might ascribe to the action of letting the system go through some device twice. The assumption excluding this transformation is that quantum channels provide a full description of the transformation. In particular, the exact implementation of a channel via its Stinespring dilation must not matter – this is expressed in (3.3.1). But note that interpreting $T \circ T$ as invoking the same channel twice assumes that the channel is implemented such that there are no memory effects. Since knowledge about that fact is required, T alone does no longer describe the full behavior of the transformation. This subtlety of course already exists for transformations of quantum states (quantum channels), since there linearity is implied by the assumption that one cannot tell apart different convex combinations that lead to the same quantum state – which may not always be justified if one has a more refined knowledge of the preparation procedure.

At present, superchannels are abstract objects. The following theorem tells us that up to a similarity transformation, superchannels are just a certain kind of CP-map.

Theorem 3.3.4. (Superchannels are similar to semicausal CP-maps, [14, Lemma 3]) For a finite-dimensional space $\mathcal{H}_{A} = \mathcal{H}_{B}$, let $\hat{S} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{S}_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{A}); \mathcal{S}_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{B})) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{S}_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{A}); \mathcal{S}_{1}(\mathcal{H}_{B}))$ be a linear map and define $S = \mathfrak{C}_{A;B} \circ \hat{S} \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1}$. Then \hat{S} is a superchannel if and only if S is a Schrödinger $B \not\to A$ semicausal CP-map such that the reduced map S^{A} satisfies $S^{A}(\mathbb{1}_{A}) = \mathbb{1}_{A}$.

Remark 3.3.5. In the previous theorem, complete positivity of S follows from the requirement that $(\mathrm{id}_{S_1(\mathbb{C}^n)} \otimes \hat{S})(T)$ is a CP-map whenever T is a CP-map. Semicausality follows from the requirement to map trace-preserving CP-maps to trace-preserving CP-maps.

Intuitively, this equivalence comes about because the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism transforms temporal properties (here, trace-preservation) into spatial properties. Slightly more precisely, since $S[\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(T_2 \circ T_1)] = S[(\mathrm{id}_A \otimes T_2)(\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(T_1))]$, the translated trace-preserving property (Theorem 2.2.8) implies tr_B $[S[(\mathrm{id}_A \otimes T_2)(\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(T_1))]] = \mathbb{1}_A$ for all CPTP-maps T_1 and T_2 . Thus the reduced state on A is invariant under operations on B, which should tell us that we cannot communicate from $B \to A$.

Theorem 3.3.4 tells us that superchannels are related to Schrödinger $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal CP-maps. But those maps are well understood in terms of semilocalizability (Theorem 3.1.5). Moreover, Lemma 2.2.9 helps us with performing the similarity transformation. This leads to a very convenient, circuital form for superchannels:

Theorem 3.3.6. (Circuit form of superchannels, [14, Theorem 1])

 $A \ \hat{S} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H})) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ is a superchannel, if and only if there exists a (finite-dimensional) Hilbert sapce \mathcal{H}_E and two CPTP-maps $E : \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ and $D : \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_E) \to \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H})$ such that

$$\hat{S}(T) = D \circ (S \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{E}}) \circ E.$$

The theorem above tells us that superchannels are exactly those maps on channels that can be implemented by a quantum circuit. Thus, similarly to the Stinespring dilation theorem for CP-maps, the constructive and axiomatic approach yield the same results and the basic theory is thus complete.

Chapter 4

"Interaction-Free" Measurements

The purpose of this section¹ is to give a high-level overview of the concepts and results of Article [1]. It assumes some familiarity with the works of Elitzur and Vaidman [4] and of Kwiat et al. [28]. For a comprehensive introduction to "interaction-free" measurements we refer the reader to the introduction in Article [1].

Let's start with a short recap: The notion "interaction-free" measurement was coined by Elitzur and Vaidman in their bomb-tester experiment [4]. It is now commonly associated with the act of inferring the presence or absence of an object without altering it. For an opaque object (usually imagined to be a bomb), Kwiat et al. [28] showed that if the object can be tested multiple times, then there is a protocol such that the probability for a successful "interaction-free" measurement approaches one as the number of tests approaches infinity. The main idea behind the Kwiat et al. protocol is that an opaque object can be interpreted as a measurement device and that one can then take advantage of the quantum Zeno effect [29–33].

Since those two fundamental works, "interaction-free" measurements gained a lot of attention. The theoretical literature (as opposed to experimental) can be divided into two categories. First, since "interaction-free" measurements exploit one of the most fundamental properties of quantum mechanics - superposition - it shouldn't come as a surprise that this an interesting field for researchers working on the foundations of quantum mechanics. Hence the focus of the first category is on interpretational issues [34–37]. The second category concerns itself with the practical applications of "interaction-free" measurements. These applications include applications include "interaction-free" imaging [38,39], counterfactual quantum computation [40–42], counterfactual communication [43] and cryptography [44], and complexity theory [45]. An important result (in particular for our purposes) is that it is possible to infer the presence or absence of on optically semi-transparent object in a totally "interaction-free" manner (i.e. with probability approaching one), but it is impossible to infer the transparency of such an object in that way [46, 47].

Despite all those different applications, there was no general, practically oriented framework that pinpoints which information can or cannot be inferred in a totally "interaction-free" manner. The main purpose of our work is to address this problem.

¹This section is based on an unpublished extended abstract written by the author and previously submitted to various conferences.

4.1 Concepts

An important observation leading to our generalized model is that we can interpret the task of inferring the presence or absence of an object as a quantum channel discrimination problem, where one channel models the object, and the identity channel models 'no object'. The generalization then follows naturally, as we can now ask: Which channels can be discriminated in a totally "interaction-free" manner? Note that an even more general question would be about "interaction-free" channel tomography. However, as our no-go results will imply, "interaction-free" channel tomography is mostly hopeless.

The biggest conceptual challenge now is to define what "interaction-free" should mean for quantum channels. Before we look at that, let us be more precise about our setting for the quantum channel discrimination problem. So, let us consider first the usual (i.e. non "interaction-free") problem of discriminating between two channels T_A and T_B acting on a system I. The most general (causally ordered) discrimination strategy is given by the sequential scheme, aka quantum comb [48], depicted in Figure 4.1. Such a strategy is completely defined by specifying an initial state $s_0 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_I \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z)$ and intermediate channels $\Lambda_0, \Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_N$, acting on the bipartite system I + Z, where Z denotes an arbitrarily large ancillary system. The output of such a protocol is a quantum state ρ_N^T , recursively defined via $\rho_0^T := \Lambda_0(s_0)$; $\rho_n^T := \Lambda_n((T \otimes \mathrm{id}_Z)(\rho_{n-1}^T))$, which depends on the unknown channel T. Hence, for a fixed strategy D, the channel discrimination problem reduces to the state discrimination problem. This allows us to define our first quantity of merit, the *error probability* $P_e(D, \Pi) := \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{tr} \left[\pi_B \rho_N^{T_A} \right] + \operatorname{tr} \left[\pi_A \rho_N^{T_B} \right] \right)$, which is defined relative to the two-valued POVM $\Pi := \{\pi_A, \pi_B\}$.



Figure 4.1: Sequential scheme for quantum channel discrimination, with unknown channel T.

Let us now get to defining the term "interaction-free" for a given discrimination strategy D and a channel T. In order to make an "interaction-free" discrimination not trivially impossible, we need to assume that there is a way to use the channel such that no "interaction" occurs. To this end, we assume that there exists a distinguished unit vector $v \in \mathcal{H}_I$, the vacuum vector, such that no interaction occurs if the channel is applied to the vacuum state $|v\rangle\langle v|$. We will also assume that $T(|v\rangle\langle v|)$ is a pure state, because if $T(|v\rangle\langle v|)$ were mixed then this would mean that the testing system I became entangled with the tested object, and hence an interaction must have occurred. If T satisfies the latter condition, we will call T a channel with vacuum v. To finally define the term "interaction-free", we imagine a Demon who has (for each of the individual channel uses) access to the output of the conjugate channel [49] of T and to an arbitrarily large quantum memory (see Figure 4.2). The Deamon's goal is to determine, by a final measurement on his quantum memory, if during the execution of the protocol, T was ever applied² to any state different from $|v\rangle\langle v|$. If the Demon concludes that T was applied to a state different from $|v\rangle\langle v|$,

²The states to which T is applied to are given by $\operatorname{tr}_{Z}\left[\rho_{0}^{T}\right], \operatorname{tr}_{Z}\left[\rho_{1}^{T}\right], \ldots, \operatorname{tr}_{Z}\left[\rho_{N-1}^{T}\right]$.

then we say that an "interaction" occurred. The probability that the Demon concludes that an "interaction" occurred depends on the Demon's strategy to store and processes the information he gets and on his final measurement. We define our second quantity of merit, the "interaction" probability $P_I^T(D)$, by maximizing this probability over all possible strategies, with the constraint that the Demon must not conclude that an "interaction" occurred, if the channel really was only applied to $|v\rangle\langle v|$. We can now properly define "interaction-free" channel discrimination: We say that two channels with vacuum T_A and T_B can be discriminated in an "interaction-free" manner, if for every $\epsilon, \delta > 0$, there exists a discrimination strategy D and a two-valued POVM Π such that $\max(P_I^{T_A}(D), P_I^{T_B}(D)) < \epsilon$ and $P_e(D, \Pi) < \delta$.

It might be that you found the description above a little dense. Let us thus remark that the model we have just described can be justified axiomatically by using, among other things, the equivalence between semicausal and semilocalizable channels. The details of this derivation are layed out in Section 3 of Article [1].



Figure 4.2: Model to define $P_I^T(D)$, where \hat{V} is any isometric channel such that $T(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}_E \left| \hat{V}(\cdot) \right|$.

Getting back to the model: Note that a vanishing "interaction" probability does not necessarily mean that T was only applied to $|v\rangle\langle v|$. For example, if T is a unitary channel, then the output of the conjugate channel (what the Demon sees) is independent of the state to which T is applied to. Hence, if T is unitary, then no "interaction" occurs, independently of the discrimination strategy. Mathematically, this insight can be expressed by a slight variation of the concept of a decoherence-free subspace. Let \mathcal{V} be a subspace of the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . We say that a channel T is *isometric on* \mathcal{V} if there exists an isometry $V: \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}$, such that $T|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})}(\cdot) = V \cdot V^{\dagger}$.³ These are the concepts needed to understand our results.

4.2 Results

Our main result is a characterization for when it is possible to discriminate two channels in a totally "interaction-free" manner. The details are as follows:

Theorem 4.2.1. Two channels $T_A, T_B : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$ can be discriminated in an "interaction-free" manner, if and only if there exists a subspace $\mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ such that $v \in \mathcal{V}$, at least one of the two channels is isometric on \mathcal{V} and $T_A|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})} \neq T_B|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})}$.

³In a slight abuse of notation, $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})$ denotes the operators in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ with range and support in \mathcal{V} .

It turns out that for a channel T with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$, the union \mathcal{V}_T of all subspaces $\mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ such that $v \in \mathcal{V}$ and T is isometric on \mathcal{V} , is again a subspace with these two properties. Furthermore, \mathcal{V}_T can be determined efficiently by linear algebraic methods. Since it is clearly enough to check the conditions of Theorem 4.2.1 on \mathcal{V}_{T_A} and on \mathcal{V}_{T_B} , Theorem 4.2.1 provides an efficiently verifiable criterion for the possibility of an "interaction-free" channel discrimination. For later reference, we call \mathcal{V}_T the maximal vacuum subspace.

Theorem 4.2.1 is the qualitative combination of two quantitative results. For the case where "interaction-free" channel discrimination is possible, it turns out that one does not need complete information about the two channels to perform the discrimination task. To account for this, we consider the more general task, where we want to know to which one of two known, disjoint sets of channels the unknown channel belongs. Specifically we consider the following: Given a channel T with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{V}$ that is isometric on \mathcal{V} , we take as our first set (a subset of) the set of channels that equal T, if we restrict their domains to $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})$. The second set is less restricted in that we only assume that all channels must be channels with (the same) vacuum vector v and that the restrictions to $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})$ must not equal $T|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})}$. We obtain the following result:

Theorem 4.2.2 (Discrimination strategy). Let $C_A, C_B \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ be two closed sets of channels and \mathcal{V} be a subspace of \mathcal{H} such that: for all $T \in C_A \cup C_B$, T is a channel with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{V}$; for all $T \in C_A$, T is isometric on \mathcal{V} ; the set $C_A|_{\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{V})} := \{T|_{\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{V})} | T \in C_A\}$ contains exactly one element; and $C_A|_{\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ and $C_B|_{\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{V})} := \{T|_{\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{V})} | T \in C_B\}$ are disjoint. Then there exist a constant C > 0, and for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$, an N-step discrimination strategy D and a two-valued $POVM \Pi$, such that

$$P_I^{T_A}(D) = 0, \quad P_I^{T_B}(D) \leq \frac{C}{N} \quad and \quad P_e(D,\Pi) \leq \frac{C}{N^2},$$

for all $T_A \in C_A$ and all $T_B \in C_B$. The error probability $P_e(D, \Pi)$ is taken to be the maximum over all choices of channels from C_A and C_B .

There are two major steps in proving Theorem 4.2.2: Firstly, one establishes, using techniques from perturbation theory, that a strategy similar to the one used in the original paper by Kwiat et al. works if $C_A = \{id\}$ and if the channels in C_B jointly satisfy a certain spectral gap condition. We establish this even for infinite-dimensional systems. Secondly, one reduces the general case to the restricted case above by showing that there is a superchannel R [14] such that $R(C_A) =$ $\{id\}$ and such that the channels in $R(C_B)$ satisfy the spectral gap condition. We propose an implementation for the superchannel R that requires only one ancillary qubit and might thus be implementable in near-term experiments. Furthermore, we show that a superchannel with the required properties cannot be implemented without an ancillary system.

The performance of the protocol underlying Theorem 4.2.2 is limited by the $\frac{1}{N}$ decay of the "interaction" probability. A natural question is, if there are better protocols. That this is not the case, except in very special circumstances, is shown by our next result:

Theorem 4.2.3 (Rate limit theorem). Let $T_A, T_B : S_1(\mathcal{H}) \to S_1(\mathcal{H})$ be two channels with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$ and \mathcal{V}_{T_A} and \mathcal{V}_{T_B} be their maximal vacuum subspaces. Suppose that $T_A|_{S_1(\mathcal{V})} = T_B|_{S_1(\mathcal{V})}$
and that $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{V}_{T_A}$ and $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{V}_{T_B}$ are orthogonal, where $\mathcal{V} := \mathcal{V}_{T_A} \cap \mathcal{V}_{T_B}$. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\max(P_I^{T_A}(D), P_I^{T_B}(D)) \ge C \frac{(1 - 2P_e(D, \Pi))^4}{N},$$

for all N-step discrimination strategies D, and any two-valued POVM, Π .

If one could remove the condition that $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{V}_A$ and $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{V}_B$ must be orthogonal, then Theorem 4.2.3 would tell us that the best achievable decay rate of the "interaction-probability" is $\frac{1}{N}$, except in the trivial case, where the problem reduces to a discrimination between two isometries, in which case a finite number of channel uses suffices [50]. If it is possible to remove this condition, however, is an open problem.

Theorem 4.2.3 can be proven by an iterative application of a new kind of data processing inequality for the fidelity. A similar technique yields the converse for Theorem 4.2.1:

Theorem 4.2.4 (No-go). Let $T_A, T_B : S_1(\mathcal{H}) \to S_1(\mathcal{H})$ be two channels with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$ such that no subspace satisfies the conditions in Theorem 4.2.1. Then there exists a constant C > 0, such that

$$(1 - 2P_e(D,\Pi))^2 \le C \max(P_I^{T_A}(D), P_I^{T_B}(D)),$$

for all discrimination strategies D and all two-valued POVMs, Π .

To summarize, our work generalizes the notion of "interaction-free" measurements and we found the exact conditions for when totally "interaction-free" discrimination is possible.

Chapter 5

Dynamical Semigroups

5.1 Motivation

If we approach quantum theory through the operational path that we described in Chapter 2, then there is no explicit reference to time. We have seen before that a transformation on density matrices that respects the probabilistic structure of quantum theory and that is compatible with tensor products must necessarily be a CPTP-map. Thus we should be able to describe the time-evolution by a family of CPTP-maps $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0} \subset \mathsf{CP}(\mathcal{H})$ (one for each point in time). If a family of CPTP-maps describes an uninterrupted physical evolution, then the evolution should be continuous in time (in some sense). It would be very nice to specify the type of continuity that needs to be imposed such that the resulting evolution is physical. This, however, appears to be an open problem. We might remark at this point that an old result by Davies [51] tells us that if the map $t \mapsto T_t$ is strongly continuous, then T_t emerges out of a limiting process of strongly continuous unitary evolutions on a larger system (by tracing out the environment). It is unclear if one can get rid of the limiting process: see also [52] for a nice overview of related results.

In the general setting we have just discussed, the channel T_{t_1} describes the evolution from time t = 0 to time $t = t_1$. However, for times $t_2 > t_1$ there is generally no CPTP-map, Q_{t_2,t_1} , such that

$$T_{t_2} = Q_{t_2, t_1} \circ T_{t_1} \tag{5.1.1}$$

Thus, the system at time t is not solely described by its state $\rho_t = T_t(\rho_0)$, where $\rho_0 \in S_1(\mathcal{H})$ is the initial state, but the history of the evolution also needs to be taken into account. Physically, this is due to "memory-effects". The general setting is therefore very challenging to analyze. Luckily there are many physical systems (for example an atom in an excited state or any closed system), whose time-evolution is described to a good approximation (see [53, Section 3.3] for when) by a family of CPTP-maps such that for all $t_2 > t_1 \ge 0$, Eq. (5.1.1) holds. Moreover, more often than not, Q_{t_2,t_1} only depends on the difference $\Delta t = t_2 - t_1$: That is, the evolution is time-homogenous and $Q_{t_2,t_1} = \hat{Q}_{t_2-t_1}$. In that case, if we assume that $T_0 = id$, we can conclude that $T_{t+s} = \hat{Q}_{(t+s)-s} \circ T_s = T_t \circ T_s$ (set $t_2 = t + s$ and $t_1 = s$) for all $s, t \ge 0$. This is what is called the semigroup property. The study of families of maps with the semigroup property yields a very fruitful theory. The following section is devoted to the general theory of dynamical semigroups.

5.2 General Theory

In this section we summarize the most important definitions and results in the theory of dynamical semigroups, a.k.a. one-parameter semigroups. This section follows [54] and we start with the definition of a dynamical semigroup.

Definition 5.2.1. (One-parameter semigroup) Let \mathcal{X} be a Banach space. A family $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$ is called dynamical semigroup, or more precisely, one-parameter semigroup if

$$T_0 = \mathrm{id}$$
$$T_{t+s} = T_t \circ T_s \text{ for all } s, t \ge 0.$$

A one-parameter semigroup is called strongly continuous if for every $x \in \mathcal{X}$, the map

$$\mathbb{R}_{>0} \ni t \mapsto T_t x \in \mathcal{X}$$

is continuous w.r.t. the norm topology on \mathcal{X} .

A one-parameter semigroup is called uniformly-continuous or norm-continuous, if the map

$$\mathbb{R}_{>0} \ni t \mapsto T_t \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$$

is continuous w.r.t. the norm-topology on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$.

Dynamical semigroups appear in variety of contexts (see [54, Chapter 6]) due to their intimate relation to first order linear differential equations – and those appear naturally. This relation appears morally (but not technically), because every strongly continuous semigroup is if the form $T_t = e^{tL}$ for some operator L, called generator. We now go into the details of how a technically correct version of this meta-theorem looks like. The main issue is that L is generally unbounded. We define the generator of a strongly continuous one-parameter semigroup as follows:

Definition 5.2.2. (Generator of a strongly continuous one-parameter semigroup)

For a strongly continuous one-parameter semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$, define the "domain-set" $D(\mathcal{L})$ as

$$D(L) := \{ x \in \mathcal{X} \mid \lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h} \left(T_h(x) - x \right) \text{ exists in } \mathcal{X} \}.$$

The operator $L: D(L) \to \mathcal{X}$, defined by

$$Lx = \lim_{h \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{h} \left(T_h(x) - x \right)$$

for all $x \in D(L)$ is called the generator of $\{T_t\}_{t \ge 0}$.

The following central theorem, whose ideas go back to Hille and Yoshida [55,56], gives a precise relation between strongly continuous one-parameter semigroups and their generators (for a proof see e.g. [54, Theorem II.3.8, Corollary III.5.5])

Theorem 5.2.3. (Hille-Yosida) For a Banach space \mathcal{X} and a linear subspace $D(L) \subseteq \mathcal{X}$, let $L : D(L) \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be a linear operator and let $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$, $M \ge 1$ be constants. The following are equivalent.

- 1. L is the generator of a strongly continuous one-parameter semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ satisfying $\|T_t\| \leq Me^{\omega t}$ for all $t \geq 0$.
- 2. L is closed, densely defined, and every $\lambda > \omega$ belongs to the resolvent set¹ of L and for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$\left\| (\lambda \mathbb{1} - L)^{-n} \right\| \le \frac{M}{(\lambda - \omega)^n}.$$

In that case, the semigroup can be recovered uniquely from the generator by the exponential formula

$$T_t(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\mathbb{1} - \frac{tA}{n} \right)^{-n} x,$$

which converges for all $x \in \mathcal{X}$ and even uniformly for t in compact intervals.

Remark 5.2.4. To understand the meaning of the previous theorem, it should be noted that for every strongly continuous one-parameter, there are $\omega \in \mathbb{R}$ and $M \ge 1$ such that $||T_t|| \le M e^{\omega t}$ for all $t \ge 0$ (see e.g. [54, Proposition 1.5.5]). So every strongly continuous one-parameter semigroup satisfied the hypothesis of the Hille-Yosida theorem. However, not every closed, densely defined operator is necessarily a generator of some semigroup.

Unbounded generators, as in Part 2 of Theorem 5.2.3 appear frequently in applications, e.g. in the form of partial differential operators. However, the unboundedness is a technical obstacle that is very hard to deal with. It should therefore not come as a surprise that only for very special cases (such as for strongly continuous one-parameter unitary groups), a constructive characterization of the generators is known. These cases, unfortunately, do not include the case that is most interesting to us – the case of quantum dynamical semigroups.

The situation is much better, from an analytical point of view, if one restricts the attention to norm-continuous one-parameter semigroups. As it turns out, those are exactly those oneparameter semigroups for which the generator is bounded.

Lemma 5.2.5. [54, Corollary II.1.5] The generator of a strongly continuous one-parameter semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is a bounded linear operator if and only if $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is norm-continuous.

As mentioned before, for norm-continuous dynamical semigroups, full characterizations for several important cases are known. This will be the content of the next section.

¹The resolvent set of L consists of those $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ for which $(\lambda \mathbb{1} - L)$ is invertible (with bounded inverse, but this is already implied if L is closed.

5.3 Special Cases

In the previous section, we have seen that there is a one-to-one correspondence between dynamical semigroups and their generators. It is often the case that certain properties of the operators comprising a dynamical semigroup are known. For example, the dynamical semigroup might consist of stochastic matrices or completely positive maps. In that case it is a central task to figure out how a certain property of the semigroup translates to a corresponding property of its generator. That this is a non-trivial endeavor is hinted by the names attached to the respective equations: "Lindblad equation", "Schrödinger equation", "Fokker-Plank equation".

5.3.1 Quantum Dynamical Semigroups

We have already motivated the use of quantum dynamical semigroups at the beginning of this chapter. So, let us proceed here with a formal definition

Definition 5.3.1. A strongly/uniformly continuous one parameter semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ is called strongly/uniformly continuous Schrödinger quantum dynamical semigroup if T_t is a CP-map for all $t \geq 0$.

A strongly/uniformly continuous one parameter semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}))$ is called strongly/uniformly continuous Heisenberg quantum dynamical semigroup if T_t is a normal CP-map for all $t \geq 0$.

Remark 5.3.2. Clearly, Heisenberg and Schrödinger quantum dynamical semigroups are their respective duals and preduals.

The central theorem in study of quantum dynamical semigroups is a characterization of the generators of uniformly continuous quantum dynamical semigroups. The result was found independently by Gorini, Kossakowski, Sudarshan [57] and Linbdlad [58] in 1976. The corresponding normal form bears their name: the Gorini-Kossakowski-Sudarshan-Linbdlad-form or GKSL-form.

Theorem 5.3.3. (GLSK-form) A linear map $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ generates a uniformly continuous Heisenberg quantum dynamical semigroup if and only if there is a normal CP-map $\Phi : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and an operator $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that

$$L(X) = \Phi(X) - K^{\dagger}X - XK,$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

Remark 5.3.4. The GKSL-form can be written in several different (and more common) equivalent ways: First, by Stinespring's dilation theorem (Theorem 2.2.3), we have

$$L(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V - K^{\dagger}X - XK$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$, where $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$. Second, if we write Φ in Kraus-form, then

$$L(X) = \sum_{n} L_{n}^{\dagger} X L_{n} - K^{\dagger} X - X K$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$ and some collection of operators $\{L_n\}_n \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that the series SOTconverges. Moreover, by differentiation, we can see that T_t is a quantum channel (i.e., $T(\mathbb{1}) = \mathbb{1}$) for all $t \geq 0$ if and only if $L(\mathbb{1}) = 0$. This implies

$$\Phi(\mathbb{1}) = V^{\dagger}V = \sum_{n} L_{n}^{\dagger}L_{n} = K^{\dagger} + K.$$

So, we have a restriction for the real part of K. Let us thus define the self-adjoint operator $H \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ as $H = \frac{1}{2i} (K - K^{\dagger})$. After writing $K = \frac{1}{2} (K + K^{\dagger}) + iH$, we obtain

$$L(X) = i[H, X] + \Phi(X) - \frac{1}{2} \{ \Phi(1), X \}$$

= $i[H, X] + V^{\dagger}(X \otimes 1_{\mathsf{E}})V - \frac{1}{2} \{ V^{\dagger}V, X \}$
= $i[H, X] + \sum_{n} L_{n}^{\dagger}XL_{n} - \frac{1}{2} \{ L_{n}^{\dagger}L_{n}, X \},$

where the last form is the most widely used one.

All these results can easily be translated to the Schrödinger picture, because if $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is a uniformly continuous Heisenberg quantum dynamical semigroup with generator L (which is a normal map), then $\{(T_t)_*\}_{t\geq 0}$ is a uniformly continuous Schrödinger quantum dynamical semigroup with generator $L_*: S_1(\mathcal{H}) \to S_1(\mathcal{H})$. For example, for Schrödinger channels, the GKLS-form reads

$$L_*(\rho) = -i[H,\rho] + \sum_n L_n \rho L_n^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{2} \left\{ L_n^{\dagger} L_n, \rho \right\}.$$

5.3.2 Quantum Dynamical Semigroups of Semicausal Maps

Suppose we have a uniformly continuous quantum dynamical semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$. Further, suppose that for all $t \geq 0$ the map T_t is semicausal. Thus, for every $t \geq 0$ we can understand T_t in terms of semilocalizability. Can we understand the generators of these semigroups in a similarly explicit way? Is there a normal form for generators of uniformly continuous quantum dynamical semigroups of semicausal maps? The answer to this question was the main technical contribution in Article [2]. The answer reads as follows:

Theorem 5.3.5. (Normal form generators of semicausal CP-maps, [2, Theorem V.6]) Let $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$ be defined by $L(X) = \Phi(X) - K^{\dagger}X - XK$, with a normal CP-map $\Phi \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$ and $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$. Then L is Heisenberg $B \not\to A$ semicausal if and only if there exists a (separable) Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_{E} , a unitary $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{E} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}; \mathcal{H}_{B} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$, a self-adjoint operator $\mathcal{H}_{B} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B})$, and arbitrary operators $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}; \mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$, $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B}; \mathcal{H}_{B} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ and $K_{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A})$, such that

$$\begin{split} \Phi(X) &= V^{\dagger} \left(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}} \right) V, \ \text{with } V = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes U) (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}}) + (\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes B), \\ K &= (\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes B^{\dagger} U) (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}}) + \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes B^{\dagger} B + K_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}} + \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes iH_{\mathsf{B}}. \end{split}$$

If \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B are finite-dimensional, with dimensions d_A and d_B , then \mathcal{H}_E can be chosen such that $\dim(\mathcal{H}_E) \leq (d_A d_B)^2$.

A very interesting property of the normal form in Theorem 5.3.5 is that the CP-part Φ does not need to be semicausal. One way to think about the result is in terms of building blocks: It is immediate that if the CP-part and the K-part of the GKSL-form are both semicausal, then the generator will be semicausal. Since semicausal CP-maps are semilocalizable (Theorem 3.1.5), for this building block the operator V_{sc} has the form $(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$. Moreover, it turns out that K is then necessalily of the form $K = K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes iH_B$. So, maps of that form are valid semicausal GKSL-generators and are our first building block.

For our second building block, notice that if Φ is of the form $\mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes \Phi_{\mathsf{B}}$ so that $(\mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes \Phi_{\mathsf{B}})(X_{\mathsf{AB}}) = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes B)^{\dagger}(X_{\mathsf{AB}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes B)$, then the non-semicausality of the CP-part can be compensated by choosing $K = \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes B^{\dagger}B$. Thus a GKSL-generator of this form is another building block. Of course, a (convex) combination of these two building blocks yields also a GKSL-generator. The crucial insight that lead to Theorem 5.3.5 is that convex combinations is not all there is, namely, we can also let the Stinespring operator V be a linear combination of the Stinespring operators of the building blocks. One might say that we put them into superposition. It is very interesting to note that if one studies dynamical semigroups of semicausal stochastic maps (i.e. the classical setting - see section IV in [2]) then all there is is the 'obvious' convex combination. This renders this 'superposition' a purely quantum feature.

It is straight-forward to check that the normal form in Theorem 5.3.5 yields a semicausal generator. That the proposed way of construction generators from the two building blocks is the only way one can construct semicausal generators is the main insight of Theorem 5.3.5. We have already seen that a mathematical generalization of semicausal maps are maps that leave a weakly closed *-algebra invariant. The next section deals with GKSL-generators with that property.

5.3.3 Quantum Dynamical Semigroups with Invariant Algebra

We have already seen in Section 3.2 that Heisenberg $\mathbb{B} \not\to \mathbb{A}$ semicausality is equivalent to the invariance of the type-I factor von Neumann algebra $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{A}}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{B}}$. Moreover, in Section 3.2.2 we provided a normal form for CP-maps with an invariant atomic weakly closed *-algebra. In this section, we treat the following problem: given a uniformly continuous quantum dynamical semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that for all $t \geq 0$, $T_t(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ for a given weakly closed *-algebra, how do the corresponding generators look like?. The answer to this question is the main result of Article [3]. By differentiation, we obtain that $T_t(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ holds for all $t \geq 0$ if and only if the corresponding GKSL-generator $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ satisfies $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$.

In Article [3], the main result is approached in two steps: first one shows that the problem of finding a normal forms for invariant GKSL-generators is equivalent to finding normal forms for invariant CP-maps. Then, as a second step, the result of Section 3.2.2 is readily applied. The first result reads:

Theorem 5.3.6. (Reduction Theorem, [3, Theorem 4])

Let $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be defined by $L(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V - K^{\dagger}X - XK$, for some $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ and $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, and let $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be an approximately finite-dimensional² weakly closed *-algebra. The following are equivalent

²A weakly closed *-algebra \mathcal{A} is approximately finite-dimensional, if there exist an increasing sequence $\mathcal{A}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{A}_2 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ of finite-dimensional *-subalgebras such that $\cup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{A}_n$ is WOT-dense in \mathcal{A} .

- 1. $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$.
- 2. There exist operators $V_0 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, $A, B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ and $K_0 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_0)$; an operator $K_A \in \mathcal{A}$; and a self-adjoint operator $H_{\mathcal{A}'} \in \mathcal{A}'$ such that
 - (a) $A^{\dagger}(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})A \in \mathcal{A} \text{ and } (X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})B = BX_{\mathcal{A}}, \text{ for all } X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}.$
 - (b) V and K have the following form:

$$V = (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_0 + A + B,$$

$$K = B^{\dagger}A + \frac{1}{2}B^{\dagger}B + K_{\mathcal{A}} + iH_{\mathcal{A}'} + P_0^{\dagger}K_0.$$

Since for any vector $|e\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}$, Part 2a implies $(\mathbb{1} \otimes \langle e|)B \in \mathcal{A}'$, it is easy to decompose B w.r.t. a direct integral decomposition of \mathcal{A} . Thus the only thing that remains is to characterize the normal CP-map $\Phi_A : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ defined by $\Phi_A(X) = A^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})A$. If \mathcal{A} is atomic, such a characterization is given in Section 3.2.2. The final result is:

Theorem 5.3.7. (GKSL-generator with invariant algebra, [3, Theorem 6])

Let $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be given by $L(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V - K^{\dagger}X - XK$ with $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ and $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and let \mathcal{A} be an atomic *-subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, with decomposition given by Definition 3.2.9. Then the following are equivalent

- 1. $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$.
- 2. There exist operators $V_0 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ and $K_0 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_0)$; for all $i, j \in I$ a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{F_{ij}}$, operators $A_{ij} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_j}; \mathcal{H}_{A_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{F_{ij}})$, and isometries $U_{ij} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{F_{ij}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_j}; \mathcal{H}_{B_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$; and for every $i \in I$ operators $B_i \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B_i}; \mathcal{H}_{B_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, $K_{A_i} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_i})$, and self-adjoint operators $H_{B_i} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B_i})$, such that
 - V and K can be decomposed as

$$\begin{split} V &= (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{E}}) V_0 + \sum_{i,j \in I} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{E}}) V_{ij}^{sc} P_j + \sum_{i \in I} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{E}}) (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes B_i) P_i, \\ K &= \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes B_i^{\dagger}) V_{ii}^{sc} P_i + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes B_i^{\dagger} B_i) P_i \\ &+ K_{\mathcal{A}} + i H_{\mathcal{A}'} + P_0^{\dagger} K_0, \end{split}$$

with $V_{ij}^{sc} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes U_{ij})(A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_j}), K_{\mathcal{A}} = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(K_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i, and H_{\mathcal{A}'} = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes H_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i, s.t. all series SOT-converge.$

• The relation $U_{ik}^{\dagger}U_{il} = \delta_{kl}\mathbb{1}$ holds for all $i, k, l \in I$.

This theorem proves useful in deriving and unifying several results in the literature. Among them are the Koashi-Imoto theorem [59]; the refined form of the GKSL-generator due to the invariance of the decoherence-free subalgebra [60–63] and the maximally abelian subalgebra [64–67]; as well as the study of Markovian subsystems [68].

5.3.4 Semigroups of Superchannels

In Section 3.3 we introduced superchannels as the description for "do something" to a channel. Clearly, doing something to a channel and then doing something to the resulting channel also does something to a channel. Thus, superchannels form a semigroup and hence we can study continuous one-parameter semigroups of superchannels and their generators. Besides this being an interesting mathematical endeavor, we propose to use dynamical semigroups of superchannels as a description of quantum devices that are subject to due natural-decay due to "ageing".

Let us begin with the formal mathematical result. By Theorem 3.3.4, superchannels are related to semicausal CP-maps via a simularity transformation with transformation matrix given by the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism. Moreover we have already characterized the generators of semigroups of semicausal CP-maps in Theorem 5.3.5. Thus what remains to do is to explicitly calculate the simularity transformation. Here, Lemma 2.2.9 comes in handy. The details of the calculations involved can be found in [2]. The (slightly simplified) result reads [2, Theorem V.18]:

Theorem 5.3.8. A linear map $\hat{L} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B})) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{B}))$ generates a semigroup of superchannels if and only if it admits a decomposition $\hat{L}(T) = \hat{D}(T) + \hat{H}(T)$ as follows: The "Hamiltonian part" is of the form

$$\hat{H}(T)(\rho) = -i[H_{\mathsf{B}}, T(\rho)] - iT([H_{\mathsf{A}}, \rho]),$$

with local Hamiltonians $H_{\mathsf{B}} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}})$ and $H_{\mathsf{A}} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}})$. The "dissipative part" is of the form $\hat{D}(T)(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{E} \left[\hat{D}'(T)(\rho) \right]$, where

$$\hat{D}'(T)(\rho) = U(T \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{E}})(A(\rho \otimes \sigma)A^{\dagger})U^{\dagger} \qquad -\frac{1}{2}(T \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{E}})(\left\{A^{\dagger}A, \, \rho \otimes \sigma\right\}) \tag{5.3.3a}$$

$$+ B(T \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{E}})(\rho \otimes \sigma)B^{\dagger} \qquad -\frac{1}{2} \left\{ B^{\dagger}B \,, \, (T \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{E}})(\rho \otimes \sigma) \right\} \tag{5.3.3b}$$

+
$$\left[U(T \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{E}})(A(\rho \otimes \sigma)), B^{\dagger} \right] + \left[B, (T \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathsf{E}})((\rho \otimes \sigma)A^{\dagger})U^{\dagger} \right], \quad (5.3.3c)$$

with unitary $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, density matrix $\sigma \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_E)$ and arbitrary $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ and $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$.

The "Hamiltonian part" generates a semigroup of invertible superchannels with the property that the inverse is a superchannel as well. We discuss the three terms of the "dissipative part": Term (5.3.3a) generates a semigroup of superchannels such that the transformed channel, $\hat{S}_t(T)$, arises from a stochastic application of $T \mapsto \operatorname{tr}_E \left[U(T \otimes \operatorname{id}_E)(A(\rho \otimes \sigma)A^{\dagger})U^{\dagger} \right]$ at different points in time (Dyson series expansion). Term (5.3.3b) generates a semigroup of "post-processing" superchannels of the form $\hat{S}_t(T) = e^{L_B t} \circ T$, where L_B generates a (trace-preserving) quantum dynamical semigroup. Term (5.3.3c) stems from the fact that we superpose the building blocks for the decomposition of the generators of semigroups of semicausal CP-maps, rather than simply taking a convex combination. Although this term is hard to interpret directly, the interseting point here is that such a term does not appear if one looks at semigroups of classical superchannels (see [2, Section IV]). Its presence is thus a pure quantum feature and an important part of our findings.

Now back to the physical significance of this result: The main hypothesis here is that dynamical semigroups of superchannels are a reasonable (first step) towards characterizing the decayprocesses that quantum devices are subject to due to "ageing".

Quantum channels have quantum states as inputs and outputs. They can thus be seen as the mathematical description of a quantum device with a single input and a single output. Our interpretation of superchannels was that they are the most general mathematical description of a "do something" to a quantum channel action. Since decay processes certainly "do something" to a quantum channel, there must be a superchannel \hat{S}_t for each $t \ge 0$ such that if the initial device was described by a channel T, then the device will be described by $\hat{S}_t(T)$ at time t. It is of course not necessary that the set $\{\hat{S}_t\}_{t\ge 0}$ forms a semigroup. However, we believe that (similar to quantum dynamical semigroups), this is a valid approximation in many cases. We refer the reader who is interested in a concrete example to the introduction of Article [2].

Bibliography

- M. Hasenöhrl and M. M. Wolf, ""Interaction-Free" Channel Discrimination," Annales Henri Poincaré, Apr 2022. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00023-022-01175-z
- M. Hasenöhrl and M. C. Caro, "Quantum and classical dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal channels," *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, vol. 63, no. 7, p. 072204, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0070635
- M. Hasenöhrl and M. C. Caro, "On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups with invariant subalgebras," Open Systems & Information Dynamics, vol. 30, no. 01, p. 2350001, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1142/S1230161223500014
- [4] A. C. Elitzur and L. Vaidman, "Quantum mechanical interaction-free measurements," *Foundations of Physics*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 987–997, Jul 1993. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00736012
- [5] S. Attal. (2021) Lectures in quantum noise theory. [Online]. Available: http://math.univ-lyon1.fr/~attal/chapters.html
- [6] G. Pedersen, Analysis Now, ser. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer New York, 2012.
- [7] M. Reed and B. Simon, I: Functional Analysis, ser. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. Elsevier Science, 1981. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id= rpFTTjxOYpsC
- [8] T. Heinosaari and M. Ziman, *The Mathematical Language of Quantum Theory: From Uncertainty to Entanglement*. Cambridge University Press, 2011.
- [9] W. F. Stinespring, "Positive functions on c*-algebras," Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 211–216, 1955. [Online]. Available: http: //www.jstor.org/stable/2032342
- [10] E. Davies, Quantum Theory of Open Systems. Academic Press, 1976. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id=I5kuAAAAIAAJ
- [11] S. Sakai and S. Sakai, C*-algebras and W*-algebras, ser. C*-algebras and W*algebras. Springer-Verlag, 1971. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id= Nd5ntQAACAAJ

- [12] V. Paulsen, Completely Bounded Maps and Dilations, ser. Pitman research notes in mathematics series. Longman Scientific & Technical, 1986. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id=uFmqAAAAIAAJ
- [13] M.-D. Choi, "Completely positive linear maps on complex matrices," Linear Algebra and its Applications, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 285–290, 1975. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0024379575900750
- [14] G. Chiribella, G. M. D'Ariano, and P. Perinotti, "Transforming quantum operations: Quantum supermaps," *EPL (Europhysics Letters)*, vol. 83, no. 3, p. 30004, jul 2008.
 [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1209/0295-5075/83/30004
- [15] D. Beckman, D. Gottesman, M. A. Nielsen, and J. Preskill, "Causal and localizable quantum operations," *Phys. Rev. A*, vol. 64, p. 052309, Oct 2001. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.64.052309
- T. Eggeling, D. Schlingemann, and R. F. Werner, "Semicausal operations are semilocalizable," *Europhysics Letters (EPL)*, vol. 57, no. 6, pp. 782–788, mar 2002. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1209/epl/i2002-00579-4
- [17] M. Piani, M. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, and R. Horodecki, "Properties of quantum nonsignaling boxes," *Phys. Rev. A*, vol. 74, p. 012305, Jul 2006. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.74.012305
- [18] D. Kretschmann and R. F. Werner, "Quantum channels with memory," Phys. Rev. A, vol. 72, p. 062323, Dec 2005. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevA.72.062323
- [19] R. Kadison and J. Ringrose, Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras. Volume I, ser. Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras. American Mathematical Society, 1997.
- [20] —, Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras. Volume II, ser. Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras. American Mathematical Society, 1997.
- [21] M. Takesaki, Theory of Operator Algebras I, ser. Encyclopaedia of mathematical sciences. Springer New York, 1979, no. v. 1. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id= OIEZAQAAIAAJ
- [22] —, Theory of Operator Algebras II, ser. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id= M6XyCAAAQBAJ
- [23] —, Theory of Operator Algebras III, ser. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id= 9M3uCAAAQBAJ

- [24] J. Deschamps, F. Fagnola, E. Sasso, and V. Umanità, "Structure of uniformly continuous quantum markov semigroups," *Reviews in Mathematical Physics*, vol. 28, no. 01, p. 1650003, 2016. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1142/S0129055X16500033
- [25] A. Bisio and P. Perinotti, "Theoretical framework for higher-order quantum theory," Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, vol. 475, no. 2225, p. 20180706, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://royalsocietypublishing.org/ doi/abs/10.1098/rspa.2018.0706
- [26] G. Chiribella, A. Toigo, and V. Umanità, "Normal completely positive maps on the space of quantum operations," *Open Systems & Information Dynamics*, vol. 20, no. 01, p. 1350003, 2013. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1142/S1230161213500030
- [27] M. Ozawa, "Quantum measuring processes of continuous observables," Journal of Mathematical Physics, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 79–87, 1984. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.526000
- [28] P. Kwiat, H. Weinfurter, T. Herzog, A. Zeilinger, and M. A. Kasevich, "Interaction-free measurement," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 74, pp. 4763–4766, Jun 1995. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.74.4763
- [29] B. Misra and E. C. G. Sudarshan, "The zeno's paradox in quantum theory," Journal of Mathematical Physics, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 756–763, 1977. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.523304
- [30] T. Möbus and M. M. Wolf, "Quantum zeno effect generalized," Journal of Mathematical Physics, vol. 60, no. 5, p. 052201, 2019. [Online]. Available: https: //doi.org/10.1063/1.5090912
- [31] D. Burgarth, P. Facchi, H. Nakazato, S. Pascazio, and K. Yuasa, "Generalized Adiabatic Theorem and Strong-Coupling Limits," *Quantum*, vol. 3, p. 152, Jun. 2019. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.22331/q-2019-06-12-152
- [32] —, "Quantum Zeno Dynamics from General Quantum Operations," Quantum, vol. 4, p. 289, Jul. 2020. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.22331/q-2020-07-06-289
- [33] N. Barankai and Z. Zimborás, "Generalized quantum zeno dynamics and ergodic means," 2018.
- [34] L. Vaidman, "Are Interaction-Free Measurements Interaction Free?" in Optics and Spectroscopy (English translation of Optika i Spektroskopiya), vol. 91, no. 3, 2001, pp. 352–357.
- [35] —, "The meaning of the interaction-free measurements," pp. 491–510, 2003.
- [36] —, "Counterfactuality of 'counterfactual' communication," Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, vol. 48, no. 46, 2015.
- [37] —, "Analysis of counterfactuality of counterfactual communication protocols," *Physical Review A*, vol. 99, no. 5, 2019.

- [38] A. G. White, J. R. Mitchell, O. Nairz, and P. G. Kwiat, ""interaction-free" imaging," Phys. Rev. A, vol. 58, pp. 605–613, Jul 1998. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.58.605
- [39] W. P. Putnam and M. F. Yanik, "Noninvasive electron microscopy with interaction-free quantum measurements," *Phys. Rev. A*, vol. 80, p. 040902, Oct 2009. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.80.040902
- [40] R. Jozsa, "Quantum effects in algorithms," in *Quantum Computing and Quantum Commu*nications, C. P. Williams, Ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1999, pp. 103–112.
- [41] G. Mitchison and R. Jozsa, "Counterfactual computation," Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, vol. 457, no. 2009, pp. 1175–1193, 2001. [Online]. Available: https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/abs/10. 1098/rspa.2000.0714
- [42] O. Hosten, M. Rakher, J. Barreiro, N. Peters, and P. Kwiat, "Counterfactual quantum computation through quantum interrogation," *Nature*, vol. 439, pp. 949–52, 03 2006.
- [43] H. Salih, Z.-H. Li, M. Al-Amri, and M. S. Zubairy, "Protocol for direct counterfactual quantum communication," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 110, p. 170502, Apr 2013. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.170502
- [44] T.-G. Noh, "Counterfactual quantum cryptography," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 103, p. 230501, Dec 2009. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.230501
- [45] C. Y.-Y. Lin and H.-H. Lin, "Upper Bounds on Quantum Query Complexity Inspired by the Elitzur-Vaidman Bomb Tester," in 30th Conference on Computational Complexity (CCC 2015), ser. Leibniz International Proceedings in Informatics (LIPIcs), D. Zuckerman, Ed., vol. 33. Dagstuhl, Germany: Schloss Dagstuhl-Leibniz-Zentrum fuer Informatik, 2015, pp. 537–566. [Online]. Available: http://drops.dagstuhl.de/opus/volltexte/2015/5063
- [46] G. Mitchison and S. Massar, "Absorption-free discrimination between semitransparent objects," *Phys. Rev. A*, vol. 63, p. 032105, Feb 2001. [Online]. Available: https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.63.032105
- [47] S. Massar, G. Mitchison, and S. Pironio, "Minimal absorption measurements," *Phys. Rev.* A, vol. 64, p. 062303, Nov 2001. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevA.64.062303
- [48] G. Chiribella, G. M. D'Ariano, and P. Perinotti, "Theoretical framework for quantum networks," *Phys. Rev. A*, vol. 80, p. 022339, Aug 2009. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.80.022339
- [49] C. King, K. Matsumoto, M. Nathanson, and M. Ruskai, "Properties of conjugate channels with applications to additivity and multiplicativity," *Markov Processes Relat. Fields*, vol. 13, 10 2005.

- [50] A. Acín, "Statistical distinguishability between unitary operations," Phys. Rev. Lett., vol. 87, p. 177901, Oct 2001. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevLett.87.177901
- [51] E. B. Davies, "Dilations of Completely Positive Maps," Journal of the London Mathematical Society, vol. s2-17, no. 2, pp. 330–338, 04 1978. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1112/jlms/s2-17.2.330
- [52] F. vom Ende and G. Dirr, "Unitary dilations of discrete-time quantum-dynamical semigroups," *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, vol. 60, no. 12, p. 122702, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5095868
- [53] H. P. Breuer and F. Petruccione, *The theory of open quantum systems*. Great Clarendon Street: Oxford University Press, 2002.
- [54] K. Engel and Nagel, One-Parameter Semigroups for Linear Evolution Equations, ser. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer New York, 2006.
- [55] K. Yosida, "On the differentiability and the representation of one-parameter semi-group of linear operators." Journal of the Mathematical Society of Japan, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 15 21, 1948. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.2969/jmsj/00110015
- [56] E. Hille, "Representation of one-parameter semi-groups of linear transformations," Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 28, no. 5, pp. 175–178, 1942. [Online]. Available: http://www.jstor.org/stable/87486
- [57] V. Gorini, A. Kossakowski, and E. C. G. Sudarshan, "Completely positive dynamical semigroups of n-level systems," *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, vol. 17, no. 5, p. 821, 1976.
- [58] G. Lindblad, "On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups," Communications in Mathematical Physics, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 119–130, 1976.
- [59] M. Koashi and N. Imoto, "Operations that do not disturb partially known quantum states," *Phys. Rev. A*, vol. 66, p. 022318, Aug 2002. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.66.022318
- [60] J. Deschamps, F. Fagnola, E. Sasso, and V. Umanità, "Structure of uniformly continuous quantum markov semigroups," *Reviews in Mathematical Physics*, vol. 28, no. 01, p. 1650003, 2016. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1142/S0129055X16500033
- [61] F. Fagnola, E. Sasso, and V. Umanità, "The role of the atomic decoherence-free subalgebra in the study of quantum markov semigroups," *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, vol. 60, no. 7, p. 072703, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5030954
- [62] F. F. Ameur Dhahri and R. Rebolledo, "The decoherence-free subalgebra of a quantum markov semigroup with unbounded generator," *Infinite Dimensional Analysis, Quantum Probability and Related Topics*, vol. 13, no. 03, pp. 413–433, 2010. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1142/S0219025710004176

- [63] E. Sasso and V. Umanità, "The general structure of the decoherence-free subalgebra for uniformly continuous quantum markov semigroups," 2021.
- [64] R. Rebolledo, "Decoherence of quantum markov semigroups," Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincare (B) Probability and Statistics, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 349–373, 2005, en hommage a Paul André Meyer. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0246020305000257
- [65] B. Rajarama Bhat, F. Fagnola, and M. Skeide, "Maximal commutative subalgebras invariant for cp-maps:(counter-)examples," *Infinite Dimensional Analysis, Quantum Probability and Related Topics*, vol. 11, no. 04, pp. 523–539, 2008.
- [66] R. Rebolledo, "A view on decoherence via master equations," Open Systems & Information Dynamics, vol. 12, no. 01, pp. 37–54, 2005. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11080-005-0485-3
- [67] F. Fagnola and M. Skeide, "Restrictions of CP-semigroups to maximal commutative subalgebras," *Banach Center Publications*, vol. 78, no. 1, pp. 121–132, 2007. [Online]. Available: http://eudml.org/doc/282153
- [68] F. Ticozzi and L. Viola, "Quantum markovian subsystems: Invariance, attractivity, and control," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 53, no. 9, pp. 2048–2063, 2008.
- [69] G. Mitchison and R. Jozsa, "Counterfactual computation," Proceedings of the Royal Society, A 457, p. 9907007, 1999.
- [70] M. Hasenöhrl, "Interaction-Free Discrimination of Quantum Channels," Master's thesis, Technical University of Munich, 2019.
- [71] B. V. RAJARAMA BHAT, F. FAGNOLA, and M. SKEIDE, "Maximal commutative subalgebras invariant for cp-maps: (counter-)examples," *Infinite Dimensional Analysis, Quantum Probability and Related Topics*, vol. 11, no. 04, pp. 523–539, 2008. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1142/S0219025708003269
- [72] A. Frigerio, "Stationary states of quantum dynamical semigroups," Communications in Mathematical Physics, vol. 63, no. 3, pp. 269–276, 1978.
- [73] K. R. Parthasarathy, An Introduction to Quantum Stochastic Calculus, ser. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser Verlag, 1992. [Online]. Available: https://books.google. de/books?id=zqTvAAAAMAAJ
- [74] S. Attal, "Quantum channels," 2021. [Online]. Available: http://math.univ-lyon1.fr/~attal/ Quantum_Channels.pdf
- [75] G. Lindblad, "A general no-cloning theorem," *Letters in Mathematical Physics*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 189–196, 1999.

- [76] M. Hasenöhrl and M. C. Caro, "Quantum and classical dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal channels," *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, vol. 63, no. 7, p. 072204, 2022.
- [77] M. Takesaki and U. of Chicago. Dept. of Mathematics, Theory of Operator Algebras I, ser. Encyclopaedia of mathematical sciences. Springer New York, 1979, no. v. 1. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id=OIEZAQAAIAAJ
- [78] M. M. Wolf, "Quantum channels & operations: Guided tour," 2012. [Online]. Available: https://www-m5.ma.tum.de/foswiki/pub/M5/Allgemeines/MichaelWolf/ QChannelLecture.pdf
- [79] W. B. Arveson, "Subalgebras of C*-algebras," Acta Mathematica, vol. 123, pp. 141–224, 1969.
- [80] V. Paulsen, Completely bounded maps and operator algebras, ser. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, 2002, no. 78.
- [81] A. Bisio and P. Perinotti, "Theoretical framework for higher-order quantum theory," Proceedings of the Royal Society A, vol. 475, no. 2225, p. 20180706, 2019.
- [82] M. A. Nielsen and I. L. Chuang, Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [83] K. G. H. Vollbrecht and R. F. Werner, "Entanglement measures under symmetry," Phys. Rev. A, vol. 64, p. 062307, Nov 2001. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevA.64.062307
- [84] S. Sternberg, Group Theory and Physics. Cambridge University Press, 1995. [Online].
 Available: https://books.google.de/books?id=k2Fp3JA93oYC
- [85] D. Burgarth and V. Giovannetti, "The generalized lyapunov theorem and its application to quantum channels," New Journal of Physics, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 150–150, may 2007. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1367-2630%2F9%2F5%2F150
- [86] T. Kato, Perturbation theory for linear operators; 2nd ed., ser. Grundlehren Math. Wiss. Berlin: Springer, 1976. [Online]. Available: https://cds.cern.ch/record/101545
- [87] B. Simon, *Operator Theory*. American Mathematical Society, 2015. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id=h0UACwAAQBAJ
- [88] T. Eggeling, D. Schlingemann, and R. F. Werner, "Semicausal operations are semilocalizable," *Europhysics Letters (EPL)*, vol. 57, no. 6, pp. 782–788, Mar 2002.
 [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1209%2Fepl%2Fi2002-00579-4
- [89] D. Beckman, D. Gottesman, M. A. Nielsen, and J. Preskill, "Causal and localizable quantum operations," *Phys. Rev. A*, vol. 64, p. 052309, Oct 2001. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.64.052309

- [90] Y. Abramovich and C. Aliprantis, Problems in Operator Theory, ser. Graduate studies in mathematics. American Mathematical Society, 2002, no. v. 2. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id=6i0PCgAAQBAJ
- [91] C. King, K. Matsumoto, M. Nathanson, and M. B. Ruskai, "Properties of conjugate channels with applications to additivity and multiplicativity," 2007.
- [92] C. Dankert, R. Cleve, J. Emerson, and E. Livine, "Exact and approximate unitary 2-designs and their application to fidelity estimation," *Phys. Rev. A*, vol. 80, p. 012304, Jul 2009. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.80.012304
- [93] M. Hasenöhrl, "Interaction-Free" Discrimination of Quantum Channels, 2019.
- [94] E. Knill, R. Laflamme, and L. Viola, "Theory of quantum error correction for general noise," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 84, pp. 2525–2528, Mar 2000. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.84.2525
- [95] D. Borthwick, Spectral Theory: Basic Concepts and Applications, ser. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer International Publishing, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books?id=d3zWDwAAQBAJ
- [96] H. Azuma, "Interaction-free measurement with an imperfect absorber," Phys. Rev. A, vol. 74, p. 054301, Nov 2006. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/ PhysRevA.74.054301
- [97] Y. Zhou and M.-H. Yung, "Interaction-free measurement as quantum channel discrimination," *Phys. Rev. A*, vol. 96, p. 062129, Dec 2017. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.96.062129

Appendix A

Core Articles

A.1 "Interaction-Free" Channel Discrimination

In this work we propose and analyze a generalized model for interaction-free measuremnets in the spirit of the Elitzur-Vaidman bomb-tester experiment [4].

In the introduction we thoroughly review the bomb-tester experiment in its original form due to Elitzur and Vaidman [4] and in its iterated form due to Kwiat et al. [28]. Moreover, we hint at a possible reformulation as a quantum channel discrimination problem.

In Section 2 we outline the path to our main result: A characterization for when totally "interaction-free" measurements are possible.

In Section 3, we axiomatically derive two models that capture what we believe that the term "interaction-free" measurement should mean if we generalize the original bomb-tester experiment as a quantum channel discrimination problem. We conclude this section by giving a formal mathematical definition of "interaction-free" measurements in both cases and by comparing the two models.

Our characterization of when totally "interaction-free" measurements are possible consists of two parts: A protocol, which allows us (under the hypothesis of the main theorem) to discriminate quantum channels in an "interaction-free" manner. And a converse which tells us that totally "interaction-free" measurements are impossible in the remaining cases. The protocol and its analysis is the main content of Section 4, while the no-go theorem is proven in Section 5.

Throughout, we aim to make our protocol as resource-efficient as possible. Our protocol uses (in the worst case) one ancillary qubit (as does the original bomb-tester experiment) and we show that one cannot get rid of such an ancillary qubit for a large class of protocols. Moreover, the "interaction" probability of our protocol decays as $\frac{1}{N}$ where N is the number of channel invocations, and we show that this asymptotic behavior is the best achievable one.

In Section 6, we conduct a thorough analysis of how our model and results relate to other models and results in the literature, with a particular emphasis on the Conterfactual Computation scheme by Mitchison and Josza [69].

This article is a continuation and thorough extension of the authors master thesis [70]. Although the objective to generalize "interaction-free" measurements is the same for the present article and the author's Master-thesis, most ideas and methods involved are different. In particular, this article axiomatically derives and uses the "interaction" model instead of the more ad-hoc model used in [70]. This allowed us to fully characterize totally "interaction-free" measurements as opposed to some results for several special cases, as in [70].

The characteristics of the protocol we propose in Section 4 are vastly better than the one in [70]. In particular, our new protocol **a**) has a wider scope - enabling a full characterization **b**) uses at most a single ancillary qubit system - making it potentially feasible for experimental implementation (this is achieved through a symmetrization step). **c**) has provably optimal decayrate for the 'interaction' probability **d**) can be implemented with almost every Hamiltonian - not just a precisely tuned one **e**) works for infinite-dimensional systems (which requires a much more sophisticated analysis) Moreover, we also improved the no-go results in order to match the constructive case and proved that the $\frac{1}{N}$ decay-rate of the 'interaction' probability is asymptotically optimal.

I was involved in all parts of the paper and wrote the entire manuscript.

Permission to include:

Material from: Hasenöhrl, M., Wolf, M.M. "Interaction-Free" Channel Discrimination. Ann. Henri Poincaré 23, 3331–3390 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00023-022-01175-z, Birkhäuser / Springer Nature Switzerland AG



Permissions

Get permission to reuse Springer Nature content

Springer Nature is partnered with the Copyright Clearance Center to meet our customers' licensing and permissions needs.

Copyright Clearance Center's RightsLink® service makes it faster and easier to secure permission for the reuse of Springer Nature content to be published, for example, in a journal/magazine, book/textbook, coursepack, thesis/dissertation, annual report, newspaper, training materials, presentation/slide kit, promotional material, etc.

Simply visit SpringerLink and locate the desired content;

Go to the article or chapter page you wish to reuse content from. (Note: permissions are granted on the article or chapter level, not on the book or journal level). Scroll to the botton of the page, or locate via the side bar, the "Reprints and Permissions" link at the end of the chapter or article.

Select the way you would like to reuse the content;

Complete the form with details on your intended reuse. Please be as complete and specific as possible ao as not to delay your permission request;

Create an account if you haven't already. A RightsLink account is different than a SpringerLink account, and is necessary to receive a licence regardless of the permission fee. You will receive your licence via the email attached to your RightsLink receipt;

Accept the terms and conditions and you're done!

For questions about using the RightsLink service, please contact Customer Support at Copyright Clearance Center via phone +1-855-239-3415 or +1-978-646-2777 or email springernaturesupport@copyright.com.

How to obtain permission to reuse Springer Nature content not available online on SpringerLink

Requests for permission to reuse content (e.g. figure or table, abstract, text excerpts) from Springer Nature publications currently not available online must be submitted in writing. Please be as detailed and specific as possible about what, where, how much, and why you wish to reuse the content.

Your contacts to obtain permission for the reuse of material from:

- books: bookpermissions@springernature.com
- journals: journalpermissions@springernature.com

Author reuse

Please check the Copyright Transfer Statement (CTS) or Licence to Publish (LTP) that you have signed with Springer Nature to find further information about the reuse of your content.

Authors have the right to reuse their article's Version of Record, in whole or in part, in their own thesis. Additionally, they may reproduce and make available their thesis, including Springer Nature content, as required by their awarding academic institution. Authors must properly cite the published article in their thesis according to current citation standards. Material from: 'AUTHOR, TITLE, JOURNAL TITLE, published [YEAR], [publisher - as it appears on our copyright page]'

If you are any doubt about whether your intended re-use is covered, please contact journalpermissions@springernature.com for confirmation.

Self-Archiving

- Journal authors retain the right to self-archive the final accepted version of their manuscript. Please see our self-archiving policy for full details:

https://www.springer.com/gp/open-access/authors-rights/self-archiving-policy/2124

- Book authors please refer to the information on this link:

https://www.springer.com/gp/open-access/publication-policies/self-archiving-policy

Annales Henri Poincaré



"Interaction-Free" Channel Discrimination

Markus Hasenöhrl_b and Michael M. Wolf

Abstract. In this work, we investigate the question of which objects can be discriminated by totally "interaction-free" measurements. To this end, we interpret the Elitzur–Vaidman bomb-tester experiment as a quantum channel discrimination problem and generalize the notion of "interactionfree" measurement to arbitrary quantum channels. Our main result is a necessary and sufficient criterion for when it is possible or impossible to discriminate quantum channels in an "interaction-free" manner (i.e., such that the discrimination error probability and the "interaction" probability can be made arbitrarily small). For the case where our condition holds, we devise an explicit protocol with the property that both probabilities approach zero with an increasing number of channel uses, N. More specifically, the "interaction" probability in our protocol decays as $\frac{1}{N}$ and we show that this rate is the optimal achievable one. Furthermore, our protocol only needs at most one ancillary qubit and might thus be implementable in near-term experiments. For the case where our condition does not hold, we prove an inequality that quantifies the trade-off between the error probability and the "interaction" probability.

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Results
 - 2.1. The Constructive Case
 - 2.2. The No-Go Case
- 3. The Models
 - 3.1. The "Interaction" Model
 - 3.2. The Transmission Model
 - 3.3. Formal Definition
 - 3.4. Comparison of the Models and Elementary Properties
- 4. The Discrimination Protocol
 - 4.1. Empty or Not?

4.2. The Reduction Protocol
5. No-Go Results
6. Related Work
7. Conclusion and Open Problems
Acknowledgements
Appendix A.
References

1. Introduction

In 1993, Elitzur and Vaidman proposed their famous bomb-tester experiment [1] to demonstrate that the arguably most intriguing property of quantum theory—superposition—can be exploited to detect an ultra-sensitive bomb in a black-box, in such a way that there is a non-vanishing probability that the bomb will not explode. Only two years later, Kwiat et al. [2] showed how to employ another fundamental phenomenon—the quantum Zeno effect [3]—to boost the probability that the bomb will not explode as close to 1 as one pleases. These powerful ideas found applications in "interaction-free" imaging [4,5], counterfactual quantum computation [6,7], counterfactual communication [8] and cryptography [9], and even complexity theory [10]. Despite the great success, it became apparent that the aforementioned techniques, which we will generically call "interaction-free" measurements, are subject to some fundamental limitations. Notably, it is impossible to learn the outcome of a decision problem solved by a quantum computer [7] without "running" the computer in at least one of the two cases, and two optically semi-transparent objects cannot be discriminated in such a way that no photon gets absorbed [11, 12].

Despite the results mentioned above, there seems to be no framework and analysis sufficiently general to pinpoint which objects can or cannot be discriminated perfectly by "interaction-free" measurements. Encouraged by recent results that generalize the quantum Zeno effect [13–16], we aim to remedy these shortcomings. To this end, we interpret the Elitzur–Vaidman bombtester experiment as a quantum channel discrimination problem and generalize the notion of "interaction-free" measurement to quantum channels via two slightly different, but in the end largely equivalent models. The theory of quantum supermaps [17] then provides the right framework to consider all possible (causally ordered) discrimination strategies, allowing us to decide when it is possible or impossible to discriminate two channels in an "interaction-free" manner.

Organization of the Paper This article is structured as follows: In the remainder of this section, we review the bomb-tester experiment in its versions by Elitzur and Vaidman and by Kwait et al. We also try to convey the idea of how the general model should look. Armed with this rough understanding, we will be able to state and discuss the major results of this work in Sect. 2. In



FIGURE 1. Elitzur–Vaidman bomb-tester experiment

Sect. 3, we give a detailed derivation of our model. Our main result, a characterization of what is possible and impossible to do with "interaction-free" measurements, is the combination of two pillars: a no-go theorem, in the form of an inequality, that tells us when it is impossible to discriminate two channels in an "interaction-free" manner; and a protocol that discriminates two channels in those cases that are not touched by the no-go theorem. A quantitative treatment of this protocol is given in Sect. 4, while the main content of Sect. 5 is the no-go theorem. Also in Sect. 5, we prove fundamental limits for the achievable decay rate of the "interaction" probability.

The Bomb-Tester Experiment In the following, we briefly review the bombtester experiment in its original version by Elitzur and Vaidman and its iterative version by Kwiat et al. Suppose you have a box and you have been told that inside of this box there is an ultra-sensitive bomb. By ultra-sensitive, we mean that the bomb will explode even if only one photon hits it. As you do not trust the deliverer, you want to check if there is a bomb inside the box. For some reason, the only way to obtain information about the content of the box is by shining light through it. Doing so, however, might trigger the bomb, which is what we want to avoid. If photons were classical particles our task seems to be an impossible one.¹ To circumvent this problem, Elizur and Vaidman proposed to put the box into the upper arm of a Mach–Zehnder interferometer, as depicted in Fig. 1. If we work only with a single photon, then this proposal can be stated abstractly as follows: The Hilbert space of the problem is $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_U \otimes \mathcal{H}_L$, where $\mathcal{H}_U = \mathcal{H}_L = \operatorname{span}\{v, p\}$ are the Hilbert spaces associated with the upper and lower arm, and the orthogonal unit vectors v and p denote the vacuum and one-photon states, respectively. The 50/50beamsplitter (BS) can be modeled as a unitary transformation U, defined by

$$Uv \otimes v = v \otimes v,$$

$$Up \otimes v = \cos(\theta) v \otimes p + \sin(\theta) p \otimes v,$$

$$Uv \otimes p = -\sin(\theta) v \otimes p + \cos(\theta) p \otimes v,$$

(1.1)

¹Note that one needs to be careful about the notion of classicality, since the bomb-tester experiment allows for a formulation in terms of Spekkens toy models [18, 19].

where $\theta = 45^{\circ}$. Suppose we start with a photon in the lower input, then the initial state is $s_0 := |v \otimes p\rangle \langle v \otimes p|$. There are two cases to analyze. On the one hand, if there is no bomb in the box, then the two beamsplitters rotate the state by 90° . Hence, the photon ends up in the upper output. On the other hand, if there is a bomb in the box, then the bomb acts as a measurement device in the upper path. There are three possible outcomes of the experiment. The first possibility is that the photon takes the upper path and thus causes the bomb to explode. This happens with a probability of 50%. If the bomb does not explode, then, by the measurement postulate, the state of the system is still s_0 . Since the second beamsplitter has a 50/50 splitting ratio, the probability that we measure the photon in the upper output equals the probability that we measure the photon in the lower output, i.e., the probability for each of them is 25%. The important point here is that in 25% of the cases the photon ends up in the lower path. In that case, we can conclude that there is a bomb in the box, but the bomb has not been triggered. However, we only get this result in 25% of the cases.

Kwiat et al.'s Iterative Version To increase the efficiency of this protocol, the crucial idea is to feed the output back to the input, (thus, to let the photon go through the box many times) and to adjust the splitting ratio of the beamsplitters sensibly (see [2] for the experimental realization). The easiest way to analyze this proposal is to think of the feedback loop in a "rolled out" way. That is, we look at this proposal as if we had N copies of the Mach-Zehnder interferometer (where N is the number of times we let the photon go through the box), in each of which the box is in the upper arm (see Fig. 2).

We further choose the angle $\theta := \frac{90^{\circ}}{N}$ in (1.1), which defines the action of the beamsplitters. Let us analyze this protocol: If there is no bomb in the box and the photon starts in the lower path, then the photon travels through N beamsplitters, each of which rotates the state by an angle of $\frac{90^{\circ}}{N}$. So overall the state is rotated by 90°, which means that the photon will be in the upper output. For the case where there is a bomb in the box, let us calculate the probability that the photon always takes the lower path and therefore does not hit the bomb. For each of the beamsplitters, if the photon is in the lower path before the beamsplitter, then the probability that the photon will be in the lower path after the beamsplitter is given by $\cos^2(\theta)$. Since the bomb can be viewed as a measurement device, the probability that the photon always takes the lower path is simply the product of the probabilities at each beamsplitter. Hence, $P(always lower path) = \cos^{2N}(\theta)$. For $N \to \infty$, we have

$$\cos^{2N}(\theta) = \left(1 - \frac{\pi^2}{8N^2} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-4})\right)^{2N} = 1 - \frac{\pi^2}{4N} + \mathcal{O}(N^{-2}) \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} 1$$

This simple calculation has the remarkable consequence that (when N is large enough) the photon will always end up in the lower path and the bomb will not explode. Since the photon will always end up in the upper path if there is no bomb in the box, this protocol enables us to tell (with probability approaching 1) whether there is a bomb in the box, while simultaneously ensuring that the bomb will not be triggered. "Interaction-Free" Channel Discrimination



FIGURE 2. Kwiat et al.'s version of the bomb-tester experiment



FIGURE 3. N-step discrimination strategy

Interpretation as a Channel Discrimination Problem We have seen in the previous paragraph how to discriminate between a completely transparent object (empty box) and an opaque object (bomb) such that the probability that a photon gets absorbed by the opaque object can be made as small as one pleases. This problem can be reinterpreted as a channel discrimination problem as follows: The channel corresponding to the transparent object is simply the identity channel ($T_{empty} := id$), while the action of the opaque object can be identified with the channel² $T_{bomb} : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_U) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_U)$, defined by

 $T_{\text{bomb}}(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}\left[\cdot\right] |v\rangle \langle v|.$

 $^{{}^{2}\}mathcal{B}_{1}(\mathcal{H})$ denotes the set of traceclass operators on the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} and $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$ denotes the set of density operators.

According to the theory of quantum combs,³ the most general (causally ordered) strategy to discriminate channels is given by the sequential scheme, depicted in Fig. 3. That is, if the channels to be discriminated act on the system I (I for interaction), then the most general discrimination strategy⁴ allowed by quantum theory can be described as follows: First, we choose an ancillary system Z (which might be arbitrarily large) and an initial state $s_0 \in$ $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}_I \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z)$. Then, we can apply a channel⁵ $\Lambda_0 : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_I \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_I \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z)$ to s_0 . Afterwards, the unknown channel is applied to the system (i.e., if T: $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_I) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_I)$ is the unknown channel, then its application transforms the state $\Lambda_0(s_0)$ to $(T \otimes id)(\Lambda_0(s_0))$). Then, we can transform the system by applying a channel $\Lambda_1 : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_I \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_I \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z)$. Afterwards, we apply the unknown channel again, followed by an application of a channel $\Lambda_2: \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_I \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_I \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z).$ We repeat this process N times overall. In the end, our system is in a state $\rho_N^T \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}_I \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z)$, which depends on T. Hence, by measuring we can obtain information about the identity of T. Kwiat et al.'s protocol can be integrated in this formalism as follows: We identify the upper path with the system I and the lower path with the system Z and choose $s_0 := |v \otimes p\rangle \langle v \otimes p|$. For $0 \le i \le N-1$, the channels Λ_i are defined by $\Lambda_i(\cdot) := U \cdot U^{\dagger} =: \hat{U}(\cdot), \text{ with } \theta = \frac{90^{\circ}}{N} \text{ and we set } \Lambda_N := \text{id. It is then easy to}$ calculate that

$$\begin{aligned}
\rho_N^{T_{\text{empty}}} &= \hat{U}^N(|v \otimes p\rangle \langle v \otimes p|) = |p \otimes v\rangle \langle p \otimes v|, \\
\rho_N^{T_{\text{bomb}}} &= \left((T_{\text{bomb}} \otimes \text{id}) \circ \hat{U} \right)^N (|v \otimes p\rangle \langle v \otimes p|) \\
&= \cos^{2N}(\theta) |v \otimes p\rangle \langle v \otimes p| + (1 - \cos^{2N}(\theta)) |v \otimes v\rangle \langle v \otimes v|,
\end{aligned} \tag{1.2}$$

where $\rho_N^{T_{\text{empty}}}$ and $\rho_N^{T_{\text{bomb}}}$ denote the output states of the protocol when the unknown channel is T_{empty} or T_{bomb} . An interesting aspect of the expressions (1.2) is that one can read off the results of the last paragraph, since the states are orthogonal and since the probability that the bomb explodes is simply given by the coefficient of $|v \otimes v\rangle \langle v \otimes v|$. To abstract from the bomb-tester experiment, we want to allow for arbitrary quantum channels and for arbitrary discrimination strategies (Fig. 3). In this more general setting, the concept of the output state does not change. What is not a priori clear is what it means that something was "interaction-free". Since we want to allow for arbitrary strategies (for example, involving many photons in arbitrary superpositions), the output state does not, in general, contain the information if an interaction occurred. Therefore, we need to model separately what "interaction-free" means for general discrimination strategies. A derivation of such a model based on some axioms takes some effort. We will, therefore, postpone this discussion until Sect. 3. For now, let us just describe the essential constituents. First, for the notion of "interaction-free" to have any meaning, there needs to be some

 $^{^{3}}$ Quantum combs: also known as quantum supermaps, quantum strategies, ...

⁴This includes in particular coherent evolution, the use of entanglement, measurements, adaptive strategies, channels used in parallel, ...

⁵Of course, the application of Λ_0 is redundant, since one could choose s_0 differently. Allowing to apply Λ_0 , however, will simplify the notation.

way not to interact with the object in the box. We will thus assume, in analogy to the bomb-tester experiment, the existence of a vacuum state. That is, we assume that for the channels under consideration, there exists a pure state $|v\rangle\langle v| \in S(\mathcal{H}_I)$ such that $|v\rangle\langle v|$ gets mapped to a pure state by the channel and that if the channel is applied to $|v\rangle\langle v|$, then there is no "interaction" with the object in the box. This concept is formalized by the notion of a channel with vacuum.

Definition 1.1 (*Channel with vacuum*). A channel with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$ is a channel $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ together with a unit vector $v \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $T(|v\rangle\langle v|)$ is pure. The unit vector v is called the *vacuum*, and the state $|v\rangle\langle v| \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$ is called the vacuum state.

The notion of an object in the box already suggests that we should look at the given channel in the open system picture. To this end, we imagine a Demon sitting in the box and trying to figure out if something else than the vacuum was sent through the box. To do so, we allow the Demon to access the object in the box. In more mathematical terms, the Demon has full access to the output of the conjugate channel [20]. An important implicit assumption underlying the discussion above is that the channels we look at can be applied several times (which means that the channel does not change) a Markovianity assumption. Given just this Markovianity assumption, it is possible to determine the probability that, for a certain discrimination strategy, the Demon will find out if at any point during the execution of the strategy, the channel was applied to something else than the vacuum state. We will call this probability the *"interaction" probability* (see Definition 3.3), denoted by $P_I^T(D)$, where T denotes the channel and D the discrimination strategy. The central notion of discrimination in an "interaction-free" manner, as formalized in Definition 3.4, is then defined by demanding that the discrimination error probability as well as the "interaction" probability can be made arbitrarily small simultaneously. We finish this section by formalizing the notion of a discrimination strategy⁶ and by fixing the notation.

Definition 1.2 (*Discrimination strategy*). An *N*-step discrimination strategy is a tuple $(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_Z, \mathcal{H}_i, \mathcal{H}_o, s_0, \Lambda)$, where $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_Z, \mathcal{H}_i$, and \mathcal{H}_o are Hilbert spaces, $s_0 \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}_i)$ is the initial state and $\Lambda := \{\Lambda_0, \Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_N\}$ is a set of channels, with $\Lambda_0 : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_i) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z), \Lambda_n : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z)$ for $1 \le n \le N - 1$, and $\Lambda_N : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_o)$.

An N-step discrimination strategy induces the *intermediate state map* ρ : $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})) \times \{0, 1, 2, \dots, N\} \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z) \cup \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_o)$, defined by

$$\rho(T,0) = \Lambda_0(s_0),
\rho(T,n) = \Lambda_n \circ (T \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \rho(T,n-1), \text{ for } 1 \le n \le N.$$
(1.3)

We will always write⁷ ρ_n^T for $\rho(T, n)$ and omit \mathcal{H}_i and \mathcal{H}_o if $\mathcal{H}_i = \mathcal{H}_o = \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z$.

⁶Note that in this definition, we allow the input and output spaces to be different from $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z$. This is solely for notational flexibility and has no physical significance.

⁷The superscript should not be confused with the transpose.

Notation Throughout, \mathcal{H} (with some subscript) denotes a separable complex Hilbert space and in this paragraph, \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} are Banach spaces. The range of a map $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ is denoted by $\operatorname{ran}(f) := \{f(x) \mid x \in \mathcal{X}\}$. The kernel of fis ker $(f) := \{x \in \mathcal{X} \mid f(x) = 0\}$. The dual space \mathcal{X}^* of \mathcal{X} is the set of bounded linear functionals on \mathcal{X} . The orthogonal complement of a linear subspace $\mathcal{V} \subseteq$ \mathcal{H} is denoted by \mathcal{V}^{\perp} . The open ϵ -ball around $x_0 \in \mathcal{X}$ is defined by $B_{\epsilon}(x_0) :=$ $\{x \in \mathcal{X} \mid ||x - x_0|| < \epsilon\}$ and the closed δ -disc around $z_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ is denoted by $\mathbb{D}_{\delta}(z_0) := \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z - z_0| \le \delta\}$.

The Banach space of bounded linear operators $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ is denoted by $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$. The space of trace-class operators $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ becomes a Banach space with trace-norm $\|\cdot\|_1 := \operatorname{tr} [|\cdot|]$. For $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, the adjoint is denoted by A^{\dagger} and the support of A is defined by $\sup(A) := \ker(A)^{\perp}$. If $A^{\dagger} = A$, then A is called self-adjoint. A is called positive semi-definite, sometimes denoted by $A \geq 0$, if A is self-adjoint and $\langle \psi | A \psi \rangle \geq 0$ for all $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$. For a closed subspace $\mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$, we denote (in a slight abuse of notation) by $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ the bounded linear operators with range and support in \mathcal{V} and by $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$ the trace-class operators with range and support in \mathcal{V} .

A linear operator $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ is called a quantum operation if it is completely positive and trace non-increasing. If T is in addition trace-preserving, then T is called a (quantum) channel. If a quantum channel T is written in the form $T(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}_E [V \cdot V^{\dagger}]$, where $V : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}$ is an isometry and where tr_E is the partial trace, then V is called a Stinespring isometry. The set of (quantum) states on \mathcal{H} is given by $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}) := \{\rho \in \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \mid \rho \geq 0, \operatorname{tr}[\rho] = 1\}$. The identity channel is denoted by id and the unit matrix by $\mathbb{1}$. For positive semi-definite trace-class operators ρ and σ , the fidelity is defined by $\sqrt{F}(\rho, \sigma) := \|\sqrt{\rho}\sqrt{\sigma}\|_1$.

For $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$, the resolvent set is $\rho(B) := \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid z - B \text{ is invertible}\}$ and the spectrum is $\sigma(B) := \mathbb{C} \setminus \rho(B)$. The discrete spectrum of B is the subset of isolated points of $\sigma(B)$ such that the corresponding Riesz projection has finite rank.

2. Results

To state and discuss our main results, we need one more concept, which is similar to that of a decoherence-free subspace.⁸

Definition 2.1 (*Isometric subspace*). Let \mathcal{V} be a closed linear subspace of a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . A channel $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ is said to be *isometric on* \mathcal{V} if there exists an isometry $V : \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}$, such that⁹

$$T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}(\cdot) = V \cdot V^{\dagger}.$$
(2.1)

If T is isometric on \mathcal{V} , we call \mathcal{V} an *isometric subspace* w.r.t. T.

⁸An isometric subspace is a decoherence-free subspace if the range of the isometry is \mathcal{V} .

 $^{{}^{9}}T|_{\mathcal{B}_{1}(\mathcal{V})}$ denotes the restriction of T to the bounded linear operators with range and support in \mathcal{V} .

The significance of channels that are isometric on \mathcal{V} is that they are the analogue to the identity channel in the bomb-tester case. To see why, note that $T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ satisfies the Knill–Laflamme error-correcting conditions [21]. Hence, by composing $T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ with an appropriate channel, we obtain the identity channel on $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$. Furthermore, as Lemma 3.10 proves in a language adapted to our model, the output of the conjugate channel of T will be the same for all $\rho \in \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$. In particular, if we have $v \in \mathcal{V}$, where v is the vacuum, then even though $\rho \in \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$ might be different from $|v\rangle\langle v|$, the Demon (having access to the conjugate channel only) has no chance of telling that something other than the vacuum has been sent through the box.

We are now ready to state our main result, which is an easy to check necessary and sufficient criterion that tells us when it is possible (or impossible) to discriminate two quantum channels in an "interaction-free" manner.

Theorem 2.2 (Main result). Let dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$. Two channels $T_A, T_B : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \rightarrow \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$ can be discriminated in an "interaction-free" manner if and only if there exists a subspace $\mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ with the following three properties:

1. $v \in \mathcal{V}$.

- 2. At least one of the two channels is isometric on \mathcal{V} .
- 3. $T_A|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})} \neq T_B|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})}$.

Note that the central notion "discrimination in an 'interaction-free' manner" has only been defined informally in the paragraph following Definition 1.1. The formal definition, as well as the one for the "interaction" probability, can be found in Sect. 3.3, after a derivation of the mathematical form of these quantities from first principles in Sect. 3.1.

Remark 2.3. At first glance it may seem to be hard to check whether such a subspace exists. This is not so, as one only needs to consider two candidates for \mathcal{V} , the so-called maximal vacuum subspaces \mathcal{V}_{T_A} and \mathcal{V}_{T_B} , which we define and study in 3.9 and 3.10.

Theorem 2.2 is a direct consequence of two results: a protocol to discriminate two channels and a no-go theorem. We discuss these cases separately in the following two subsections.

2.1. The Constructive Case

We consider the case where our main theorem says that we can discriminate the two channels in an "interaction-free" manner. That is, where there is a subspace \mathcal{V} , such that \mathcal{V} contains the vacuum and one of the two channels is isometric on \mathcal{V} and $T_A|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})} \neq T_B|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})}$. For this case, we propose a protocol (see Sect. 4) that can discriminate two channels in an "interaction-free" manner. We will discuss the properties of this protocol in the following. It turns out that one does not need complete information about the two channels to perform the discrimination task. To account for this, we consider the more general task, where we want to know to which one of two known, disjoint, sets of channels the unknown channel belongs. Of course, Theorem 2.2 puts some restrictions on how these sets may look like. Specifically, we consider the following: Given a channel T with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{V}$ that is isometric on \mathcal{V} , we take as our first set (a subset of) the set of channels that equal T if we restrict their domains to $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$. The second set is less restricted in that we only assume that all channels must be channels with (the same) vacuum v and that the restrictions to $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$ must not equal $T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$. It will then turn out that under these conditions, these two sets can be discriminated in an "interaction-free" manner. Roughly speaking, this tells us that we can test whether the unknown channel is T or some other channel, whose identity is unknown. Putting it yet another way, if the identity channel is interpreted as an empty box and every other channel as a non-empty box, then our result says that one can always find out (in an "interaction-free" manner) if there is something or nothing in the box. Before we state this in mathematical terms, we need to define the *discrimination error probability* for two sets.

Definition 2.4 (*Error probability*). Let $C_A, C_B \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ be two sets of channels. For an *N*-step discrimination strategy *D* and a two-valued POVM $\Pi = \{\pi_A, \pi_B\}$, the *discrimination error probability* is defined by

$$P_e(D,\Pi) := \frac{1}{2} \left[\sup_{T \in \mathcal{C}_A} \operatorname{tr} \left[\pi_B \rho_N^T \right] + \sup_{T \in \mathcal{C}_B} \operatorname{tr} \left[\pi_A \rho_N^T \right] \right].$$
(2.2)

Theorem 2.5 (Discrimination strategy). For dim(\mathcal{H}) < ∞ , let $\mathcal{C}_A, \mathcal{C}_B \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ be two closed sets of channels and \mathcal{V} be a subspace of \mathcal{H} , such that

- 1. For all $T \in \mathcal{C}_A \cup \mathcal{C}_B$, T is a channel with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{V}$.
- 2. For all $T \in C_A$, T is isometric on \mathcal{V} .
- 3. The set $\mathcal{C}_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} := \{T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \mid T \in \mathcal{C}_A\}$ contains exactly one element.
- 4. $\mathcal{C}_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ and $\mathcal{C}_B|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} := \{T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \mid T \in \mathcal{C}_B\}$ are disjoint.

Then there exist a constant C, and for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$, an N-step discrimination strategy D and a two-valued POVM Π , such that

$$P_e(D,\Pi) \le \frac{C}{N^2},\tag{2.3}$$

$$P_I^{T_A}(D) = 0 \quad and \quad P_I^{T_B}(D) \le \frac{C}{N}, \tag{2.4}$$

for all $T_A \in C_A$ and all $T_B \in C_B$, where P_I denotes the "interaction" probability. Thus, the sets C_A and C_B can be discriminated in an "interaction-free" manner.

Remark 2.6. The strategy we propose that has the properties stated in Theorem 2.5 only requires one ancillary qubit system in the worst-case scenario (as does the Kwiat et al. protocol) and might thus be implementable in the near future. We also show that one cannot get rid of the ancillary qubit in a naive way.

Remark 2.7. Although Theorem 2.5 is formulated for finite-dimensional spaces, a key part of the proof works also in infinite-dimensional spaces (Theorems 4.5 and 4.6).

Remark 2.8. For two channels T_A and T_B with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$, we can define the sets $\mathcal{C}_A := \{T_A\}$ and $\mathcal{C}_B := \{T_B\}$. If there is a subspace \mathcal{V} such that the Conditions 1-3 in the main theorem are fulfilled (and, w.l.o.g, T_A is isometric on \mathcal{V}), then clearly \mathcal{C}_A and \mathcal{C}_B satisfy the hypothesis of Theorem 2.5 and thus T_A and T_B can be discriminated in an "interaction-free" manner. This proves the direct part of Theorem 2.2.

Given the result of Theorem 2.5, it is natural to ask whether the bounds on the error probability and the "interaction" probability have the optimal dependence on N. This is clearly not the case for the error probability, as is already evident from the bomb-tester experiment. For the "interaction" probability, we were able to show (under a mild condition on C_A and C_B) that N^{-1} is indeed the best possible rate. We state this as a meta theorem (see Theorem 5.9).

Theorem. Subject to a condition stated in Theorem 5.9, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\max(P_I^{T_A}(D), P_I^{T_B}(D)) \ge C \, \frac{(1 - 2P_e(D, \Pi))^4}{N}, \tag{2.5}$$

for all N-step discrimination strategies D and all two-valued POVM's Π .

The result above cannot hold unconditionally. If there is a subspace \mathcal{V} such that $v \in \mathcal{V}$, and *both* channels are isometric on \mathcal{V} and $T_A|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})} \neq T_B|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V})}$, then we can restrict ourselves to probing the channel only with states in $\rho \in \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$. Since the Demon cannot tell the difference between these states, the "interaction" probability is zero and the remaining problem is to discriminate two isometric channels. This problem can be solved with discrimination error probability equal to zero, in a finite number of steps [22]. We were unable to show that the case described above is the only one where the N^{-1} -rule can be violated, but this seems plausible.

2.2. The No-Go Case

In this section, we consider the case for which our main theorem tells us that "interaction-free" channel discrimination is impossible; that is, if there exists no subspace satisfying all three properties of Theorem 2.2. In this case the channels T_A and T_B must be such that whenever there is a subspace \mathcal{V} that contains the vacuum and on which at least one of the two channels is isometric, then the two channels must necessarily be the same on that subspace.¹⁰ In this case, we were able to establish the following theorem that shows that there is a trade-off between the error probability and the "interaction" probability, in the sense that not both of them can go to zero simultaneously.

¹⁰Unfortunately, this case seems to be the generic case. Indeed, on physical grounds (think of two semi-transparent objects) it is reasonable to assume that for both channels, the only isometric subspace that contains the vacuum is simply span{v} and that $|v\rangle\langle v|$ is a fixed point.

Theorem 2.9 (No-go theorem). For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $T_A, T_B : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be two channels with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$. Suppose that no subspace satisfies the properties 1, 2, and 3 of Theorem 2.2 simultaneously.

Then, there exists a constant C > 0, such that

$$(1 - 2P_e(D,\Pi))^2 \le C \max(P_I^{T_A}(D), P_I^{T_B}(D)),$$
(2.6)

for all finite-dimensional N-step discrimination strategies D and all two-valued POVMs, Π . Hence, T_A and T_B cannot be discriminated in an "interaction-free" manner.

Clearly, this implies the converse in Theorem 2.2.

As a by-product, we obtained an inequality for the fidelity, which might be of independent interest.

Proposition 2.10. For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow} : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be quantum operations and let \mathcal{V} be a subspace of \mathcal{H} such that $T_A^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = T_B^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ and $T_A^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ is trace-preserving. Then,

$$\sqrt{F}(T_A^{\downarrow}(\rho), T_B^{\downarrow}(\sigma)) \ge \sqrt{F}(\rho, \sigma) - 2\sqrt{F}(P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}, P^{\perp}\sigma P^{\perp}), \qquad (2.7)$$

for all $\rho, \sigma \geq 0$, where P^{\perp} is the orthogonal projection onto \mathcal{V}^{\perp} .

3. The Models

In this section, we propose two different, but in the end largely equivalent models that generalize the notion of "interaction-free" measurement to quantum channels. Since the sequential scheme, given in Fig. 3, is the most general causally ordered strategy allowed in quantum theory [17], it suffices to define our notions for this kind of strategy. In both models, we assume the validity of Fig. 3. That is, we assume that the unknown channel T does not change during the execution of the discrimination strategy—the Markovianity assumption. This is a relatively weak assumption, since we are in control of the duration between the individual channel invocations. This section consists of four subsections. In the first two subsections, we derive our two models. The third subsection summarizes the former two by properly defining the quantities of merit and thereby setting the stage for a rigorous analysis in the later sections. In the fourth subsection, we compare the two models by deriving some elementary properties, which will be used later on.

3.1. The "Interaction" Model

In our first model, we interpret the term "interaction-free" in an informationtheoretic way. That is, we imagine a Demon sitting in the box trying to figure out, if we interacted with the interior of the box. In more technical terms, this means that the Demon has full access to the output of the conjugate channel. Since our task would be trivially infeasible otherwise, there must be a way not to interact with the box. Therefore, we only consider channels with vacuum. That is, we assume that for all channels under consideration there exists a distinguished pure state, the *vacuum state*, $|v\rangle\langle v|$. This state is assumed


FIGURE 4. General scenario

to have the following two important properties: First, if the vacuum state is sent through the channel, then the Demon concludes that no interaction has occurred. Second, we assume that the channels under consideration map the vacuum state to a pure state. This assumption is physically reasonable as it means that the state of the probe system does not become entangled with the Demon's system. If in contrast, the probe system becomes entangled with the Demon's system, then there must have been an interaction and the term "interaction-free" measurement would be inappropriate. We should mention, however, that the transmission model, which we are going to describe in the next section does not use the ""vacuum maps to pure state"" assumption. This comes at the cost that the transmission functional is no longer a property of a channel (as the "interaction" functional will turn out to be) but rather an object that has to be modeled separately. Together, these two assumptions yield the definition of a channel with vacuum (Definition 1.1). For a given channel T with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}_I$ and an N-step discrimination strategy D = $(\mathcal{H}_I, \mathcal{H}_Z, \mathcal{H}_i, \mathcal{H}_o, s_0, \Lambda)$, we want to define the "interaction" probability $P_I^T(D)$ as the probability that the Demon in the box encounters that, during the execution of D, something other than the vacuum state was sent through the channel. To define this probability, we need to specify how the Demon can obtain information about what was sent through the channel.

A natural way to model this is by assuming that for each of the N channeluses (indexed by n) in the discrimination strategy, the Demon is allowed to implement the channel T via a channel $D_n : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_{I'} \otimes \mathcal{H}_I) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_{I'} \otimes \mathcal{H}_I)$, where $\mathcal{H}_{I'}$ is the Hilbert space associated with a system I', which the Demon controls. We further allow the Demon to keep an arbitrarily large memory system M (with Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_M) which he can manipulate freely (i.e., he can choose the channels M_n , defined below). The most general (causally ordered) scheme that can be obtained from the above description is depicted in Fig. 4. Mathematically, the Demon's strategy is completely determined by an initial state $s_0^D \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}_M \otimes \mathcal{H}_{I'})$ and channels $M_0, M_1, \ldots, M_N : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_M \otimes \mathcal{H}_{I'}) \to$ $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_M \otimes \mathcal{H}_{I'})$ and $D_1, D_2, \ldots, D_N : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_{I'} \otimes \mathcal{H}_I) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_{I'} \otimes \mathcal{H}_I)$. Given this data, the scheme in Fig. 4 produces the output (or final) state $\rho_F \in$

$$S(\mathcal{H}_M \otimes \mathcal{H}_{I'} \otimes \mathcal{H}_o)$$
, defined by
 $\rho_F := (M_N \otimes \Lambda_N)(\mathrm{id} \otimes D_N \otimes \mathrm{id}) \dots (M_1 \otimes \Lambda_1)(\mathrm{id} \otimes D_1 \otimes \mathrm{id})(M_0 \otimes \Lambda_0)(\chi_0),$
where $\chi_0 := s_0^D \otimes s_0$. In the end, the Demon will measure his system $(M + I')$

and decide, based on the measurement outcome, if an interaction has occurred. The "interaction" probability is then the probability that he detects such an interaction if he chooses his strategy optimally within the given constraints.

Before we can analyze what the Demon's optimal strategy is, we need to formulate mathematically the assumption that D_n implements T, and that T must be independent of the Demon's strategy (Markovianity). Precisely, we assume that D_n must be such that if the Demon's system (I') and I are uncorrelated, then the action on the system I must be independent of the state of the system I'. In formulas, we assume that

$$\operatorname{tr}_{I'}\left[D_n(\rho_{I'} \otimes \rho_I)\right] = T(\rho_I) \tag{3.1}$$

for all $\rho_{I'} \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}_{I'})$, $\rho_I \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}_I)$, and $n \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$. We note that (3.1) is exactly the definition of a semicausal channel, as introduced in [23]. A structure theorem by Eggeling et al. [24] tells us that semi-causal channels are semilocalizable. That is, D_n can be written in the form:

$$D_n(\rho_{I'I}) = \operatorname{tr}_{E_n}\left[(X_n \otimes \operatorname{id}_I)(\operatorname{id}_{I'} \otimes \hat{V}_n)(\rho_{I'I}) \right],$$

where $\hat{V}_n : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_I) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_{E_n} \otimes \mathcal{H}_I)$, defined by $\hat{V}_n(\cdot) = V_n \cdot V_n^{\dagger}$ is the quantum channel associated with a Stinespring isometry $V_n : \mathcal{H}_I \to \mathcal{H}_{E_n} \otimes \mathcal{H}_I$ of T and $X_n : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_{I'} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E_n}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_{I'} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E_n})$ is some channel. To proceed further in our search for the Demon's optimal strategy, we make a few simplifying observations and definitions. First, the unitary freedom in the Stinespring dilation \hat{V}_n can be absorbed into the channel X_i . We can therefore assume, without loss of generality, that $\mathcal{H}_{E_1} = \mathcal{H}_{E_2} = \cdots = \mathcal{H}_{E_N} =: \mathcal{H}_E$ and $\hat{V}_1 = \hat{V}_2 = \cdots = \hat{V}_N =: \hat{V}$. Second, for $\rho \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}_M \otimes \mathcal{H}_{I'} \otimes \mathcal{H}_I)$, we have

$$(M_n \otimes \mathrm{id}_I)D_n(\rho) = \mathrm{tr}_{E_n}\left[([(M_n \otimes \mathrm{id}_{E_n})(\mathrm{id}_M \otimes X_n)] \otimes \mathrm{id}_I)(\mathrm{id}_{MI'} \otimes \hat{V}_n)(\rho)\right],$$

which motivates the definition $\underline{X}_n := (M_n \otimes \mathrm{id}_{E_n})(\mathrm{id}_M \otimes X_n)$. In the following, we adopt the convention that if some channel acts trivially on a tensor factor (i.e., as the identity), then we omit these tensor factors in the notation (e.g., $\underline{X}_i \otimes \mathrm{id}_I$ becomes just \underline{X}_i). With the newly introduced notation, it follows from the definition of σ_F that the state the Demon obtains is

$$\operatorname{tr}_{IZ}\left[\rho_{F}\right] = \operatorname{tr}_{IZ}\Lambda_{N}\operatorname{tr}_{E_{N}}\underline{X}_{N}\hat{V}_{N}\Lambda_{N-1}\operatorname{tr}_{E_{N-1}}\underline{X}_{N-1}\dots\Lambda_{1}\operatorname{tr}_{E_{1}}\underline{X}_{1}\hat{V}_{1}M_{0}\Lambda_{0}(\chi_{0}).$$

We can commute the \underline{X}_i s and tr_{E_i}s to the left. Thus, upon defining the channel $\Gamma : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_{E_N} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E_{N-1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E_1}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_M \otimes \mathcal{H}_{I'})$ by

$$\Gamma(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{E_N} \underline{X}_N \operatorname{tr}_{E_{N-1}} \underline{X}_{N-1} \dots \operatorname{tr}_{E_1} \underline{X}_1 M_0(s_0^D \otimes \rho),$$

we have

$$\operatorname{tr}_{IZ}\left[\rho_{F}\right] = \Gamma\left(\operatorname{tr}_{IZ}\Lambda_{N}\hat{V}_{N}\Lambda_{N-1}\hat{V}_{N-1}\dots\Lambda_{1}\hat{V}_{1}\Lambda_{0}(s_{0})\right).$$

"Interaction-Free" Channel Discrimination



FIGURE 5. Scenario when the Demon's strategy is optimal

To decide if the channel was ever applied to a state different from the vacuum state, the Demon measures his state with a two-valued POVM, $\{Q_1, Q_2\}$. By convention, he will conclude that an interaction occurred (something other than the vacuum was sent through) if the event corresponding to Q_2 occurs. If the state sent through the channel is always the vacuum state, then the Demon's final state is

$$\Gamma(\left[\operatorname{tr}_{I}\left[V|v\rangle\langle v|V^{\dagger}\right]\right]^{\otimes N}),$$

where the tensor power is in the space $\mathcal{H}_{E_N} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E_{N-1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E_1}$. Since the Demon must not report an interaction, if the state was always the vacuum state, we demand

$$0 = \operatorname{tr}\left[Q_2\Gamma(\left[\operatorname{tr}_I\left[V|v\rangle\langle v|V^{\dagger}\right]\right]^{\otimes N})\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[\Gamma^*(Q_2)\left[\operatorname{tr}_I\left[V|v\rangle\langle v|V^{\dagger}\right]\right]^{\otimes N}\right],$$

where Γ^* denotes the channel Γ in the Heisenberg picture. Clearly, if $\Gamma^*(Q_2) = \mathbb{1}^{\otimes N} - P_v^{\otimes N}$, where P_v is the orthogonal projection onto the support of $\operatorname{tr}_I [V|v\rangle\langle v|V^{\dagger}]$, then this requirement is fulfilled. Since we want to choose the optimal strategy the Demon can pursue, we want to set $\Gamma^*(Q_2) := \mathbb{1}^{\otimes N} - P_v^{\otimes N}$. We can always choose Γ and Q_2 to satisfy the last equation, because this corresponds to the strategy where the Demon simply stores all the states he obtains from the Stinespring dilation in each round. This justifies the graphical representation in Fig. 5. Since we defined the "interaction" probability to be the probability that the Demon concludes that an interaction occurred (if he acts optimally), we have

$$P_I^T(D) := \operatorname{tr}\left[(\mathbb{1}^{\otimes N} - P_v^{\otimes N}) \operatorname{tr}_{IZ} \hat{V}_N \Lambda_{N-1} \hat{V}_{N-1} \dots \Lambda_1 \hat{V}_1(\rho_0^T) \right], \qquad (3.2)$$

where $\rho_0^T := \Lambda_0(s_0)$ is the first intermediate state. We remark that the definition of $P_I^T(D)$ does not depend on the particular choice of the Stinespring dilation, since the unitary freedom in the Stinespring isometries is compensated by the equal and opposite freedom in P_v .

We can simplify this expression a bit. We define $P_v^{\perp} := \mathbb{1} - P_v$ and note that

$$\mathbb{1}^{\otimes N} - P_v^{\otimes N} = \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \mathbb{1}^{\otimes N-n-1} \otimes P_v^{\perp} \otimes P_v^{\otimes n},$$

$$P_v^{\perp} \otimes P_v^{\otimes K} = \prod_{j=0}^{K-1} P_v^{\perp} \otimes \mathbb{1}^{\otimes j} \otimes P_v \otimes \mathbb{1}^{\otimes K-j-1}.$$

Using these two expressions and (several times) that Λ_n is trace-preserving, we obtain our final version for $P_I^T(D)$,

$$P_{I}^{T}(D) = \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \operatorname{tr} \left[\mathbb{1}^{\otimes N-n-1} \otimes P_{v}^{\perp} \otimes P_{v}^{\otimes n} \operatorname{tr}_{IZ} \hat{V}_{N} \Lambda_{N-1} \hat{V}_{N-1} \dots \Lambda_{1} \hat{V}_{1}(\rho_{0}^{T}) \right]$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \operatorname{tr} \left[P_{v}^{\perp} \otimes P_{v}^{\otimes n} \operatorname{tr}_{IZ} \hat{V}_{n+1} \Lambda_{n} \hat{V}_{n} \dots \Lambda_{1} \hat{V}_{1}(\rho_{0}^{T}) \right]$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \operatorname{tr} \left[P_{v}^{\perp} \operatorname{tr}_{IZ} (\hat{V}_{n+1} (\Lambda_{n} (\operatorname{tr}_{E_{i}} ((P_{v} \otimes \mathbb{1}) \hat{V}_{n} (..\operatorname{tr}_{E_{1}} ((P_{v} \otimes \mathbb{1}) \hat{V}_{1}(\rho_{0}^{T})..)) \right]$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \operatorname{tr} \left[P_{v}^{\perp} \operatorname{tr}_{I} \hat{V} (\operatorname{tr}_{Z} (\Lambda_{i} T^{\downarrow} \Lambda_{n-1} T^{\downarrow} \dots \Lambda_{1} T^{\downarrow}(\rho_{0}^{T}))) \right]$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \operatorname{tr} \left[P_{v}^{\perp} \operatorname{tr}_{I} \hat{V} (\operatorname{tr}_{Z} \left[\rho_{n}^{T^{\downarrow}} \right]) \right].$$

In the second to last line, we defined $T^{\downarrow}(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}_E \left[(P_v \otimes \mathbb{1}) V \cdot V^{\dagger} \right]$ and $\rho_n^{T^{\downarrow}}$ is determined by the intermediate state map. We have thus succeeded in our goal to define the "interaction" probability.

Remark 3.1. It is immediate from (3.2) that an alternative expression for $P_I^T(D)$ is given by

$$P_I^T(D) = 1 - \operatorname{tr}\left[\rho_N^{T^{\downarrow}}\right].$$
(3.3)

There are two reasons to prefer the lengthy version derived above. First, it makes the connection between the "interaction" model and the transmission model (defined below) explicit and thus allows us to treat these points of view on an equal footing. Second, it suggests to approach the problem by looking at the inputs of the individual channel uses, which turns out to be fruitful.

3.2. The Transmission Model

In our second model, we think of an interaction as something that does damage to the system in the box. As a guiding example, we think of a biological system—say a body cell. For the sake of argument, assume that we want to use high-energetic radiation (e.g., X-ray) to resolve the inner structure of the cell. Of course, radiation might damage the cell, which is usually undesirable. A reasonable measure for how much damage has been done to a cell seems to be the number of X-ray photons that were absorbed by the cell. In other words, the damage is quantified by the amount of energy that got *transmitted* from the probe system (X-ray) to the interior of the box (biological cell). Furthermore, if the cell is exposed to radiation several times, then the damage measure should be the sum of the number of photons that were absorbed each time. Let us now abstract away from this example. Assume that the system in the box is modeled quantum mechanically on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_E and that the probe system is modeled on \mathcal{H}_I . Assume that initially the system E is in the state $\rho_E \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}_E)$. If we probe the system with a state $\rho_I \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}_I)$, then the combined evolution is described by a (not necessarily unitary) channel $U : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_I) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_I)$. Thus, the state of the combined system after the evolution is given by

$$\rho'_{EI} = U(\rho_E \otimes \rho_I).$$

Now assume that, in analogy to the number of absorbed photons in the example above, there is some physical quantity (an observable) that got transmitted from the probe system to the interior of the box by the above process, and that this quantity is related to the damage done to the object in the box. We further assume that the process above can only cause damage and cannot repair the system in the box. Thus, the observable must be a positive semi-definite operator Θ on the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_E . Hence, for a single shot experiment, the important object is the positive linear functional $\mathfrak{t}: \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_I) \to \mathbb{C}$, defined by

$$\mathfrak{t}(\rho_I) = \operatorname{tr} \left[\Theta \operatorname{tr}_I \left[U(\rho_E \otimes \rho_I) \right] \right].$$

For a general N-step discrimination strategy D (with intermediate state map ρ), we assume that the transmitted quantity is extensive. Since the state of the part of the probe system that interacts with the interior of the box in the *n*th step is given by $\operatorname{tr}_{Z} \left[\rho_{n}^{T} \right]$ (T is the channel defined by $T(\rho_{I}) = \operatorname{tr}_{E} \left[U(\rho_{E} \otimes \rho_{I}) \right]$), a good definition for the *total transmission* $\mathfrak{T}_{T}(D)$ is

$$\mathfrak{T}_T(D) := \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \mathfrak{t}_T\left(\operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_n^T\right]\right).$$

We raise this to a principle by assuming that for every channel T we have a positive linear functional t_T , which we call the *transmission functional*, that models the damage done to the object. The total transmission then plays the same role for the transmission model as the "interaction" probability does for the "interaction" model.

3.3. Formal Definition

We cast the principles developed in the last sections into formal definitions.

Definition 3.2 ("Interaction" functional). Let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$ and let $V : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}$ be any Stinespring isometry of T. The positive linear functional $\mathfrak{i}_T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathbb{C}$, defined by

$$\mathbf{i}_T(\cdot) := \operatorname{tr}\left[P_v^{\perp} \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}}\left[V \cdot V^{\dagger}\right]\right],\tag{3.4}$$

is called the "interaction" functional of T, where P_v^{\perp} is the orthogonal projection onto the kernel of $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}} [V|v\rangle \langle v|V^{\dagger}]$.

Definition 3.3 ("Interaction" probability). Let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$ and let $D = (\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_Z, \mathcal{H}_i, \mathcal{H}_o, s_0, \Lambda)$ be an N-step discrimination strategy. The "interaction" probability is defined by

$$P_I^T(D) := \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \mathfrak{i}_T\left(\operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_n^{T^{\downarrow}}\right]\right),\tag{3.5}$$

where the quantum operation $T^{\downarrow}: \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ is defined by

$$T^{\downarrow}(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}_{E}\left[(P_{v} \otimes \mathbb{1})V \cdot V^{\dagger} \right], \qquad (3.6)$$

and where $V : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}$ is any Stinespring isometry of T and P_v is the orthogonal projection onto the support of $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}} [V|v\rangle \langle v|V^{\dagger}]$.

Definition 3.4 ("Interaction-free" discrimination). Let $v \in \mathcal{H}$ and $\mathcal{C}_A, \mathcal{C}_B \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ be two sets of channels such that for all $T \in \mathcal{C}_A \cup \mathcal{C}_B$, T is a channel with vacuum v. We say that \mathcal{C}_A and \mathcal{C}_B can be discriminated in an "interaction-free" manner if for every $\epsilon, \delta > 0$ there exists an N-step discrimination strategy D and a two-valued POVM Π such that

$$P_e(D,\Pi) < \epsilon \quad \text{and} \quad P_I^T(D) < \delta,$$
(3.7)

for all $T \in \mathcal{C}_A \cup \mathcal{C}_B$.

Definition 3.5 (*Channel with transmission functional*). A channel with transmission functional \mathfrak{t}_T is a channel $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ together with a positive linear functional $\mathfrak{t}_T \in (\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))^*$. We call \mathfrak{t}_T the transmission functional.

Definition 3.6 (Total transmission) Let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel with transmission functional \mathfrak{t}_T . For an N-step discrimination strategy $D = (\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_Z, \mathcal{H}_i, \mathcal{H}_o, s_0, \Lambda)$, the total transmission is defined by

$$\mathfrak{T}_T(D) := \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \mathfrak{t}_T\left(\operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_n^T\right]\right).$$
(3.8)

Definition 3.7 (Transmission-free discrimination). Let $C_A, C_B \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ be two sets of channels such that for all $T \in C_A \cup C_B$, T is a channel with transmission functional \mathfrak{t}_T . We say that C_A and C_B can be discriminated in a transmission-free manner if for every $\epsilon, \delta > 0$ there exists an N-step discrimination strategy D and a two-valued POVM Π such that

$$P_e(D,\Pi) < \epsilon \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{T}_T(D) < \delta,$$
(3.9)

for all $T \in \mathcal{C}_A \cup \mathcal{C}_B$.

3.4. Comparison of the Models and Elementary Properties

In this section, we clarify the relation between the transmission model and the "interaction" model. As a rule of thumb, the transmission model can be thought of as a generalization of the "interaction" model. Since we admit arbitrary positive linear functionals as transmission functionals, we have a much greater flexibility when modeling. For example, one could decide that out of the two objects to be discriminated, it does not matter (or is even desirable) if the second one gets destroyed. We should therefore set the transmission functional of the second channel to zero. This is something that is not possible in the "interaction" model. On the other hand, the advantage of the "interaction" model is that the "interaction" probability has a very clear interpretation and that the "interaction" functional is an intrinsic property of the channel. For the relation between these models, we note the following lemma.

Lemma 3.8. Let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$ and let \mathfrak{i}_T be its "interaction" functional. If we interpret T as a channel with transmission functional \mathfrak{i}_T , then

$$P_I^T(D) \le \mathfrak{T}_T(D), \tag{3.10}$$

for all N-step discrimination strategies D.

Proof. Immediate from the definition, since (by induction) $\rho_i^{T^{\downarrow}} \leq \rho_i^T$.

The insight that should be gained from this lemma is that if we want to prove that a certain discrimination task can be done in an "interaction-free" or in a transmission-free manner, then it suffices to tackle the problem in the transmission model. Thus, the results in Sect. 4 will be formulated in terms of the transmission model. On the other hand, if we want to prove a no-go theorem, then it is sufficient to work in the "interaction" model. At this point, there is a little detail that we do not want to hide, which is that it is possible that certain discrimination tasks can be performed with less resources, if one works in the "interaction" model and not in the transmission model. We will not investigate this possibility any further. We close this section by introducing the concept of a maximal vacuum subspace.

Definition 3.9 (Maximal vacuum subspace). Let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$ and let $V : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}$ be any Stinespring isometry of T. The subspace \mathcal{V}_T of \mathcal{H} , defined by¹¹

$$\mathcal{V}_T := V^{-1} \left[\operatorname{supp}(\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}} \left[V | v \rangle \langle v | V^{\dagger} \right]) \otimes \mathcal{H} \right], \qquad (3.11)$$

is called the maximal vacuum subspace of T.

Lemma 3.10 (Properties of maximal vacuum subspaces). For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$. The maximal vacuum subspace \mathcal{V}_T has the following properties:

- 1. $v \in \mathcal{V}_T$.
- 2. T is isometric on \mathcal{V}_T .
- 3. If T is isometric on a subspace $\mathcal{V}' \subseteq \mathcal{H}$, then either $\mathcal{V}_T \cap \mathcal{V}' = \{0\}$ or $\mathcal{V}' \subseteq \mathcal{V}_T$.
- 4. \mathcal{V}_T is the union of all subspaces that contain v and on which T is isometric.
- 5. There exists a constant $C_T > 0$ such that $\mathfrak{i}_T(\rho) \geq C_T \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \rho \right]$ for all $\rho \geq 0$, where P^{\perp} is the projection onto \mathcal{V}_T^{\perp} .

 $^{{}^{11}}V^{-1}[\cdot]$ denotes the preimage operation.

6. For all $\rho \geq 0$, we have $\mathfrak{i}_T(\rho) \leq \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp}\rho\right]$, where P^{\perp} is the projection onto \mathcal{V}_T^{\perp} .

Remark 3.11. The Claims 1–4 and 6 remain true if one lifts the assumption that \mathcal{H} is finite-dimensional. Claim 5, however, would then be wrong.

Proof. We start with the following observation: Let $V : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}$ be any Stinespring isometry of T. Since $T(|v\rangle\langle v|)$ is pure, Vv must be a tensor product. Thus, there are two unit vectors $v' \in \mathcal{H}$ and $e \in \mathcal{H}_E$ such that

$$Vv = e \otimes v'.$$

Hence, $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}}\left[V|v\rangle\langle v|V^{\dagger}\right] = |e\rangle\langle e|$ and

$$\operatorname{supp}(\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}}\left[V|v\rangle\langle v|V^{\dagger}\right]) = \operatorname{span}\{e\}.$$
(3.12)

(1) Clearly, $Vv \in \operatorname{supp}(\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}} [V|v\rangle \langle v|V^{\dagger}]) \otimes \mathcal{H}$. Thus, $v \in V^{-1}[Vv] \subseteq \mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{T}}$.

(2) For $\phi \in \mathcal{V}_T$, we have $V\phi = e \otimes \psi_{\phi}$ for a uniquely defined $\psi_{\phi} \in \mathcal{H}$. We define $U: \mathcal{V}_T \to \mathcal{H}$ by $U\phi := \psi_{\phi}$. It is easy to check that U is an isometry and that $T(|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|) = U|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|U^{\dagger}$. Since this holds for all $\phi \in \mathcal{V}_T$, T is isometric on \mathcal{V}_T . (3) Suppose that T is isometric on \mathcal{V}' , with isometry $U': \mathcal{V}' \to \mathcal{H}$. If $\dim(\mathcal{V}') \leq 1$ then the claim is trivially true. So we can assume that $\dim(\mathcal{V}') \geq 2$. Let v_1 and v_2 be two orthogonal unit vectors in \mathcal{V}' . By assumption,

$$T(|v_i\rangle\langle v_i|) = \operatorname{tr}_E\left[V|v_i\rangle\langle v_i|V^{\dagger}\right] = U'|v_i\rangle\langle v_i|U'^{\dagger},$$

for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. As $U'|v_i\rangle\langle v_i|U'^{\dagger}$ is pure, there exists a pair of unit vectors $e_1, e_2 \in \mathcal{H}_E$ such that $Vv_i = e_i \otimes U'v_i$. By linearity, we have

$$0 = T(|v_1 + v_2\rangle \langle v_1 + v_2|) - \operatorname{tr}_E \left[V |v_1 + v_2\rangle \langle v_1 + v_2|V^{\dagger} \right] = U' |v_1 + v_2\rangle \langle v_1 + v_2|U'^{\dagger} - U' |v_1\rangle \langle v_1|U'^{\dagger} - \langle e_2|e_1\rangle U' |v_1\rangle \langle v_2|U'^{\dagger} - \langle e_1|e_2\rangle U' |v_2\rangle \langle v_1|U'^{\dagger} - U' |v_2\rangle \langle v_2|U'^{\dagger} = (1 - \langle e_2|e_1\rangle) U' |v_1\rangle \langle v_2|U'^{\dagger} + (1 - \langle e_1|e_2\rangle) U' |v_2\rangle \langle v_1|U'^{\dagger}.$$

This can only be true if $\langle e_1 | e_2 \rangle = 1$, which is true only if $e_1 = e_2$. Thus, by transitivity, there is a unit vector $e' \in \mathcal{H}_E$ such that $Vv' = e' \otimes U'v'$ for all $v' \in \mathcal{V}'$. With the definition of U in the proof of 2, we also have $V\phi = e \otimes U\phi$ for all $\phi \in \mathcal{V}_T$. Assume that $\mathcal{V}_T \cap \mathcal{V}' \neq \{0\}$. For a unit vector $\hat{v} \in \mathcal{V}_T \cap \mathcal{V}'$, the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality yields

$$1 = |\langle \hat{v} | \hat{v} \rangle| = |\langle V \hat{v} | V \hat{v} \rangle| = |\langle e' | e \rangle| |\langle U' \hat{v} | U \hat{v} \rangle|$$

$$\leq |\langle e' | e \rangle| ||U' \hat{v}|| ||U \hat{v}|| = |\langle e' | e \rangle| \leq ||e'|| ||e|| = 1.$$

Hence, the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality is satisfied with equality, which implies that the vectors e and e' differ only by a phase factor. In particular, span $\{e\}$ = span $\{e'\}$. Using (3.12), we have for any $v' \in \mathcal{V}'$ that $Vv' = e' \otimes U'v' \in$ supp $(\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}} [V|v\rangle\langle v|V^{\dagger}]) \otimes \mathcal{H}$. Consequently, $v' \in \mathcal{V}_T$. As v' was arbitrary, this proves $\mathcal{V}' \subseteq \mathcal{V}_T$ as claimed.

4) If an isometric subspace \mathcal{V}' contains v, then (by 1) the intersection with \mathcal{V}_T is non-trivial. Thus, (by 3) \mathcal{V}' is a subspace of \mathcal{V}_T . Hence, \mathcal{V}_T contains all isometric subspaces and the claim follows as (by 2) \mathcal{V}_T is isometric itself.

The following consideration is needed in the proof of 5 as well as in the proof of 6. We define the projections $\hat{P} := P_v \otimes \mathbb{1}$ and $\hat{P}^{\perp} := \mathbb{1} - \hat{P}$, where $P_v := |v\rangle\langle v|$. We further denote by P, the orthogonal projection onto \mathcal{V}_T and define $P^{\perp} := \mathbb{1} - P$. In the following, let $\rho \geq 0$. By definition, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{i}_{T}(\rho) &= \operatorname{tr} \left[P_{v}^{\perp} \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}} \left[V \rho V^{\dagger} \right] \right] \\ &= \operatorname{tr} \left[\hat{P}^{\perp} V \rho V^{\dagger} \right] \\ &= \operatorname{tr} \left[\hat{P}^{\perp} V P \rho P V^{\dagger} \right] + \operatorname{tr} \left[\hat{P}^{\perp} V P \rho P^{\perp} V^{\dagger} \right] \\ &+ \operatorname{tr} \left[\hat{P}^{\perp} V P^{\perp} \rho P V^{\dagger} \right] + \operatorname{tr} \left[\hat{P}^{\perp} V P^{\perp} \rho P^{\perp} V^{\dagger} \right]. \end{split}$$

By definition, if $\psi \in \mathcal{V}_T$, then $\hat{P}^{\perp}V\psi = 0$. Thus, $\hat{P}^{\perp}VP = 0$ as an operator. Hence, all summands except the last one vanish. Thus, we have

$$\mathfrak{i}_T(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}\left[\hat{P}^{\perp}VP^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}V^{\dagger}\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[V^{\dagger}\hat{P}^{\perp}VP^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}\right].$$
(3.13)

We can now prove 5. To this end, note that if tr $\left[P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}\right] = 0$, then the claim follows trivially. Otherwise, $\frac{P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}}{\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}\right]}$ is a density matrix and the spectral theorem implies that

$$\frac{P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}}{\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}\right]} = \sum_{i} p_{i}|\psi_{i}^{\perp}\rangle\langle\psi_{i}^{\perp}|,$$

with $p_i \ge 0$, $\sum_i p_i = 1$ and $\psi_i^{\perp} \in \mathcal{V}_T^{\perp}$. By convexity, we have

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[\hat{P}^{\perp}VP^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}V^{\dagger}\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\rho\right]\operatorname{tr}\left[\hat{P}^{\perp}V\frac{P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}}{\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp}\right]}V^{\dagger}\right]$$
$$\geq \operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\rho\right]\inf_{\substack{\psi^{\perp}\in\mathcal{V}_{T}^{\perp}\\ \|\psi^{\perp}\|=1}}\operatorname{tr}\left[\hat{P}^{\perp}V|\psi^{\perp}\rangle\langle\psi^{\perp}|V^{\dagger}\right].$$

If the infimum is strictly positive, then this is the C_T we are looking for. To see that this is indeed the case, note that the set $\{\psi^{\perp} \in \mathcal{V}_T^{\perp} \mid |\|\psi^{\perp}\| = 1\}$ is compact. Thus, the infimum is actually a minimum. Assume for the sake of contradiction that tr $\left[\hat{P}^{\perp}V|\psi^{\perp}\rangle\langle\psi^{\perp}|V^{\dagger}\right] = 0$, for some unit vector $\psi^{\perp} \in \mathcal{V}_T^{\perp}$. Then $\langle \hat{P}^{\perp}V\psi^{\perp}|\hat{P}^{\perp}V\psi^{\perp}\rangle = 0$ and consequently $\hat{P}^{\perp}V\psi^{\perp} = 0$. Hence, $V\psi^{\perp} \in$ supp $(\text{tr}_{\mathcal{H}} \left[V|v\rangle\langle v|V^{\dagger}\right]) \otimes \mathcal{H}$ and $\psi^{\perp} \in \mathcal{V}_T$. As this is a contradiction, the claim follows.

To prove 6, we use Hölder's inequality for Schatten norms. Applying this inequality to the RHS of (3.13) yields

$$\mathfrak{i}_T(\rho) \le \left\| V^{\dagger} \hat{P}^{\perp} V \right\|_{\infty} \left\| P^{\perp} \rho P^{\perp} \right\|_1 = \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \rho \right].$$

The last equality follows, since $V^{\dagger}\hat{P}^{\perp}V$ is an orthogonal projection (and thus has norm 1) and since $P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp} \ge 0$. This proves the claim.

Remark 3.12. Since by the previous theorem, every subspace that is isometric w.r.t. T and contains the vacuum is contained in \mathcal{V}_T , checking the conditions in Theorem 2.2 reduces to checking whether

$$T_A|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V}_{T_A})} \neq T_B|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V}_{T_A})} \quad \text{or} \quad T_A|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V}_{T_B})} \neq T_B|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{V}_{T_B})}.$$
 (3.14)

This can be done efficiently, since \mathcal{V}_{T_A} and \mathcal{V}_{T_B} can be computed by simple linear algebraic methods.

4. The Discrimination Protocol

The main goal of this section is to prove Theorem 2.5. This is done in two steps. At first, we show how to discriminate between the identity channel and a compact set of channels, where some additional conditions are imposed on the channels under consideration. In particular, we obtain the following theorem.

Theorem 4.1. For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ be a closed set of channels and let $v \in \mathcal{H}$ be a unit vector such that for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$, the state $|v\rangle\langle v|$ is the only state that is a fixed point of T. Then, there exists a constant C and for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$ an N-step discrimination strategy D and a two-valued POVM Π such that

$$P_e(D,\Pi) \le \frac{C}{N^2},\tag{4.1}$$

where the discrimination error probability is w.r.t the sets {id} and C. Furthermore, if $T \in C$ is a channel with transmission functional \mathfrak{t}_T and $\mathfrak{t}_T(|v\rangle\langle v|) = 0$, then the total transmission $\mathfrak{T}_T(D)$ is bounded by

$$\mathfrak{T}_T(D) \le \frac{C \|\mathfrak{t}_T\|}{N}.$$
(4.2)

In particular, if $\mathfrak{t}_{id} = 0$ and for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$, T is a channel with transmission functional \mathfrak{t}_T , with $\mathfrak{t}_T(|v\rangle\langle v|) = 0$; and if $\sup_{T \in \mathcal{C}} ||\mathfrak{t}_T|| < \infty$, then the sets {id} and \mathcal{C} can be discriminated in a transmission-free manner.

Proof. This statement is a direct consequence of Theorem 4.10 and the discussion in the paragraph "Description of the discrimination strategy." \Box

The second step then is to show how to reduce the general case to Theorem 4.1. This is the main content of Sect. 4.2, in which we also prove Theorem 2.5.

4.1. Empty or Not?

In this section we study a special case of the general discrimination task. That is, we study the case where we want to discriminate between the identity channel (empty box) and a compact set of channels $C \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$, which does not contain the identity channel. We show that under some conditions on the spectrum of the channels in C and on the transmission functionals, a Kwiat et al.-like strategy suffices to perform the task in a transmission-free manner, even if the underlying Hilbert space is infinite-dimensional. In the finite-dimensional case, our considerations reduce to Theorem 4.1. Before we



FIGURE 6. General form of a Kwiat et al.-like strategy

go into detail on what we mean by a Kwiat et al.-like strategy, we give an overview of the additional conditions we impose on the channels in C.

Outline of the Assumptions Our first assumption is that there is a pure state $|v\rangle\langle v| \in S(\mathcal{H})$ (vacuum) that is a fixed point of all channels in \mathcal{C} and that the transmission functionals satisfy $\mathfrak{t}_T(|v\rangle\langle v|) = 0$ for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$. As a remark, note that if there were no state $\rho \in S(\mathcal{H})$, with $\mathfrak{t}_T(\rho) = 0$ for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$, then, of course, the discrimination task is impossible. On the other hand, if there exists such a state ρ , then, by the spectral theorem and the linearity and positivity of \mathfrak{t}_T , there exists a pure state $\rho_v \in S(\mathcal{H})$, with $\mathfrak{t}_T(\rho_v) = 0$ for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$. But then, if ρ_v is not a fixed point of T, the discrimination task becomes trivial. Thus, assuming a pure fixed point for the current setting is not a strong assumption.

Our second assumption is that all channels in C have a spectral gap. That is, if we exclude 1 from the spectrum of T, then the remaining part must be contained in a disk of radius less than 1 (remember that since T is a channel, its spectral radius is 1 and 1 is part of the spectrum). In Remark 4.11, we show that the spectral gap assumption cannot be waived completely if a Kwiat et al.-like protocol (defined below) should succeed.

Our third assumption is that the spectral gap assumption is compatible in a certain sense with the discrimination strategy. Expression (4.9) in the statement of Theorem 4.5 makes this statement precise. A sufficient condition for the compatibility assumption to be fulfilled (given our second assumption) is that 1 is a simple eigenvalue of every channel in C. This is the content of Theorem 4.6. Furthermore, in the finite-dimensional case our second assumption is automatically fulfilled (given our first assumption) if 1 is a simple eigenvalue of every channel in C. This is the content of Theorem 4.10.

Our fourth assumption concerns the relation between the channels in C and their associated transmission functionals. Note that the definition of a transmission functional (Definition 3.5) does not impose such a relation. For our current purpose, however, this is problematic since $\sup_{T \in C} ||\mathfrak{t}_T||$ may be infinite. We will thus assume that $\sup_{T \in C} ||\mathfrak{t}_T||$ is finite. This is a very mild assumption, since it is implied if \mathfrak{t}_T depends continuously on T (which is very reasonable on physical grounds). Furthermore, note that if \mathfrak{t}_T is an "interaction" functional, then, as a consequence of Claim 6 in Lemma 3.10, we have $\sup_{T \in C} ||\mathfrak{t}_T|| \leq 1$.

Description of the Discrimination Strategy The next step is to design a strategy that allows us to discriminate between the identity channel and C. An important factor in designing a strategy is the amount of resources that are needed to implement it. To this end, we show that only a bare minimum is

required. Let $H \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be a self-adjoint operator such that v is not an eigenvector of e^{-iH} . In other words, we assume that $C_H := |\langle v|e^{-iH}v\rangle|$ is strictly less than 1. Then, our strategy is to repeat the N-step discrimination strategy, depicted in Fig. 6, a total of K times. More precisely, upon defining the 1-parameter family of channels $U_t : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ by $U_t(\cdot) = e^{-iHt} \cdot e^{iHt}$, the discrimination strategy is given by the initial state $s_0 := |v\rangle\langle v|$ and the set of channels Λ , with $\Lambda_i := U_{\frac{1}{N}}$ for $0 \leq i \leq N-1$ and $\Lambda_N := id$. After each execution of the discrimination strategy, we perform a measurement described by the two-valued POVM $\{P^{\perp}, |v\rangle\langle v|\}$, where $P^{\perp} := \mathbb{1} - |v\rangle\langle v|$. If all K outcomes correspond to the second event, then we decide that the unknown channel is in \mathcal{C} and if otherwise we decide that the unknown channel is the identity. Of course, this protocol can be cast into the form of an NK-step discrimination strategy by using an ancillary system and the principle of deferred measurement (see [25], p. 186). We call this strategy $D_{H,N,K}$. By Definition 2.4, the error probability is then given by

$$P_e(D_{H,N,K},\Pi) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\operatorname{tr} \left[|v\rangle \langle v|\rho_N^{\mathrm{id}} \right]^K + \sup_{T \in \mathcal{C}} \left\{ \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \rho_N^T \right] \sum_{k=0}^{K-1} \operatorname{tr} \left[|v\rangle \langle v|\rho_N^T \right]^k \right\} \right),$$

where ρ is the intermediate state map and where Π denotes the measurement scheme described above. Explicitly, we have

$$\rho_N^{\rm id} = U_{\frac{1}{N}}^N(|v\rangle\langle v|) = e^{-iH}|v\rangle\langle v|e^{iH} \quad \text{ and } \quad \rho_N^T = (T \circ U_{\frac{1}{N}})^N(|v\rangle\langle v|)$$

In general, this leads to the estimate

$$P_e(D_{H,N,K},\Pi) \le \frac{1}{2} \left(C_H^{2K} + K \sup_{T \in \mathcal{C}} \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \rho_N^T \right] \right).$$
(4.3)

Now suppose that $P_M := \sup_{T \in \mathcal{C}} \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \rho_N^T \right]$ approaches zero as $N \to \infty$ (we show this below). Then, for given $\epsilon > 0$, we can choose $K := \left[\frac{\ln(\epsilon)}{\ln(C_H)} \right]$ and N such that $KP_M < \epsilon$. It follows from (4.3) that $P_e(D_{H,N,K},\Pi) < \epsilon$. In other words, $P_e(D_{H,N,K},\Pi)$ approaches zero if and only if P_M does. Furthermore, for a channel $T \in \mathcal{C}$, the total transmission is given by

$$\mathfrak{T}_T(D_{H,N,K}) = K \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \mathfrak{t}_T\left(\rho_n^T\right) = K \mathfrak{T}_T(D_{H,N,1}).$$

Thus, also $\mathfrak{T}_T(D_{H,N,K})$ approaches zero if and only if $\mathfrak{T}_T(D_{H,N,1})$ does. In addition to that, we could always choose H such that $\langle v|e^{-iH}v\rangle = 0$. In that case, it suffices to set K = 1, which yields the simple expression

$$P_e(D_{H,N,1},\Pi) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} (T \circ U_{\frac{1}{N}})^N(|v\rangle \langle v|) \right],$$

for the error probability. Hence, in order to find a strategy that discriminates between the identity channel and the set \mathcal{C} , we only need to show that the quantities P_M and $\sup_{T \in \mathcal{C}} \mathfrak{T}_T(D_{H,N,1})$ approach zero for $N \to \infty$. Moreover, since \mathfrak{t}_T can be written in the form $\mathfrak{t}_T(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr} [\Theta_T \cdot]$ for some positive semidefinite operator $\Theta_T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and since, by assumption $\mathfrak{t}_T(|v\rangle\langle v|) = 0$, we can conclude that for $\rho \geq 0$,

$$\mathfrak{t}_T(\rho) \leq \|\mathfrak{t}_T\| \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp}\rho\right].$$

The important conclusion that we draw from the discussion above is that in order to prove Theorem 4.1, it suffices to show (under the hypotheses of Theorem 4.1) that for any self-adjoint $H \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, there is a constant C such that the inequalities

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\left(T\circ U_{\frac{1}{N}}\right)^{N}(|v\rangle\langle v|)\right] \leq \frac{C}{N^{2}},\tag{4.4}$$

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} (U_{\frac{1}{N}} \circ T)^{n} (|v\rangle \langle v|)\right] \leq \frac{C}{N},\tag{4.5}$$

hold for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$. This is precisely the statement of Theorem 4.10. Taking the validity of Theorem 4.10 for granted, we conclude that Theorem 4.1 holds. **Technical Theorems** The remainder of this section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 4.10 and its infinite-dimensional versions. The following lemmas serve this purpose.

Lemma 4.2 ([26], p. 202). Let $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, let $z \in \mathbb{C}$ be in the unbounded component of the resolvent $\rho(T)$, and let X be a closed invariant subspace of T. Then, X is an invariant subspace of $(z - T)^{-1}$.

Lemma 4.3. Let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel such that 1 is in the discrete spectrum of T. Then, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and any (rectifiable) path inside the resolvent set of T that encloses 1, and separates 1 from $\sigma(T) \setminus \{1\}$, we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\Gamma_1} \frac{z^n}{z - T} \,\mathrm{d}z = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\Gamma_1} \frac{1}{z - T} \,\mathrm{d}z. \tag{4.6}$$

Proof. See "Appendix A".

Lemma 4.4 (Invariant subspace lemma). Let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel, where \mathcal{H} can be finite or infinite dimensional. Let $v \in \mathcal{H}$ be such that $|v\rangle\langle v|$ is a fixed point of T and set $V_v := \operatorname{span}\{v\}$. Then, the subspaces

$$\mathcal{B}_{v\perp} := \left\{ |v\rangle \langle \phi| \, \big| \, \phi \in V_v^{\perp} \right\},\tag{4.7}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{\perp v} := \left\{ |\phi\rangle \langle v| \, \big| \, \phi \in V_v^{\perp} \right\},\tag{4.8}$$

are invariant under T.

Proof. We prove that $\mathcal{B}_{v\perp}$ is invariant. The invariance of $\mathcal{B}_{\perp v}$ follows as T is Hermiticity-preserving. Let $\{K_i\}$ be a set of (non-zero) Kraus-operators of T. By assumption we have

$$|v\rangle\langle v| = T(|v\rangle\langle v|) = \sum_{i} \operatorname{tr}\left[K_{i}^{\dagger}K_{i}\right] \frac{K_{i}|v\rangle\langle v|K_{i}^{\dagger}}{\operatorname{tr}\left[K_{i}^{\dagger}K_{i}\right]},$$

where the series converges in trace norm. As the pure state $|v\rangle\langle v|$ is an extreme point of the closed and convex set of quantum states and the RHS is a convex combination of states, we must have that $K_i | v \rangle \langle v | K_i^{\dagger}$ is proportional to $| v \rangle \langle v |$. Henceforth, v is an eigenvector of K_i for all i. We denote the corresponding eigenvalue by λ_i . So for $\psi \in V_v^{\perp}$, we get

$$T(|v\rangle\langle\psi|) = \sum_{i} K_{i}|v\rangle\langle\psi|K_{i}^{\dagger} = |v\rangle\langle\phi|,$$

where $\phi = \sum_{i} \overline{\lambda_i} K_i \psi$. As T is trace-preserving, we have

$$0 = \operatorname{tr}\left[|v\rangle\langle\phi|\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[T(|v\rangle\langle\psi|)\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[|v\rangle\langle\phi|\right] = \langle\phi|v\rangle.$$

Hence, $\phi \in V_v^{\perp}$. This proves the claim.

The following theorem is the main technical result. In fact, everything else in this section can (to some extent) be regarded as a corollary to this theorem.

Theorem 4.5. Let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel such that 1 is in the discrete spectrum of T, and let $v \in \mathcal{H}$ be a unit vector such that $|v\rangle\langle v|$ is a fixed point of T. Furthermore, let $H \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be self-adjoint, $\tau > 0$ and $0 < \delta < 1$ such that

$$\sigma(U_t \circ T) \subseteq \mathbb{D}_{1-\delta}(0) \cup \{1\},\tag{4.9}$$

for $0 \leq t \leq \tau$, where $U_t : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ is defined by $U_t(\cdot) := e^{-iHt} \cdot e^{iHt}$. Then, the inequalities

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\left(T\circ U_{\frac{1}{N}}\right)^{N}(|v\rangle\langle v|)\right] \leq \frac{C}{N^{2}},\tag{4.10}$$

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} (U_{\frac{1}{N}} \circ T)^{n} (|v\rangle \langle v|)\right] \leq \frac{C}{N}, \qquad (4.11)$$

hold for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Here, $P^{\perp} := \mathbb{1} - |v\rangle \langle v|$ and

$$C := \max\left\{\tau^{-2}, \ 18\delta^{-1} \|H\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^{2} \max_{\substack{0 \le t \le \tau\\ z \in \overline{\Gamma}}} \|(z-T)^{-1}\| \|(z-U_{t}T)^{-1}\|\right\} < \infty,$$

where $\Gamma := \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| = 1 - \frac{\delta}{2} \right\} \cup \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z - 1| = \frac{\delta}{2} \right\}.$

Proof. We need to calculate the quantities (4.10) and (4.11). To do so, we employ the holomorphic functional calculus. For $0 \le t \le \tau$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$(U_t T)^n = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{|z-1|=\frac{\delta}{2}} \frac{z^n}{z - U_t T} \, \mathrm{d}z + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{|z|=1-\frac{\delta}{2}} \frac{z^n}{z - U_t T} \, \mathrm{d}z \tag{4.12}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{|z-1|=\frac{\delta}{2}} \frac{1}{z - U_t T} \, \mathrm{d}z + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{|z|=1-\frac{\delta}{2}} \frac{z^n}{z - U_t T} \, \mathrm{d}z, \qquad (4.13)$$

where we used Lemma 4.3 to obtain the second line. Under the trace, we can (crudely) estimate this term as follows:

$$\left| \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp}(U_{t}T)^{n}(|v\rangle\langle v|) \right] \right| \leq \frac{\delta}{2} \max_{|z-1|=\frac{\delta}{2}} \left| \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \frac{1}{z - U_{t}T}(|v\rangle\langle v|) \right] \right| + \left(1 - \frac{\delta}{2} \right)^{n+1} \max_{|z|=1-\frac{\delta}{2}} \left| \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \frac{1}{z - U_{t}T}(|v\rangle\langle v|) \right] \right|$$
$$\leq \max_{z \in \Gamma} \left| \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \frac{1}{z - U_{t}T}(|v\rangle\langle v|) \right] \right|.$$
(4.14)

In everything that follows, we assume that $z \in \Gamma$. To proceed, we need two auxiliary calculations. First, we use the second resolvent identity ([27], p. 84) twice to obtain

$$\frac{1}{z - U_t T} = \frac{1}{z - T} + \frac{1}{z - T} (U_t - \mathrm{id}) \frac{T}{z - T} + \frac{1}{z - U_t T} (U_t - \mathrm{id}) \frac{T}{z - T} (U_t - \mathrm{id}) \frac{T}{z - T}.$$
(4.15)

Second, an elementary application of Taylor's formula yields

$$||U_t - \mathrm{id}|| \le 2 ||H||_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})} t,$$
 (4.16)

$$(U_t - \mathrm{id})(\rho) = i[\rho, H]t + \mathfrak{U}t^2, \qquad (4.17)$$

with $||\mathfrak{U}|| \leq 2 ||H||^2_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}$. When looking at (4.15), it is clear that the summands are of zeroth, first and second order in t, as $t \to 0$. The crucial step is to show that under the trace, the second term is $\mathcal{O}(t^2)$. Using (4.17), we get

$$\frac{1}{z-T}(U_t - \mathrm{id})\frac{T}{z-T}(|v\rangle\langle v|) = \frac{1}{z-1}\frac{1}{z-T}(U_t - \mathrm{id})(|v\rangle\langle v|)$$
$$= \frac{it}{z-1}\frac{1}{z-T}(|v\rangle\langle Hv| - |Hv\rangle\langle v|)$$
$$+ \frac{t^2}{z-1}\frac{1}{z-T}(\mathfrak{U}(|v\rangle\langle v|)).$$
(4.18)

It is easily verified, using the self-adjointness of H, that $|v\rangle\langle Hv| - |Hv\rangle\langle v| = |v\rangle\langle \phi| - |\phi\rangle\langle v|$, with $\phi := (H - \langle v|Hv\rangle)v$. Clearly, $\langle \phi|v\rangle = 0$. Thus, $|\phi\rangle\langle v| \in \mathcal{B}_{\perp v}$ and $|v\rangle\langle \phi| \in \mathcal{B}_{v\perp}$, where $\mathcal{B}_{\perp v}$ and $\mathcal{B}_{v\perp}$ are both invariant subspaces of T (by Lemma 4.4). As z is in the unbounded component of the resolvent set of T, Lemma 4.2 implies that also $(z - T)^{-1}(|\phi\rangle\langle v|) \in \mathcal{B}_{\perp v}$ and $(z - T)^{-1}(|v\rangle\langle \phi|) \in \mathcal{B}_{v\perp}$. Thus, the first term in (4.18) vanishes under the trace, and we get

$$\left| \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp}(4.18) \right] \right| \le t^2 \frac{2 \left\| H \right\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^2}{|z-1|} \left\| (z-T)^{-1} \right\|.$$
 (4.19)

So under the trace, this term is indeed quadratic in t. For the other two terms in (4.15), we have

$$\left| \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \frac{1}{z - T} (|v\rangle \langle v|) \right] \right| = \frac{1}{|z - 1|} \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} |v\rangle \langle v| \right] = 0$$
(4.20)

and

$$\left| \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \frac{1}{z - U_{t}T} (U_{t} - \operatorname{id}) \frac{T}{z - T} (U_{t} - \operatorname{id}) \frac{T}{z - T} (|v\rangle \langle v|) \right] \right| \\ \leq \frac{1}{|z - 1|} \left\| (z - U_{t}T)^{-1} \right\| \left\| U_{t} - \operatorname{id} \right\|^{2} \left\| \frac{T}{z - T} \right\| \\ \leq t^{2} \frac{4 \left\| H \right\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^{2}}{|z - 1|} \left\| (z - U_{t}T)^{-1} \right\| \left\| (z - T)^{-1} \right\|,$$
(4.21)

where we used the estimate (4.16) and ||T|| = 1 to obtain the last line. We can now use the results obtained in (4.19), (4.20), and (4.21) to estimate the quantity of interest, (4.14). We have

$$(4.14) \leq 2t^{2} \|H\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^{2} \max_{z \in \Gamma} \frac{\|(z - T)^{-1}\| (1 + 2\|(z - U_{t}T)^{-1}\|)}{|z - 1|}$$

$$\leq t^{2} \left(18\delta^{-1} \|H\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^{2} \max_{\substack{0 \leq t' \leq \tau \\ z \in \Gamma}} \|(z - T)^{-1}\| \|(z - U_{t'}T)^{-1}\| \right)$$

$$=: t^{2}C_{0}. \qquad (4.22)$$

To obtain the second estimate, we used $\max_{z\in\Gamma} |z-1|^{-1} = 2\delta^{-1}$ and $||(z-U_tT)^{-1}|| \geq ||(z-U_tT)||^{-1} \geq (|z|+1)^{-1} \geq \frac{2}{5}$. Equation (4.22) is a bound for $t \leq \tau$. To prove the theorem, we need a bound for all $t \geq 0$. To this end, we note that tr $[P^{\perp}(U_tT)^n(|v\rangle\langle v|)] \leq 1$, since the expression represents a probability. We further define $C := \max(\tau^{-2}, C_0)$. If $t \leq \tau$, then by Eq. (4.22),

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}(U_tT)^n(|v\rangle\langle v|)\right] \le t^2 C_0 \le Ct^2.$$

And if $t > \tau$, then

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}(U_tT)^n(|v\rangle\langle v|)\right] \le 1 \le \frac{t^2}{\tau^2} \le Ct^2.$$

Hence,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}(U_tT)^n(|v\rangle\langle v|)\right] \le Ct^2,$$

for all $t \ge 0$. This is a bound independent of n. Inequality (4.11) is then easily obtained by setting $t := \frac{1}{N}$ and summing over all n, which yields an additional factor N. It remains to show inequality (4.10), in which U_t and T have switched order. Since $|v\rangle\langle v|$ is a fixed point of T, we have tr $\left[P^{\perp}(TU_t)^N(|v\rangle\langle v|)\right] =$ tr $\left[P^{\perp}T(U_tT)^N(|v\rangle\langle v|)\right]$. We set $\rho := (U_tT)^N(|v\rangle\langle v|)$ and $\phi := P^{\perp}\rho v$ and write

$$\rho = \langle v | \rho v \rangle | v \rangle \langle v | + | v \rangle \langle \phi | + | \phi \rangle \langle v | + P^{\perp} \rho P^{\perp}$$

Clearly, $|v\rangle\langle\phi| \in \mathcal{B}_{v\perp}$ and $|\phi\rangle\langle v| \in \mathcal{B}_{\perp v}$. Hence, by Lemma 4.4, we have $T(|v\rangle\langle\phi|) \in \mathcal{B}_{v\perp}$ and $T(|\phi\rangle\langle v|) \in \mathcal{B}_{\perp v}$. Thus,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}T(\rho)\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}T(P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp})\right] \leq \operatorname{tr}\left[T(P^{\perp}\rho P^{\perp})\right] = \operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\rho\right].$$

Hence,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}(TU_t)^N(|v\rangle\langle v|)\right] \leq \frac{C}{N^2}$$

This finishes the proof.

Theorem 4.6. Let $C \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ be a compact set of channels, and let $v \in \mathcal{H}$ be a unit vector. Assume that

1. For all $T \in \mathcal{C}$, the quantity

$$r_T := \sup_{z \in \sigma(T) \setminus \{1\}} |z|$$

is strictly less than 1. In other words, the spectral gap is nonzero.

- 2. For each $T \in \mathcal{C}$, the state $|v\rangle \langle v|$ is a fixed point of T.
- 3. For all $T \in C$, the algebraic multiplicity¹² of the isolated point $1 \in \sigma(T)$ is 1. In other words, 1 is a simple eigenvalue.

Furthermore, let $H \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be self-adjoint and $U_t : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be defined by $U_t(\cdot) = e^{-iHt} \cdot e^{iHt}$. Then, there exists a constant $C_{\mathcal{C}} < \infty$, such that

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\left(T\circ U_{\frac{1}{N}}\right)^{N}(|v\rangle\langle v|)\right] \leq \frac{C_{\mathcal{C}}\left\|H\right\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^{2}}{N^{2}},\qquad(4.23)$$

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\sum_{n=0}^{N-1} (U_{\frac{1}{N}} \circ T)^{n} (|v\rangle \langle v|)\right] \leq \frac{C_{\mathcal{C}} \left\|H\right\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^{2}}{N}, \qquad (4.24)$$

for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$, where $P^{\perp} := \mathbb{1} - |v\rangle \langle v|$.

Remark 4.7. The distinctive feature of the preceding theorems is the N^{-2} bound in (4.23). It seems that such a bound cannot be obtained directly from the results in [13–16], because those results are of the form $\left(U_{\frac{1}{N}} \circ T\right)^N \approx \mathcal{P} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{N})$ for $N \to \infty$, where \mathcal{P} denotes the spectral projection on the eigenspace with eigenvalue 1.

Proof. The basic strategy is to reduce the claim to an application of Theorem 4.5. To this end, we basically need to show that Conditions 1–3 imply that condition (4.9) can be satisfied uniformly, i.e., that there exist $\tau > 0$ and $0 < \delta < 1$ such that (4.9) is satisfied for all $T \in C$. The main tool to show this is the upper semi-continuity of the spectrum. To use that property, we import the following two theorems.

Theorem 4.8 ([28], p. 208). For a Banach space \mathcal{X} , let $T, S \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$, and let Γ be a compact subset of the resolvent set $\rho(T)$.

If $||T - S|| < \min_{z \in \Gamma} ||(z - T)^{-1}||^{-1}$, then $\Gamma \subseteq \rho(S)$. Furthermore, for any open set $V \subseteq \mathbb{C}$, with $\sigma(T) \subset V$, there exists $\gamma > 0$, such that $\sigma(S) \subseteq V$ whenever $||S - T|| < \gamma$.

¹²For an isolated point $\lambda \in \sigma(T)$, the algebraic multiplicity is the dimension of the range of the spectral projection.

Theorem 4.9 ([29], p. 67). For a Banach space \mathcal{X} , let $P, Q \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$ be bounded projections with ||P - Q|| < 1. Then, there exists an invertible operator $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$, such that $Q = APA^{-1}$. In particular ran(P) and ran(Q) are isomorphic.

To start, we show that not only $r_T < 1$ for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$, but that $\sup_{T \in \mathcal{C}} r_T < 1$. To this end, we show that the function $r : \mathcal{C} \to \mathbb{R}$, $T \mapsto r_T$ is upper semicontinuous. That is, we need to show that for every $T \in \mathcal{C}$ and every $\epsilon > 0$, there is a set $U \subseteq \mathcal{C}$, which is open in the relative topology on \mathcal{C} , such that $r_S \leq r_T + \epsilon$ for all $S \in U$. For fixed T and $\epsilon > 0$, define $\epsilon' := \min(\epsilon, \frac{1-r_T}{3})$ and the open set $V_{\epsilon'} := B_{r_T + \epsilon'}(0) \cup B_{\epsilon'}(1) \subseteq \mathbb{C}$. By construction, $\sigma(T) \subseteq V_{\epsilon'}$. Thus, Theorem 4.8 implies that there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that $\sigma(S) \subseteq V_{\epsilon'}$ for all $S \in B_{\gamma}(T)$. Thus, for $S \in B_{\gamma}(T)$ the projection P_S onto the spectral subspace associated with the spectral subset $\sigma(S) \cap B_{\epsilon'}(1)$ is given by

$$P_S := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{|z-1| = \frac{1-r_T}{2}} \frac{1}{z - T_n} \, \mathrm{d}z = P_T + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{|z-1| = \frac{1-r_T}{2}} \frac{1}{z - S} (S - T) \frac{1}{z - T} \, \mathrm{d}z,$$

where we used the second resolvent identity to obtain the last equation. A standard estimate yields

$$\|P_S - P_T\| \le \frac{1 - r_T}{2} \|S - T\| \max_{|z - 1| = \frac{1 - r_T}{2}} \left\{ \left\| (z - S)^{-1} \right\| \left\| (z - T)^{-1} \right\| \right\}.$$

Since the set $S_0 := \overline{B_{\frac{\gamma}{2}}(T)} \cap \mathcal{C}$ is compact, the constant

$$C_0 := \max_{\substack{|z-1| = \frac{1-r_T}{2} \\ S \in S_0}} \left\{ \left\| (z-S)^{-1} \right\| \left\| (z-T)^{-1} \right\| \right\}$$

is finite. We set $\gamma' := \min\{\frac{\gamma}{2}, \frac{1}{(1-r_T)C_0}\}$ and $U := B_{\gamma'}(T) \cap \mathcal{C}$. By construction, U is open in the relative topology on \mathcal{C} and we have $\sigma(S) \subseteq V_{\epsilon'}$ and $\|P_S - P_T\| \leq \frac{1}{2} < 1$ for all $S \in U$. By Assumption 3, $\operatorname{ran}(P_T)$ is 1-dimensional. Thus, by Theorem 4.9, also $\operatorname{ran}(P_S)$ is one-dimensional, for $S \in U$. Thus, there can be only one point in $\sigma(S) \cap B_{\epsilon'}(1)$, and this point must be 1, as 1 is in the spectrum of every channel. Hence, for $S \in U$, we have $\sigma(S) \setminus \{1\} \subseteq B_{r_T+\epsilon'}(0)$. So $r(S) = r_S \leq r_T + \epsilon' \leq r_T + \epsilon = r(T) + \epsilon$. In other words, r is upper semi-continuous. The upper semi-continuous function r assumes its maximum on the compact set \mathcal{C} . This maximum cannot be equal to 1, as this would contradict Assumption 1. Thus $\max_{T \in \mathcal{C}} r_T < 1$, as claimed.

In preparation for the application of Theorem 4.5, we define the joint spectral gap

$$\delta_J := 1 - \max_{T \in \mathcal{C}} r(T). \tag{4.25}$$

We have $0 < \delta_J < 1$ and

$$\sigma(T) \subseteq \mathbb{D}_{1-\delta_J}(0) \cup \{1\},\$$

for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$. We define $\Gamma := \mathbb{D}_{1+\frac{\delta_J}{3}}(0) \setminus (B_{\frac{\delta_J}{3}}(1) \cup B_{1-\frac{2\delta_J}{3}}(0))$, which is a compact subset of $\rho(T)$ for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$, and we set

$$\tau := \frac{1}{7 \|H\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}} \min_{\substack{T \in \mathcal{C} \\ z \in \Gamma}} \left\| (z - T)^{-1} \right\|^{-2}$$

which is nonzero, as the minimization is over a strictly positive function on a compact set. For this particular choice of τ , we show that

$$\sigma(U_tT) \subseteq D_{1-\frac{2\delta_J}{3}}(0) \cup \{1\}$$

for $0 \le t \le \tau$ and then use Theorem 4.5. From now on, let $0 \le t \le \tau$ and $T \in \mathcal{C}$. Using the Taylor estimate (4.16) and the definition of τ yields

$$\|T - U_t T\| \le \|U_t - \operatorname{id}\| \, \|T\| \le 2 \, \|H\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})} \, t$$

$$\le \frac{2}{7} \min_{\substack{T \in \mathcal{C} \\ z \in \Gamma}} \|(z - T)^{-1}\|^{-2} \, .$$
(4.26)

This inequality has two important implications. First, for $z \in \Gamma$ we have $\left\| (z-T)^{-1} \right\|^{-1} \leq \|z-T\| \leq |z|+1 \leq \frac{7}{3}. \text{ Hence, } (4.26) < \min_{\substack{z \in \Gamma \\ z \in \Gamma}} \left\| (z-T)^{-1} \right\|^{-1}$ and we can apply Theorem 4.8, which tells us that $\Gamma \subseteq \rho(U_tT)$ for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$ and $0 \leq t \leq \tau$. Equivalently,

$$\sigma(U_tT) \subseteq \mathbb{D}_{1-\frac{2\delta_J}{3}}(0) \cup \mathbb{D}_{\frac{\delta_J}{3}}(1).$$

Thus, we only have to show that $\sigma(U_tT) \cap \mathbb{D}_{\frac{\delta_J}{3}}(1) = \{1\}.$

Second, $\left\| (U_t T - T)(z - T)^{-1} \right\| \leq \frac{2}{7} \min_{\substack{T \in \mathcal{C} \\ z \in \Gamma}} \left\| (z - T)^{-1} \right\|^{-1} \leq \frac{2}{3}$. Thus, the series

$$\frac{1}{z-T}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[(U_t T - T)(z-T)^{-1} \right]^k = (z - U_t T)^{-1}$$

converges. A term-by-term estimate yields

$$\left\| (z - U_t T)^{-1} \right\| \le 3 \left\| (z - T)^{-1} \right\|,$$
 (4.27)

Let $P_t := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{|z-1|=\frac{\delta_J}{3}} \frac{1}{z-U_t T} dz$ be the spectral projection, then

$$\begin{aligned} \|P_t - P_0\| &= \left\| \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\substack{|z-1| = \frac{\delta_J}{3}}} \frac{1}{z - U_t T} - \frac{1}{z - T} \, \mathrm{d}z \right\| \\ &\leq \frac{\delta_J}{3} \max_{\substack{|z-1| = \frac{\delta_J}{3}}} \left\| (z - U_t T)^{-1} - (z - T)^{-1} \right\| \\ &= \frac{\delta_J}{3} \max_{\substack{|z-1| = \frac{\delta_J}{3}}} \left\| (z - U_t T)^{-1} (U_t T - T) (z - T)^{-1} \right\| \\ &\leq \delta_J \left\| U_t T - T \right\| \max_{z \in \Gamma} \left\| (z - T)^{-1} \right\|^2 \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq \frac{2\delta_J}{7} < 1,$$

where we used the second resolvent identity to obtain the third line, (4.27) for the fourth line and (4.26) for the fifth line. Hence, by Theorem 4.9, the dimension of ran (P_t) equals the dimension of ran (P_0) for all $0 \le t \le \tau$, and the latter dimension is 1. Thus, $\sigma(U_tT) \cap \mathbb{D}_{\frac{\delta_J}{3}}(1)$ contains exactly one point, which must be 1, as U_tT is a channel. In conclusion, we have

$$\sigma(U_tT) \subseteq \mathbb{D}_{1-\delta}(0) \cup \{1\},\$$

for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$ and $0 \leq t \leq \tau$, with $\delta := \frac{2\delta_J}{3}$. Finally, a direct application of Theorem 4.5 proves the claim. We can also get an explicit bound for $C_{\mathcal{C}}$. To this end, we need to bound the constant that appears in Theorem 4.5. We have

$$\tau^{-2} = 49 \, \|H\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^2 \max_{\substack{T \in \mathcal{C} \\ z \in \Gamma}} \|(z - T)^{-1}\|^4$$

and, by (4.27), the second term can be bounded by

$$36\delta_{J}^{-1} \|H\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^{2} \max_{\substack{T \in \mathcal{C} \\ z \in \Gamma}} \|(z-T)^{-1}\|^{2}.$$
 (4.28)

Furthermore, by the spectral mapping theorem, the spectral radius of $(z-T)^{-1}$ is given by $(\inf_{s\in\sigma(T)} ||z-s||)^{-1} = (\operatorname{dist}(z,\sigma(T)))^{-1}$. Since the norm of any operator is an upper bound for the spectral radius, we have

$$\max_{\substack{T \in \mathcal{C} \\ z \in \Gamma}} \left\| (z - T)^{-1} \right\| \ge \max_{\substack{T \in \mathcal{C} \\ z \in \Gamma}} \left\{ \operatorname{dist}(z, \sigma(T))^{-1} \right\} \ge 3\delta_J^{-1} \ge 3.$$

By applying this bound to (4.28), we see that $\tau^{-2} \ge (4.28)$. Thus, we can choose

$$C_{\mathcal{C}} := 49 \max_{\substack{T \in \mathcal{C} \\ z \in \Gamma}} \left\| (z - T)^{-1} \right\|^4 < \infty.$$

$$(4.29)$$

Theorem 4.10. For dim(\mathcal{H}) < ∞ , let \mathcal{C} be a closed set of channels $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \rightarrow \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ and let $v \in \mathcal{H}$ be a unit vector such that for every $T \in \mathcal{C}$, the state $|v\rangle\langle v|$ is the only state that is a fixed point of T.

Furthermore, let $H \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be self-adjoint and $U_t : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be defined by $U_t(\cdot) = e^{-iHt} \cdot e^{iHt}$. Then, there exists a constant $C_{\mathcal{C}} < \infty$, such that for all $N \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\left(T\circ U_{\frac{1}{N}}\right)^{N}(|v\rangle\langle v|)\right] \leq \frac{C_{\mathcal{C}}\left\|H\right\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^{2}}{N^{2}}$$
(4.30)

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} (U_{\frac{1}{N}} \circ T)^{n} (|v\rangle \langle v|)\right] \leq \frac{C_{\mathcal{C}} \left\|H\right\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})}^{2}}{N}, \quad (4.31)$$

where $P^{\perp} := \mathbb{1} - |v\rangle \langle v|$.

Proof. The claim follows from Theorem 4.6 and from results by Burgarth and Giovannetti [30]. In particular, in their terminology, a channel T is called *ergodic* if there is a unique state that is a fixed point of T. And (according to Theorem 7 in [30]), T is called *mixing* if 1 is the only eigenvalue with modulus 1 and the eigenvalue 1 is simple. Thus, in particular, if T is mixing, then the spectral gap is nonzero. Theorem 8 in [30] says that ergodic channels are mixing if the unique state that is a fixed point is pure. By assumption, every $T \in C$ is ergodic and the only state that is a fixed point is the pure state $|v\rangle\langle v|$. Thus, all $T \in C$ are mixing and the conditions in Theorem 4.6 are automatically satisfied. This proves the claim.

Remark 4.11. In the previous theorem, it is important that $|v\rangle\langle v|$ is the only state that is a fixed point. To demonstrate this, we define the Hamiltonian on a qubit system, $\mathcal{H}_Q := \operatorname{span}\{v, q_1\}$, as $H := \frac{\pi}{2}\sigma_y$, where σ_y is the Pauli matrix.¹³ So, $U_t(\cdot) := e^{-iHt} \cdot e^{iHt}$. The channel $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q)$ is then defined by

$$T(\cdot) := \operatorname{tr} \left[|v\rangle \langle v| \cdot \right] |v\rangle \langle v| + \operatorname{tr} \left[|q_1\rangle \langle q_1| \cdot \right] |q_1\rangle \langle q_1|.$$

It is not hard to verify by induction that

$$(U_{\frac{1}{N}} \circ T)^n = U_{\frac{1}{N}} \left(\frac{1}{2} (1 + \cos^n(2\theta)) |v\rangle \langle v| + \frac{1}{2} (1 - \cos^n(2\theta)) |q_1\rangle \langle q_1| \right),$$

where $\theta := \frac{\pi}{2N}$. The formula for the sum of the geometric progression yields

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N-1} (U_{\frac{1}{N}} \circ T)^n (|v\rangle \langle v|) = U_{\frac{1}{N}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(N + \lambda \right) |v\rangle \langle v| + \frac{1}{2} \left(N - \lambda \right) |q_1\rangle \langle q_1| \right),$$

with $\lambda := \frac{1 - \cos^N(2\theta)}{2\sin^2(\theta)}$. It is an exercise in elementary calculus (or a query in your favorite computer algebra system) to show that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} (N - \lambda) = \frac{\pi^2}{4}.$$
(4.32)

Since $U_{\frac{1}{N}} \to id$, when $N \to \infty$, it follows that the quantity on the RHS of (4.31) does not vanish as $N \to \infty$. In particular, our example shows that the Kwiat et al.-like protocol cannot be applied naively. Thus, the reduction process described in the next section is needed in some cases.

Remark 4.12. If the channel in Theorem 4.10 is a qubit channel $(\mathcal{H} = \text{span}\{v, p\})$, then one can determine the precise asymptotics in a rather tedious calculation.

¹³In coordinates,
$$\sigma_y := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $e^{-iHt} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\theta) & -\sin(\theta) \\ \sin(\theta) & \cos(\theta) \end{pmatrix}$, with $\theta := \frac{\pi t}{2}$

We only state the result, which is that if $H := \frac{\pi}{2}\sigma_y$, then

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} N^{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \left(T \circ U_{\frac{1}{N}} \right)^{N} (|v\rangle \langle v|) \right] = \lim_{N \to \infty} N \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} (U_{\frac{1}{N}} \circ T)^{n} (|v\rangle \langle v|) \right]$$
$$= \frac{\pi^{2}}{4} \frac{1 - |\tau_{0}|^{2}}{(1 - \tau) |1 - \tau_{0}|^{2}},$$
(4.33)

where $\tau := \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp}T(P^{\perp}) \right]$ and $\tau_0 := \operatorname{tr} \left[|p\rangle \langle v| T(|v\rangle \langle p|) \right]$. This result contains as a special case the result for semi-transparent objects [31,32].

Remark 4.13. It is a direct consequence of the results in the next section that the N^{-1} form of the bound is optimal.

4.2. The Reduction Protocol

In this section, in which we assume that all Hilbert spaces are finite-dimensional, we want to transform our given channel in such a way that the Kwiat et al.-like strategy, which was described in the previous section, can be applied. The general idea is that instead of inserting the unknown channel directly into the circuit of Fig. 6, we preprocess and postprocess the states that go in and out of the channel. In other words, we replace the channel T in Fig. 6 by the construction that is depicted on the RHS of Fig. 7. In Fig. 7, \mathcal{H}_Q and \mathcal{H}_A are Hilbert spaces and R_0 : $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_A)$ and $R'_0: \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_A) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q)$ are channels. The resulting transformation can be viewed as a map $R: \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q))$, defined by R(T) := $R'_0(T \otimes id)R_0$. Maps of this kind are usually called superchannels [33]. Clearly, if T is a channel with transmission functional \mathfrak{t}_T , then R(T) is a channel with transmission functional $\mathfrak{t}_{R(T)} := \mathfrak{t}_T \circ \operatorname{tr}_A \circ R_0$. We say that the superchannel R transforms the transmission functional \mathfrak{t}_T to $\mathfrak{t}_{R(T)}$. For consistency reasons, we also remark the following: As is shown in [33], for any superchannel $S : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q))$, there exists a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{A'}$ and channels $S_0 : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A'})$ and $S'_0 : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A'}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q)$ such that $S(T) = S'_0(T \otimes id)S_0$ for all $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$. Of course, the choice of $\mathcal{H}_{A'}$, S_0 , and S'_0 is not unique. The transformation of the transmission functional, however, is unique. To see this, assume that we apply S to the map T_B , defined by $T_B(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr} [B \cdot] \rho_0$, where $\rho_0 \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$ and $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ are arbitrary. Since S'_0 is trace-preserving, we have for $\sigma \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_Q)$, that $\operatorname{tr}[S(T)(\sigma)] = \operatorname{tr}[(T \otimes \operatorname{id})S_0(\sigma)] = \operatorname{tr}[B\operatorname{tr}_{A'}[S_0(\sigma)]].$ Since B and σ were arbitrary, it follows that $\operatorname{tr}_{A'} \circ S_0$ is independent of the choice of $\mathcal{H}_{A'}$, S_0 , and S'_0 . Hence, the transformation of the transmission functional is independent of the particular implementation of a superchannel. Formally, the replacement described above yields a transformation of the discrimination strategy. That is, given a discrimination strategy $D = (\mathcal{H}_Q, \mathcal{H}_Z, \mathcal{H}_i, \mathcal{H}_o, s_0, \Lambda),$ with $\Lambda = \{\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, \ldots, \Lambda_N\}$, then we obtain the transformed discrimination strategy $D^R := (\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z, \mathcal{H}_i, \mathcal{H}_o, s_0, \Lambda_R)$, with $\Lambda_0^R := (R_0 \otimes \mathrm{id}_Z)\Lambda_0$, $\Lambda_N^R := \Lambda_N(R'_0 \otimes \mathrm{id}_Z), \text{ and } \Lambda_n^R := (R_0 \otimes \mathrm{id}_Z)\Lambda_n(R'_0 \otimes \mathrm{id}_Z), \text{ for } 1 \le n \le N-1.$

$$\overset{\mathcal{H}}{=} T \overset{\mathcal{H}}{\longrightarrow} \underset{\mathcal{H}_{Q}}{\longmapsto} R_{0} \overset{\mathcal{H}}{\underset{\mathcal{H}_{A}}{\longrightarrow}} T \overset{\mathcal{H}}{\underset{\mathcal{H}_{A}}{\longrightarrow}} R_{0} \overset{\mathcal{H}}{\underset{\mathcal{H}_{Q}}{\longrightarrow}} R_{0} \overset{\mathcal{H}}{\underset{\mathcal{H}_{Q}}{\longrightarrow}}$$

FIGURE 7. General transformation scheme: a superchannel

The task of this section is to show the existence of a superchannel such that the general discrimination task reduces to the one described in the last section. It will be evident from the proof of the following theorem that such a superchannel can be implemented by using only one ancillary qubit and classical resources. Furthermore, we show in Remark 4.18 that in general the implementation of such a superchannel is impossible without using an ancillary qubit.

Theorem 4.14 (Reduction superchannel). For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \rightarrow \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel and let $\mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ be a subspace such that T is isometric on \mathcal{V} . Furthermore, let $v \in \mathcal{V}$ be a unit vector. Then, there exists a twodimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_Q , with orthonormal basis $\{q_0, q_1\}$ and a superchannel $R : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})) \rightarrow \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q))$ with the following properties:

- 1. If $T' \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ satisfies $T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = T'|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$, then $R(T') = \mathrm{id}$.
- 2. If $T' \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ is a channel such that $T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \neq T'|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$, then the only state that is a fixed point of R(T'), is $|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$.
- 3. If $T' \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ is a channel with transmission functional $\mathfrak{t}_{T'}$ and $\mathfrak{t}_T(|v\rangle\langle v|) = 0$, then the transformed transmission functional $\mathfrak{t}_{R(T')}$ is given by

$$\mathbf{t}_{R(T')}(\cdot) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{t}_{T'}(\frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1}) \operatorname{tr}[|q_1\rangle\langle q_1|\cdot] & \text{if } d > 1\\ 0 & \text{if } d = 1 \end{cases},$$
(4.34)

where $d := \dim(\mathcal{V})$ and where P^{\perp} denotes the orthogonal projection onto $\{\psi \in \mathcal{V} \mid \langle \psi | v \rangle = 0\}.$

Before we prove the theorem, let us explore its consequences. First, we establish the analog of Theorem 2.5 for the transmission functional model.

Corollary 4.15. For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $\mathcal{C}_A, \mathcal{C}_B \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ be two closed sets of channels. Furthermore, let \mathcal{V} be a subspace of \mathcal{H} and let $v \in \mathcal{V}$ be a unit vector such that

- 1. For all $T \in C_A \cup C_B$, T is a channel with transmission functional \mathfrak{t}_T .
- 2. For all $T \in \mathcal{C}_A$, T is isometric on \mathcal{V} .
- 3. For all $T \in \mathcal{C}_A$, $\mathfrak{t}_T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = 0$.
- 4. For all $T \in C_B$, $\mathfrak{t}_T(|v\rangle \langle v|) = 0$.
- 5. $\sup_{T \in \mathcal{C}_B} \left\| \mathfrak{t}_T |_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \right\| < \infty$
- 6. The set $\mathcal{C}_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} := \{T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \mid T \in \mathcal{C}_A\}$ contains exactly one element.
- 7. $\mathcal{C}_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ and $\mathcal{C}_B|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} := \{T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \mid T \in \mathcal{C}_B\}$ are disjoint.

Then, there exist a constant C and for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$, an N-step discrimination strategy D and a two-valued POVM Π such that

$$P_e(D,\Pi) \le \frac{C}{N^2},\tag{4.35}$$

$$\mathfrak{T}_{T_A}(D) = 0 \quad and \quad \mathfrak{T}_{T_B}(D) \le \frac{C}{N},$$
(4.36)

for all $T_A \in C_A$ and all $T_B \in C_B$, where the discrimination error probability is w.r.t. the sets C_A and C_B . Hence, the sets C_A and C_B can be discriminated in a transmission-free manner.

Proof. We combine Theorems 4.1 and 4.14. Let us fix some $T_A \in \mathcal{C}_A$. From Theorem 4.14 (with $T = T_A$), we obtain the map R, with the properties (1), (2), and (3). We want to apply Theorem 4.1 with $\mathcal{C} := R(\mathcal{C}_B)$. Since \mathcal{C}_B is (as a closed subset of the compact set of channels) compact and R is continuous, \mathcal{C} is compact and hence closed. Furthermore, since by Assumption 7, the sets $\mathcal{C}_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ and $\mathcal{C}_B|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ are disjoint, we have $T'|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \neq T_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ for all $T' \in \mathcal{C}_B$. Hence, property (2) implies that for all $T \in \mathcal{C}$, the state $|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$ is the only state that is a fixed point of T. In particular, id $\notin C$. Furthermore, Assumption 6 implies that $T'|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = T_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$, for all $T' \in \mathcal{C}_A$. Hence, by property (1), $R(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{A}}) = \{ \mathrm{id} \}$. Thus, Theorem 4.1 yields a discrimination strategy \tilde{D} and a two-valued POVM such that $P_e(\tilde{D}, \Pi) \leq \tilde{C}N^{-2}$, for some constant \tilde{C} . By construction, $P_e(\tilde{D}, \Pi)$ is the discrimination probability w.r.t. the sets \mathcal{C} and {id}, but since we have for $T' \in \mathcal{C}_A \cup \mathcal{C}_B$ that $R(T') \in \{\text{id}\}$ iff $T' \in \mathcal{C}_A$ and $R(T') \in \mathcal{C}$ iff $R(T') \in \mathcal{C}_B$, it follows that $P_e(\tilde{D}^R, \Pi) = P_e(\tilde{D}, \Pi)$, where \tilde{D}^R is the transformed discrimination strategy, as defined in the main text. For $T' \in \mathcal{C}_A$, condition 3 and property (3) imply that the transformed transmission functional $\mathfrak{t}_{R(T')} = 0$. Thus, $\mathfrak{T}_{T'}(\tilde{D}^R) = 0$. Furthermore, for $T' \in \mathcal{C}_B$ with transmission functional $\mathfrak{t}_{T'}$, property (3) implies that the norm of the transformed transmission functional satisfies $\left\|\mathfrak{t}_{R(T')}\right\| = \frac{1}{2}\mathfrak{t}_{T'}\left(\frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1}\right) \leq \frac{1}{2}\left\|\mathfrak{t}_{T'}|_{\mathcal{B}_{1}(\mathcal{V})}\right\|$. Since we have $\mathfrak{T}_{T'}(\tilde{D}^R) = \mathfrak{T}_{R(T')}(\tilde{D}), \text{ Theorem 4.1 implies that } \mathfrak{T}_{T'}(D^R) \leq \frac{\tilde{C} \left\|\mathfrak{t}_{T'}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}\right\|}{2N}. \text{ We}$ finish the proof by identifying D with \tilde{D}^R and defining

$$C := \max\left[\tilde{C}, \frac{\tilde{C}}{2} \sup_{T' \in \mathcal{C}_B} \left\| \mathfrak{t}_{T'} |_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \right\| \right] < \infty.$$

$$(4.37)$$

As a direct consequence of the previous result, we get the validity of Theorem 2.5.

Proof. (Theorem 2.5) We interpret every channel T with "interaction" functional i_T as channel with transmission functional i_T . By Lemma 3.8, it suffices to check Conditions 1-7 of Corollary 4.15. 1, 2, 6, and 7 follow by assumption and 3, 4, and 5 follow directly from Lemma 3.10 (6).

The remainder of this section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 4.14. We show that the transformation depicted in Fig. 8 has the desired properties. We



FIGURE 8. The reduction superchannel for $\dim(\mathcal{V}) > 1$

define this superchannel precisely in the proof of Theorem 4.14. An important part is the so-called twirling operation, which we study here for a special group.

Lemma 4.16 (Twirling). For $2 \leq d := \dim(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $v \in \mathcal{H}$ be a unit vector and set $V_v := \operatorname{span}\{v\}$. We define the group

$$G := \left\{ g = \mathbb{1}_{V_v} \oplus U_g \in \mathcal{B}(V_v \oplus V_v^{\perp}) \, \big| \, U_g \in \mathcal{B}(V_v^{\perp}) \text{ is unitary} \right\}$$
(4.38)

and the twirling superchannel $S : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ by

$$S(T) = \int \hat{U}_g \circ T \circ \hat{U}_g^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G(g), \qquad (4.39)$$

where μ_G is the Haar measure on G and $\hat{U}_g : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ is the quantum channel obtained by conjugation with the group element $g \in G$, i.e., $\hat{U}_g(\cdot) = g \cdot g^{-1}$. Then, the following statements hold.

- Let $\psi \in V_v^{\perp}$ be any unit vector and $\phi := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (v + \psi)$. If $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ is a channel and $|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|$ is a fixed point of S(T), then T = id.Conversely, S(id) = id and thus $|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|$ is a fixed point of S(id).
- For a functional $\mathfrak{t} : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathbb{C}$, we have

$$\int \mathfrak{t} \circ \hat{U}_g^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(g) = \mathfrak{t}\left(\frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1}\right) \, \mathrm{tr}\left[P^{\perp} \cdot\right] + \mathfrak{t}(|v\rangle\langle v|) \, \mathrm{tr}\left[|v\rangle\langle v|\cdot\right]. \tag{4.40}$$

Remark 4.17. The integration over the Haar measure can be replaced by a unitary t-design [34]. We can thus implement the superchannel S without using an ancillary quantum system.

Proof. We start by showing that the range of S is spanned by the following seven operators:

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[|v\rangle\langle v|\cdot\right]|v\rangle\langle v|, \qquad \operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\cdot\right]|v\rangle\langle v|, \qquad \operatorname{tr}\left[|v\rangle\langle v|\cdot\right]\frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1},$$
$$\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\cdot\right]\frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1}, \qquad P^{\perp}\cdot|v\rangle\langle v|, \qquad |v\rangle\langle v|\cdot P^{\perp}, \qquad (4.41)$$
$$P^{\perp}\cdot P^{\perp}-\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp}\cdot\right]\frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1}.$$

Using the definition of the Haar measure, we obtain that the range of S consists of precisely those operators $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ that commute with \hat{U}_g for all $g \in G$. We calculate the commutant on the level of Choi matrices. To this end, we identify $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ with $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}$ via the Choi isomorphism $(|h_i\rangle\langle h_j| \leftrightarrow h_i \otimes h_j)$, where $h_0, h_1, \ldots h_{d-1}$ is an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H} such that $h_0 = v$. The operator corresponding to \hat{U}_g is $g \otimes \overline{g}$, where the complex conjugation is w.r.t the aforementioned basis. We can rewrite this operator as:

$$g \otimes \overline{g} = (\mathbb{1}_{V_v} \oplus U_g) \otimes (\mathbb{1}_{V_v} \oplus U_g)$$
$$= (\mathbb{1}_{V_v} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{V_v}) \oplus (\mathbb{1}_{V_v} \otimes \overline{U}_g) \oplus (U_g \otimes \mathbb{1}_{V_v}) \oplus (U_g \otimes \overline{U}_g).$$

The maps $g \mapsto \mathbb{1}_{V_v} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{V_v}$, $g \mapsto \mathbb{1}_{V_v} \oplus \overline{U}_g$, and $g \mapsto U_g \otimes \mathbb{1}_{V_v}$ are inequivalent irreducible representations of G. If d = 2, the representation $g \mapsto (U_g \otimes \overline{U}_g)$ is the trivial 1-dimensional representation. A simple consequence of Schur's lemma is that the commutant then is $2^2 + 1^2 + 1^2 = 6$ dimensional (see [35], p. 60 for the dimension formula). For d = 2, the span of the operators in (4.41) is also 6-dimensional $(P^{\perp} \cdot P^{\perp} - \operatorname{tr} [P^{\perp} \cdot] \frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1} = 0)$. So in this case, we have proven the claim. If $d \geq 3$, then the representation $g \mapsto (U_g \otimes \overline{U}_g)$ is the direct sum of the trivial 1-dimensional representation and an irreducible $((d-1)^2 - 1)$ -dimensional representation (see [36]). Hence, the dimension of the commutant is $2^2 + 1^2 + 1^2 + 1^2 = 7$. Also, the dimension of the span of the operators in (4.41) is 7-dimensional. This proves that the range of S is indeed given by the span of the operators in (4.41).

For our first claim, we clearly have S(id) = id. Conversely, let T be a channel such that $|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|$ is a fixed point of S(T). Let $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_7$ be the coefficients of an expansion of S(T) in terms of the operators in (4.41). Note that for d = 2, this expansion is not unique but can be made that way by demanding $\alpha_7 := 1$. As $|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|$ is a fixed point of S(T), we have

$$\begin{split} |\phi\rangle\langle\phi| &= \frac{1}{2} \left(|v\rangle\langle v| + |v\rangle\langle\psi| + |\psi\rangle\langle v| + |\psi\rangle\langle\psi| \right) \\ &= S(T)(|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left((\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)|v\rangle\langle v| + (\alpha_3 + \alpha_4 - \alpha_7)\frac{P^{\perp}}{d - 1} + \alpha_5|\psi\rangle\langle v| + \alpha_6|v\rangle\langle\psi| \right) \\ &+ \alpha_7|\psi\rangle\langle\psi| \right). \end{split}$$

By comparing the second and the last expression, it follows that $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = 1$ and $\alpha_5 = \alpha_6 = 1$. If d = 2, then $P^{\perp} = |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$ and $\alpha_3 + \alpha_4 = 1$. Otherwise, we have $\alpha_7 = 1$ and $\alpha_3 + \alpha_4 - \alpha_7 = 0$, hence also $\alpha_3 + \alpha_4 = 1$. Furthermore,

$$S(T)(|v\rangle\langle v|) = \alpha_1 |v\rangle\langle v| + \alpha_3 \frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1},$$

$$S(T)(|\psi\rangle\langle \psi|) = \alpha_2 |v\rangle\langle v| + (\alpha_4 - \alpha_7) \frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1} + \alpha_7 |\psi\rangle\langle \psi|.$$
(4.42)

As S(T) is trace-preserving, we obtain $\alpha_1 + \alpha_3 = 1$ and $\alpha_3 + \alpha_4 = 1$. Our equations imply that $\alpha_2 = 1 - \alpha_1, \alpha_3 = 1 - \alpha_1$, and $\alpha_4 = \alpha_1$. Positivity of S(T) in (4.42) implies that $\alpha_1 \ge 0$ and $\alpha_3 \ge 0$. Thus, $0 \le \alpha_1 \le 1$. We want to show that complete positivity of S(T) even implies $\alpha_1 = 1$. To this end, we

define
$$\mathcal{H}_A := \operatorname{span}\{v, \psi\}$$
 and $\Omega^+, \Omega^- \in \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}$ by
$$\Omega^+ := v \otimes v + \psi \otimes \psi, \qquad \Omega^- := v \otimes v - \psi \otimes \psi.$$

As S(T) is completely positive, we have

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \langle \Omega^{-} | (\mathrm{id}_{A} \otimes S(T))(|\Omega^{+}\rangle \langle \Omega^{+} |) \ \Omega^{-} \rangle \\ &= \langle \Omega^{-} | \left(|v\rangle \langle v| \otimes \left(\alpha_{1} |v\rangle \langle v| + (1 - \alpha_{1}) \frac{P^{\perp}}{d - 1} \right) \right) \ \Omega^{-} \rangle \\ &+ \langle \Omega^{-} | \left(|\psi\rangle \langle v| \otimes |\psi\rangle \langle v| \right) \ \Omega^{-} \rangle + \langle \Omega^{-} | \left(|v\rangle \langle \psi| \otimes |v\rangle \langle \psi| \right) \ \Omega^{-} \rangle \\ &+ \langle \Omega^{-} | \left(|\psi\rangle \langle \psi| \otimes \left((1 - \alpha_{1}) |v\rangle \langle v| + \alpha_{1} \frac{P^{\perp}}{d - 1} + |\psi\rangle \langle \psi| - \frac{P^{\perp}}{d - 1} \right) \right) \ \Omega^{-} \rangle \\ &= \alpha_{1} - 2 + \frac{\alpha_{1} - 1}{d - 1} + 1 \\ &= d \frac{\alpha_{1} - 1}{d - 1}. \end{split}$$

Thus, $\alpha_1 \ge 1$. This further implies that $\alpha_1 = 1, \alpha_2 = 0, \alpha_3 = 0$, and $\alpha_4 = 1$. Together with the earlier result that $\alpha_5 = \alpha_6 = \alpha_7 = 1$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} S(T) &= \operatorname{tr} \left[|v\rangle \langle v| \cdot \right] |v\rangle \langle v| + \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \cdot \right] \frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1} + P^{\perp} \cdot |v\rangle \langle v| + |v\rangle \langle v| \cdot P^{\perp} \\ &+ P^{\perp} \cdot P^{\perp} - \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \cdot \right] \frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1} \\ &= \operatorname{id.} \end{split}$$

Thus, we have shown that if $|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|$ is a fixed point of S(T), then S(T) = id. To see that this also implies that T = id, we note that S(T) is a convex combination of the channels $\hat{U}_g \circ T \circ \hat{U}_g^{-1}$. But as the identity is an extremal element of the convex set of quantum channels, $\hat{U}_g \circ T \circ \hat{U}_g^{-1}$ must be proportional to the identity μ_G -almost everywhere. In particular, $\hat{U}_g \circ T \circ \hat{U}_g^{-1} = \text{id}$, for some $g \in G$. Thus, T = id. This proves the first claim.

It remains to prove the second claim. For $\mathfrak{t}(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}[L \cdot]$ and $\rho \in \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$, we have

$$S'(\mathfrak{t})(\rho) := \int \mathfrak{t} \circ \hat{U}_g^{-1}(\rho) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(g) = \mathrm{tr} \left[\int g L g^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(g) \, \rho \right]$$

By the definition of the Haar measure, the integral must commute with all $g \in G$. The representation $g \mapsto \mathbb{1}_{V_v} \oplus U_g$ is the sum of two inequivalent irreducible representations of G. Thus, the commutant is 2-dimensional. It is easy to check that P^{\perp} and $|v\rangle\langle v|$ are in the commutant. Thus,

$$\int gLg^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G(g) = \lambda_1 P^{\perp} + \lambda_2 |v\rangle \langle v|,$$

for some $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C}$. Therefore, we can write

$$S'(\mathfrak{t})(\rho) = \lambda_1 \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \rho \right] + \lambda_2 \operatorname{tr} \left[|v\rangle \langle v| \rho \right].$$

Substituting P^{\perp} and $|v\rangle\langle v|$ for ρ yields $\lambda_1 = (d-1)^{-1} S'(\mathfrak{t})(P^{\perp})$ and $\lambda_2 = S'(\mathfrak{t})(|v\rangle\langle v|)$. As P^{\perp} and $|v\rangle\langle v|$ commute with all $g \in G$, we have

$$S'(\mathfrak{t})(P^{\perp}) = \mathfrak{t}\left(\int g^{-1}P^{\perp}g \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G(g)\right) = \mathfrak{t}(P^{\perp}),$$
$$S'(\mathfrak{t})(|v\rangle\langle v|) = \mathfrak{t}\left(\int g^{-1}|v\rangle\langle v|g \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G(g)\right) = \mathfrak{t}(|v\rangle\langle v|)$$

We plug this into (4.43) and obtain the desired result, Eq. (4.40). Thus, we have proven our last claim.

We are now ready to prove Theorem 4.14.

Proof. As already mentioned, the proof consists of an explicit construction of the superchannel R. The construction is depicted in Fig. 8. We start by defining the components of this circuit from left to right. For the definition of the first component, we define \mathcal{H}_A to be a two-dimensional Hilbert space with orthonormal basis $\{a_0, a_1\}$. The channel $\hat{W} : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{H}_A)$ is defined by $\hat{W}(\cdot) = W \cdot W^{\dagger}$, with isometry $W : \mathcal{H}_Q \to \mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{H}_A$ defined by

$$Wq_0 = v \otimes a_0,$$

$$Wq_1 = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (v + \psi) \otimes a_1, \text{ if } \dim(\mathcal{V}) > 1\\ v \otimes a_1, & \text{ if } \dim(\mathcal{V}) = 1 \end{cases},$$

where $\psi \in \mathcal{V}$ is any unit vector that is orthogonal to v. This channel is designed in order to exhibit the second conclusion of Lemma 4.16.

The second component is the twirling operation $S : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}))$, which is a superchannel on its own and which we only define for $\dim(\mathcal{V}) > 1$. This operation is depicted by the two unitary channels \hat{U}_g and \hat{U}_g^{-1} connected by a dashed line and acts as

$$S(\cdot) := \int \hat{U}_g \circ (\cdot) \circ \hat{U}_g^{-1} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G(g), \qquad (4.43)$$

where μ_G is the Haar measure on the compact group G, defined by (cf. Lemma 4.16)

$$G := \left\{ g = \mathbb{1}_{V_v} \oplus U_g \in \mathcal{B}(V_v \oplus V_v^{\perp}) \, \big| \, U_g \in \mathcal{B}(V_v^{\perp}) \text{ is unitary} \right\},\$$

with $V_v := \operatorname{span}\{v\}$. The channels $\hat{U}_g, \hat{U}_g^{-1} : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$ are defined by

$$\hat{U}_g(\cdot) := (\mathbb{1}_{V_v} \oplus U_g)(\cdot)(\mathbb{1}_{V_v} \oplus U_g^{\dagger}) \quad \text{and} \quad \hat{U}_g^{-1}(\cdot) := (\mathbb{1}_{V_v} \oplus U_g^{\dagger})(\cdot)(\mathbb{1}_{V_v} \oplus U_g).$$

The channel $\operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{V}\to\mathcal{H}}: \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})\to\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}), \rho\mapsto\rho$ embeds $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$ into $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$.

To define the channel $\hat{V}^{-1} : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$, we use that by assumption, T is isometric on \mathcal{V} . This means that there exists an isometry $\tilde{V} : \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}$ such that $T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}(\cdot) = \tilde{V} \cdot \tilde{V}^{\dagger}$. This isometry can be extended (in a non-unique way) to a unitary and therefore invertible operation $V : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$. We then define

$$\hat{V}^{-1}(\cdot) := V^{\dagger} \cdot V.$$

We define the channel $\hat{P}_{\mathcal{V}} : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$ by

$$\hat{P}_{\mathcal{V}}(\cdot) := P_{\mathcal{V}} \cdot P_{\mathcal{V}}^{\dagger} + \operatorname{tr}\left[(\mathbb{1} - P_{\mathcal{V}}^{\dagger} P_{\mathcal{V}})(\cdot) \right] |v\rangle \langle v|,$$

where $P_{\mathcal{V}} : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{V}$ is the orthogonal projection onto \mathcal{V} . To finish the channel definitions, we define the channel $P_W : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{H}_A) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_Q)$ by

$$P_W(\cdot) := W^{\dagger} \cdot W + \operatorname{tr}\left[(\mathbb{1} - WW^{\dagger})(\cdot)\right] |q_0\rangle\langle q_0|.$$

We can now define the superchannel R. If $\dim(\mathcal{V}) > 1$, we define

$$R(\cdot) := P_W \circ \left(\left[\int \hat{U}_g \circ \hat{P}_{\mathcal{V}} \circ \hat{V}^{-1} \circ (\cdot) \circ \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}} \circ \hat{U}_g^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(g) \right] \otimes \mathrm{id}_A \right) \circ \hat{W},$$

$$(4.44)$$

and if $\dim(\mathcal{V}) = 1$, we define

$$R(\cdot) := P_W \circ \hat{V}^{-1} \circ (\cdot) \circ \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}} \circ \hat{W}.$$
(4.45)

With the definition in place, it only remains to show that the superchannel R has the claimed properties. To prove the first claim, let $T' \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ such that $T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = T'|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$. For dim $(\mathcal{V}) > 1$, we use that by construction $\hat{V}^{-1} \circ T'|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V}}$ and that operators in $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})$ are fixed points of $P_{\mathcal{V}}$. We get

$$R(T') = P_W \circ \left(\left[\int \hat{U}_g \circ \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V}} \circ \hat{U}_g^{-1} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(g) \right] \otimes \mathrm{id}_A \right) \circ \hat{W}$$

= $P_W \circ \hat{W}$
= $\mathrm{id}_Q.$

By means of a similar argument, it follows that the claim also holds for $\dim(\mathcal{V}) = 1$. To prove the second claim, we start by showing that $|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$ is a fixed point of R(T'), for every channel T'. For $\dim(\mathcal{V}) > 1$, we have

$$R(T')(|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|) = P_W \circ \left(S(\hat{P}_{\mathcal{V}} \circ \hat{V}^{-1} \circ T' \circ \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}}) \otimes \mathrm{id}_A \right) \circ W(|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|)$$

= $P_W \left(S(\hat{P}_{\mathcal{V}} \circ \hat{V}^{-1} \circ T' \circ \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}})(|v\rangle\langle v|) \otimes |a_0\rangle\langle a_0| \right)$
= $|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|,$

where the last line follows as P_W maps every state of the form $\sigma \otimes |a_0\rangle\langle a_0|$ to $|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$. An analogous argument yields that $|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$ is also a fixed point of R(T') if dim $(\mathcal{V}) = 1$. Conversely, assume that $T' \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}))$ is a channel such that $T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \neq T'|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ and $\rho \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H}_Q)$ is a fixed point of R(T'). We prove that $\rho = |q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$. We do so by first showing that if $\rho \neq |q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$, then $|q_1\rangle\langle q_1|$ is also a fixed point of R(T'), which will lead to a contradiction. By part 1 of the theorem, $|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$ is a fixed point of R(T'). Hence, Lemma 4.4 implies that span{ $|q_0\rangle\langle q_1|$ } and span{ $|q_1\rangle\langle q_0|$ } are invariant subspaces of R(T'). Thus,

$$\langle q_0 | R(T')(|q_0\rangle\langle q_1|) q_0 \rangle = \langle q_0 | R(T')(|q_1\rangle\langle q_0|) q_0 \rangle = 0.$$

We then have

$$\begin{aligned} \langle q_0 | \rho \, q_0 \rangle &= \langle q_0 | R(T')(\rho) \, q_0 \rangle \\ &= \sum_{i,j=0}^1 \langle q_i | \rho \, q_j \rangle \langle q_0 | R(T')(|q_i\rangle \langle q_j|) \, q_0 \rangle \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^1 \langle q_i | \rho \, q_i \rangle \langle q_0 | R(T')(|q_i\rangle \langle q_i|) \, q_0 \rangle \\ &= \langle q_0 | \rho \, q_0 \rangle + \langle q_1 | \rho \, q_1 \rangle \langle q_0 | R(T')(|q_1\rangle \langle q_1|) \, q_0 \rangle \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$\langle q_1 | \rho \, q_1 \rangle \langle q_0 | R(T')(|q_1\rangle \langle q_1|) \, q_0 \rangle = 0.$$

If $\langle q_1 | \rho q_1 \rangle = 0$, then positivity of ρ implies that $\rho = |q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$, which contradicts the assumption that $\rho \neq |q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$. It follows that

$$\langle q_0 | R(T')(|q_1\rangle\langle q_1|) q_0 \rangle = 0.$$

Positivity of $R(T')(\rho)$ yields $R(T')(|q_1\rangle\langle q_1|) = |q_1\rangle\langle q_1|$, which shows that $|q_1\rangle\langle q_1|$ is a fixed point of R(T'). We now show that this leads to a contradiction. With the abbreviations $\tilde{S} := S(\hat{P}_{\mathcal{V}} \circ \hat{V}^{-1} \circ T' \circ \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}})$ and $\phi := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(v+\psi)$, we get

$$|q_1\rangle\langle q_1| = R(T')(|q_1\rangle\langle q_1|)$$

= $P_W\left(\tilde{S}(|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|)\otimes |a_1\rangle\langle a_1|\right)$
= $\operatorname{tr}\left[|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|\,\tilde{S}(|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|)\right]|q_1\rangle\langle q_1| + \operatorname{tr}\left[(\mathbb{1} - WW^{\dagger})\,\tilde{S}(|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|)\right]|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|.$

Comparing the last with the first line implies that tr $\left[|\phi\rangle\langle\phi| \tilde{S}(|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|) \right] = 1$. We observe the latter equation says that the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality (w.r.t. the Hilbert–Schmidt inner product) is satisfied with equality. Thus, $\tilde{S}(|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|) = |\phi\rangle\langle\phi|$. Lemma 4.16 then implies

$$\hat{P}_{\mathcal{V}} \circ \hat{V}^{-1} \circ T' \circ \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}} = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V}}.$$

Note that $P_{\mathcal{V}}$ is the sum of the two completely positive trace non-increasing maps, $P_1(\cdot) := P_{\mathcal{V}} \cdot P_{\mathcal{V}}$ and $P_2(\cdot) := \operatorname{tr} \left[(\mathbb{1} - P_{\mathcal{V}}^{\dagger} P_{\mathcal{V}})(\cdot) \right] |v\rangle \langle v|$. Thus, with the appropriate normalization, the extremal point of the convex set of completely positive maps, $\operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{V}}$, can be written as a convex combination of $P_i \circ \hat{V}^{-1} \circ T' \circ \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}}$. Thus,

$$\hat{V}^{-1} \circ T' \circ \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}} = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}}.$$
(4.46)

As \hat{V}^{-1} is invertible and $T' \circ id_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}}$, identity (4.46) is equivalent to

$$T'|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = \hat{V}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}.$$

By construction of \hat{V} , the RHS equals $T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$. But this contradicts the assumption that $T|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \neq T'|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$. Thus, $|q_1\rangle\langle q_1|$ cannot be a fixed point of R(T'). Consequently, $\rho = |q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$, which proves that $|q_0\rangle\langle q_0|$ is the only state that is a fixed point of R(T'). This proves the second claim. To prove the third claim, we must calculate how our protocol transforms the transmission functional. For dim $(\mathcal{V}) = 1$, we get directly from the definition (4.45) that $\mathfrak{t}_{R(T)}(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr} [\cdot] \mathfrak{t}_T(|v\rangle \langle v|) = 0$. For dim $(\mathcal{V}) > 1$, the transmission functional \mathfrak{t}_T transforms to $\mathfrak{t}_{R(T)}$, given by

$$\mathfrak{t}_{R(T)} := \int \mathfrak{t}_T \circ \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}} \circ \hat{U}_g^{-1} \circ \mathrm{tr}_A \circ \hat{W} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G(g). \tag{4.47}$$

To evaluate (4.47), we use (4.40) and get

$$\mathfrak{t}_{R(T)}(\cdot) = \mathfrak{t}_T \circ \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{H}} \left(\frac{P^{\perp}}{d-1} \right) \mathrm{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \mathrm{tr}_A \left[\hat{W}(\cdot) \right] \right].$$

A direct calculation then yields the claim.

Remark 4.18. With our protocol, we achieved a transformation from channels on \mathcal{H} to qubit channels with certain properties. This was achieved by using classical communication and one ancillary qubit. To demonstrate that our implementation of this transformation uses the quantum resources in the most economic way possible, we show that in general one cannot use only classical communication to implement a transformation which has the desired properties. To this end, we consider the following procedure. First, we use an instrument to transform the state and to obtain classical information. Then, we apply the channel, which should be transformed. Afterwards, we apply some quantum channel, where the choice of the channel may depend on the classical information that we obtained in the first step. Our instrument described by a collection of nonzero quantum operations I_1, I_2, \ldots, I_N , such that $\sum_i I_i$ is trace-preserving. We denote the associated channels that are applied in the last step by $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, \ldots, \Lambda_N$. Our protocol then implements the following transformation:

$$T \mapsto \sum_{i} \Lambda_i \circ T \circ I_i. \tag{4.48}$$

Assume that the channel T of the Theorem 4.14 is the identity and $\dim(\mathcal{H}) = \dim(\mathcal{V}) = 2$. Our first requirement is that id \mapsto id. Thus,

$$id = \sum_{i} \Lambda_i \circ I_i. \tag{4.49}$$

Since id is an extreme point of the convex set of quantum operations, there must be non-negative coefficients p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_N , such that

$$\Lambda_i \circ I_i = p_i \cdot \mathrm{id}, \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \dots, N.$$
(4.50)

This implies that Λ_i and I_i must be proportional to a unitary conjugation, i.e., $\Lambda_i(\cdot) = U_i^{\dagger} \cdot U_i$ and $I_i(\cdot) = p_i U_i \cdot U_i^{\dagger}$, for some unitary operator U_i . Our second requirement is that (since $\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{H}$) every channel except id must be transformed to a state whose only fixed point is $|q_0\rangle\langle q_0| =: P_0$. In particular,

for the pinching channel, defined by $T_P(\cdot) = P_0 \cdot P_0 + P_1 \cdot P_1$, with $P_1 := \mathbb{1} - P_0$, we have

$$P_{0} = \sum_{i} \sum_{j=0}^{1} p_{i}(U_{i}^{\dagger}P_{j}U_{i})P_{0}(U_{i}^{\dagger}P_{j}U_{i}).$$
(4.51)

Since P_0 is an extremal point of the convex set $\{\rho \ge 0 \mid \text{tr} \mid \rho \le 1\}$, we get that

$$(U_i^{\dagger} P_j U_i) P_0(U_i^{\dagger} P_j U_i) = \lambda_{ij} P_0, \qquad (4.52)$$

for some $\lambda_{ij} \geq 0$. From this, we conclude that either $U_i^{\dagger} P_j U_i = P_0$ or $U_i^{\dagger} P_j U_i = P_1$. But then the application of the transformed channel to P_1 yields

$$\sum_{i} \sum_{j=0}^{1} p_i (U_i^{\dagger} P_j U_i) P_1 (U_i^{\dagger} P_j U_i) = P_1.$$
(4.53)

Thus, P_0 is not the only state that is a fixed point of the transformed channel. Hence, to achieve our transformation, an ancillary system is needed.

5. No-Go Results

In this section, we consider the case for which we claimed in our main theorem that it is impossible to discriminate two channels in an "interaction-free" manner. There are two major results in this section: Theorem 5.7 which claims an inequality between the error probability and the "interaction" probability; and Theorem 5.9, which claims that, under a certain condition, the best achievable rate (in terms of the number of channel uses, N) for the "interaction" probability is proportional to N^{-1} . Both theorems are consequences of our main technical results: Propositions 5.2 and 5.3. The proof techniques for these results are inspired by the techniques used in two papers by Mitchison, Massar, and Pironio [11,12], who proved an analogous no-go result for the special case of a semitransparent object. Before we state the first proposition, we define a quantity that will appear as proportionality constant in the results of this section. As this may seem complicated, we want to stress that in all relevant cases, $C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})}$ can be bounded by 2.

Definition 5.1. For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow} : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be two linear maps, let \mathcal{V} be a linear subspace of \mathcal{H} , and let $\mathcal{W} = \{\mathcal{W}_1, \mathcal{W}_2, \ldots, \mathcal{W}_K\}$ be a collection of mutually orthogonal subspaces of \mathcal{V}^{\perp} with the property that $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} = \mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{W}_K$. Furthermore, let P and P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_K be the orthogonal projections onto \mathcal{V} and $\mathcal{W}_1, \mathcal{W}_2, \ldots, \mathcal{W}_K$.

We define the quantity $C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})}$ to be the infimum of the (possibly empty) set of real numbers r with the property that there exists a finite-dimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_E , isometries $V_A, V_B : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}$, and orthogonal projections $P_A, P_B : \mathcal{H}_E \to \mathcal{H}_E$ such that¹⁴

$$r = \max_{1 \le k \le K} \left\| P_k (V_A^{\dagger} (P_A P_B \otimes \mathbb{1}) V_B - \mathbb{1}) P_k \right\|,$$
 (5.1a)

¹⁴ $\|\cdot\|$ is the operator norm on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

$$V_A P = V_B P, \tag{5.1b}$$

$$T_X^{\downarrow}(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}_E\left[(P_X \otimes \mathbb{1}) V_X \cdot V_X^{\dagger} \right], \qquad (5.1c)$$

for $X \in \{A, B\}$.

We are now ready to state the first important proposition, which establishes, for a single channel use, an uncertainty relation between the "informationgain" (RHS of (5.2)) about the identity of the channel (is it T_A or T_B ?) and a quantity that depends on the probability that if we would measure the input states, we would find that they are supported in the orthogonal complement of a subspace \mathcal{V} . Later on, this subspace will be chosen to be a maximum vacuum subspace.

Proposition 5.2 (Information-interaction tradeoff). For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let T_A^{\downarrow} , $T_B^{\downarrow} : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be quantum operations and let \mathcal{V} be a subspace of \mathcal{H} such that $T_A^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ is trace-preserving and $T_A^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = T_B^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$. Let $\mathcal{W} =$ $\{\mathcal{W}_1, \mathcal{W}_2, \ldots, \mathcal{W}_K\}$ be a collection of mutually orthogonal subspaces of \mathcal{V}^{\perp} , such that $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} = \mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{W}_K$. Denote the orthogonal projections onto these subspaces by P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_K . Then, $C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})} \leq 2$ and

$$\sqrt{F}(\rho,\sigma) - \sqrt{F}(T_A^{\downarrow}(\rho), T_B^{\downarrow}(\sigma)) \le C_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{k=1}^K \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P_k\rho\right] \operatorname{tr}\left[P_k\sigma\right]}, \quad (5.2)$$

for all $\rho, \sigma \geq 0$.

Before proving the proposition, let us remark that Proposition 2.10 is a direct consequence thereof.

Proof. (*Proposition* 2.10) This follows directly from the fact that the fidelity can be characterized in terms of the minimum over measurements of expressions of the form given on the RHS of (5.2) (see [25], p. 412).

Proof. (Proposition 5.2) We first establish that $C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})} \leq 2$. Let P, P^{\perp} be the orthogonal projections onto \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{V}^{\perp} . By applying the triangular inequality and the sub-multiplicativity of the operator norm to the definition of $C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})}$, it follows that if there exist $\mathcal{H}_E, V_A, V_B, P_A$, and P_B with the properties of Definition 5.1, then $C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})} \leq 2$. Therefore, we start our proof by showing the existence of the aforementioned quantities. It is a basic property of completely positive trace non-increasing maps (see [25], p. 365) that there exist finite-dimensional Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_{E_A} and \mathcal{H}_{E_B} , isometries $\tilde{V}_A : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{E_A} \otimes \mathcal{H}$ and $\tilde{V}_B : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{E_B} \otimes \mathcal{H}$, and orthogonal projections $\tilde{P}_A : \mathcal{H}_{E_A} \to \mathcal{H}_{E_A}$ and $\tilde{P}_B : \mathcal{H}_{E_B} \to \mathcal{H}_{E_B}$, such that $T_A^{\downarrow}(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}_{E_A} \left[(\tilde{P}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}) \tilde{V}_A \cdot \tilde{V}_A^{\dagger} \right]$ and $T_B^{\downarrow}(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}_{E_B} \left[(\tilde{P}_B \otimes \mathbb{1}) \tilde{V}_B \cdot \tilde{V}_B^{\dagger} \right]$. By enlarging the smaller of the two ancillary Hilbert spaces and identifying two orthonormal basis, we can achieve that \mathcal{H}_{E_A} and \mathcal{H}_{E_B} are the same space, \mathcal{H}_E . By assumption, $T_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ and $T_B|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ are trace-preserving. It follows that $(\tilde{P}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}) \tilde{V}_A |_{\mathcal{V}}$ and $(\tilde{P}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}) \tilde{V}_B |_{\mathcal{V}}$ are isometries and

thus $(\tilde{P}_A \otimes \mathbb{1})\tilde{V}_A|_{\mathcal{V}} = \tilde{V}_A|_{\mathcal{V}}$ and $(\tilde{P}_B \otimes \mathbb{1})\tilde{V}_B|_{\mathcal{V}} = \tilde{V}_B|_{\mathcal{V}}$. Hence, $\tilde{V}_A|_{\mathcal{V}}$ and $\tilde{V}_B|_{\mathcal{V}}$ are Stinespring isometries of the same channel and thus are related by a unitary operator on \mathcal{H}_E . Precisely, there exists a unitary operator $W : \mathcal{H}_E \to \mathcal{H}_E$ such that $\tilde{V}_B|_{\mathcal{V}} = (W \otimes \mathbb{1})\tilde{V}_A|_{\mathcal{V}}$. Equivalently, $\tilde{V}_B P = (W \otimes \mathbb{1})\tilde{V}_A P$. It is then easy to verify that the operators $V_A := (W \otimes \mathbb{1})\tilde{V}_A, V_B := \tilde{V}_B$ and $P_A := W\tilde{P}_A W^{-1}, P_B := \tilde{P}_B$ satisfy the requirements (5.1c) and (5.1b). In particular, we have

$$(P_A \otimes \mathbb{1})V_A P = V_A P = V_B P = (P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B P.$$
(5.3)

This finishes the proof of the first part of the proposition. For the second part, we fix V_A, V_B, P_A , and P_B such that the Conditions (5.1c) and (5.1b) are satisfied. In particular, this implies that (5.3) holds. To prove the inequality, we proceed as follows: for two positive operators $\rho, \sigma \geq 0$, Uhlmann's theorem implies that there exists a finite-dimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_Q and two vectors $\psi, \phi \in \mathcal{H}_Q \otimes \mathcal{H}$ (purifications) such that $\operatorname{tr}_Q[|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|] = \rho$ and $\operatorname{tr}_Q[|\phi\rangle\langle\phi|] = \sigma$ and $\sqrt{F}(\rho, \sigma) = |\langle\psi|\phi\rangle|$. We further note that $(\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1})V_A)|\psi\rangle$ and $(\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B)|\phi\rangle$ are purifications of $T_A^{\downarrow}(\rho)$ and $T_B^{\downarrow}(\sigma)$. Hence, Uhlmann's theorem implies that

$$\sqrt{F}(T_A^{\downarrow}(\rho), T_B^{\downarrow}(\sigma)) \ge |\langle (\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{Q}} \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1})V_A)\psi | (\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{Q}} \otimes (P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B)\phi \rangle|.$$
(5.4)

By inserting $\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{Q}} \otimes P + \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{Q}} \otimes P^{\perp}$ (which is equal to the identity) and expanding the scalar product, we obtain

RHS of
$$(5.4) = |\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1})V_A P)\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B P)\phi \rangle$$
 (5.5a)

+

$$\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1}) V_A P^{\perp}) \psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_B \otimes \mathbb{1}) V_B P) \phi \rangle$$
 (5.5b)

$$+ \langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1})V_A P)\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B P^{\perp})\phi \rangle \quad (5.5c)$$

$$+ \langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1}) V_A P^{\perp}) \psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_B \otimes \mathbb{1}) V_B P^{\perp}) \phi \rangle |.$$
(5.5d)

It is not hard to see from (5.3) that the terms (5.5b) and (5.5c) vanish. Explicitly, we have

$$(5.5b) = \langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1})V_A P^{\perp})\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B P)\phi \rangle$$

= $\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1})V_A P^{\perp})\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1})V_A P)\phi \rangle$
= $\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes V_A P^{\perp})\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1})V_A P)\phi \rangle$
= $\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes V_A P^{\perp})\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes V_A P)\phi \rangle$
= $\langle \psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp} P)\phi \rangle$
= 0,

and similarly for (5.5c). Adding and subtracting $\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp})\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp})\phi \rangle$ and using the inverse triangular inequality yields

$$(5.5) \geq |\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P)\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P)\phi \rangle + \langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp})\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp})\phi \rangle | - |\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_A \otimes \mathbb{1})V_A P^{\perp})\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes (P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B P^{\perp})\phi \rangle - \langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp})\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp})\phi \rangle |.$$

$$(5.6)$$

We further use $P^{\perp}P = 0$ (thus $\sqrt{F}(\rho, \sigma) = |\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P)\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P)\phi \rangle + \langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp})\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp})\phi \rangle |$) and some rearrangement to arrive at

$$(5.6) = \sqrt{F}(\rho, \sigma) - |\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp})\psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P^{\perp}(V_A^{\dagger}(P_A P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B - \mathbb{1})P^{\perp})\phi \rangle|.$$
(5.7)

As by assumption, $P^{\perp} = \sum_{k} P_k$ and $P_k P_l = 0$ for $k \neq l$, we get

$$(5.7) \geq \sqrt{F}(\rho, \sigma) - \sum_{k=1}^{K} |\langle (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P_k)\psi|(\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P_k(V_A^{\dagger}(P_A P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B - \mathbb{1})P_k)\phi\rangle|$$

$$\geq \sqrt{F}(\rho, \sigma) - \sum_{k=1}^{K} \left\{ \left\| P_k(V_A^{\dagger}(P_A P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B - \mathbb{1})P_k \right\|$$

$$\|(\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P_k)\psi\| \|(\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P_k)\phi\| \right\}$$

$$= \sqrt{F}(\rho, \sigma) - \sum_{k=1}^{K} \left\| P_k(V_A^{\dagger}(P_A P_B \otimes \mathbb{1})V_B - \mathbb{1})P_k \right\| \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}[P_k\rho]\operatorname{tr}[P_k\sigma]},$$

(5.8)

where we used the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and the sub-multiplicativity of the matrix norm to get from the first to the second line. For the last line, we used

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P_k \psi\|^2 &= \langle \psi | (\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P_k) \psi \rangle = \operatorname{tr} \left[(\mathbb{1}_Q \otimes P_k) | \psi \rangle \langle \psi | \right] = \operatorname{tr} \left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Q \left[| \psi \rangle \langle \psi | \right] \right] \\ &= \operatorname{tr} \left[P_k \rho \right]. \end{aligned}$$

As the only constraints that V_A, V_B, P_A, P_B , and \mathcal{H}_E have to satisfy are the ones of Definition 5.1, we conclude that

$$(5.8) \ge \sqrt{F}(\rho, \sigma) - C_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{k=1}^K \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \rho\right] \operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \sigma\right]}.$$

This proves the claim.

Proposition 5.2 does not allow for ancillary systems. In the following proposition, which is an iterated refinement of the preceding one, we show that this problem can be solved by applying Proposition 5.2 to $T^{\downarrow} \otimes id$.

Proposition 5.3 (Technical no-go theorem). For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow}$: $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be two completely positive trace non-increasing maps. Let \mathcal{V} be a subspace of \mathcal{H} such that $T_A^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ is trace-preserving and $T_A^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = T_B^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$. Let $\mathcal{W} = \{\mathcal{W}_1, \mathcal{W}_2, \ldots, \mathcal{W}_K\}$ be a collection of mutually orthogonal subspaces of \mathcal{V}^{\perp} , such that $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} = \mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{W}_K$. We denote the orthogonal projections onto these subspaces by P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_K . Furthermore, let $T_A, T_B : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to$ $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be completely positive maps such that $T_A - T_A^{\downarrow}$ and $T_B - T_B^{\downarrow}$ are also completely positive. Then, for every finite-dimensional N-step discrimination

strategy $D = (\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_Z, s_0, \Lambda)$, we have

$$1 - \sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{T_A}, \rho_N^{T_B}) \le C_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \sum_{k=1}^K \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}}\right]\right]} \cdot \operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}}\right]\right],$$
(5.9)

where ρ is the intermediate state map of *D*. Furthermore, $C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})} \leq 2$.

Corollary 5.4. For dim(\mathcal{H}) < ∞ , let $T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow} : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be two completely positive trace non-increasing maps. Let \mathcal{V} be a subspace of \mathcal{H} such that $T_A^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ is trace-preserving and $T_A^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = T_B^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$. Then,

$$1 - \sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{T_A}, \rho_N^{T_B}) \le C_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \sum_{k=1}^K \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}}\right]\right]} \cdot \operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}}\right]\right].$$
(5.10)

Proof. To reduce the overhead in notation, we define $\rho_i := \rho_i^{T_A}$, $\rho_i^{\downarrow} := \rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}}$ and $\sigma_i := \rho_i^{T_B}$, $\sigma_i^{\downarrow} := \rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}}$. We start to prove the proposition by showing that

$$1 - \sqrt{F}(\rho_N, \sigma_N) \le 1 - \sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{\downarrow}, \sigma_N^{\downarrow}).$$
(5.11)

This inequality follows from the strong concavity of the fidelity and the observation that $\rho_N - \rho_N^{\downarrow} \ge 0$ and $\sigma_N - \sigma_N^{\downarrow} \ge 0$. The latter statement follows inductively, as $\rho_0 - \rho_0^{\downarrow} = 0 \ge 0$ and

$$\rho_{i+1} - \rho_{i+1}^{\downarrow} = \Lambda_i((T_A \otimes \mathrm{id})(\rho_i) - (T_A^{\downarrow} \otimes \mathrm{id})(\rho_i^{\downarrow}))$$

= $\Lambda_i((T_A \otimes \mathrm{id})(\rho_i - \rho_i^{\downarrow}) + ((T_A - T_A^{\downarrow}) \otimes \mathrm{id})(\rho_i^{\downarrow}))$
\geq 0.

The last line follows, as by induction $\rho_i - \rho_i^{\downarrow} \ge 0$ and $T_A - T_A^{\downarrow}$ is, by assumption, completely positive. Replacing ρ by σ and A by B in the argument above shows that also $\sigma_N - \sigma_N^{\downarrow} \ge 0$. We write $\Delta \rho := \rho_N - \rho_N^{\downarrow}$ and $\Delta \sigma := \sigma_N - \sigma_N^{\downarrow}$ and use the strong concavity (see [25], p. 414) and the non-negativity of the fidelity, to obtain the following inequality:

$$\sqrt{F}(\rho_N, \sigma_N) = \sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{\downarrow} + \Delta \rho, \sigma_N^{\downarrow} + \Delta \sigma)
\geq \sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{\downarrow}, \sigma_N^{\downarrow}) + \sqrt{F}(\Delta \rho, \Delta \sigma)
\geq \sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{\downarrow}, \sigma_N^{\downarrow}),$$

which is equivalent to (5.11). To prove (5.9), it remains to show that

$$1 - \sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{\downarrow}, \sigma_N^{\downarrow}) \le C_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \sum_{k=0}^K \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{\downarrow}\right]\right] \cdot \operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\sigma_i^{\downarrow}\right]\right]}.$$
(5.12)

To this end, notice that if $T_A^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = T_B^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$, then $(T_A^{\downarrow} \otimes \mathrm{id})|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z)} = (T_B^{\downarrow} \otimes \mathrm{id})|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z)}$. Hence, $T_A' := (T_A^{\downarrow} \otimes \mathrm{id}), T_B' := (T_B^{\downarrow} \otimes \mathrm{id}), \mathcal{V}' := \mathcal{V} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z$ and
$\mathcal{W}' := \{\mathcal{W}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z, \dots, \mathcal{W}_K \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z\}$ satisfy the assumptions of Proposition 5.2. Furthermore, as the fidelity is non-decreasing under the action of the channel Λ_i (see [25], p. 414), we have

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{F}(\rho_i^{\downarrow}, \sigma_i^{\downarrow}) - \sqrt{F}(\rho_{i+1}^{\downarrow}, \sigma_{i+1}^{\downarrow}) &= \sqrt{F}(\rho_i^{\downarrow}, \sigma_i^{\downarrow}) - \sqrt{F}(\Lambda_i \circ T_A'(\rho_i^{\downarrow}), \Lambda_i \circ T_B'(\sigma_i^{\downarrow})) \\ &\leq \sqrt{F}(\rho_i^{\downarrow}, \sigma_i^{\downarrow}) - \sqrt{F}(T_A'(\rho_i^{\downarrow}), T_B'(\sigma_i^{\downarrow})). \end{split}$$

We want to apply Proposition 5.2 to the RHS of this expression. To do this correctly, we should notice that the projections, appearing in (5.2), project onto $\mathcal{W}_k \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z$, and hence are equal to $P_k \otimes \mathbb{1}$. Also, if V_A, V_B, P_A , and P_B satisfy Conditions (5.1b) and (5.1c), then $V_A \otimes \mathbb{1}, V_B \otimes \mathbb{1}, P_A \otimes \mathbb{1}$, and $P_B \otimes \mathbb{1}$ satisfy the Conditions (5.1b) and (5.1c) for T'_A and T'_B . If we plug this into (5.1a) and use that in general $||X \otimes \mathbb{1}|| = ||X||$, we obtain

$$C^{(T_A^{\downarrow} \otimes \mathrm{id}, T_B^{\downarrow} \otimes \mathrm{id})}_{\mathcal{V}', \mathcal{W}'} \leq C^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})}_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}}$$

Using these observations, we get

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{F}(\rho_i^{\downarrow},\sigma_i^{\downarrow}) - \sqrt{F}(\rho_{i+1}^{\downarrow},\sigma_{i+1}^{\downarrow}) &\leq C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{k=1}^K \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[(P_k \otimes \mathbb{1})\rho_i^{\downarrow}\right] \operatorname{tr}\left[(P_k \otimes \mathbb{1})\sigma_i^{\downarrow}\right]} \\ &= C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{k=1}^K \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{\downarrow}\right]\right] \operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\sigma_i^{\downarrow}\right]\right]}. \end{split}$$

Equivalently,

$$\sqrt{F}(\rho_{i+1}^{\downarrow}, \sigma_{i+1}^{\downarrow}) \ge \sqrt{F}(\rho_{i}^{\downarrow}, \sigma_{i}^{\downarrow}) - C_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}}^{(T_{A}^{\downarrow}, T_{B}^{\downarrow})} \sum_{k=1}^{K} \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P_{k} \operatorname{tr}_{Z}\left[\rho_{i}^{\downarrow}\right]\right] \operatorname{tr}\left[P_{k} \operatorname{tr}_{Z}\left[\sigma_{i}^{\downarrow}\right]\right]}$$

If we iterate this inequality, we obtain

$$\sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{\downarrow}, \sigma_N^{\downarrow}) \ge \sqrt{F}(\rho_0^{\downarrow}, \sigma_0^{\downarrow}) - C_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \sum_{k=1}^K \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{\downarrow}\right]\right] \operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\sigma_i^{\downarrow}\right]\right]}.$$

Using $\sqrt{F}(\rho_0^{\downarrow}, \sigma_0^{\downarrow}) = \sqrt{F}(s_0, s_0) = 1$ and some rearrangement establishes (5.12) and completes the proof of the theorem.

To connect this technical result with the main results of this section, we need two auxiliary lemmas.

Lemma 5.5. For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $T_A, T_B : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be two channels and let D be a finite-dimensional N-step discrimination strategy and Π be a two-valued POVM. Then,

$$\frac{(1 - 2P_e(D, \Pi))^2}{2} \le 1 - \sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{T_A}, \rho_N^{T_B}), \tag{5.13}$$

where ρ is the intermediate state map of D.

Proof. By definition,

$$P_e(D,\Pi) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\operatorname{tr} \left[\pi_B \rho_N^{T_A} \right] + \operatorname{tr} \left[\pi_A \rho_N^{T_B} \right] \right].$$
 (5.14)

If we minimize over the possible two-valued POVMs $\Pi',$ the famous Holevo-Helstrom formula reads

$$P_e^m(D) := \min_{\Pi'} P_e(D, \Pi') = \frac{1}{2} \left[1 - \frac{1}{2} \left\| \rho_N^{T_A} - \rho_N^{T_B} \right\|_1 \right].$$

Since $0 \leq P_e(D,\Pi) \leq \frac{1}{2}$, we have $1 - 2P_e(D,\Pi) \geq 0$. Thus,

$$\frac{(1 - 2P_e(D, \Pi))^2}{2} \le \frac{(1 - 2P_e^m(D))^2}{2}.$$
(5.15)

By the Fuchs–van de Graaf inequality (see [25], p. 416),

$$\frac{1}{2} \left\| \rho - \sigma \right\|_1 \le \sqrt{1 - \sqrt{F(\rho, \sigma)^2}}.$$

Thus,

$$\frac{(1-2P_e^m(D))^2}{2} = \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2} \left\| \rho_N^{T_A} - \rho_N^{T_B} \right\|_1 \right)^2}{2} \\ \leq \frac{1-\sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{T_A}, \rho_N^{T_B})^2}{2} \\ = (1-\sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{T_A}, \rho_N^{T_B}))\frac{1+\sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{T_A}, \rho_N^{T_B})}{2} \\ \leq 1-\sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{T_A}, \rho_N^{T_B}).$$

Together with (5.15), this proves the claim.

Lemma 5.6. For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $T_A, T_B : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be two channels with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$. Let \mathcal{V}_{T_A} and \mathcal{V}_{T_B} be the respective maximal vacuum subspaces and let T_A^{\downarrow} and T_B^{\downarrow} be as in Definition 3.3 (Eq. 3.6). Furthermore, let \mathcal{V} be a subspace such that $v \in \mathcal{V}$ and $\mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathcal{V}_{T_A} \cap \mathcal{V}_{T_B}$. Let $\mathcal{W} = {\mathcal{W}_1, \mathcal{W}_2, \ldots, \mathcal{W}_K}$ be a collection of mutually orthogonal subspaces of \mathcal{V}^{\perp} , such that $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} = \mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{W}_K$. Denote the orthogonal projections onto these subspaces by P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_K . Then,

$$\frac{(1 - 2P_e(D, \Pi))^2}{2} \le C_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \sum_{k=1}^K \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}}\right]\right] \cdot \operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}}\right]\right]},$$
(5.16)

for all finite-dimensional N-step discrimination strategies $D = (\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_Z, s_0, \Lambda)$ and all two-valued POVMs, Π .

Proof. By Lemma 5.5, we have for any finite-dimensional N-step discrimination strategy D and any two-valued POVM, Π , that

$$\frac{(1 - 2P_e(D, \Pi))^2}{2} \le 1 - \sqrt{F}(\rho_N^{T_A}, \rho_N^{T_B}).$$
(5.17)

We want to apply Proposition 5.3 to the RHS of this inequality. To this end, we have to define the quantities appearing in that proposition. We identify T_A, T_B, \mathcal{V} , and \mathcal{W} with the objects that bear the same name. In the following let $X \in \{A, B\}$. We define T_X^{\downarrow} as in Definition 3.3 and need to check that $T_X - T_X^{\downarrow}$ is completely positive and that $T_X^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ is trace-preserving. To this end, we fix a Stinespring isometry $V_X : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}$ of T_X . Then, T_X^{\downarrow} is defined by

$$T_X^{\downarrow}(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}_E\left[(P_v^{(X)} \otimes \mathbb{1}) V_X \cdot V_X^{\dagger} \right],$$

where $P_v^{(X)}$ is the projection onto the support of $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}}\left[V_X|v\rangle\langle v|V_X^{\dagger}\right]$. It follows immediately from this expression that $T_X - T_X^{\downarrow}$ is completely positive. To see that $T_X^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_{T_X})}$ is trace-preserving, note that by Definition 3.9

$$\mathcal{V}_{T_X} = V_X^{-1} \left[\operatorname{supp}(\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}} \left[V_X | v \rangle \langle v | V_X^{\dagger} \right]) \otimes \mathcal{H} \right].$$

Thus, for any¹⁵ $\rho \in \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_{T_X})$,

$$V_X \rho V_X^{\dagger} \in \mathcal{B}_1(\operatorname{supp}(\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}} \left[V_X | v \rangle \langle v | V_X^{\dagger} \right]) \otimes \mathcal{H}).$$

As $P_v^{(X)} \otimes \mathbb{1}$ is the projection onto $\operatorname{supp}(\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}}\left[V_X|v\rangle\langle v|V_X^{\dagger}\right]) \otimes \mathcal{H}$, we have

$$T_X^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_{T_X})}(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}_E\left[(P_v^{(X)} \otimes \mathbb{1})V_X \cdot V_X^{\dagger}\right] = \operatorname{tr}_E\left[V_X \cdot V_X^{\dagger}\right] = T_X|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_{T_X})}(\cdot).$$

Thus, $T_X^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_{T_X})}$ is trace-preserving, as $T_X|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_{T_X})}$ is. As \mathcal{V} is a subspace of \mathcal{V}_{T_X} , also $T_X^{\downarrow}|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ is trace-preserving. This is what we have claimed. As all assumptions are satisfied, we can invoke Proposition 5.3, which directly yields the desired inequality.

The next result has already been stated in the results section.

Theorem 5.7 (No-go theorem). For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $T_A, T_B : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be two channels with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$. If there exists no subspace $\mathcal{V} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ such that $v \in \mathcal{V}$, at least one of the channels T_A or T_B is isometric on \mathcal{V} and $T_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} \neq T_B|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$, then there exists a constant $C < \infty$, such that

$$(1 - 2P_e(D,\Pi))^2 \le C\sqrt{P_I^{T_A}(D) \cdot P_I^{T_B}(D)} \le C\max(P_I^{T_A}(D), P_I^{T_B}(D)),$$
(5.18)

for all finite-dimensional N-step discrimination strategies D and all two-valued POVMs, Π . Hence, T_A and T_B cannot be discriminated in an "interaction-free" manner.

Remark 5.8. The assumption "The statement that T_A or T_B is isometric on a subspace \mathcal{V} , with $v \in \mathcal{V}$, already implies that $T_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = T_B|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ " can be rephrased in two equivalent ways. The first one is that the Conditions 1, 2, and 3 in the Main Theorem (Sect. 2) cannot be fulfilled simultaneously. The second reformulation is that for the maximum vacuum subspaces \mathcal{V}_{T_A} and \mathcal{V}_{T_B} , we have $\mathcal{V}_{T_A} = \mathcal{V}_{T_B}$ and $T_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_{T_A})} = T_B|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_{T_B})}$. The equivalence follows directly from the characterization of maximal vacuum subspaces in

¹⁵Remember that for a subspace $\mathcal{V}_0 \subseteq \mathcal{H}$, the operators in $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_0)$ are those that can be written in the form $\sum_{i,j} \alpha_{ij} |\psi_i\rangle \langle \psi_i |$, with $\alpha_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\psi_i \in \mathcal{V}_0$.

Lemma 3.10 4. This second reformulation is not only important in the proof, but also if one wants to check this criterion, as \mathcal{V}_{T_A} and \mathcal{V}_{T_B} are efficiently computable directly from Definition 3.9.

Proof. We use the second characterization in Remark 5.8. That is, $\mathcal{V}_{T_A} = \mathcal{V}_{T_B}$ and $T_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_{T_A})} = T_B|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V}_{T_B})}$. We set $\mathcal{V} := \mathcal{V}_{T_A}$ and let T_A^{\downarrow} and T_B^{\downarrow} be as in Definition 3.3. Furthermore, we define $\mathcal{W} := {\mathcal{W}_1}$, with $\mathcal{W}_1 := \mathcal{V}^{\perp}$. Then, by Lemma 5.6, we have

$$(1 - 2P_e(D,\Pi))^2 \le 2C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp} \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}}\right]\right] \cdot \operatorname{tr}\left[P^{\perp} \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}}\right]\right]},$$
(5.19)

where P^{\perp} is the orthogonal projection onto $\mathcal{W}_1 = \mathcal{V}^{\perp}$. As \mathcal{V} is the maximum vacuum subspace of T_A and T_B , Lemma 3.10 5 implies that for $X \in \{A, B\}$, there is a constant $C_{T_X} > 0$ such that $i_{T_X}(\rho) \geq C_{T_X} \operatorname{tr} \left[P^{\perp} \rho\right]$ for all $\rho \geq 0$. As $\operatorname{tr}_Z \left[\rho_i^{T_X^{\perp}}\right] \geq 0$, we get

$$(5.19) \leq \frac{2C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})}}{\sqrt{C_{T_A}C_{T_B}}} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \sqrt{\mathfrak{i}_{T_A}\left(\operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}}\right]\right)} \mathfrak{i}_{T_B}\left(\operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}}\right]\right)} \\ \leq \frac{2C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})}}{\sqrt{C_{T_A}C_{T_B}}} \sqrt{\left(\sum_{i=0}^{N-1}\mathfrak{i}_{T_A}\left(\operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}}\right]\right)\right)} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{N-1}\mathfrak{i}_{T_B}\left(\operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}}\right]\right)\right)} \\ = \frac{2C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})}}{\sqrt{C_{T_A}C_{T_B}}} \sqrt{P_I^{T_A}(D) \cdot P_I^{T_B}(D)},$$

where we used the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality (on \mathbb{C}^N) to obtain the second line and the definition of the "interaction" probability in the last line. We note that the last inequality in the statement of the theorem is trivial. Thus, by setting $C := \frac{2C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\perp},T_B^{\perp})}}{\sqrt{C_{T_A}C_{T_B}}}$, we have proven the claim.

The following theorem is the technical version of the result stated in the results section.

Theorem 5.9 (Rate limit theorem). For dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, let $T_A, T_B : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \rightarrow \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be two channels with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}$. Let \mathcal{V}_{T_A} and \mathcal{V}_{T_B} be the respective maximal vacuum subspace of T_A and T_B . Set $\mathcal{V} := \mathcal{V}_{T_A} \cap \mathcal{V}_{T_B}$. Suppose that $T_A|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})} = T_B|_{\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{V})}$ and that $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{V}_{T_A}$ and $\mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{V}_{T_B}$ are orthogonal. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\max(P_I^{T_A}(D), P_I^{T_B}(D)) \ge C \, \frac{(1 - 2P_e(D, \Pi))^4}{N}, \tag{5.20}$$

for all finite-dimensional N-step discrimination strategies D, and any two-valued POVM Π .

Proof. The proof is similar to the one of the no-go theorem. Let T_A^{\downarrow} and T_B^{\downarrow} be as in Definition 3.3 and set $\mathcal{V} := \mathcal{V}_{T_A} \cap \mathcal{V}_{T_B}$. Furthermore, define $\mathcal{W} := \{\mathcal{W}_1, \mathcal{W}_2, \mathcal{W}_3\}$ with $\mathcal{W}_1 := \mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{V}_{T_A}, \mathcal{W}_2 := \mathcal{V}^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{V}_{T_B}$ and $\mathcal{W}_3 := (\mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_2)^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{V}^{\perp}$. Clearly, $\mathcal{W}_1, \mathcal{W}_2$, and \mathcal{W}_3 are mutually orthogonal and their direct sum is \mathcal{V}^{\perp} . Furthermore, $\mathcal{W}_2 \oplus \mathcal{W}_3 = \mathcal{V}_{T_A}^{\perp}$ and $\mathcal{W}_1 \oplus \mathcal{W}_3 = \mathcal{V}_{T_B}^{\perp}$. Thus, by Lemma 5.6, we have

$$(1 - 2P_e(D,\Pi))^2 \le 2C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \sum_{k=1}^3 \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}}\right]\right]} \cdot \operatorname{tr}\left[P_k \operatorname{tr}_Z\left[\rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}}\right]\right],$$
(5.21)

where for $k \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, P_k is the orthogonal projection onto \mathcal{W}_k . Using the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality (on \mathbb{C}^3), and the fact that probabilities are less than one, and afterwards the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality on \mathbb{C}^N , we get

$$(5.21) \leq \sqrt{12} C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \sqrt{\operatorname{tr}\left[(P_2 + P_3) \operatorname{tr}_Z \left[\rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}} \right] \right]} + \operatorname{tr}\left[(P_1 + P_3) \operatorname{tr}_Z \left[\rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}} \right] \right]}$$
$$\leq \sqrt{12N} C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})} \sqrt{\sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \operatorname{tr}\left[P_{\mathcal{V}_{T_A}}^{\perp} \operatorname{tr}_Z \left[\rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}} \right] \right]} + \operatorname{tr}\left[P_{\mathcal{V}_{T_B}}^{\perp} \operatorname{tr}_Z \left[\rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}} \right] \right]},$$
$$(5.22)$$

where $P_{\mathcal{V}_{T_A}}^{\perp}$ and $P_{\mathcal{V}_{T_B}}^{\perp}$ are the projections onto $\mathcal{V}_{T_A}^{\perp}$ and $\mathcal{V}_{T_B}^{\perp}$. Lemma 3.10, 5 implies that for $X \in \{A, B\}$, there is a constant $C_{T_X} > 0$ such that $\mathfrak{i}_{T_X}(\rho) \geq C_{T_X} \operatorname{tr} \left[P_{\mathcal{V}_{T_X}}^{\perp} \rho \right]$ for all $\rho \geq 0$. As $\operatorname{tr}_Z \left[\rho_i^{T_X^{\perp}} \right] \geq 0$, we get

$$(5.22) \leq \sqrt{12N} C_{\mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})} \sqrt{C_{T_A}^{-1} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \mathfrak{i}_{T_A} \left(\operatorname{tr}_Z \left[\rho_i^{T_A^{\downarrow}} \right] \right) + C_{T_B}^{-1} \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \mathfrak{i}_{T_B} \left(\operatorname{tr}_Z \left[\rho_i^{T_B^{\downarrow}} \right] \right)}$$
$$\leq C_{\mathcal{V}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow},T_B^{\downarrow})} \sqrt{\frac{24}{\min(C_{T_A},C_{T_B})}} \sqrt{N \max(P_I^{T_A}(D), P_I^{T_B}(D))}.$$

Taking the square and defining $C := \frac{\min(C_{T_A}, C_{T_B})}{24C_{\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}}^{(T_A^{\downarrow}, T_B^{\downarrow})^2}}$ proves the claim. \Box

6. Related Work

In this section we compare our setup and results to selected other works in the literature.¹⁶ We start with a detailed comparison with the work on counterfactual computation (CFC) by Mitchison and Josza [7]. CFC aims to determine the outcome of a quantum computation without switching on the computer. Expressed in a language closer to ours, CFC aims to discriminate (counterfactually, the term analogous to "interaction-free") between two unitaries U_0 and

 $^{^{16}}$ Although we tried to make the discussion as self-contained as possible, this section is intended for the reader who is at last partially familiar with the referenced works.

 U_1 defined on a bipartite system $\mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S$ (where "O" stands for output and "S" for switch).

Before defining what counterfactual means, we need to discuss the allowed discrimination strategies. Here, it is allowed to use the unknown unitary many times while performing unitary operations and measurements in between. It is also allowed to add an ancillary system \mathcal{H}_Z of arbitrary size and to let the unitary operations act on the space $\mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z$. This implies that measurements can be deferred until the unknown unitary was applied for the last time. Thus, if the unknown unitary $U_r, r \in \{0,1\}$ is used N times, the initial state is $\psi_I \in \mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z$ and the intermediary unitaries are $V_1, V_2, \ldots, V_{N-1} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z)$, then the (*r*-dependent) state before the final measurement is

$$\psi_F^r = (U_r \otimes \mathbb{1}_Z) V_{N-1} (U_r \otimes \mathbb{1}_Z) V_{N-2} \cdots (U_r \otimes \mathbb{1}_Z) V_1 (U_r \otimes \mathbb{1}_Z) \psi_I.$$
(6.1)

In preparation for defining the term counterfactual, one assumes that for each $r \in \{0,1\}$ we can split the switch space into two orthogonal spaces $\mathcal{H}_S =$ $\mathcal{H}_{S}^{r,\mathrm{off}} \oplus \mathcal{H}_{S}^{r,\mathrm{on}}$, called the off and on subspaces, respectively. The interpretation here is that if we apply U_r to a state in $\mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S^{r, \text{off}}$, then the computer does not run. Consistent with this interpretation, it is also assumed that

$$U_r \psi = \psi$$
, for all $\psi \in \mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S^{r, \text{off}}$. (6.2)

One then introduces a decomposition into so-called histories. To this end, one imagines that after each application of U_r a measurement was performed, projecting either onto $\mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S^{r, \text{off}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z$ or onto $\mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S^{r, \text{on}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_Z$. We denote the corresponding projections by P_{off}^r and P_{on}^r . On can then decompose ψ_F^r as:

$$\psi_F^r = \sum_{h \in \{\text{on,off}\}^N} v_h^r, \text{ with}$$

$$v_h^r = P_{h_N}^r (U_r \otimes \mathbb{1}_Z) V_{N-1} \cdots P_{h_2}^r (U_r \otimes \mathbb{1}_Z) V_1 P_{h_1}^r (U_r \otimes \mathbb{1}_Z) \psi_I.$$
(6.3)

Each of the on/off sequences h in (6.3) is called a history.

Suppose we perform a projective measurement on the final state with possible outcomes $m \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$ and associated projections $\{Q_1, Q_2, ..., Q_M\}$. Mitchison and Josza (Definition 5.1 in [7]) then define an outcome m to be a counterfactual outcome of type $r \in \{0, 1\}$, if

- 1. $Q_m v_h^r = 0$, if h is not the all-off history, 2. $Q_m \psi_F^{1-r} = 0$.

The first condition says that the only history consistent with the outcome mmust be the all-off history and the second condition demands that the outcome m can only occur if the unknown unitary is U_r (and not U_{1-r}).

Now, how does CFC relate to "interaction-free" channel discrimination? First, one can interpret "interaction-free" channel discrimination in terms of CFC after some modifications, as follows. Consider a channel T with vacuum $v \in \mathcal{H}_I$, given by $T(\cdot) = \operatorname{tr}_E [V \cdot V^{\dagger}]$. In Sect. 3.1, we determined that the Demon's optimal strategy is to perform a two-outcome measurement on E(with corresponding projections P_v and P_v^{\perp}). After extending V to a unitary

U, we can interpret the whole space $\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_I$ as the switch space \mathcal{H}_S and set $\mathcal{H}_O := \mathbb{C}$. A natural way to introduce the splitting of \mathcal{H}_S into on and off subspace is then to define $\mathcal{H}_S^{\text{off}} = \operatorname{range}(P_v) \otimes \mathcal{H}_I$ and $\mathcal{H}_S^{on} = \operatorname{range}(P_v^{\perp}) \otimes$ \mathcal{H}_I . Note, however, that this definition does not satisfy (6.2).¹⁷ A violation of assumption (6.2) does not prevent us from defining histories, nor does it interfere with the definition of a counterfactual outcome as above. So, one might consider broadening the definition of CFC by dropping it. However, upon close investigation one finds that (the proofs of) all theorems in [7] rely crucially on that assumption. In any case, even after dropping that assumption, the definition of a counterfactual outcome above is still too restrictive to fully cover "interaction-free" channel discrimination, since we do not require that the "interaction" probability or the error probability are exactly zero (as demanded by CFC) but rather that they can be made arbitrarily small. This requires a probabilistic modification of the definition of a counterfactual outcome, such as the one suggested in the discussion section in [7]. We therefore conclude that "interaction-free" channel discrimination is consistent with a sufficiently broadened definition of CFC. Unfortunately, however, we do not think that this point of view has any important direct implications for the feasibility of the "interaction-free" channel discrimination task. The main reasons for this belief are that even after reformulation into the language of CFC, the allowed discrimination strategies differ considerably and that the only result in [7] that goes beyond the qubit case is that the number of insertions of U_r must tend to infinity for an optimal success probability.¹⁸

What about implications of our results for CFC? We believe that a conceptual weakness of CFC is that there are (in general) no observable consequences—in the sense that (the surroundings of) the apparatus changes—regardless of whether a computation was performed counterfactually or not. This is so because the imagined measurements after each application of the unknown unitary are not actually performed. We think that the question about a change of (the surroundings of) the apparatus is the relevant one for technical applications, which is our main focus. If one demands that the imaginary measurements are actually performed, then CFC becomes a special case of "interaction-free" channel discrimination by assigning to the unitary $U_r \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S)$ the channel $T_r : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S)$ given by

$$T_r(\rho) = (\mathbb{1}_O \otimes P_S^{r,\text{off}}) U \rho U^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1}_O \otimes P_S^{r,\text{off}}) + (\mathbb{1}_O \otimes P_S^{r,\text{on}}) U \rho U^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1}_O \otimes P_S^{r,\text{on}}),$$
(6.4)

for all $\rho \in \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S)$, where $P_S^{r,\text{off}}$ and $P_S^{r,\text{on}}$ are the projections according to the splitting of \mathcal{H}_S into on and off subspace. It follows from (6.2) that T_r

¹⁷For example, if U is defined on $\mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$ by $U|00\rangle = |00\rangle, U|01\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|01\rangle + \langle 10|), U|10\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|10\rangle - |01\rangle), U|11\rangle = |11\rangle$ and $|0\rangle$ is the vacuum, then $P_v = |0\rangle\langle 0|$. However, the corresponding off subspace $\mathcal{H}_S^{\text{off}} = \text{span}\{|00\rangle, |01\rangle\}$ is not even left invariant by U.

 $^{^{18}}$ Note that this conclusion does not apply to all cases of our setting, since the number of applications for a perfect discrimination of two unitaries is finite.

is a channel with vacuum, where the vacuum can be taken to be any vector in $\mathcal{H}_O \otimes \mathcal{H}_S^{r, \text{off}}$. Hence, our results apply to this setting.

From our technological point of view, some interpretational discussions in the literature can be avoided. For example, in [37], Hosten et. al claimed that they could discriminate counterfactually between four unitaries associated with the result of a Grover search. We agree with [38,39] that the proposal in [37] does not constitute a CFC for all possible outcomes in the sense of [7]. However, from the point of view of our model, this is a rather artificial debate. Since a unitarily evolving system does not interact with its surroundings (the Demon), there is no way to tell whether a computation has been performed or not by looking at the surroundings. In that sense, the task in [37] was (as every other discrimination task involving only unitary operations) performed in an "interaction-free" manner.

A work with a title similar to ours is "Interaction-free measurement as quantum channel discrimination" by Zhou and Yung [32]. The objective of their work was to determine if the Kwiat et. al protocol for detecting a semitransparent object can be enhanced by using an entangled initial state. The study was conducted by employing tools from quantum channel theory, but no attempts were made to generalize the notion of "interaction-free" measurements. Generalizing this notion, however, is the main focus of the present work.

7. Conclusion and Open Problems

In our work, we have characterized when it is possible and impossible to discriminate quantum channels in an "interaction-free" manner. This answers the question, what can be done perfectly with "interaction-free" measurements. However, there are still some open questions. One question that is in direct succession of our work is, under which conditions two channels can be discriminated such that the "interaction" probability decays faster than N^{-1} . Another question would ask for a more quantitative treatment, i.e., even though one might not be able to discriminate two channels in an "interaction-free" manner, there still might be a significant quantum advantage over classical strategies. A related question suggested to us by an anonymous reviewer is what kind of information about the discriminator's strategy the Demon can obtain. In this context, we showed that the Demon cannot distinguish (under our conditions) between a strategy that always sends the vacuum through the channels and our proposed one. However, the more general question remains open. A big question concerns the influence of noise and decoherence. We note that noise may influence what can or cannot be done in both directions, since the noise can also be on the Demon's side and hence make his detection skills weaker. Before the no-go results for semitransparent objects were established [11,12], one anticipated application of "interaction-free" measurement was to eliminate the exposure of humans to radiation in medical applications such as X-ray scans. This is not possible. However, our no-go theorem does not touch

the case of asymmetric "interaction-free" discrimination. That is, we may allow that one of the two objects to be discriminated gets destroyed (for example, by simply setting its transmission functional to zero). This might even be a desirable effect. For example, in a medical context, we would love to design a procedure such that a tumor gets destroyed, while the healthy tissue stays intact.

Acknowledgements

M.H. was supported by the Bavarian excellence network ENB via the International PhD Programme of Excellence *Exploring Quantum Matter* (EXQM). M.M.W. acknowledges funding by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) under Germany's Excellence Strategy EXC-2111 390814868.

Funding Information Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

Open Access. This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Appendix A.

Lemma A.1 (Semi-simplicity of the peripheral spectrum). Let $T : \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ be a channel such that 1 is in the discrete spectrum of T. Then, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and any (rectifiable) path inside the resolvent set of T that encloses 1, and separates 1 from $\sigma(T) \setminus \{1\}$, we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\Gamma_1} \frac{z^n}{z - T} \,\mathrm{d}z = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\Gamma_1} \frac{1}{z - T} \,\mathrm{d}z. \tag{A.1}$$

Proof. For brevity, we denote the Riesz-Projection on the RHS of (A.1) by P. As 1 is in the discrete spectrum of T, Corollary 2.3.6 in [29] says that $TP = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\Gamma_1} \frac{z}{z-T} dz = P + N$, where N is a nilpotent operator that commutes

with P. Hence $T = P + N + T_0$, where $T_0 := (id - P)T(id - P)$. By the analytic functional calculus, we have

$$(P+N)^n = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\Gamma_1} \frac{z}{z-T} \,\mathrm{d}z\right)^n = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\Gamma_1} \frac{z^n}{z-T} \,\mathrm{d}z$$

If N = 0, then the claim follows, since P is a projection $(P^n = P)$. To this end, assume that $N \neq 0$. Since N is nilpotent, there exists an integer D such that $N^D \neq 0$ and $N^{D+1} = 0$. As $N \neq 0$, we have $D \ge 1$. Choose $\rho \in \mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ such that $N^D(\rho) \neq 0$ and $P(\rho) = \rho$. Note that $PT_0 = T_0P = 0$. Thus, $T^n(\rho) = (P + N)^n(\rho) + T_0^n(\rho) = (P + N)^n(\rho)$. In particular, since T is a channel, $||T^n|| = 1$ and thus

$$||(P+N)^n(\rho)|| \le ||\rho||.$$
 (A.2)

For $n \geq D$, we have

$$(P+N)^n(\rho) = \sum_{i=0}^D \binom{n}{i} N^i(\rho).$$

Furthermore, the vectors $\rho, N(\rho), N^2(\rho), \dots N^D(\rho)$ are linearly independent. The coordinate function of $N(\rho)$ is $\binom{n}{1}$, which is unbounded for $n \to \infty$. Since the coordinate function can be extended to a continuous linear functional on $\mathcal{B}_1(\mathcal{H})$ (Hahn–Banach), the unboundedness contradicts (A.2). Hence, N = 0.

References

- Elitzur, A.C., Vaidman, L.: Quantum mechanical interaction-free measurements. Found. Phys. 23, 987–997 (1993)
- [2] Kwiat, P., Weinfurter, H., Herzog, T., Zeilinger, A., Kasevich, M.A.: Interactionfree measurement. Phys. Rev. Lett. 74, 4763–4766 (1995)
- [3] Misra, B., Sudarshan, E.C.G.: The zeno's paradox in quantum theory. J. Math. Phys. 18(4), 756–763 (1977)
- [4] White, A.G., Mitchell, J.R., Nairz, O., Kwiat, P.G.: "Interaction-free" imaging. Phys. Rev. A 58, 605–613 (1998)
- [5] Putnam, W.P., Yanik, M.F.: Noninvasive electron microscopy with interactionfree quantum measurements. Phys. Rev. A 80, 040902 (2009)
- [6] Jozsa, R.: Quantum effects in algorithms. In: Williams, C.P. (ed.) Quantum Computing and Quantum Communications, pp. 103–112. Springer, Berlin (1999)
- [7] Mitchison, G., Jozsa, R.: Counterfactual computation. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 457(2009), 1175–1193 (2001)
- [8] Salih, H., Li, Z.-H., Al-Amri, M., Zubairy, M.S.: Protocol for direct counterfactual quantum communication. Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 170502 (2013)
- [9] Noh, T.-G.: Counterfactual quantum cryptography. Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 230501 (2009)

- [10] Lin, C.Y.-Y., Lin, H.-H.: Upper bounds on quantum query complexity inspired by the Elitzur–Vaidman bomb tester. In: Zuckerman, D. (ed.) 30th Conference on Computational Complexity (CCC 2015), Vol. 33 of Leibniz International Proceedings in Informatics (LIPIcs), (Dagstuhl, Germany), pp. 537–566. Schloss Dagstuhl–Leibniz-Zentrum fuer Informatik (2015)
- [11] Mitchison, G., Massar, S.: Absorption-free discrimination between semitransparent objects. Phys. Rev. A 63, 032105 (2001)
- [12] Massar, S., Mitchison, G., Pironio, S.: Minimal absorption measurements. Phys. Rev. A 64, 062303 (2001)
- [13] Möbus, T., Wolf, M.M.: Quantum zeno effect generalized. J. Math. Phys. 60(5), 052201 (2019)
- [14] Burgarth, D., Facchi, P., Nakazato, H., Pascazio, S., Yuasa, K.: Generalized adiabatic theorem and strong-coupling limits. Quantum 3, 152 (2019)
- [15] Burgarth, D., Facchi, P., Nakazato, H., Pascazio, S., Yuasa, K.: Quantum zeno dynamics from general quantum operations. Quantum 4, 289 (2020)
- [16] Barankai, N., Zimborás, Z.: Generalized quantum zeno dynamics and ergodic means (2018). arXiv:1811.02509
- [17] Chiribella, G., D'Ariano, G.M., Perinotti, P.: Theoretical framework for quantum networks. Phys. Rev. A 80, 022339 (2009)
- [18] Spekkens, R.W.: Evidence for the epistemic view of quantum states: a toy theory. Phys. Rev. A 75, 032110 (2007)
- [19] Spekkens, R.W., Elliot, M., Leife, M.: Reassessing claims of nonclassicality for quantum interference phenomena. PIRSA:16060102 see, https://pirsa.org (2016)
- [20] King, C., Matsumoto, K., Nathanson, M., Ruskai, M.B.: Properties of conjugate channels with applications to additivity and multiplicativity Markov Process. Relat. Fields 13(2), 391–423 (2007)
- [21] Knill, E., Laflamme, R., Viola, L.: Theory of quantum error correction for general noise. Phys. Rev. Lett. 84, 2525–2528 (2000)
- [22] Acín, A.: Statistical distinguishability between unitary operations. Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, 177901 (2001)
- [23] Beckman, D., Gottesman, D., Nielsen, M.A., Preskill, J.: Causal and localizable quantum operations. Phys. Rev. A 64, 052309 (2001)
- [24] Eggeling, T., Schlingemann, D., Werner, R.F.: Semicausal operations are semilocalizable. Europhys. Lett. (EPL) 57, 782–788 (2002)
- [25] Nielsen, M.A., Chuang, I.L.: Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2000)
- [26] Abramovich, Y., Aliprantis, C.: Problems in Operator Theory. No. v. 2 in Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2002)
- [27] Borthwick, D.: Spectral Theory: Basic Concepts and Applications. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin (2020)
- [28] Kato, T.: Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators, 2nd edn. Grundlehren Math. Wiss. Springer, Berlin (1976)
- [29] Simon, B.: Operator Theory. American Mathematical Society, Providence (2015)
- [30] Burgarth, D., Giovannetti, V.: The generalized Lyapunov theorem and its application to quantum channels. New J. Phys. 9, 150 (2007)

- [31] Azuma, H.: Interaction-free measurement with an imperfect absorber. Phys. Rev. A 74, 054301 (2006)
- [32] Zhou, Y., Yung, M.-H.: Interaction-free measurement as quantum channel discrimination. Phys. Rev. A 96, 062129 (2017)
- [33] Chiribella, G., D'Ariano, G.M., Perinotti, P.: Transforming quantum operations: quantum supermaps. EPL (Europhys. Lett.) 83, 30004 (2008)
- [34] Dankert, C., Cleve, R., Emerson, J., Livine, E.: Exact and approximate unitary 2-designs and their application to fidelity estimation. Phys. Rev. A 80, 012304 (2009)
- [35] Sternberg, S.: Group Theory and Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1995)
- [36] Vollbrecht, K.G.H., Werner, R.F.: Entanglement measures under symmetry. Phys. Rev. A 64, 062307 (2001)
- [37] Hosten, O., Rakher, M., Barreiro, J., Peters, N., Kwiat, P.: Counterfactual quantum computation through quantum interrogation. Nature 439, 949–52 (2006)
- [38] Vaidman, L.: Impossibility of the counterfactual computation for all possible outcomes. Phys. Rev. Lett. 98(16), 160403 (2007)
- [39] Mitchison, G., Jozsa, R.: The limits of counterfactual computation. arXiv:quant-ph/0606092 (2007)

Markus Hasenöhrl and Michael M. Wolf Department of Mathematics Technical University of Munich Garching Germany e-mail: m.hasenoehrl@tum.de; m.wolf@tum.de

and

Munich Center for Quantum Science and Technology (MCQST) Munich Germany

and

Zentrum Mathematik Garching Forschungszentrum Boltzmannstr. 3 85748 Garching bei München Germany

Communicated by Matthias Christandl. Received: January 25, 2021. Accepted: March 10, 2022.

A.2 Quantum and classical dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal channels

In this work, we investigate dynamical semigroups of superchannels and the related semicausal CP-maps in the quantum as well as in the classical setting. Superchannels are the most general transformation, transforming quantum channels into quantum channels, while preserving the probabilistic structure, in the same vein as quantum channels are the most general transformation of quantum states.

In the introduction, we motivate the use of dynamical semigroups as a model for the decayprocesses that physical devices are subject to while they "age".

The main part is then concerned with the mathematical description of dynamical semigroups of superchannels in terms of their generators. That part of the paper is divided into two parts: One covering dynamical semigroups of classical superchannels and classical semicausal maps, and a part covering dynamical semigroups of quantum superchannels. Although the main focus is on the quantum part, the classical part is important, because its treatment allows us to tell which features we found in the quantum case have a classical counterpart and which features are purely quantum. We found indeed that in the quantum case the most general form for generators of normal CP-maps admit a superposition structure that does not have a classical counterpart.

Both the classical and the quantum sections are subdivided into three parts, where part one introduces the relevant notions of superchannels and semicausal maps (and in the classical case establishes the fundamental representation theorems - analogous to those of the quantum case [14, 16]; part two studies dynamical semigroups of semicausal maps. We provide a full characterization of the generators of dynamical semigroups of semicausal maps. The characterization has two pillars: first a computationally efficient method that allows one to tell if a given generator generates a semigroup of semicausal CP-maps; and second a normal form - which in the quantum case is a refinement of the famous GKLS-form - that allows us to list all possible generators of semicausal CP-maps. This is accomplished by using a certain symmetrisation procedure that allows us to transfer parts of the known characterization of semicausal CP-maps (known under the name semilocalizability [15, 16]) to the corresponding generator. Moreover, we provide an algorithm that allows us to compute the various components of our normal form. In part three of the classical and the quantum part, we use that semicausal CP-maps and superchannels are related via a similarity transformation, where the transformation matrix is the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism. This allows us to obtain a full characterization of the generators of dynamical semigroups of superchannels by translating the corresponding results from the generators of dynamical semigroups of semicausal CP-maps.

The study of dynamical semigroups of superchannels was suggested independently to both authors by Prof. Michael M. Wolf. It was subsequently decided to join forces to work on the problem together. I am the principal author of this paper. In particular, I came up with the idea for how to reduce the problem of characterizing semicausal maps in GKSL-form to characterizing semicausal CP-map – an insight ultimately leading to our main technical contribution, Theorem V.6. The formulation of the resulting proof, as structured by Lemmas V.9, V.10, V.11, V.12

A.2. QUANTUM AND CLASSICAL DYNAMICAL SEMIGROUPS OF SUPERCHANNELS AND SEMICAUSAL CHANNELS Chapter 1

and V.13 was also my responsibility. In the quantum part section, I also contributed Lemma V.17 and Theorem V.18 and the translation Lemmas V.20 and V.21. In the classical part of the paper, I developed the details of the prove strategy for Theorems IV.4 and IV.10 and I was heavily involved in Theorem IV.3. I was involved in all parts of the paper and did the majority of the writing.

A.2. QUANTUM AND CLASSICAL DYNAMICAL SEMIGROUPS OF SUPERCHANNELS Chapter 1 AND SEMICAUSAL CHANNELS

Permission to include:

Reproduced from

Markus Hasenöhrl and Matthias C. Caro,

"Quantum and classical dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal channels", J. Math. Phys. 63, 072204 (2022) https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0070635,

with the permission of AIP Publishing.

AIP Publishing LLC

Your Window to Possible

Permission to Reuse Content

REUSING AIP PUBLISHING CONTENT

Permission from AIP Publishing is required to:

- republish content (e.g., excerpts, figures, tables) if you are not the author
- modify, adapt, or redraw materials for another publication
- systematically reproduce content
- store or distribute content electronically
- copy content for promotional purposes

To request permission to reuse AIP Publishing content, use RightsLink® for the fastest response or contact AIP Publishing directly at <u>rights@aip.org (mailto:rights@aip.org)</u> and we will respond within one week:

For RightsLink, use Scitation to access the article you wish to license, and click on the Reprints and Permissions link under the TOOLS tab. (For assistance click the "Help" button in the top right corner of the RightsLink page.)

To send a permission request to <u>rights@aip.org (mailto:rights@aip.org)</u>, please include the following:

- Citation information for the article containing the material you wish to reuse
- A description of the material you wish to reuse, including figure and/or table numbers
- The title, authors, name of the publisher, and expected publication date of the new work
- The format(s) the new work will appear in (e.g., print, electronic, CD-ROM)
- How the new work will be distributed and whether it will be offered for sale

Authors do **not** need permission from AIP Publishing to:

- quote from a publication (please include the material in quotation marks and provide the customary acknowledgment of the source)
- reuse any materials that are licensed under a Creative Commons CC BY license (please format your credit line: "Author names, Journal Titles, Vol.#, Article ID#, Year of Publication; licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license.")
- reuse your own AIP Publishing article in your thesis or dissertation (please format your credit line: "Reproduced from [FULL CITATION], with the permission of AIP Publishing")

reuse content that appears in an AIP Publishing journal for republication in another AIP Publishing journal (please format your credit line: "Reproduced from [FULL CITATION], with the permission of AIP Publishing")

```
permission of All Tubushing J
```

 make multiple copies of articles–although you must contact the Copyright Clearance Center (CCC) at <u>www.copyright.com (http://www.copyright.com/)</u> to do this

REUSING CONTENT PUBLISHED BY OTHERS

To request another publisher's permission to reuse material in AIP Publishing articles, please use our Reuse of Previously Published Material form. (We require documented permission for all reused content.)

Reuse of Previously Published Material Form (pdf (https://publishing.aip.org/wpcontent/uploads/AIP_Permission_Form-1.pdf))

Unless the publisher requires a specific credit line, please format yours like this:

Reproduced with permission from J. Org. Chem. 63, 99 (1998). Copyright 1998, American Chemical Society.

You do not need permission to reuse material in the public domain, but you should still include an appropriate credit line which cites the original source.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2022 AIP Publishing LLC ~|~ Site created by Windmill Strategy

Quantum and classical dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal channels

Cite as: J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0070635 Submitted: 08 September 2021 • Accepted: 23 June 2022 • Published Online: 19 July 2022

🔟 Markus Hasenöhrl and 🔟 Matthias C. Caro





ARTICLES YOU MAY BE INTERESTED IN

Various variational approximations of quantum dynamics Journal of Mathematical Physics **63**, 072107 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0088265

Contextuality and the fundamental theorems of quantum mechanics Journal of Mathematical Physics 63, 072103 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0012855

The analysis of inhomogeneous Yang-Mills connections on closed Riemannian manifold Journal of Mathematical Physics **63**, 071509 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0088833



J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0070635 © 2022 Author(s). **63**, 072204

Quantum and classical dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal channels

Cite as: J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 Submitted: 8 September 2021 • Accepted: 23 June 2022 • Published Online: 19 July 2022 View Online Export Citation CrossMa

Markus Hasenöhrl^{a)} 🔟 and Matthias C. Caro^{b)} 🔟

AFFILIATIONS

Department of Mathematics, Technical University of Munich, Garching, Germany and Munich Center for Quantum Science and Technology (MCQST), Munich, Germany

^{a)}Author to whom correspondence should be addressed: m.hasenoehrl@tum.de ^{b)}caro@ma.tum.de

ABSTRACT

Quantum devices are subject to natural decay. We propose to study these decay processes as the Markovian evolution of quantum channels, which leads us to dynamical semigroups of superchannels. A superchannel is a linear map that maps quantum channels to quantum channels while satisfying suitable consistency relations. If the input and output quantum channels act on the same space, then we can consider dynamical semigroups of superchannels. No useful constructive characterization of the generators of such semigroups is known. We characterize these generators in two ways: First, we give an efficiently checkable criterion for whether a given map generates a dynamical semigroup of superchannels. Second, we identify a normal form for the generators of semigroups of quantum superchannels, analogous to the Gorini-Kossakowski-Lindblad-Sudarshan form in the case of quantum channels. To derive the normal form, we exploit the relation between superchannels and semicausal completely positive maps, reducing the problem to finding a normal form for the generators of semigroups of semigroups of semicausal completely positive maps. We derive a normal for these generators using a novel technique, which applies also to infinite-dimensional systems. Our work paves the way for a thorough investigation of semigroups of superchannels: Numerical studies become feasible because admissible generators can now be explicitly generated and checked. Analytic properties of the corresponding evolution equations are now accessible via our normal form.

© 2022 Author(s). All article content, except where otherwise noted, is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0070635

I. INTRODUCTION AND MOTIVATION

Anybody who has ever owned an electronic device knows that these devices have a finite lifespan after which they stop working properly. At least from a consumer perspective, a long lifespan is a desirable property for such devices. Thus, it is important for an engineer to know which kind of decay processes can affect a device in order to suppress them by an appropriate design. Certainly, these considerations will also become important for the design of quantum devices. We, therefore, propose to systematically study the decay processes that quantum devices can be subject to.

In this work, we take a first step in this direction by deriving the general form of linear time-homogeneous master equations that govern how quantum channels behave when inserted into a circuit board at different points in time. This leads to the study of dynamical semigroups of superchannels. Here, superchannels are linear transformations between quantum channels.¹

Let us consider a concrete example (see Fig. 1). Suppose we are trying to estimate the optical transmissivity of some material (M), which we assume to depend on the polarization of the incident light. A simple approach is to send photons from a light source (S) through the material and to count how many photons arrive at the detector (D). We model the material by a quantum channel T_M , acting on the states of photons described as three-level systems, with the levels corresponding to vacuum, horizontal, and vertical polarization. In an idealized world, with a perfect vacuum in the regions between the source, the material, and the detector, we can infer the transmissivity from the measurement statistics of the state $T_M(\sigma)$, where σ is the state of the photon emitted from the source. However, in a more realistic scenario, even though we might have created an (almost) perfect vacuum between the devices at construction time, some particles are leaked into that region over time.



FIG. 1. Estimating the transmissivity of a material under the influence of an influx of particles into the regions between the components.

FIG. 2. If the particle density is low, then the incident photon interacts with the particles in the region sequentially and independently. The effect of a single interaction can be described by a channel ΔQ . Hence, the state after the first interaction is $\Delta Q(\sigma)$, the state after the second interaction is $\Delta Q(\sigma)$, and so forth. The number of interactions is given by the product of the particle density δ and the volume *V*. Hence, the effect of an region with fixed volume is described by the channel $Q_{\delta} = (\Delta Q)^{\delta V}$. It follows that if $\delta = \delta_1 + \delta_2$, then $Q_{\delta_1 + \delta_2} = (\Delta Q)^{\delta_1 V} (\Delta Q)^{\delta_2 V} = Q_{\delta_1} \circ Q_{\delta_2}$. The semigroup property for real δ can then be obtained in the continuum limit.

Then, interactions between the photons and these particles might occur, causing absorption or a change in polarization. Hence, the situation is no longer described accurately by T_M alone but also requires a description of the particle-filled regions.

To find such a description, we argue that the effect of particles in some region (here, either between *S* and *M*, or *M* and *D*) can be modeled by a quantum dynamical semigroup, parameterized by the particle density δ . If the particle density is reasonably low and Q_{δ} is the quantum channel describing the effect of the particles on the incident light at a given δ , then, as explained in Fig. 2, Q_{δ} satisfies the semigroup property $Q_{\delta_1+\delta_2} = Q_{\delta_1} \circ Q_{\delta_2}$. Furthermore, if there are no particles, then there should be no effect. Hence, $Q_0 = id$. After adding continuity in the parameter δ as a further natural assumption, the family $\{Q_{\delta}\}_{\delta\geq 0}$ forms a quantum dynamical semigroup. That is, we can write $Q_{\delta} = e^{L\delta}$ for some generator *L* in Gorini-Kossakowski-Lindblad-Sudarshan (GKLS)-form.

If we assume in our example that particles of type *A* are leaked into the region between *S* and *M* at a rate y_A and that particles of type *B* are leaked into the region between *M* and *D* at a rate y_B , then the overall channel describing the transformation that emitted photons undergo at time *t* is given by

$$\hat{S}_t(T_M) = e^{\gamma_B L_B t} \circ T_M \circ e^{\gamma_A L_A t},$$

where L_A and L_B are the generators of the dynamical semigroups describing the effect of the particles in the respective regions.

We note that at any fixed time, \hat{S}_t interpreted as a map on quantum channels is a superchannel written in "circuit"-form. This means that \hat{S}_t describes a transformation of quantum channels implemented via pre- and post-processing. Furthermore, $\hat{S}_t(T_M)$ can be determined by solving the time-homogenous master equation

$$\frac{d}{dt}T(t)=\hat{L}(T(t)),$$

where $\hat{L}(T) = \gamma_A L_A \circ T + \gamma_B T \circ L_B$, with the initial condition $T(0) = T_M$. In other words, we have

$$\hat{S}_t = e^{\hat{L}t},$$

and thus, the family $\{\hat{S}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ forms a dynamical semigroup of superchannels.

By inductive reasoning, we, thus, arrive at our central physical hypothesis: Decay-processes of quantum devices with some sort of influx are well described by dynamical semigroups of superchannels. It follows that such decay-processes can be understood by characterizing dynamical semigroups of superchannels. Such a characterization is the main goal of our work.

In particular, we aim to understand dynamical semigroups of superchannels in terms of their generators. We characterize these generators fully by providing two results: First, we give an efficiently checkable criterion for whether a given map generates a dynamical semigroup of superchannels. Second, we identify a normal form for the generators of semigroups of quantum superchannels, analogous to the GKLS form in the case of quantum channels. Interestingly, we find that the most general form of dynamical semigroups of superchannels goes beyond the simple introductory example above.

We arrive at these results through a path (see Fig. 3) that also illuminates the connection to the classical case. We start by studying dynamical semigroups of classical superchannels, which (analogously to quantum superchannels being transformations between quantum channels)



FIG. 3. Schematic of the concepts studied in this work.

are transformations between stochastic matrices. We do so by establishing a one-to-one correspondence between classical superchannels and certain classical semicausal channels, that is, stochastic matrices on a bipartite system (AB) that do not allow for communication from B to A(see Definition IV.2). We can then obtain a full characterization of the generators of semigroups of classical superchannels by characterizing generators of semigroups of classical semicausal maps first and then translating the results back to the level of superchannels. The study of (dynamical semigroups of) classical superchannels and classical semicausal channels is the content of Sec. IV.

Armed with the intuition obtained from the classical case, we then go on to study the quantum case. We start by characterizing the generators of semigroups of semicausal² completely positive maps (CP-maps)—our main technical result and one of independent interest. This characterization can be obtained from the classical case by a "quantization"-procedure that allows us to see exactly which features of semigroups of semicausal CP-maps are "fully quantum." Dynamical semigroups of semicausal CP-maps are discussed Sec. V B. Finally, in Sec. V C, we use the one-to-one correspondence (via the quantum Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism) between certain semicausal CP-maps and quantum superchannels to obtain a full characterization of the generators of semigroups of quantum superchannels. While the classical section (Sec. IV) and the quantum section (Sec. V) are heuristically related, they are logically independent and can be read independently.

This work is structured as follows: In the remainder of this section, we discuss results related to ours. Section II contains an overview over our main results. In Sec. III, we recall relevant notions from functional analysis and quantum information, as well as some notation. The (logically) independent sections (Secs. IV and V) comprise the main body of our paper, containing complete statements and proofs of our results on dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal channels. We study the classical case in Sec. IV and the quantum case in Sec. V. Finally, we conclude with a summary and an outlook to future research in Sec. VI.

A. Related work

The study of quantum superchannels goes back to Ref. 1 and has since evolved to the study of higher-order quantum maps.^{3–5} A peculiar feature of higher-order quantum theory is that it allows for indefinite causal order.^{6,7} However, it was recently discovered that the causal order is preserved under (certain) continuous evolutions.^{8,9} It, therefore, seems interesting to study continuous evolutions of higher-order quantum maps systematically. Our work can be seen as an initial step into his direction.

The study of (semi-)causal and (semi-)localizable quantum channels goes back to Ref. 2. By proving the equivalence of semicausality and semilocalizability for quantum channels, the authors of Ref. 10 resolved a conjecture raised in Ref. 2 (and attributed to DiVincenzo). Later, the authors of Ref. 11 provided an alternative proof for this equivalence and further investigated causal and local quantum operations.

II. RESULTS

We give an overview over our answers to the questions identified in Sec. I. In our first result, we identify a set of constraints that a linear map satisfies if and only if it generates a semigroup of quantum superchannels.

Result 1.1 (Lemma V.17—informal). Checking whether a linear map $\hat{L} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B))$ generates a semigroup of quantum superchannels can be phrased as a semidefinite constraint satisfaction problem.

Therefore, we can efficiently check whether a given linear map is a valid generator of a semigroup of quantum superchannels. We can even solve optimization problems over such generators in terms of semidefinite programs. Thereby, this first characterization of generators of semigroups of quantum superchannels facilitates working with them computationally.

As our second result, we determine a normal form for generators of semigroups of quantum superchannels. Similar to the GKLS-form, we decompose the generator into a "dissipative part" and a "Hamiltonian part," where the latter generates a semigroup of invertible superchannels such that the inverse is a superchannel as well.

Result 1.2 (Theorem V.18—informal). A linear map $\hat{L} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B))$ generates a semigroup of quantum superchannels if and only if it can be written as $\hat{L}(T) = \hat{D}(T) + \hat{H}(T)$, where the "Hamiltonian part" is of the form

$$\hat{H}(T)(\rho) = -i[H_B, T(\rho)] - iT([H_A, \rho]),$$

with local Hamiltonians H_B and H_A , and where the "dissipative part" is of the form $\hat{D}(T)(\rho) = \text{tr}_E[\hat{D}'(T)(\rho)]$, where

$$\hat{D}'(T)(\rho) = U(T \otimes \mathrm{id}_E)(A(\rho \otimes \sigma)A^{\dagger})U^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{2}(T \otimes \mathrm{id}_E)(\left\{A^{\dagger}A, \rho \otimes \sigma\right\})$$
(1a)

$$+ B(T \otimes \mathrm{id}_E)(\rho \otimes \sigma)B^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{2} \Big\{ B^{\dagger}B, (T \otimes \mathrm{id}_E)(\rho \otimes \sigma) \Big\}$$
(1b)

$$+ \left[U(T \otimes \mathrm{id}_E)(A(\rho \otimes \sigma)), B^{\dagger} \right] + \left[B, (T \otimes \mathrm{id}_E)((\rho \otimes \sigma)A^{\dagger})U^{\dagger} \right],$$
(1c)

with unitary U and arbitrary A and B.

The "dissipative part" consists of three terms: Term (1a) itself generates a semigroup of superchannels (for B = 0), with the interpretation that the transformed channel $[\hat{S}_t(T)]$ arises due to the stochastic application of $T \mapsto \operatorname{tr}_E[U(T \otimes \operatorname{id}_E)(A(\rho \otimes \sigma)A^{\dagger})U^{\dagger}]$ at different points in time (Dyson series expansion). Term (1b) itself generates a semigroup of superchannels (for A = 0) of the form $\hat{S}_t(T) = e^{L_B t} \circ T$, where L_B is a generator of a quantum dynamical semigroup (and hence in GKLS-form). Term (1c) is a "superposition" term, which is harder to interpret. It will become apparent from the path taken via the "quantization" of semicausal semigroups that this term is a pure quantum feature with no classical analog. Therefore, the presence of (1c) can be regarded as one of our main findings. It is also worth noting that the normal form in Result 1.2 is more general than the form of the generator we found in our introductory example. Hence, nature allows for more general decay-processes than the simple ones with an independent influx of particles before and after the target object. We also complement this structural result by an algorithm that determines the operators U, A, B, H_A , and H_B if the conditions in Result 1.1 are met.

The proof of these results relies on the relation (via the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism) between superchannels and semicausal CP-maps. Our next findings—and from a technical standpoint our main contributions—are the corresponding results for semigroups of semicausal CP-maps.

Result 2.1 (Lemma V.5—informal). Checking whether a linear map $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ generates a semigroup of $B \neq A$ semicausal CP-maps can be phrased as a semidefinite constraint satisfaction problem for its Choi-matrix.

Based on this insight, we can efficiently check whether a given linear map is a valid generator of a semigroup of semicausal CP-maps. Since semigroups of semicausal CP-maps are, in particular, semigroups of CP-maps, our normal form for generators giving rise to semigroups of semicausal CP-maps is a refining of the GKLS-form.

Result 2.2 (Theorem V.6—informal). A linear map $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ generates a semigroup of $B \neq A$ semicausal CP-maps (in the Heisenberg picture) if and only if it can be written as $L(X) = \Phi(X) - K^{\dagger}X - XK$, where the CP part Φ is of the form

$$\Phi(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V$$
, with $V = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) + (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B)$,

with a unitary $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ and arbitrary $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ and $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, and the K in the non-CP part is of the form

$$K = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B^{\dagger} U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) + \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B^{\dagger} B + K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes iH_B,$$

with a self-adjoint H_B and an arbitrary K_A .

This characterization has both computational and analytical implications: On the one hand, it provides a recipe for describing semicausal GKLS generators in numerical implementations. On the other hand, the constructive characterization of semicausal GKLS generators makes a more detailed analysis of their (e.g., spectral) properties tractable. It is also worth noting that in Result 2.2, we can allow for (separable) infinite-dimensional spaces. In the finite-dimensional case, we also provide an algorithm to compute the operators U, A, B, K_A , and H_B , if the conditions of Result 2.1 are met.

Let us now turn to the corresponding results in the classical case. Here, instead of looking at (semigroups of) CP-maps and quantum channels, we look at (entry-wise) non-negative matrices and row-stochastic matrices (see Secs. III and IV for details) that we assume to act on $\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{X}}$ for (finite) alphabets $\mathbb{X} \in \{\mathbb{A}, \mathbb{B}, \mathbb{E}\}$.

The following result is the classical analog of Result 2.2:

Result 3 (Corollary IV.8—informal). A linear map $Q : \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}} \to \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}$ generates a semigroup of (Heisenberg) $B \neq A$ semicausal non-negative matrices if and only if it can be written as

$$Q = (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U) - K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} |a_i\rangle \langle a_i| \otimes B^{(i)},$$

with a row-stochastic matrix $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, a non-negative matrix $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$, a diagonal matrix K_A , and maps $B^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ that generate semigroups of row-stochastic matrices.

We will discuss in detail how Result 2.2 arises as the "quantization" of Result 3 in the paragraph following the Proof of Lemma V.5. Here, we highlight that in both the quantum and the classical case, the generators of semicausal semigroups are constructed from two basic building blocks. In the quantum case, these are a $B \not\Rightarrow A$ semicausal CP-map Φ_{sc} , with $\Phi_{sc}(X) = V_{sc}^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V_{sc}$ and $V_{sc} = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$ and a GKLS generator of the form $id_A \otimes \hat{B}$. In the classical case, they are a $B \not\Rightarrow A$ semicausal non-negative map $\Phi_{sc} = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$ and operators of the form $|a_i\rangle\langle a_i| \otimes B^{(i)}$, where $B^{(i)}$ generates a semigroup of row-stochastic maps. The difference between the quantum case and the classical case then lies in the way the general form is constructed from the building blocks. While we simply take convex combinations of the building-blocks in the classical case, we have to take superpositions of the building-blocks, by which we mean that we need to combine the corresponding Strinespring operators, in the quantum case.

As our last result, we present the normal form for generators of semigroups of classical superchannels.

Result 4. A linear map $\hat{Q}: \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ generates a semigroup of classical superchannels if and only if it can be written as

$$\hat{Q}(M) = U(M \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)A - \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} \langle \mathbf{1}_{AE} | Aa_i \rangle M | a_i \rangle \langle a_i | + \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} B^{(i)} M | a_i \rangle \langle a_i |$$

with a column-stochastic matrix $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, a non-negative matrix $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}})$, a diagonal matrix K_A , and a collection of generators of semigroups of column-stochastic matrices $B^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$.

As in the quantum case, we have two kinds of evolutions: a stochastic application of $M \mapsto U(M \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)A$ at different points in time and a conditioned post-processing evolution of the form $\sum_i e^{B^{(i)}t} M|a_i\rangle\langle a_i|$. Note that there are no "superposition" terms, such as (1c).

III. NOTATION AND PRELIMINARIES

In this section, we review basic notions from functional analysis, quantum information theory, and the theory of dynamical semigroups. We also fix our notation for these settings as well as for a classical counterpart of the quantum setting.

A. Functional analysis

Throughout this paper, \mathcal{H} (with some subscript) denotes a (in general, infinite-dimensional) separable complex Hilbert space. Whenever \mathcal{H} is assumed to be finite-dimensional, we explicitly state this assumption. We denote the Banach space of bounded linear operators with domain \mathcal{H}_A and codomain \mathcal{H}_B , equipped with the operator norm, by $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A;\mathcal{H}_B)$ and write $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ for $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H};\mathcal{H})$. For $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A;\mathcal{H}_B)$, the adjoint $X^{\dagger} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B;\mathcal{H}_A)$ of X is the unique linear operator such that $\langle \psi_B | X \psi_A \rangle = \langle X^{\dagger} \psi_B | \psi_A \rangle$ for all $| \psi_A \rangle \in \mathcal{H}_A$ and all $| \psi_B \rangle \in \mathcal{H}_B$. Here, and throughout this paper, we use the standard Dirac notation.

An operator $Y \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called self-adjoint if $Y^{\dagger} = Y$. A self-adjoint $Y \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is called positive semidefinite, denoted by $Y \ge 0$, if there exists an operator $Z \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that $Y = Z^{\dagger}Z$. If Y is positive semidefinite, then there exists a unique positive semidefinite operator \sqrt{Y} such that $Y = \sqrt{Y}\sqrt{Y}$ (Ref. 12, p. 196). The operator \sqrt{Y} is called the square-root of Y. The absolute value $|Y| \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ of Y is defined by $|Y| = \sqrt{Y^{\dagger}Y}$.

We define the set of trace-class operators $S_1(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B) = \{\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B) | tr[|\rho|] < \infty\}$, which becomes a Banach space when endowed with the norm $\|\rho\|_1 := tr[|\rho|]$. We write $S_1(\mathcal{H})$ for $S_1(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H})$. The set $S_1(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ satisfies the two-sided*-ideal property: If $\rho \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ and $Y \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$, then $\rho^{\dagger} \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A)$, $\rho^{\dagger} Y \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A)$, and $Y\rho^{\dagger} \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_B)$.

Besides the norm topology, we will use the strong operator topology and the ultraweak topology. The strong operator topology is the smallest topology on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ such that for all $|\psi_A\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_A$, the map $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B) \ni Y \mapsto Y |\psi_A\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_B$ is continuous, where \mathcal{H}_B is equipped with the norm topology. The ultraweak topology on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ is the smallest topology such that the map $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B) \ni Y \mapsto Y |\psi_A\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_B$ is continuous, where \mathcal{H}_B is equipped with the norm topology. The ultraweak topology on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ is the smallest topology such that the map $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B) \ni Y \mapsto \text{tr}[\rho^{\dagger}Y] \in \mathbb{C}$ is continuous for all $\rho \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$. Since \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B are separable, so is $S_1(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A)$. Hence, the sequential Banach Alaoglu theorem implies that every bounded sequence in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ has an ultraweakly convergent subsequence. Here, we view $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ as the continuous dual of $S_1(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A)$. The aforementioned results can be found in many books, e.g., Ref. 12 (ch. VI.6), however, usually only for the case $\mathcal{H}_A = \mathcal{H}_B$.

The general results stated above can be obtained from this case by considering $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A;\mathcal{H}_B)$ and $\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_A;\mathcal{H}_B)$ as subspaces of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A\oplus\mathcal{H}_B)$ and $\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_A\oplus\mathcal{H}_B)$, respectively.

An operator $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ is called an isometry if $||V|\psi_A\rangle|| = |||\psi_A\rangle||$ for all $|\psi_A\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_A$. The (possibly empty) set of unitaries, the surjective isometries, is denoted by $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$, and we write $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H})$ for $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H})$. As a special notation, if \mathcal{H}'_A and \mathcal{H}'_B are closed linear subspaces of \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B , with (canonical) isometric embeddings $\mathbb{1}_{A'\to A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}'_A; \mathcal{H}_A)$ and $\mathbb{1}_{B'\to B} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}'_B; \mathcal{H}_B)$, respectively, then we will write $\mathcal{U}_P(\mathcal{H}'_A; \mathcal{H}'_B) = \{\mathbb{1}_{B'\to B} \cup \mathbb{1}_{A'\to A}^{\dagger} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}'_B)\}$ and $\mathcal{U}_P(\mathcal{H})$ for $\mathcal{U}_P(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H})$. That is, this is the set of partial isometries.

B. Flip operator, partial trace, complete positivity, and duality

The flip operator $\mathbb{F}_{A;B} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_A)$ is the unique operator satisfying $\mathbb{F}_{A;B}(|\psi_A\rangle \otimes |\psi_B\rangle) = |\psi_B\rangle \otimes |\psi_A\rangle$ for all $|\psi_A\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_A$ and all $|\psi_B\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_B$.

The partial trace with respect to the space \mathcal{H}_A is the unique linear map $\operatorname{tr}_A : S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_C)$ that satisfies $\operatorname{tr}[X\operatorname{tr}_A[\rho]] = \operatorname{tr}[(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes X)\rho]$ for all $\rho \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ and all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_C; \mathcal{H}_B)$. If the spaces involved have subscripts, the partial trace will always be denoted with the corresponding subscript. The partial trace with respect to $\rho \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A)$ is the unique linear map $\operatorname{tr}_\rho : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_C)$ that satisfies $\operatorname{tr}[\sigma \operatorname{tr}_\rho[X]] = \operatorname{tr}[(\rho \otimes \sigma)X]$ for all $\sigma \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_C; \mathcal{H}_B)$ and all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C)$. Proofs of existence and uniqueness can be found in Ref. 13 (Theorem 2.28 and Theorem 2.30), where we used again the observation that the results above follow from the usual ones for $\mathcal{H}_B = \mathcal{H}_C$, by looking at the operators on $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes (\mathcal{H}_B \oplus \mathcal{H}_C)$.

Let $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A))$. The map *T* is called positive if $T(X_B)$ is positive semidefinite whenever $X_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$ is positive semidefinite. For $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the map $T_n : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H}_A)$ is uniquely defined by the requirement that $T_n(X_n \otimes X_B) = X_n \otimes T(X_B)$ for all $X_n \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ and all $X_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$. The map *T* is completely positive (CP) if the map T_n is positive for all $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$. A CP-map *T* is called normal if *T* is continuous when $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ and $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$ are both equipped with the ultraweak topology. We denote the set of normal CP-maps by $CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A)$ and write $CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H})$. By the Stinespring dilation theorem (in its form for normal CP-maps), *T* is a normal CP-map if and only if there exist a (separable) Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_E and an operator $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ such that for all $X_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$, we have $T(X_B) = V^{\dagger}(X_B \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V|\psi_A\rangle|X_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B), |\psi_A\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_A\}$ is norm-dense in $\mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E$. Furthermore, if (V', \mathcal{H}'_E) is another Stinespring dilation, then there exists an isometry $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_E; \mathcal{H}'_E)$ such that $V' = (\mathbb{1}_B \otimes U)V$. Another equivalent characterization is the so-called Kraus form: *T* is a normal CP-map if and only if there exists a countable set of operators $\{L_i\}_i \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$, the Kraus operators, such that for all $X_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$, we have $T(X_B) = \sum_i L_i^{\dagger} X_B L_i$, where the series converges in the strong operator topology. One can obtain Kraus operators from a Stinespring dilation (V, \mathcal{H}_E) by choosing an orthonormal basis $\{|e_i\rangle\}_i$ of \mathcal{H}_E and defining $L_i = (\mathbb{1}_B \otimes \langle e_i|)V$. A map *T* is unital if $T(\mathbb{1}_B) = \mathbb{1}_A$, and a unital normal CP-map is called a Heisenberg (quantum) channel.

Let $S \in \mathcal{B}(S_1(\mathcal{H}_A); S_1(\mathcal{H}_B))$. The dual map $S^* \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A))$ is the unique linear map that satisfies $\operatorname{tr}[X_B^{\dagger}S(\rho)] = \operatorname{tr}[(S^*(X_B))^{\dagger}\rho]$ for all $X_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$ and all $\rho \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A)$. We call S the Schrödinger picture map and S^* the Heisenberg picture map. The map S is called completely positive if S^* is completely positive in the sense defined above. In that case, S^* is automatically normal. In fact, T is a normal CP-map if and only if there exists $S \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B))$ such that $S^* = T$. It follows that S is completely positive if and only if there exist a separable Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_E and an operator $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ such that $S(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_E[V\rho V^{\dagger}]$ for all $\rho \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A)$. Furthermore, S is completely positive if and only if there exist a countable set of operators $\{L_i\}_i \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ such that $S(\rho) = \sum_i L_i \rho L_i^{\dagger}$ and the series converges in trace-norm. A map S is trace-preserving if $\operatorname{tr}[S(\rho_A)] = \operatorname{tr}[\rho_A]$ for all $\rho_A \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A)$. A trace-preserving CP-map is called a (quantum) channel. The facts in this section are contained or follow directly from the results in Refs. 14 and 15.

C. Choi-Jamiołkowski isomorphism, partial transposition

In this section, let \mathcal{H}_A , \mathcal{H}_B , and \mathcal{H}_C be finite-dimensional Hilbert spaces with fixed orthonormal bases $\{|a_i\rangle\}_i$, $\{|b_j\rangle\}_j$, and $\{|c_k\rangle\}_k$, respectively. The transpose (with respect to $\{|a_i\rangle\}_i$ and $\{|b_j\rangle\}_j$) of an operator $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ is the unique linear operator $X^T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A)$ such that $\langle b_j | Xa_i \rangle = \langle a_i | X^T b_j \rangle$ for all elements of the orthonormal bases. The partial transposition (with respect to $\{|a_i\rangle\}_i$) of an operator $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C)$ is the unique linear operator $X^{T_A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C)$ such that $(\langle a_i | \otimes \mathbb{1}_C) X(|a_j\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = (\langle a_i | \otimes \mathbb{1}_C) X^{T_A}(|a_i\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$ for all elements of the orthonormal basis.

The (quantum) Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism,^{16,17} defined with respect to an orthonormal basis $\{|a_i\rangle\}_i$ of \mathcal{H}_A , is the bijective linear map $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B), \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(T) = (\mathrm{id}_A \otimes T)(|\Omega\rangle\langle\Omega|)$, and its inverse is given by $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1}(\tau)(\rho) = \mathrm{tr}_A[(\rho^T \otimes \mathbb{1})\tau]$, where $|\Omega\rangle := \sum_i |a_i\rangle \otimes |a_i\rangle$. A map $S \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B))$ is completely positive if and only if $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(S) \ge 0$; S is trace-preserving if and only if $\mathrm{tr}_B[\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(S)] = \mathbb{1}_A$, and we have the identity $\mathrm{tr}_A[\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(S)] = S(\mathbb{1}_A)$. We will occasionally call elements of the image of $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}$. Choi matrices.

D. Non-negative matrices and duality

As we provide characterizations for both the quantum and the classical case, we now also introduce the notation and definitions required for the latter. With a classical system *A*, we associate a finite alphabet $\mathbb{A} = \{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{|\mathbb{A}|}\}$ and a "state-space" $\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}}$, with the orthonormal basis

 $\{|a_i\rangle\}_{i=1}^{|A|}$. We define by $|\mathbf{1}_A\rangle \coloneqq \sum_i |a_i\rangle$ the all-one-vector. A vector $|x\rangle \in \mathbb{R}^A$ is called non-negative if $\langle a|x\rangle \ge 0$ for all $a \in A$. A linear operator $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^A; \mathbb{R}^B)$ is called non-negative if $M|x\rangle$ is non-negative whenever $|x\rangle$ is non-negative (equivalently, all matrix elements are non-negative). A non-negative M is called column-stochastic if $\langle \mathbf{1}_B | M = \langle \mathbf{1}_A |$, column-sub-stochastic if there exists a non-negative P such that M + P is column-stochastic, row-stochastic if $M|\mathbf{1}_A\rangle = |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle$, and row-sub-stochastic if there exists a non-negative P such that M + P is row-stochastic. Given $|x\rangle$ or $\langle x|$, we denote by diag $(|x\rangle) = \text{diag}(\langle x|)$ the diagonal matrix with the components of x on the diagonal. Finally, we will use the "classical Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism" (also known as vectorization), which is a convenient notation to make the connection to the quantum case more transparent. The classical Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism, defined with respect to $\{|a_i\rangle\}_i$, is the linear map $\mathfrak{C}^C_{A;B} : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^A; \mathbb{R}^B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^A \otimes \mathbb{R}^B)$ defined by $\mathfrak{C}^C_{A;B}(M) = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes M)|\Omega\rangle$, where $|\Omega\rangle \coloneqq \sum_i |a_i\rangle \otimes |a_i\rangle$. The inverse $(\mathfrak{C}^C_{A;B})^{-1}$ is then given by $(\mathfrak{C}^C_{A;B})^{-1}(|x\rangle) = (\langle \Omega| \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |x\rangle)$ We will sometimes refer to elements of the range of $\mathfrak{C}^C_{A;B}$ as Choi vectors.

E. Dynamical semigroups

Let \mathcal{X} be a Banach space. A family of operators $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0}$, with $T_t \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$ for all $t \geq 0$, is called a norm-continuous one-parameter semigroup on \mathcal{X} or, short, dynamical semigroup if $T_0 = 1$, $T_{s+t} = T_s T_t$ for all $t, s \geq 0$ and the map $\mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \ni t \mapsto T_t$ is norm-continuous. Norm-continuous dynamical semigroups are automatically differentiable and have bounded generators, that is, there exists $L \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X})$ such that $T_t = e^{tL}$ for all $t \geq 0$ and $L = \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0+} T_t$ (Ref. 18, Theorem I.3.7).

Lindblad¹⁹ proved that $T_t \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H})$ for all $t \ge 0$ if and only if there exist $\Phi \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H})$ and $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that $T_t = e^{tL}$, with $L(X) = \Phi(X) - K^{\dagger}X - XK$. In this case, we refer to $\{T_t\}_{t\ge 0}$ as a CP semigroup. We call the corresponding form of the generator L the GKLS form^{19,20} and Φ its CP part. If \mathcal{H} is finite-dimensional, then $T_t = e^{tL} \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H})$ for all $t \ge 0$ if and only if the operator $\mathcal{L} := \mathfrak{C}_{A;B} = (\mathrm{id} \otimes L)(|\Omega\rangle\langle\Omega|)$ is self-adjoint and $P^{\perp}\mathcal{L}P^{\perp} \ge 0$, where $|\Omega\rangle = \sum_{i} |a_i\rangle \otimes |a_i\rangle$ for some orthonormal basis $\{a_i\}$ of \mathcal{H} and $P^{\perp} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H})$ is the orthogonal projection onto the orthogonal complement of $\{|\Omega\rangle\}$.^{21,22} The corresponding classical result is as follows: $\{T_t\}_{t\ge 0} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$ is a dynamical semigroup of non-negative linear maps if and only if there exist a non-negative linear map $\Phi \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$ and a diagonal map $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$ (with respect to the basis orthogonal basis $\{|a_i\}_i$) such that the generator L has the form $\Phi - K$.²³

IV. THE CLASSICAL CASE

Before studying the quantum scenario, we consider the classical version of our main question. That is, we study continuous semigroups of classical superchannels and their generators. On the one hand, this allows us to develop an intuition that we can build upon for the quantum case. On the other hand, a comparison between the classical and the quantum case elucidates which features of the latter are actually quantum. For the purpose of this section, \mathbb{A} , \mathbb{B} , and \mathbb{E} denote finite alphabets as in Subsection III D.

A classical superchannel is a map that maps classical channels, i.e., stochastic matrices, to classical channels while preserving the probabilistic structure of the classical theory. To achieve the latter requirement, we require that a classical superchannel is a linear map and that probabilistic transformations, i.e., sub-stochastic matrices, are mapped to probabilistic transformations. Expressed more formally, we have the following definition:

Definition IV.1 (classical superchannels). A linear map $\hat{S}: \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is called a classical superchannel if $\hat{S}(M) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is column sub-stochastic whenever $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is column sub-stochastic and $\hat{S}(M) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is column stochastic whenever $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is column stochastic.

A related concept is that of a classical semicausal channel, which is a stochastic matrix on a bipartite space $\mathbb{A} \times \mathbb{B}$ such that no communication from *B* to *A* is allowed. We formalize this as follows:

Definition IV.2 (classical semicausality). An operator $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is called column $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal if there exists $M^{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$ such that $(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_{B} |)M = M^{A}(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_{B} |)$.

Similarly, $N \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is called row $B \not\Rightarrow A$ semicausal if there exists $N^{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$ such that $N(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbb{1}_{B}) = N^{A} \otimes |\mathbb{1}_{B})$.

Clearly, *M* is column $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal if and only if M^T is row $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal. To emphasize the analogy to the quantum case, we will often refer to a column $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal map as a Schrödinger $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal map and to a row $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal map as a Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal map. In both cases, the maps M^A and N^A will be called the reduced maps.

The structure of this section is as follows: We start by establishing the connection between classical superchannels and classical nonnegative semicausal maps, followed by a characterization of classical non-negative semicausal maps as a composition of known objects; such a characterization is known in the quantum case as the equivalence between semicausality and semilocalizability. We then turn to the study of the generators of semigroups of semicausal and non-negative maps and finally use the correspondence between superchannels and semicausal channels to obtain the corresponding results for the generators of semigroups of superchannels.

A. Correspondence between classical superchannels and semicausal non-negative linear maps

We first show, with a proof inspired by the one given in Ref. 1 for the analogous correspondence in the quantum case, that we can understand classical superchannels in terms of classical semicausal channels. To concisely state this correspondence, we use the classical

Journal of Mathematical Physics

version of the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism. Let us mention here once again that we assume all alphabets $(\mathbb{A}, \mathbb{B}, ...)$ to be finite for our treatment of the classical case.

Theorem IV.3. Let $\hat{S} : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ be a linear map and define $S \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ via $S = \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C} \circ \hat{S} \circ (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}$. Then, \hat{S} is a classical superchannel if and only if S is non-negative and (Schrödinger $B \neq A$) semicausal such that the reduced map S^{A} satisfies $S^{A}|\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle = |\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle$. In this case, S^{A} is automatically non-negative.

Proof. We first show the "if"-direction, i.e., that if S is non-negative and (Schrödinger $B \not\rightarrow A$) semicausal, then $\hat{S} = (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C)^{-1} \circ S \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C$ is a superchannel. Suppose M is a non-negative matrix. Then, $\hat{S}(M)$ is non-negative, since $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C$ maps non-negative matrices to non-negative vectors, S maps non-negative vectors to non-negative vectors, and $(\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C)^{-1}$ maps non-negative vectors to non-negative matrices.

Furthermore, if M is column stochastic, then

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \mathbf{1}_{B} | \hat{S}(M) &= \langle \mathbf{1}_{B} | \left(\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C} \right)^{-1} \circ S \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}(M) \\ &= \left(\langle \Omega | \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_{B} | \right) \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes S \left(\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}(M) \right) \right) \\ &= \langle \Omega | \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes S^{A} \left(\left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_{B} | \right) \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}(M) \right) \right) \right) \\ &= \langle \Omega | \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes S^{A} \left(\left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \left(\langle \mathbf{1}_{B} | M \right) \right) | \Omega \right) \right) \right) \\ &= \langle \Omega | \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes S^{A} | \mathbf{1}_{A} \right) \\ &= \langle \Omega | \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes | \mathbf{1}_{A} \right) \right) \\ &= \langle \mathbf{1}_{A} |, \end{aligned}$$

so $\hat{S}(M)$ is stochastic. In the preceding calculation, we used that *S* is semicausal in the third line, that *M* is stochastic in the fifth line, and that $S^{A}|\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle = |\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle$ in the sixth line.

Now suppose that *M* is sub-stochastic such that M + Q is stochastic, with *Q* being non-negative. Then, $\hat{S}(M + Q) = \hat{S}(M) + \hat{S}(Q)$ is stochastic, and since $\hat{S}(Q)$ is non-negative, $\hat{S}(M)$ is sub-stochastic. This proves that \hat{S} is a superchannel. The claim about the non-negativity of S^A now follows directly from the semicausality condition.

For the converse, suppose \hat{S} is a superchannel. Since for all $a \in \mathbb{A}$ and all $b \in \mathbb{B}$, the matrix $|b\rangle\langle a|$ is sub-stochastic, it follows by linearity of \hat{S} that $\hat{S}(M)$ is non-negative whenever M is non-negative. Thus, since $(\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}$ maps non-negative vectors to non-negative matrices, \hat{S} maps non-negative matrices to non-negative matrices, and $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}$ maps non-negative matrices to non-negative that S is non-negative.

Next, we want to show that *S* is Schrödinger $B \neq A$ semicausal. Since \hat{S} is a superchannel, *S* maps Choi vectors of stochastic matrices to Choi vectors of stochastic matrices, that is, $(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |) S | x \rangle = |\mathbf{1}_A \rangle$ for all non-negative vectors $|x\rangle \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}$ that satisfy $(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |) | x \rangle = |\mathbf{1}_A \rangle$. As a tool, we define the set of scaled differences of Choi vectors of stochastic matrices by

$$C_{0} \coloneqq \{\lambda(|p\rangle - |n\rangle) \mid \lambda \in \mathbb{R}; \ |p\rangle, |n\rangle \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}} \text{ non - negative, with } (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_{B}|)|p\rangle = (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_{B}|)|n\rangle = |\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle \}.$$

$$(2)$$

We claim that

$$C_0 = C'_0 \coloneqq \{ |x'\rangle \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}} | (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbb{1}_B |) |x'\rangle = 0 \}.$$

To see this, first note that $C_0 \subseteq C'_0$ follows directly from the definition. For the other inclusion, $C_0 \supseteq C'_0$, we decompose $|x'\rangle \in C'_0$ as $|x'\rangle = |p'\rangle - |n'\rangle$ for two non-negative vectors $|p'\rangle, |n'\rangle \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}$. It follows that $(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |)|p'\rangle = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |)|n'\rangle$. Furthermore, for $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough, we have that $|y'\rangle := |\mathbf{1}_A\rangle - \varepsilon(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |)|p'\rangle$ is non-negative. However, for any non-negative unit $|v\rangle \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}$, with $\langle \mathbf{1}_B | v \rangle = 1$, the vectors $|p\rangle := \varepsilon |p'\rangle + |y'\rangle \otimes |v\rangle$ and $|n\rangle := \varepsilon |n'\rangle + |y'\rangle \otimes |v\rangle$ are Choi vectors of stochastic matrices. Hence, $|x'\rangle = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}(|p\rangle - |n\rangle) \in C_0$.

We define $P^{\perp} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ by $P^{\perp}|x\rangle = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{B}|} [(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbb{1}_{B}|)|x\rangle] \otimes |\mathbb{1}_{B}\rangle$ and $P := \mathbb{1}_{AB} - P^{\perp}$. Then, since $(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbb{1}_{B}|)P|x\rangle = (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbb{1}_{B}|)|x\rangle - (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbb{1}_{B}|)|x\rangle = 0$, we have that $P|x\rangle \in C_{0}$ for all $|x\rangle \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}$. We define $S^{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$ by $S^{A}|x_{A}\rangle = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{B}|} (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbb{1}_{B}|)P^{\perp}S(|x_{A}\rangle \otimes |\mathbb{1}_{B}\rangle) = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{R}|} (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbb{1}_{B}|)S(|x_{A}\rangle \otimes |\mathbb{1}_{B}\rangle)$ and calculate

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |) S | x \rangle &= (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |) S(P | x \rangle) + (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |) S(P^{\perp} | x \rangle) \\ &= (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |) S(P^{\perp} | x \rangle) \\ &= (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |) S \left(\frac{1}{|\mathbb{B}|} [(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |) | x \rangle] \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B \rangle \right) \\ &= S^A ((\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_B |) | x \rangle), \end{aligned}$$

where we used in the second line that C_0 is invariant under *S*, a fact that follows directly from (2). This calculation exactly shows that *S* is Schödinger $A \not\rightarrow B$ semicausal.

J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 © Author(s) 2022 Journal of

Mathematical Physics

$$\begin{split} S^{A}|\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle &= \frac{1}{|\mathbb{B}|} (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_{B}|) S(|\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B}\rangle) \\ &= \frac{1}{|\mathbb{B}|} (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_{B}|) \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C} \circ \hat{S} \circ (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1} (|\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B}\rangle) \\ &= \mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \left[\langle \mathbf{1}_{B}| \hat{S} \left(\frac{1}{|\mathbb{B}|} |\mathbf{1}_{B}\rangle \langle \mathbf{1}_{A}| \right) \right] |\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle \mathbf{1}_{A}|) |\Omega\rangle \\ &= |\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle, \end{split}$$

where we used that $\frac{1}{|\mathbb{B}|} |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle \langle \mathbf{1}_A |$ is stochastic and that thus $\hat{S}(\frac{1}{|\mathbb{B}|} |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle \langle \mathbf{1}_A |)$ is stochastic.

In summary, Theorem IV.3 tells us that, via the classical Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism, we can view classical superchannels equivalently also as suitably normalized semicausal non-negative maps.

B. Relation between classical semicausality and semilocalizability

The goal of this section is to get a better understanding of the structure of semicausal maps. For non-negative semicausal maps, we have the following structure theorem:

Theorem IV.4. A non-negative map $N \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is row $B \not \rightarrow A$ semicausal if and only if there exist a (finite) alphabet \mathbb{E} , a (non-negative) row-stochastic matrix $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, and a non-negative matrix $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$ such that

$$N = (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U). \tag{3}$$

In that case, we can choose $|\mathbb{E}| = |\mathbb{A}|^2$.

Borrowing the terminology from the quantum case,^{2,10} the preceding theorem tells us that non-negative semicausal maps are semilocalizable. We formally define the latter notion for the classical case as follows:

Definition IV.5. A non-negative map $N \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is called Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semilocalizable if it can be written in the form of Eq. (3).

Similarly, a non-negative map $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is called Schrödinger $B \not\rightarrow A$ semilocalizable if it can be written as $M = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$ for a (non-negative) column-stochastic matrix $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ and a non-negative matrix $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}})$.

The requirement that U is stochastic and A is non-negative in the decomposition above is essential. In fact, if one drops these requirements, then a decomposition $M = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$ can be found for any matrix $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^A \otimes \mathbb{R}^B)$.

Due to Theorem IV.4, a non-negative Schrödinger $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal and column-stochastic map M admits an operational interpretation. First, note that if M is not only semicausal but also stochastic, then also the matrix A in Eq. (3) is stochastic. Thus, the interpretation of the decomposition is as follows: First, Alice applies some probabilistic operation (A) to the composite system $\mathbb{A} \times \mathbb{E}$. Then, she transmits the *E*-part to Bob, who now applies a stochastic operation (U) to his part of the system.

Given this interpretation, the idea behind the construction in the Proof of Theorem IV.4 is that Alice first looks the input of system A and generates the output of system A according to the distribution given by the matrix N^A . Then, she copies the input as well as her generated output and sends this information to Bob, who is then able to complete the operation by generating an output conditional on his input and the information he got from Alice. Given that this construction requires copying, it might be considered surprising that a quantum analog is true nevertheless.¹⁰

Proof (Theorem IV.4). If N is Schrödinger $B \neq A$ semilocalizable, then

$$N(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle) = (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U|\mathbf{1}_B\rangle) = (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{EB}\rangle) = (A(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{E}\rangle)) \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle$$

Hence, N is row $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal.

J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 © Author(s) 2022 Conversely, if *N* is row $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal, we choose $\mathbb{E} := \mathbb{A} \times \mathbb{A}$ and define

$$A := \sum_{i,j,k} \langle a_j | N^A a_k \rangle | a_j \rangle \langle a_k | \otimes \langle a_k \otimes a_j |,$$

$$U := \sum_{\substack{m,n,r,s \\ \langle a_n | N^A a_m \rangle \neq 0}} \frac{\langle a_n \otimes b_r | N a_m \otimes b_s \rangle}{\langle a_n | N^A a_m \rangle} | a_m \otimes a_n \otimes b_r \rangle \langle b_s | + \left[\sum_{\substack{m,n \\ \langle a_n | N^A a_m \rangle = 0}} | a_m \otimes a_n \rangle \right] \otimes \mathbb{1}_B.$$
(4)

To show that $N = (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)$, we calculate

$$(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes U) = \sum_{\substack{i,j,k \\ m,n,r,s \\ \langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m} \rangle \neq 0}} \frac{\langle a_{j}|N^{A}a_{k} \rangle \langle a_{n} \otimes b_{r}|N a_{m} \otimes b_{s} \rangle}{\langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m} \rangle} [(|a_{j}\rangle \langle a_{k}| \otimes \langle a_{k} \otimes a_{j}| \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |a_{m} \otimes a_{n} \otimes b_{r}\rangle \langle b_{s}|)]$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{i,j,k \\ m,n \\ \langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m} \rangle = 0}} \langle a_{j}|N^{A}a_{k}\rangle (|a_{j}\rangle \langle a_{k}| \otimes \langle a_{k} \otimes a_{j}| \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |a_{m} \otimes a_{n}\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{i,j,k,r,s \\ \langle a_{j}|N^{A}a_{k}\rangle \neq 0}} \frac{\langle a_{j}|N^{A}a_{k}\rangle \langle a_{j} \otimes b_{r}|N a_{k} \otimes b_{s}\rangle}{\langle a_{j}|N^{A}a_{k}\rangle} |a_{j}\rangle \langle a_{k}| \otimes |b_{r}\rangle \langle b_{s}|$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{i,j,k \\ \langle a_{j}|N^{A}a_{k}\rangle = 0}} \langle a_{j}|N^{A}a_{k}\rangle |a_{j}\rangle \langle a_{k}| \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}$$

$$= N.$$

For the last step, observe that the second sum vanishes and that one can drop the constraint that $\langle a_j | N^A a_k \rangle \neq 0$ in the first sum (after cancellation) because $\langle a_j \otimes b_r | N a_k \otimes b_s \rangle = 0$ if $\langle a_j | N^A a_k \rangle = 0$. To see this last claim, note that, since N is non-negative and semicausal, we have

$$0 \leq \langle a_j \otimes b_r | N a_k \otimes b_s \rangle \leq \langle a_j \otimes b_r | N a_k \otimes \mathbf{1}_B \rangle = \langle a_j | N^A a_k \rangle \langle b_r | \mathbf{1}_B \rangle = 0.$$

It is clear that A and U are non-negative since N and, thus, also N^A are non-negative by assumption. It remains to show that U is rowstochastic. We have

$$\begin{split} U|\mathbf{1}_{B}\rangle &= \sum_{\substack{m,n,r,s\\\langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m}\rangle\neq 0}} \frac{\langle a_{n}\otimes b_{r}|N\,a_{m}\otimes b_{s}\rangle}{\langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m}\rangle} |a_{m}\otimes a_{n}\otimes b_{r}\rangle + \sum_{\substack{m,n,s\\\langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m}\rangle=0}} |a_{m}\otimes a_{n}\otimes b_{s}\rangle \\ &= \sum_{\substack{m,n,r\\\langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m}\rangle\neq 0}} \frac{\langle a_{n}\otimes b_{r}|N\,a_{m}\otimes \mathbf{1}_{B}\rangle}{\langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m}\rangle} |a_{m}\otimes a_{n}\otimes b_{r}\rangle + \sum_{\substack{m,n,s\\\langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m}\rangle=0}} |a_{m}\otimes a_{n}\otimes b_{s}\rangle \\ &= \sum_{\substack{m,n,r\\\langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m}\rangle\neq 0}} |a_{m}\otimes a_{n}\otimes b_{r}\rangle + \sum_{\substack{m,n,s\\\langle a_{n}|N^{A}a_{m}\rangle=0}} |a_{m}\otimes a_{n}\otimes b_{s}\rangle \\ &= |\mathbf{1}_{EB}\rangle, \end{split}$$

where we used the condition that N is semicausal to obtain the third line. This finishes the proof.

Remark IV.6. Theorem IV.4 can be extended to weak – * continuous non-negative maps on the Banach space of bounded real sequences, but this requires extra care and does not yield additional insight beyond the previous proof.

C. Generators of semigroups of classical semicausal non-negative maps

The main goal of this section is to establish a structure theorem for the generators of semigroups of non-negative semicausal maps. First, recall that a (norm)-continuous semigroup $\{N_t\}_{t\geq 0} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^A \otimes \mathbb{R}^B)$ has a generator $Q \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^A \otimes \mathbb{R}^B)$ such that $N_t = e^{tQ}$. A classical result states that N_t is non-negative for all $t \geq 0$ if and only if the generator Q can be written in the form $Q = \Phi - K$, where Φ is non-negative and K is a diagonal matrix with respect to the canonical basis.²⁴ A second, crucial observation is that N_t is Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal for all $t \geq 0$

if and only if *Q* is Heisenberg $B \not\Rightarrow A$ semicausal. To see this, let us first show that the reduced maps $\{N_t^A\}_{t\geq 0}$ also form a norm-continuous semigroup of non-negative maps. Since non-negativity is clear, we derive the semigroup properties $(N_0^A = \mathbb{1}_A, N_{t+s}^A = N_t^A N_s^A)$, and continuity) from the corresponding ones of $\{N_t\}_{t\geq 0}$,

$$\begin{split} N_{0}^{A} &= \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle b_{1} |\right) \left(N_{0}^{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B} \rangle\right) = \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle b_{1} |\right) N_{0} \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B} \rangle\right) = \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle b_{1} |\right) \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B} \rangle\right) = \mathbb{1}_{A}, \\ N_{t+s}^{A} &= \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle b_{1} |\right) \left(N_{t+s}^{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B} \rangle\right) = \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle b_{1} |\right) N_{t+s} \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B} \rangle\right) = \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle b_{1} |\right) N_{t} N_{s} \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B} \rangle\right) \\ &= \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle b_{1} |\right) N_{t} \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B} \rangle\right) N_{s}^{A} = \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \langle b_{1} |\right) \left(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B} \rangle\right) N_{t}^{A} N_{s}^{A} = N_{t}^{A} N_{s}^{A}, \\ \left\|N_{t}^{A} - N_{s}^{A}\right\| &= \sup_{\|x\|_{\infty} = 1} \left\|\left(N_{t}^{A} - N_{s}^{A}\right) |x\rangle\right\|_{\infty} = \sup_{\|x\|_{\infty} = 1} \left\|\left(\left(N_{t}^{A} - N_{s}^{A}\right) |x\rangle\right) \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B} \rangle\right\|_{\infty} = \sup_{\|x\|_{\infty} = 1} \left\|\left(N_{t} - N_{s}\right) (|x\rangle \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B} \rangle\right)\right\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \sup_{\|y\|_{\infty} = 1} \left\|\left(N_{t} - N_{s}\right) |y\rangle\| = \|N_{t} - N_{s}\|. \end{split}$$

Thus, we conclude that $N_t^A = e^{tQ^A}$ for some generator $Q^A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^A)$. We further have

$$Q(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle) = \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} N_t(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle)$$
$$= \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle) N_t^A$$
$$= (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle) Q^A.$$

Thus, Q is semicausal if N_t is semicausal for all $t \ge 0$. Conversely, if Q is semicausal, then N_t is semicausal, since

$$N_{t}(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B}\rangle) = e^{tQ}(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B}\rangle)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{k}}{k!} Q^{k}(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B}\rangle)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{k}}{k!} (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B}\rangle) (Q^{A})^{k}$$

$$= (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |\mathbf{1}_{B}\rangle) e^{tQ^{A}}.$$

Therefore, our task reduces to characterizing semicausal maps of the form $Q = \Phi - K$. Let us first remark that it is straight-forward to check (numerically) whether a given map satisfies these two conditions: We just need to check for non-negativity of the off-diagonal elements and whether $(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \langle b |)Q|a_i \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \rangle = 0$ for all $a_i \in \mathbb{A}$ and all $b \in \{|\mathbb{1}_B\}\}^{\perp}$. That is, semicausality can be checked in terms of $|\mathbb{A}|(|\mathbb{B}| - 1)$ linear equations and $|\mathbb{A}||\mathbb{B}|(|\mathbb{A}||\mathbb{B}| - 1)$ linear inequalities. Thus, a desirable result would be a normal form for all Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal generators Q, which allows for generating such maps rather than checking whether a given maps is of the desired form. The main result of this section is exactly such a normal form.

To understand our normal form below, note that there are two natural ways of constructing a generator (remember that the matrix elements are interpreted as transition rates) that does not transmit information from system *B* to system *A*. First, we can leave system *A* unchanged and have transitions only on system *B*. The most basic form of such a map is $|a_i\rangle\langle a_i| \otimes B^{(i)}$ for some $1 \le i \le |\mathbb{A}|$ and for some $B^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ that is itself a valid generator of a semigroup of row-stochastic maps. That means that $B^{(i)} = \Phi^{(i)} - \text{diag}(\Phi^{(i)}|\mathbf{1}_B\rangle)$ for some non-negative matrix $\Phi^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$. Second, if we want to act non-trivially on system *A*, we can make both the two parts of a generator $Q = \Phi - K$, the non-negative part $\Phi \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ and the diagonal part $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, semicausal separately. Such a map has the form $\Phi_{sc} - K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$, where Φ_{sc} is semicausal non-negative and $K_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$ is diagonal. The fact that (convex) combinations of these basic building blocks already give rise to the most general form of semicausal generators for semigroups of non-negative bounded linear maps is the content of our next theorem, which establishes the desired normal form.

Theorem IV.7 (generators of classical semigroups of semicausal non-negative maps). A map $Q \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is the generator of a (norm-continuous) semigroup of Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal non-negative linear maps if and only if there exist a non-negative Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal map $\Phi_{sc} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, a diagonal map $K_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, and linear maps $B^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ that generate (norm-continuous) semigroups of row-stochastic maps, for $1 \leq i \leq |\mathbb{A}|$, such that

$$Q = \Phi_{sc} - K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} |a_i\rangle \langle a_i| \otimes B^{(i)}.$$

In that case, Φ_{sc} can be chosen "block-off-diagonal," i.e., $\Phi_{sc} = \sum_{i \neq j} |a_i\rangle\langle a_j| \otimes \Phi_{sc}^{(ij)}$ for some collection of (non-negative) maps $\Phi_{sc}^{(ij)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$.

J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 © Author(s) 2022

ARTICLE

Proof. It is straight-forward to check that a generator Q of the given form has non-negative off-diagonal entries with respect to the standard basis and is Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal. By the above discussion, this means that such a generator indeed gives rise to a semigroup of semicausal non-negative maps.

We prove the converse. Suppose Q is the generator of a semigroup of non-negative linear maps. Then, we can expand it as $Q = \sum_{i,i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} |a_i\rangle \langle a_j| \otimes Q^{(ij)}$, where the operators $Q^{(ij)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ are non-negative for $i \neq j$ and of the form of a generator of a non-negative semigroup (i.e., non-negative minus diagonal) for i = j. This decomposition, together with semicausality, implies that for all $1 \le i, j \le |A|$,

$$Q^{(ij)}|\mathbf{1}_B\rangle = (\langle a_i | \otimes \mathbf{1}_B)Q(|a_j\rangle \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle) = \langle a_i | Q^A | a_j\rangle \cdot |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle.$$

In other words, $|\mathbf{1}_B\rangle$ is an eigenvector of every $Q^{(ij)}$, with the corresponding eigenvalue $\lambda^{(ij)} = \langle a_i | Q^A | a_j \rangle$. Hence, if we define $B^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ as $B^{(i)} := Q^{(ii)} - \lambda^{(ii)} \mathbb{1}_B$, then B^i generates a semigroup of non-negative maps (since $Q^{(ij)}$ does and $\lambda^{(ii)} \mathbb{1}_B$ is diagonal) and satisfies (by construction) $B^{(i)}|\mathbf{1}_B\rangle = 0$. Hence, $B^{(i)}$ generates a semigroup of row-stochastic maps.

With this notation, we can rewrite Q as

$$Q = \underbrace{\sum_{i \neq j} |a_i\rangle \langle a_j| \otimes Q^{(ij)}}_{=: \Phi} - \underbrace{\sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} - \lambda^{(ii)} |a_i\rangle \langle a_i|}_{=: K_A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} |a_i\rangle \langle a_i| \otimes B^{(i)}.$$

Note that Φ_{sc} is semicausal, since it can be written as the linear combination of the three semicausal maps $Q, K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$, and $\sum_i |a_i\rangle \langle a_i| \otimes B^{(i)}$. Thus, we have reached the claimed form.

By applying Theorem IV.4, we can further expand the Φ part.

Corollary IV.8. A map $Q \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is the generator of a (norm-continuous) semigroup of Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal non-negative linear maps if and only if there exist a (finite) alphabet \mathbb{E} , a (non-negative) row-stochastic matrix $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, a non-negative matrix $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$, a diagonal matrix $K_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, and maps $B^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ that generate (norm-continuous) semigroups of (row-)stochastic maps, for $1 \le i \le |\mathbb{A}|$, such that

$$Q = (A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U) - K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} |a_i\rangle \langle a_i| \otimes B^{(i)}.$$

In that case, we can choose $|\mathbb{E}| = |\mathbb{A}|^2$.

One should also note that with the notation of Corollary IV.8, the reduced map is given by $O^A = (A(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B)) - K_A$. Hence, the reduced dynamics only depends on the operators A and K_A . Further note that if we require the semigroup to consist of non-negative semicausal maps that are also row-stochastic, then we obtain the additional requirement that $K_A|\mathbf{1}_A\rangle = A|\mathbf{1}_{AE}\rangle$, which completely determines K_A . For completeness and later use, we write down the form of the generators non-negative semigroups that are Schrödinger $B \neq A$ semicausal.

Corollary IV.9. A map $Q \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ is the generator of a (norm-continuous) semigroup of Schrödinger B \neq A semicausal non-negative linear maps if and only if there exist a (finite) alphabet \mathbb{E} , a (non-negative) column-stochastic matrix $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, a non-negative matrix $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}})$, a diagonal matrix $K_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, and maps $B^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ that generate (norm-continuous) semigroups of *column-stochastic maps, for* $1 \le i \le |A|$ *, such that*

$$Q = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} |a_i\rangle \langle a_i| \otimes B^{(i)}.$$

In that case, we can choose $|\mathbb{E}| = |\mathbb{A}|^2$.

Similar to the row-stochastic case, $B^{(i)}$ generates a semigroup of column-stochastic maps if and only if $B^{(i)} = \Phi^{(i)} - \text{diag}(\langle \mathbf{1}_B | \Phi^{(i)} \rangle)$ for some non-negative matrix $\Phi^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$.

D. Generators of semigroups of classical superchannels

We finally turn to semigroups of classical superchannels, that is, a collection of classical superchannels $\{\hat{S}_t\}_{t>0}$, such that $\hat{S}_0 = id$, $\hat{S}_{t+s} = \hat{S}_t \hat{S}_s$, and the map $t \mapsto \hat{S}_t$ is continuous (with respect to any and, thus, all of the equivalent norms in finite dimensions). To formulate a technically slightly stronger result, we call a linear map \hat{S} a preselecting supermap if $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C \circ \hat{S} \circ (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C)^{-1}$ is a non-negative Schrödinger

J. Math. Phys. 63, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 © Author(s) 2022

ARTICLE

scitation.org/journal/jmp

 $B \neq A$ semicausal map. Theorem IV.3 then tells us that a superchannel is a special preselecting supermap. The result of this section is the following theorem:

Theorem IV.10. A linear map $\hat{Q} : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ generates a semigroup of classical preselecting supermaps if and only if there exist a (finite) alphabet \mathbb{E} , a column-stochastic matrix $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, a non-negative matrix $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}};\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}})$, a diagonal matrix $K_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$, and a collection of generators of semigroups of column-stochastic matrices $B^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ such that

$$\hat{Q}(M) = U(M \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)A - MK_A + \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} B^{(i)}M|a_i\rangle\langle a_i|.$$
(5)

Furthermore, \hat{Q} generates a semigroup of classical superchannels if and only if \hat{Q} generates a semigroup of preselecting supermaps and $\langle a_i | K_A a_i \rangle = \langle \mathbf{1}_{AE} | Aa_i \rangle$ for all $1 \le i \le |\mathbb{A}|$. In this case, \hat{Q} is given by

$$\hat{Q}(M) = U(M \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)A - \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} \langle \mathbf{1}_{AE} | Aa_i \rangle M | a_i \rangle \langle a_i | + \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} B^{(i)} M | a_i \rangle \langle a_i |.$$
(6)

Proof. The main idea is to relate the generators of superchannels to those of semicausal maps. This relation is given by definition for preselecting supermaps and by Theorem IV.3 for superchannels. For a generator \hat{Q} of a semigroup of preselecting supermaps $\{\hat{S}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$, we have

$$\hat{Q} = \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \hat{S}_t = \left(\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C \right)^{-1} \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \left[\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C \circ \hat{S}_t \circ \left(\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C \right)^{-1} \right] \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C.$$

Thus, \hat{Q} generates a semigroup of preselecting supermaps if and only if \hat{Q} can be written as $\hat{Q} = (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C)^{-1} \circ Q \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C$ for some generator Q of a semigroup of non-negative Schrödinger $B \not A$ semicausal maps. Thus, to prove the first part of our theorem, we simply take the normal form in Corollary IV.9 and compute the similarity transformation above.

For $|\Omega\rangle = \sum_i |a_i\rangle \otimes |a_i\rangle \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}}$ and an operator $X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$, the well-known identity $(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_A)|\Omega\rangle = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes X_A^T)|\Omega\rangle$ can be proven by a direct calculation. Similarly, it is easy to show that for $X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}})$, the slightly more general identity $(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_A)|\Omega\rangle = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_A)|\Omega\rangle = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{R}_{A;E}X_A^{T_A})|\Omega\rangle$ holds, where $\mathbb{F}_{A;E}$ is the flip operator that exchanges systems A and E. We use these two identities in the following calculations. For $\tilde{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}})$ and $\tilde{U} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{E}} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$, we have, for any $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$,

$$\begin{split} (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes\tilde{U})(\tilde{A}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{B})\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}(M) &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes\tilde{U})(\tilde{A}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{B})(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes M)|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes(\tilde{U}(\mathbb{1}_{E}\otimes M)))(\tilde{A}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{A})|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes(\tilde{U}(\mathbb{1}_{E}\otimes M)))(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes\mathbb{F}_{A;E}\tilde{A}^{T_{A}})|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes(\tilde{U}(\mathbb{1}_{E}\otimes M)\mathbb{F}_{A;E}\tilde{A}^{T_{A}}))|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}(\tilde{U}(\mathbb{1}_{E}\otimes M)\mathbb{F}_{A;E}\tilde{A}^{T_{A}}))|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}(\tilde{U}(\mathbb{1}_{E}\otimes M)\mathbb{F}_{A;E}\tilde{A}^{T_{A}}) \\ &= \tilde{U}(\mathbb{1}_{E}\otimes M)\mathbb{F}_{A;E}\tilde{A}^{T_{A}} \\ &= (\tilde{U}\mathbb{F}_{B;E})(M\otimes\mathbb{1}_{E})\tilde{A}^{T_{A}}. \end{split}$$

For $\tilde{K}_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}})$, we get, for any $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$,

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(K_{A}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{B})\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}(M) &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\tilde{K}_{A}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{B})(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes M)|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes M)(\tilde{K}_{A}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{A})|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes M)(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes\tilde{K}_{A}^{T})|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes M\tilde{K}_{A}^{T})|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}(M\tilde{K}_{A}^{T}) \\ &= M\tilde{K}_{A}^{T}. \end{aligned}$$

Finally, for an operator $\tilde{B}^{(i)} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$ and for any $1 \leq i \leq |\mathbb{A}|$, we have, for any $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{A}}; \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{B}})$,

$$\begin{split} (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(|a_{i}\rangle\langle a_{i}|\otimes B^{(i)})\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}(M) &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(|a_{i}\rangle\langle a_{i}|\otimes B^{(i)})(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes M)|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes B^{(i)}M)(|a_{i}\rangle\langle a_{i}|\otimes \mathbb{1}_{A})|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes B^{(i)}M)(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes |a_{i}\rangle\langle a_{i}|)|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}(\mathbb{1}_{A}\otimes B^{(i)}M|a_{i}\rangle\langle a_{i}|)|\Omega\rangle \\ &= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C})^{-1}\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{C}(B^{(i)}M|a_{i}\rangle\langle a_{i}|) \\ &= B^{(i)}M|a_{i}\rangle\langle a_{i}|. \end{split}$$

Applying the results of these calculations term by term to the normal form in Corollary IV.9 yields the first claim, where we defined $A = \tilde{A}^{T_A}$, $U = \tilde{U}\mathbb{F}_{B;E}$, $K_A = \tilde{K}_A^T$, and $B^{(i)} = \tilde{B}^{(i)}$.

If the semigroup $\{\hat{S}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ consists of superchannels, that is, preselecting maps such that (by Theorem IV.3) the reduced maps S_t^A of the semigroup of semicausal maps $S_t := \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C \circ \hat{S}_t \circ (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^C)^{-1}$ (which are defined by the requirement that $(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbb{1}_B\rangle)S_t = S_t^A(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbb{1}_B\rangle)$) satisfy $S_t^A|\mathbb{1}_A\rangle = |\mathbb{1}_A\rangle$, then differentiating this relation yields

$$Q^{A}|\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle = \left.\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} S^{A}_{t}|\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle = \left.\frac{d}{dt}\right|_{t=0} |\mathbf{1}_{A}\rangle = 0$$

We conclude that \hat{Q} generates a semigroup of superchannels if and only if Q generates a semigroup of semicausal maps and $Q^A |\mathbf{1}_A\rangle = 0$. We obtain directly from Corollary IV.9 that $Q^A = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_E\rangle)\tilde{A} - \tilde{K}_A$. It follows that

$$\langle a_i \mathbf{1}_E | \tilde{A} \mathbf{1}_A \rangle = \langle a_i \mathbf{1}_E | A^{T_A} \mathbf{1}_A \rangle = \langle \mathbf{1}_{AE} | Aa_i \rangle = \langle a_i | \tilde{K}_A \mathbf{1}_A \rangle = \langle a_i | K_A a_i \rangle, \tag{7}$$

where we used that $\hat{K}_A = K_A$ is diagonal in the last step. This is the condition claimed in the theorem. Finally, (6) is obtained by combining this condition with (5).

V. THE QUANTUM CASE

We now turn to the quantum case. As introduced and described in more detail in Ref. 1, a quantum superchannel is a map that maps quantum channels to quantum channels while preserving the probabilistic structure of the theory. To achieve the latter, it is usually required that a quantum superchannel is a linear map and that probabilistic transformations, i.e., trace non-increasing CP-maps, should be mapped to probabilistic transformations even if we add an innocent bystander. When dealing with superchannels, we will restrict ourselves to the finite-dimensional case and leave the infinite-dimensional case²⁵ for future work. We follow¹ and define superchannels as follows:

Definition V.1 (superchannels). A linear map $\hat{S} : \mathcal{B}(S_1(\mathcal{H}_A); S_1(\mathcal{H}_B)) \to \mathcal{B}(S_1(\mathcal{H}_A); S_1(\mathcal{H}_B))$ is called a superchannel if for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the map $\hat{S}_n = \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{B}(S_1(\mathbb{C}^n))} \otimes \hat{S}$ satisfies that $\hat{S}_n(T)$ is a probabilistic transformation whenever $T \in \mathcal{B}(S_1(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H}_A); S_1(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H}_B))$ is a probabilistic transformation and that $\hat{S}_n(T)$ is a quantum channel whenever $T \in \mathcal{B}(S_1(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H}_A); S_1(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathcal{H}_B))$ is a quantum channel.

A related concept is that of a semicausal quantum channel, which is a quantum channel on a bipartite space $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$ such that no communication from *B* to *A* is allowed. Following Refs 2 and 10, we formalize this as follows:

Definition V.2 (semicausality). A bounded linear map $L_* : S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is called Schrödinger $B \not\to A$ semicausal if there exists $L_*^A : S_1(\mathcal{H}_A) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_A)$ such that $\operatorname{tr}_B[L_*(\rho)] = L_*^A(\operatorname{tr}_B[\rho])$, for all $\rho \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$. Similarly, $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is called Heisenberg $B \not\to A$ semicausal if there exists $L^A : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ such that $L(X_A \otimes \mathbb{I}_B) = L^A(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{I}_B$ for all $X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$.

The map L_* is Schrödinger $B \not\Rightarrow A$ semicausal if and only if the dual map $L := L_*^*$ is normal and Heisenberg $B \not\Rightarrow A$ semicausal. We will often omit the Schrödinger or Heisenberg attribute if it is clear from the context. This section is structured analogously to the section about the classical case. In particular, we will start by reminding the reader of the connection between semicausal maps and superchannels as well as the characterization of semicausal CP-maps in terms of semilocalizable maps, as schematically shown in Fig. 4. We then turn to the study of the generators of semigroups of semicausal CP-maps and finally use the correspondence between superchannels and semicausal channels to obtain the corresponding results of the generators of semigroups of superchannels.

A. Superchannels, semicausal channels, and semilocalizable channels

We first state the characterization of superchannels in terms of semicausal maps, obtained in Ref. 1.

Theorem V.3. For finite-dimensional spaces \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B , let $\hat{S} : \mathcal{B}(S_1(\mathcal{H}_A); S_1(\mathcal{H}_B)) \to \mathcal{B}(S_1(\mathcal{H}_A); S_1(\mathcal{H}_B))$ be a linear map and define $S = \mathfrak{C}_{A;B} \circ \hat{S} \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1}$. Then, \hat{S} is a superchannel if and only if S is CP and Schrödinger $B \not\Rightarrow A$ semicausal such that the reduced map S^A satisfies $S^A(\mathbb{1}_A) = \mathbb{1}_A$.



FIG. 4. Visualization of the relation between the notions of superchannels, semicausal maps, and semilocalizable maps. Superchannels and semicausal maps are related via a similarity transform with the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism. Schrödinger $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal maps are those maps whose output, after tracing out system 4, does not depend on input 2 (ρ or $\tilde{\rho}$). Semicausal maps are precisely those maps that allow for one-way communication only. This is called semilocalizability.

The next result is due to Eggeling, Schlingemann, and Werner,¹⁰ who proved it in the finite-dimensional setting. The following form, which is a generalization of Ref. 10 to the infinite-dimensional case and which has previously been shown in (Ref. 26, Theorem 4), can be obtained from our main result (Theorem V.6) by setting K = 0.

Theorem V.4. A map $\Phi \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is Heisenberg $B \not \rightarrow A$ semicausal if and only if there exist a (separable) Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_E , a unitary operator $U \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, and an arbitrary operator $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ such that

$$\Phi(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V, \text{ with } V = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B).$$
(8)

If \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B are finite-dimensional, with dimensions d_A and d_B , then \mathcal{H}_E can be chosen such that $\dim(\mathcal{H}_E) \leq (d_A d_B)^2$.

We call a normal CP-map $\Phi \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ semilocalizable if its Stinespring dilation can be written in the form of Eq. (8). With that nomenclature, the above theorem is exactly the quantum analog of Theorem IV.4.

B. Generators of semigroups of semicausal CP maps

The main goal of this section is to establish a structure theorem for the generators of semigroups of semicausal CP-maps, the proofstructure of which is highlighted in Fig. 5. This is our main technical contribution. To get started, recall that a generator $L \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B))$ generates a norm-continuous semigroup $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0} \subseteq CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ of CP-maps (i.e., $T_t = e^{tL}$) if and only if *L* can be written in GKLS-form, i.e., if and only if there exist $\Phi \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ and $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ such that

$$L(X) = \Phi(X) - K^{\dagger}X - XK, \quad X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B).$$
(9)

As in the classical case, we continue by showing that T_t is Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal for all $t \ge 0$ if and only if L is Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal. We start by showing that the family of reduced maps $\{T_t^A\}_{t\ge 0}$ also forms a norm-continuous semigroup of normal CP-maps. That T_t^A is normal and CP follows, since for any density operator $\rho_B \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_B)$, we have

$$T_t^A = \operatorname{tr}_{\rho_B} \circ T_t \circ D,$$

where $D \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is defined by $D(X_A) = X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$. Hence, T_t^A is a normal CP-map as composition of normal CP-maps. It remains to check the semigroup properties ($T_0^A = id_A$, $T_{t+s}^A = T_t^A T_s^A$, and norm-continuity). We have

$$T_{0}^{A}(X_{A}) = \operatorname{tr}_{\rho_{B}}[T_{0}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})] = \operatorname{tr}_{\rho_{B}}[X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}] = X_{A},$$

$$T_{t+s}^{A}(X_{A}) = \operatorname{tr}_{\rho_{B}}[T_{t+s}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})] = \operatorname{tr}_{\rho_{B}}[T_{t}(T_{s}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}))] = \operatorname{tr}_{\rho_{B}}[T_{t}(T_{s}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}))] = \operatorname{tr}_{\rho_{B}}[T_{t}(T_{s}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}))] = \operatorname{tr}_{\rho_{B}}[T_{t}(T_{s}^{A}(X_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})] = \operatorname{tr}_{\rho_{B}}[T_{t}^{A}(X_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}] = T_{t}^{A}T_{s}^{A}(X_{A})$$

$$\|T_{t}^{A} - T_{s}^{A}\| = \sup_{\|X_{A}\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A})} = 1} \|T_{t}^{A}(X_{A}) - T_{s}^{A}(X_{A})\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A})} = \sup_{\|X_{A}\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A})} = 1} \|(T_{t}^{A}(X_{A}) - T_{s}^{A}(X_{A})) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})}$$

$$= \sup_{\|X_{A}\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A})} = 1} \|T_{t}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) - T_{s}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})} \leq \sup_{\|X\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})} = \|T_{t}(X_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})}$$

J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 © Author(s) 2022



FIG. 5. Overview of the proof structure leading to the normal form for semicausal Lindblad generators (Theorem V.6). We first observe that semicausality of the CP semigroup is equivalent to semicausality of the corresponding GKLS generator *L*. The insight is then that we can construct a CP-map Φ_0 that is closely related to the CP-part of *L* and that is semicausal (Lemma V.13). From the semilocalizable form of Φ_0 , we then obtain an explicit form for the CP-part of *L*. This, together with the observation that a semicausal non-CP part has to have a local form, yields the desired normal form.

Thus, we conclude that $T_t^A = e^{tL^A}$ for some generator $L^A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A))$ of normal CP-maps. We further have

$$L(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} T_t(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = \frac{d}{dt}\Big|_{t=0} T_t^A(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B = L^A(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B.$$

Thus, *L* is semicausal if T_t is semicausal for all $t \ge 0$. Conversely, if *L* is semicausal, then T_t is semicausal for all $t \ge 0$, since

$$T_{t}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) = e^{tL}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{k}}{k!} L^{k}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{k}}{k!} (L^{A})^{k}(X_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}$$
$$= e^{tL^{A}}(X_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}.$$

Therefore, our task reduces to characterizing semicausal maps in the GKLS-form, i.e., we want to determine the corresponding Φ and K. Our main result (Theorem V.6) is a normal form, which allows us to list all semicausal generators L.

Before we delve into this, we treat the inverse question: Given some $L \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B))$, is it a semicausal generator? A computationally efficiently chackable criterion can be constructed via the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism. If \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B are finite-dimensional and $L \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B))$ is given, then we define $\mathfrak{L} = \mathfrak{C}_{AB;AB}(L) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2})$, where the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism is defined with respect to the orthogonal bases $\{|a_i\rangle\}_{i=1}^{\dim(\mathcal{H}_A)}$ and $\{|b_j\rangle\}_{j=1}^{\dim(\mathcal{H}_B)}$ of \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B , respectively, and where the spaces $\mathcal{H}_{A_1} = \mathcal{H}_{A_2} = \mathcal{H}_A$ and $\mathcal{H}_{B_1} = \mathcal{H}_{B_2} = \mathcal{H}_B$ are introduced for notational convenience. Furthermore, define $P^{\perp} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2})$ to be the orthogonal projection onto the orthogonal complement of $\{|\Omega\rangle\}$, where $|\Omega\rangle = \sum_{i,j} |a_i\rangle \otimes |b_j\rangle \otimes |a_i\rangle \otimes |b_j\rangle$.

Lemma V.5. A linear map $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is the generator of a semigroup of Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal CP-maps if and only if

- \mathfrak{L} is self-adjoint and $P^{\perp}\mathfrak{L}P^{\perp} \ge 0$, and
- $\operatorname{tr}_{B_1}[\mathfrak{L}] = \mathfrak{L}^A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_2}$ for some (then necessarily self-adjoint) $\mathfrak{L}^A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2})$.

The generated semigroup is unital (i.e., $T_t(\mathbb{1}_{AB}) = \mathbb{1}_{AB}$ for $t \ge 0$) if and only if $\operatorname{tr}_{A_1}[\mathfrak{L}^A] = 0$. Furthermore, a linear map $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is the generator of a semigroup of Schrödinger $B \not \to A$ semicausal CP-maps if and only if

- \mathfrak{L} is self-adjoint and $P^{\perp}\mathfrak{L}P^{\perp} \ge 0$ and
- $(\mathbb{F}_{A_1;B_1} \otimes \mathbb{I}_{A_2}) \operatorname{tr}_{B_2}[\mathcal{L}](\mathbb{F}_{A_1;B_1} \otimes \mathbb{I}_{A_2}) = \mathbb{1}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{L}^A \text{ for some (then necessarily self-adjoint) } \mathcal{L}^A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2}).$

The generated semigroup is trace-preserving (i.e., $tr[T_t(\rho)] = tr[\rho]$ for $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ and $t \ge 0$) if and only if $tr_{A_2}[\mathfrak{L}^A] = 0$.

Thus, checking whether a map L is the generator of a semigroup of semicausal CP-maps reduces to checking several semidefinite constraints. In particular, the problem to optimize over all semicausal generators is a semidefinite program.

Proof. It is known (see, e.g., the appendix in Ref. 21) that *L* generates a semigroup of CP-maps if and only if \mathfrak{L} is self-adjoint and $P^{\perp}\mathfrak{L}P^{\perp} \ge 0$. This criterion goes by the name of conditional complete positivity.²² Thus, it remains to translate the other criteria to the level of Choi–Jamiołkowski operators. If *L* is Heisenberg $B \not= A$ semicausal, then

 $\begin{aligned} \operatorname{tr}_{B_1} [\mathfrak{L}] &= \operatorname{tr}_{B_1} [(\operatorname{id}_{A_1B_1} \otimes L)(|\Omega\rangle \langle \Omega|)] \\ &= (\operatorname{id}_{A_1} \otimes L)(|\Omega_A\rangle \langle \Omega_A| \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_2}) \\ &= (\operatorname{id}_{A_1} \otimes L^A)(|\Omega_A\rangle \langle \Omega_A|) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_2} \\ &= \mathfrak{L}^A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_2}, \end{aligned}$

where we defined $|\Omega_A\rangle = \sum_i |a_i\rangle \otimes |a_i\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2}$ and $\mathfrak{L}^A = (\mathrm{id}_{A_1} \otimes L^A)(|\Omega_A\rangle\langle\Omega_A|)$. Conversely, if $\mathrm{tr}_{B_1}[\mathfrak{L}] = \mathfrak{L}^A \otimes \mathbb{I}_{B_2}$, define $L^A = \mathfrak{C}_{A;A}^{-1}(\mathfrak{L}^A)$. Then,

$$L(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_1}) = \operatorname{tr}_{A_1B_1} \Big[\Big((X_A^T \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_1}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{A_2B_2} \Big) \mathfrak{L} \Big]$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{A_1} \Big[\Big(X_A^T \otimes \mathbb{1}_{A_2B_2} \Big) \operatorname{tr}_{B_1} \big[\mathfrak{L} \big] \Big]$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{A_1} \Big[\big(X_A^T \otimes \mathbb{1}_{A_2B_2} \big) \big(\mathfrak{L}^A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_2} \big) \Big]$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{A_1} \Big[\big(X_A^T \otimes \mathbb{1}_{A_2} \big) \mathfrak{L}^A \Big] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_2}$$

$$= \mathfrak{C}_{A;A}^{-1} \big(\mathfrak{L}^A \big) (X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_2}$$

$$= L^A (X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_2}.$$

Finally, it is known that a semigroup of CP-maps is unital if and only if $L(\mathbb{1}_{A_2B_2}) = 0$. However, this is equivalent to our criterion, since a simple calculation shows that

$$\operatorname{tr}_{A_1B_1}[\mathfrak{L}] = L(\mathbb{1}_{A_2B_2}).$$

This finishes the proof for the Heisenberg picture case. The Schrödinger case can be proven along similar lines or be obtained directly from the Heisenberg case via the identity $\mathfrak{C}_{AB;AB}(L^*) = \mathbb{F}_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}[\mathfrak{C}_{AB;AB}(L)]^T \mathbb{F}_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}$.

Let us now return to the main goal of this section: finding a normal form for semicausal generators in GKLS-form. We motivate (and interpret) our normal form as the "quantization" of the normal form for generators of classical semicausal semigroups (Theorem IV.7). In the classical case, the normal form had two building blocks: an operator of the form $Q_1 = \Phi_{sc} - K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$, where Φ_{sc} is non-negative and semicausal, and an operator of the form $Q_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{|A|} |a_i\rangle \langle a_i| \otimes B^{(i)}$, where the $B^{(i)}$'s are generators of row-stochastic maps, (i.e., $B^{(i)}$ generates a non-negative semigroup and $B^{(i)}|\mathbb{1}_B\rangle = 0$). It is straightforward to guess a quantum analog for the first building block: a generator $L_1 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B))$ defined by

$$L_1(X) = \Phi_{sc}(X) - (K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)^{\mathsf{T}} X - X(K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B),$$
(10)

where $\Phi_{sc} \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, given in the Stinespring form by $\Phi_{sc}(X) = V_{sc}^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V_{sc}$, is semicausal. One readily verifies that L_1 defines a semicausal generator. To "quantize" the second building block, note that Q_2 does not induce any change on system A. Indeed, since

$$e^{iQ_2}(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle) = \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} |a_i\rangle\langle a_i| \otimes (e^{iB^{(i)}}|\mathbf{1}_B\rangle) = \sum_{i=1}^{|\mathbb{A}|} |a_i\rangle\langle a_i| \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle = \mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\mathbf{1}_B\rangle,$$
(11)

the generated semigroup looks like the identity on system *A*. In the quantum case, semigroups that do not induce any change on system *A* are more restricted, since any information-gain about system *A* inevitably disturbs system *A*—so there can be no conditioning as in the classical case. Indeed, if one requires that $T_t \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ satisfies the quantum analog of Eq. (11), namely,

$$T_t(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \tag{12}$$

for all $X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$, then $T_t = id_A \otimes \Theta_t$ for some unital map $\Theta_t \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_B)$ (see Appendix B for a proof). Differentiation of $T_t = id_A \otimes \Theta_t$ at t = 0 now implies that the generator of a semigroup of CP-maps that satisfy (12) are of the form $id_A \otimes \hat{B}$, where \hat{B} generates a semigroup of unital CP-maps [i.e., $\hat{B}(\mathbb{1}_B) = 0$]. To conclude, the two building blocks are operators of the form of L_1 in Eq. (10) and maps L_2 of the form

$$L_{2}(X) = (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes B)^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes B) - \frac{1}{2} \{\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes B^{\dagger}B, X\} + i[\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes H_{B}, X]$$

with $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ and a self-adjoint $H_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$.

In the classical case, we obtained the normal form (Theorem IV.7) by taking a convex combination of the basic building blocks. This corresponds to probabilistically choosing one or the other. In quantum theory, there is a more general concept: superposition. To account for this, we construct our normal form not as a convex combination of the maps L_1 and L_2 but by taking a linear combination (superposition) of the Stinespring operators V_{sc} and $\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B$ as the Stinespring operator of the CP-part of the GKLS-form (note here that the coefficients can be absorbed into V_{sc} and $\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B$, respectively). This means that if L is given by Eq. (9) with $\Phi(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V$, then we take $V = V_{sc} + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B$. It turns out that K can then be chosen such that L becomes semicausal. Also note that we can further decompose $V_{sc} = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$, as in Theorem V.4.

Our main technical result is that the heuristics employed in the "quantization" procedure above is sound, i.e., that the generators constructed in that way are the only semicausal generators in the GKLS-form.

Theorem V.6. Let $L: \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ be defined by $L(X) = \Phi(X) - K^{\dagger}X - XK$, with $\Phi \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ and $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$. Then, L is Heisenberg $B \not \to A$ semicausal if and only if there exist a (separable) Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_E , a unitary $U \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, a self-adjoint operator $\mathcal{H}_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$, and arbitrary operators $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, and $K_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ such that

$$\Phi(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V, \text{ with } V = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) + (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B),$$
(13a)

$$K = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B^{\dagger} U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) + \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B^{\dagger} B + K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes iH_B.$$
(13b)

If \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B are finite-dimensional, with dimensions d_A and d_B , then \mathcal{H}_E can be chosen such that $\dim(\mathcal{H}_E) \leq (d_A d_B)^2$.

Remark V.7. Note that the characterization in Theorem V.6 is for generators of Heisenberg B \neq A semicausal dynamical semigroups. There are two special cases of interest: First, if we want the dynamical semigroup to be unital, then we need to further impose $L(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = 0$ in the normal form above, which is equivalent to $A^{\dagger}A = K_A + K_A^{\dagger}$ —a constraint that also appears in the usual Linblad form. Second, if the dynamical semigroup of superchannels, then we additionally require that the reduced generator satisfies $L_*^A(\mathbb{1}_A) = 0$. We will use this in the "translation step" in Theorem V.18.

Remark V.8. In the finite-dimensional case, the Proof of Theorem V.6 is constructive. In Appendix C, we discuss in detail how to obtain the operators A, U, K_A , B, and H_B starting from the conditions in Lemma V.5.

The remainder of this section is devoted to the Proof of Theorem V.6, whose structure is highlighted in Fig. 5. We begin with a technical observation about certain Haar integrals.

Lemma V.9. Let \mathcal{H}_n be an n-dimensional subspace of \mathcal{H}_A with orthogonal projection $P_n \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$, and let $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C)$. Then,

$$\int_{\mathcal{U}_{P}(\mathcal{H}_{n})} (U \otimes \mathbb{1}_{C}) V (U^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) dU = P_{n} \otimes \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{tr}_{P_{n}}[V],$$
(14)

where the integration is with respect to the Haar measure on $U_P(\mathcal{H}_n)$. It follows that $||P_n \otimes \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{tr}_{P_n}[V]|| \leq ||V||$. Furthermore, if \mathcal{H} is separable infinite-dimensional, with orthonormal basis $\{|e_i\rangle\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $\mathcal{H}_n = \operatorname{span}\{|e_1\rangle, |e_2\rangle, \ldots, |e_n\rangle\}$, then there exist $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_C)$ and an ultraweakly convergent subsequence of $(P_n \otimes \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{tr}_{P_n}[V])_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ with the limit $\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B$.

Proof. To calculate the integral, we employ the Weingarten formula,^{27–29} which for the relevant case reads

$$\int_{\mathcal{U}_P(\mathcal{H}_n)} U_{ij} U_{j'i'}^{\dagger} dU = \frac{1}{n} \delta_{ii'} \delta_{jj'},$$

J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 © Author(s) 2022
where $U_{ij} = \langle f_i | U f_j \rangle$ and $U_{i',i'}^{\dagger} = \langle f_{j'} | U^{\dagger} f_{i'} \rangle$ for some orthonormal basis $\{ | f_1 \rangle, | f_2 \rangle, \dots, | f_n \rangle \}$ of \mathcal{H}_n . A basis expansion then yields

$$\int_{\mathcal{U}_{P}(\mathcal{H}_{n})} (U \otimes \mathbb{1}_{C}) V (U^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) dU = \sum_{i,j,i',j'=1}^{n} \left[|f_{i}\rangle \langle f_{i'}| \otimes \left((\langle f_{j}| \otimes \mathbb{1}_{C}) V (|f_{j'}\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) \right) \int_{\mathcal{U}_{P}(\mathcal{H}_{n})} U_{ij} U_{j',i'}^{\dagger} dU \right] = P_{n} \otimes \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{tr}_{P_{n}}[V].$$

For the second claim, we note that a standard estimate of the integral yields $\left\|\frac{1}{n}\operatorname{tr}_{P_n}[V]\right\| = \left\|P_n \otimes \frac{1}{n}\operatorname{tr}_{P_n}[V]\right\| \le \|V\|$. Thus, the sequence $\left(\frac{1}{n}\operatorname{tr}_{P_n}[V]\right)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is bounded and hence, by Banach–Alaoglu, has an ultraweakly convergent subsequence, whose limit we call *B*. The claim then follows by observing that under the separability assumption, $(P_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges ultraweakly to \mathbb{I}_A and that the tensor product of two ultraweakly convergent sequences converges ultraweakly.

As a first step toward our main result, we provide a characterization of those semicausal Lindblad generators that can be written with the vanishing CP part.

Lemma V.10. Let $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, $L(X) := -K^{\dagger}X - XK$, with $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$. Then, L is Heisenberg $B \not\Rightarrow A$ semicausal if and only if there exist $K_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ and a self-adjoint $H_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$, with $K = K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes iH_B$.

Proof. If $K = K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes iH_B$, then $L(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = (-K_A^{\dagger}X_A - K_AX_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + X_A \otimes (iH_B - iH_B) = (-K_A^{\dagger}X_A - X_AK_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$. Hence, L is semicausal. Conversely, suppose L is semicausal with $L(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = L^A(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$. Let \mathcal{H}_n be an n-dimensional subspace of \mathcal{H}_A and $U \in \mathcal{U}_P(\mathcal{H}_n)$. Then,

$$(L(U \otimes \mathbb{1}_B))(U^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = -K^{\dagger}(P_n \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - (U \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)K(U^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = (L^A(U) U^{\dagger}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B,$$

where $P_n \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ is the orthogonal projection onto \mathcal{H}_n . We integrate both sides with respect to the Haar measure on $\mathcal{U}_P(\mathcal{H}_n)$. Lemma V.9 and some rearrangement and taking the conjugate yields

$$(P_n \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)K = -P_n \otimes \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{tr}_{P_n} \left[K^{\dagger} \right] - L_n^A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$$
(15)

for some operator $L_n^A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$. If \mathcal{H}_A is finite-dimensional, we can take $\mathcal{H}_n = \mathcal{H}_A$ so that $P_n = \mathbb{1}_A$. Hence, $K = -\tilde{K}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B - \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B$, with $B = \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{tr}_A[K^{\dagger}]$ and $\tilde{K}_A = L_n^A$. If \mathcal{H}_A is separable infinite-dimensional, we obtain the same result via a limiting procedure $n \to \infty$ as follows: Let $\{|e_i\rangle\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ be an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}_A and set $\mathcal{H}_n = \operatorname{span}\{|e_1\rangle, |e_2\rangle, \ldots, |e_n\rangle\}$. Then, the second part of Lemma V.9 allows us to pass to a subsequence of $(P_n \otimes \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{tr}_{P_n}[K^{\dagger}])_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ that converges ultraweakly to a limit $\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B$. The corresponding subsequence of $((P_n \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)K)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges ultraweakly to K, and hence, that subsequence of $(L_n^A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges ultraweakly to a limit $\tilde{K}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$. That is, we get $K = -\tilde{K}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B - \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B$. Therefore,

$$0 = L(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - L(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = (L^A(X_A) - \tilde{K}_A^{\dagger}X_A - X_A\tilde{K}_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B - X_A \otimes (B + B^{\dagger}),$$

which can only be true for all X_A if $B + B^{\dagger}$ is proportional to $\mathbb{1}_B$. Since $B + B^{\dagger}$ is self-adjoint, we have $B + B^{\dagger} = 2r\mathbb{1}_B$ for some $r \in \mathbb{R}$. We can then set $iH_B := r\mathbb{1}_B - B$ and $K_A := -\tilde{K}_A - r\mathbb{1}$ so that H_B is self-adjoint and $K = K_A \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes iH_B$.

If we had restricted our attention to Hamiltonian generators and unitary groups in finite dimensions, an analog of this lemma would have already followed from the fact that semicausal unitaries are tensor products, which was proved in Ref. 2 (and reproved in Ref. 11). As another technical ingredient, the following lemma establishes a closedness property of the set of semicausal maps:

Lemma V.11. Let $(V_m)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(W_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be ultraweakly convergent sequences in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, with limits V and W. Suppose that for all $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$, the map $\Phi_{m,n} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, defined by $\Phi_{m,n}(X) = V_m^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)W_n$, is Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal. Then, the map $\Phi : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, defined by $\Phi(V) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)W$, is also Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal.

Proof. For $X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ and $\rho \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, we have that $\rho V_m^{\dagger}(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, since the trace-class operators are an ideal in the bounded operators. Hence, by definition of the ultraweak topology,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[\rho \ V_{m}^{\dagger}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E}) W\right] = \lim_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{tr}\left[\rho \ V_{m}^{\dagger}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E}) W_{n}\right] = \lim_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{tr}\left[\rho \ (\Phi_{m,n}^{A}(X_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})\right].$$

Since tr[$\rho \Phi_{m,n}^{A}(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$] converges as $n \to \infty$ for every $\rho \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, the sequence $(\Phi_{m,n}^{A}(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges ultraweakly.³⁰ We call the limit $\Phi_m^{A}(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$. It is then easy to see that $\Phi_m^{A}(X_A)$, viewed as a map on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$, is linear and continuous. This tells us that the map $\Phi_m : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, defined by $\Phi_m(X) = V_m^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)W$, is semicausal for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Furthermore, we have that $\rho^{\dagger} W^{\dagger}(X_A^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ for all $X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ and $\rho \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, and thus,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[\rho V^{\dagger}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})W\right] = \overline{\operatorname{tr}\left[\rho^{\dagger}W^{\dagger}(X_{A}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V\right]} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \overline{\operatorname{tr}\left[\rho^{\dagger}W^{\dagger}(X_{A}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V_{m}\right]} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \operatorname{tr}\left[\rho V_{m}^{\dagger}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})W\right]$$
$$= \lim_{m \to \infty} \operatorname{tr}\left[\rho \left(\Phi_{m}^{A}(X_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E}\right)\right].$$

Repeating the argument above then shows that Φ is semicausal.

As a final preparatory step, we observe that, given a semicausal Lindblad generator, we can use its CP part to define a family of semicausal CP-maps.

Lemma V.12. Let $L: \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ be defined by $L(X) := V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V - K^{\dagger}X - XK$, with $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ $\otimes \mathcal{H}_E$) and $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$. If L is Heisenberg $B \neq A$ semicausal, then the map $S_{Y,Z} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \rightarrow \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, defined by

$$S_{Y,Z}(X) = \left[V(Z \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - (Z \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V\right]^{\dagger} (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) \left[V(Y \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - (Y \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V\right],$$

is Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal for every $Y, Z \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$.

Proof. For every $M \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, we define the map $\Psi_M : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ by

$$\begin{split} \Psi_M(X) &= L(M^{\dagger}XM) - M^{\dagger}L(XM) - L(M^{\dagger}X)M + M^{\dagger}L(X)M \\ &= \left[(M \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V - VM \right]^{\dagger} (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) [(M \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V - VM]. \end{split}$$

This map has already been used, for a different purpose, in Lindblad's original work [Ref. 19, Eq. (5.1)]. It follows from the semicausality of L that if we choose $M = M_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$ for some $M_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$, then Ψ_M is semicausal. Furthermore, a calculation shows that

$$\frac{1}{4}\sum_{k=0}^{3}i^{k}\Psi_{M+i^{k}N}(X) = \left[VN - (N \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V\right]^{\dagger} (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E}) \left[VM - (M \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V\right].$$

By choosing $N = Z \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$ and $M = Y \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$, it follows that $S_{Y,Z}$ is the linear combination of four semicausal maps and, hence, is itself semicausal. Π

We now combine this lemma with an integration over the Haar measure to obtain the key lemma in our proof.

Lemma V.13. Let $L: \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ be defined by $L(X) := V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V - K^{\dagger}X - XK$, with $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ \mathcal{H}_E) and $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$. If L is Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal, then there exists $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ such that the map $S : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ $\rightarrow \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, defined by

$$S(X) = [V - \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B]^{\dagger} (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) [V - \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B],$$

is also Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal.

Furthermore, if \mathcal{H}_A is finite-dimensional, then we can choose $B = \operatorname{tr}_A[V]/\operatorname{dim}(\mathcal{H}_A)$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{H}_n and \mathcal{H}_m be *n* and *m* dimensional subspaces of \mathcal{H}_A with respective orthogonal projections $P_n \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ and $P_m \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$. Since for every $U \in \mathcal{U}_P(\mathcal{H}_n)$ and $W \in \mathcal{U}_P(\mathcal{H}_m)$, the map $S_{U,W}$, defined in Lemma V.12, is semicausal and also the map $\overline{S} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ $\rightarrow \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, defined by

$$\overline{S}(X) \coloneqq \int_{\mathcal{U}_{P}(\mathcal{H}_{n})} \int_{\mathcal{U}_{P}(\mathcal{H}_{m})} (U \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) S_{U,W}(X) (W^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) \ dW dU,$$

is semicausal. Writing out the definition of $S_{U,W}$ yields

$$\overline{S}(X) = \left[V(P_n \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - \int_{\mathcal{U}_P(\mathcal{H}_n)} (U \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) V(U^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) dU \right]^{\dagger} (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) \left[V(P_m \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - \int_{\mathcal{U}_P(\mathcal{H}_m)} (W \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) V(W^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) dW \right]$$
$$= \left[V(P_n \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - P_n \otimes \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{tr}_{P_n}[V] \right]^{\dagger} (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) \left[V(P_m \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - P_m \otimes \frac{1}{m} \operatorname{tr}_{P_m}[V] \right],$$

where the last line was obtained by using Lemma V.9. If \mathcal{H}_A is finite-dimensional, we can choose $\mathcal{H}_n = \mathcal{H}_m = \mathcal{H}_A$ so that $P_n = P_m = \mathbb{1}_A$ and obtain the desired result immediately. If \mathcal{H}_A is separable infinite-dimensional and $\{|e_i\rangle\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is an orthonormal basis and $\mathcal{H}_k \coloneqq \operatorname{span}\{|e_1\rangle, |e_2\rangle, \dots, |e_k\rangle\}$, then by Lemma V.9, the sequence $\left(P_k \otimes \frac{1}{k} \operatorname{tr}_{P_k}[V]\right)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ has an ultraweakly convergent subsequence with a limit $\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B$, where $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$. Furthermore, since $(P_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges ultraweakly to $\mathbb{1}_A$, we have that the sequence $(V(P_k \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - P_k \otimes \frac{1}{k} \operatorname{tr}_{P_k}[V])_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ has a subsequence that converges ultraweakly to $V - \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B$. Hence, by passing to subsequences, we can apply Lemma V.11, which yields that S is semicausal.

scitation.org/journal/jmp

Remark V.14. The previous two lemmas are at the heart of our result. They illustrate a (to the best of our knowledge) novel technique that allows to characterize GKLS generators with a certain constraint if this constraint is well understood for completely positive maps. It seems useful to develop this method more generally, but this is beyond the scope of the present work.

With these tools at hand, we can now prove our main result.

Proof (Theorem V.6). A straightforward calculation shows that L, defined via (22a) and (22b), is semicausal. To prove the converse, note that by the Stinespring dilation theorem, there exist a separable Hilbert space $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E$ and $\tilde{V} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E)$ such that $\Phi(X) = \tilde{V}^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)\tilde{V}$. It is well known [see, e.g., Ref. 31 (Theorems 2.1 and 2.2)] that if \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B are finite-dimensional with dimensions d_A and d_B , then $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E$ can be chosen such that $\dim(\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E) \leq (d_A d_B)^2$. By Lemma V.13, there exists $\tilde{B} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E)$ such that the map $\Phi_0 \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, defined by $\Phi_0(X) = [\tilde{V} - \mathbb{1}_A \otimes \tilde{B}]^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)[\tilde{V} - \mathbb{1}_A \otimes \tilde{B}]$, is semicausal. We define $V_{sc} = \tilde{V} - \mathbb{I} \otimes \tilde{B}$ and obtain

$$\Phi(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = \Phi_0(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) + \kappa^{\mathsf{T}}(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) + (X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)\kappa,$$

where $\kappa = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \tilde{B}^{\dagger}) V_{sc} + \frac{1}{2} (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \tilde{B}^{\dagger} \tilde{B})$. Since *L* and Φ_0 are semicausal, we can write $L(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}) = L^A(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$ and $\Phi_0(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = \Phi_0^A(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$ for all $X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$. Hence,

$$L(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - \Phi_0(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = \left(L^A(X_A) - \Phi_0^A(X_A)\right) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B = -(K - \kappa)^{\dagger}(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) - (X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)(K - \kappa).$$
(16)

It follows that the map defined by $X \mapsto -(K - \kappa)^{\dagger}X - X(K - \kappa)$ is semicausal. Thus, Lemma V.10 implies that there exist $K_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ and a self-adjoint $H_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$ such that $K - \kappa = K_A \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes iH_B$.

What we have achieved so far is that $\tilde{V} = V_{sc} + \mathbb{1} \otimes \tilde{B}$ and $K = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \tilde{B}^{\dagger})V_{sc} + \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1} \otimes \tilde{B}^{\dagger}\tilde{B} + K_A \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes iH_B$. Hence, if we can decompose $V_{sc} = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$, then we are basically done. However, this decomposition is given (up to details) by the equivalence between semicausal and semilocalizable channels.¹⁰ Since the conclusion in Ref. 10 was in the finite-dimensional setting, we will repeat the argument here, showing that it goes through also for infinite-dimensional spaces while paying special attention to the dimensions of the spaces involved. Since $\Phi_0 \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ and $\Phi_0(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = \Phi_0^A(X_A) \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$, we also have $\Phi_0^A \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A)$. By the Stinespring dilation theorem (for normal CP-maps), there exist a separable Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_F and $W \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_F)$ such that $\Phi_0^A(X_A) = W^{\dagger}(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_F)W$ and such that $span\{(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_F)W|\psi\}|X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_A\}$ is dense in $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_F$. The last condition is called the minimality condition. We then get

$$V_{sc}^{\dagger}(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}})V_{sc} = (W \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)^{\dagger}(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_F \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)(W \otimes \mathbb{1}_B).$$

Clearly, span{ $(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_F \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)(W \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)|\psi\rangle|X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$ } is dense in $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_F \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$. Thus, by minimality, there exists an isometry $\tilde{U} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_F \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E)$ such that $V_{sc} = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \tilde{U})(W \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$. In the finite-dimensional case, the fact that \tilde{U} is an isometry then implies that dim $(\mathcal{H}_F) \leq \dim(\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E)$ such that we can think of \mathcal{H}_F as a subspace of $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E$. Thus, \tilde{U} can be extended to a unitary operator $\hat{U} \in \mathcal{U}(\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E)$. Then, defining $\mathcal{H}_E = \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E$, $U = \hat{U}$, $B = \tilde{B}$, and A = W proves the claim in this case. In the infinite-dimensional case, we can take $\mathcal{H}_E = \mathcal{H}_F \oplus \tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E$. We can now view both $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$ and $\mathcal{H}_F \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$ as closed subspaces of $\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$. Then, $(\tilde{U}(\mathcal{H}_F \otimes \mathcal{H}_B))^{\perp}$ and $(\mathcal{H}_F \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)^{\perp}$ are isomorphic. Hence, \tilde{U} can be extended to a unitary operator $\hat{\tilde{U}} \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$. We finish the proof by defining $U = \hat{\tilde{U}, B = (\mathbb{1}_B \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E} \to E})\tilde{B}$, and $A = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{F \to E})W$, where $\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E} \to E}$ and $\mathbb{1}_{F \to E}$ denote the isometric embeddings of $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}_E$ and \mathcal{H}_F into \mathcal{H}_E , respectively.

As a first consequence, we obtain the analogous theorem for semigroups of Schrödinger $B \neq A$ semicausal CP-maps.

Corollary V.15. Let $L: S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ be defined by $L(\rho) = \Phi_S(\rho) - K\rho - \rho K^{\dagger}$, where $\Phi_S \in CP_S(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, with $\Phi_S(\rho) = tr_E[V\rho V^{\dagger}]$ and $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$. Then, L is Schrödinger $B \neq A$ semicausal if and only if K, V, and \mathcal{H}_E can be chosen as in (22a) and (22b).

As a further corollary, we translate the results above to the familiar representation in terms of jump-operators (by going from Stinespring to Kraus).

Corollary V.16. A map $L: S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to S_1(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ generates a (trace-)norm-continuous semigroup of trace-preserving Schrödinger $B \not \to A$ semicausal CP-maps if and only if there exist $\{\phi_j\}_j \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B), \{B_j\}_j \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B), H_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$, and $H_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$ such that $\{\phi_j\}_j$ is a set of Kraus operators of a Schrödinger $B \not \to A$ semicausal CP-map and $\{B_j\}_j$ is a set of Kraus operators of some CP-map such that

$$\begin{split} L(\rho) &= -i \big[H_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes H_B \,,\, \rho \big] \\ &+ \sum_j (\phi_j + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B_j) \rho(\phi_j + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B_j)^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{2} \Big\{ \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B_j^{\dagger} B_j + \phi_j^{\dagger} \phi_j \,,\, \rho \Big\} - \big(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B_j^{\dagger}\big) \phi_j \rho - \rho \phi_j^{\dagger} \big(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B_j\big). \end{split}$$

J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 © Author(s) 2022 *Proof.* A simple calculation by defining the Kraus operators as $(\mathbb{1}_{AB} \otimes |e_i\rangle)V$, with $\{|e_j\rangle\}_j$ being an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}_E and V given by Theorem V.6.

We conclude this section about semicausal semigroups with an example that uses our normal form in full generality.

Example. We consider the scenario of two 2-level atoms that can interact according to the processes specified in Fig. 6. We can describe this process either via a dilation (as in Theorem V.6) or via the Kraus operators (as in Corollary V.16). In the dilation picture, we introduce an auxiliary Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_E := \mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2$, where \mathcal{H}_i is for the *i*th photon. Then, the process is described by $V = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) + (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B)$, with

$$\begin{split} A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_E), \ A &= |0\rangle \langle 1|_A \otimes |11\rangle_E, \\ B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E), \ B &= |10\rangle_E \otimes |0\rangle \langle 1|_B, \\ U \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E), \ U &= \mathbb{F}_{E,B}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}_1} \otimes \tilde{U}), \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{U} \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}_2 \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ is determined by

$$\tilde{U}|00\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2B} = |00\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2B}, \ \tilde{U}|10\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2B} = |01\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2B}, \ \tilde{U}|11\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2B} = |11\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2B}.$$

The crucial feature of this example is that the CP-part of the generator $(tr_E[V \cdot V^{\dagger}])$ cannot be written as a convex combination of the two building blocks (Φ_{sc} and $id_A \otimes \hat{B}$). As mentioned also in the quantization procedure before, this is a pure quantum feature and stems from the fact that it cannot be determined if a photon arriving at the detector D_1 came from B or A. Hence, the system remains in a superposition state.

We can also look at the usual representation via jump operators. This can be achieved by switching from dilations to Kraus operators. We obtain the two jump-operators

$$L_1 := \underbrace{L_e \otimes L_a}_{=:\phi_1} + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes \underbrace{L_e}_{B_1}, \ L_2 := \underbrace{L_e \otimes |1\rangle\langle 1|}_{=:\phi_2},$$

where $L_e = |0\rangle\langle 1|$ and $L_a = L_e^{\dagger}$ describe emission and absorption of a photon, respectively. Thus, the usual Lindblad equation reads

$$\frac{d\rho}{dt} = (L_e \otimes L_a + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes L_e)\rho(L_e \otimes L_a + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes L_e) + (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes L_e)\rho(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes L_e) - \frac{1}{2} \Big\{ \mathbb{1}_A \otimes L_e^{\dagger}L_e + L_e^{\dagger}L_e \otimes \mathbb{1}_B, \rho \Big\}.$$

It is also possible and instructive to consider the reduced dynamics on system *A*, which can also be described by a Lindblad equation, since *B* does not communicate to *A* (this is not true otherwise),

$$\frac{d\rho_A}{dt} = L_e \rho_A L_e^\dagger - \frac{1}{2} \Big\{ L_e^\dagger L_e \,,\, \rho_A \Big\},$$

where $\rho_A(t) = \text{tr}_B[\rho(t)]$. Not surprisingly (given our model), this describes an atom emitting photons.

C. Generators of semigroups of quantum superchannels

We finally turn to semigroups of quantum superchannels (on finite-dimensional spaces), that is, a collection of quantum superchannels $\{\hat{S}_t\}_{t\geq 0} \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)))$, such that $\hat{S}_0 = id$, $\hat{S}_{t+s} = \hat{S}_t \hat{S}_s$, and the map $t \mapsto \hat{S}_t$ is continuous [with respect to any and, thus, all of the equivalent norms on the finite-dimensional space $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)))$]. To formulate a technically slightly stronger result, we call a map $\hat{S} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)))$ a preselecting supermap if $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B} \circ \hat{S} \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1}$ is a Schrödinger $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal CP-map. Theorem V.3 then tells us that a superchannel is a special preselecting supermap. Again, as for semicausal CP-maps, we characterize the generators of semigroups of preselecting supermaps and superchannels in two ways: First, we answer how to determine if a given map $\hat{L} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)))$ is such a generator. Second, we provide a normal form for all generators.

The answer to the first question is really a corollary of Lemma V.5 together with Theorem V.3. To this end, define $\hat{\mathfrak{L}} := \mathfrak{C}_{AB;AB} (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B} \circ \hat{\mathfrak{L}} \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1}) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2})$, where we fix some orthonormal bases $\{|a_i\rangle\}_{i=1}^{\dim(\mathcal{H}_A)}$ and $\{|b_j\rangle\}_{j=1}^{\dim(\mathcal{H}_B)}$ of \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B such that $\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}$ is defined with respect to $\{|a_i\rangle\}_{i=1}^{\dim(\mathcal{H}_A)}$ and $\mathfrak{C}_{AB;AB}$ is defined with respect to the product of the two bases. Furthermore, we introduced the spaces $\mathcal{H}_{A_1} = \mathcal{H}_{A_2} = \mathcal{H}_A$ and $\mathcal{H}_{B_1} = \mathcal{H}_{B_2} = \mathcal{H}_A$ for notational convenience. Finally, we define $P^{\perp} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2})$ to be the orthogonal projection onto the orthogonal complement of $\{|\Omega\rangle\}$, where $|\Omega\rangle = \sum_{i,j} |a_i\rangle \otimes |b_j\rangle \otimes |a_i\rangle \otimes |b_j\rangle$. We then have the following

Lemma V.17. A linear map $\hat{L} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)))$ generates a semigroup of quantum superchannels if and only if

• $\hat{\mathfrak{L}}$ is self-adjoint and $P^{\perp}\hat{\mathfrak{L}}P^{\perp} \geq 0$,

lemma:



FIG. 6. Systems A and B describe 2-level systems, respectively. The allowed interactions are infinitesimally described as follows: If A is in its excited state, it can emit a photon. Through parametric down-conversion, the photon is converted into two photons (of lower energy). One of those two photons, k₁, is sent to a detector D₁. The other, k₂, is sent to B. If B is in its ground state, it absorbs k₂. If B is in its excited state, it cannot absorb k₂, so k₂ passes through B and travels to a detector D₂. Additionally, in this case, *B* can emit a photon, indistinguishable from k_1 , to D_1 .

- $(\mathbb{F}_{A_1;B_1} \otimes \mathbb{I}_{A_2}) \operatorname{tr}_{B_2} [\hat{\mathfrak{L}}](\mathbb{F}_{A_1;B_1} \otimes \mathbb{I}_{A_2}) = \mathbb{1}_{B_1} \otimes \hat{\mathfrak{L}}^A$ for some (then necessarily self-adjoint) $\hat{\mathfrak{L}}^A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2})$, and $\operatorname{tr}_{A_1} [\hat{\mathfrak{L}}^A] = 0.\hat{L}$ is preselecting if and only if the first two conditions hold.

Proof. Theorem V.3 tells us that $\{\hat{S}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ forming a semigroup of superchannels is equivalent to $S_t = \mathfrak{C}_{A;B} \circ \hat{S}_t \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1}$ forming a semigroup of Schrödinger $B \neq A$ semicausal CP-maps and that the reduced map S_t^A satisfies $S_t^A(\mathbb{1}_A) = \mathbb{1}_A$. By Lemma V.5, the semicausal semigroup property is equivalent to the first two conditions in the statement. This proves the claim about preselecting \hat{L} .

By differentiation, it follows that $S_t^A(\mathbb{1}_A) = \mathbb{1}_A$ is satisfied if and only if L^A , the generator of $\{S_t^A\}_{t\geq 0}$, satisfies $L^A(\mathbb{1}_A) = 0$. However, since $\operatorname{tr}_{A_1}\left[\hat{\mathfrak{L}}^A\right] = L^A(\mathbb{1}_A)$, the claim follows.

We finally turn to a normal form for generators of semigroups of preselecting supermaps and superchannels.

Theorem V.18. A linear map $\hat{L} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B))$ generates a semigroup of hyper-preselecting supermaps if and only if there exist a Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_E , a state $\sigma \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_E)$, a unitary $U \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, a self-adjoint operator $\mathcal{H}_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$, and arbitrary operators $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, and $K_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$ such that \hat{L} acts on $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B))$ as $\hat{L}(T) = \hat{\Phi}(T) - \hat{\kappa}_L(T) - \hat{\kappa}_R(T)$ with

$$\hat{\Phi}(T)(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[U \left(T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{E} \right) (A(\rho \otimes \sigma) A^{\dagger}) U^{\dagger} \Big] + \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[B \left(T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{E} \right) ((\rho \otimes \sigma) A^{\dagger}) U^{\dagger} \Big] + \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[U \left(T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{E} \right) (A(\rho \otimes \sigma)) B^{\dagger} \Big] + \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[B \left(T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{E} \right) ((\rho \otimes \sigma)) B^{\dagger} \Big],$$
(17)

$$\hat{\kappa}_L(T)(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_E\left[B^{\dagger}U\left(T\otimes \operatorname{id}_E\right)(A(\rho\otimes\sigma))\right] + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}_E\left[B^{\dagger}B(T\otimes \operatorname{id}_E)(\rho\otimes\sigma)\right] + T(K_A\rho) + iH_B T(\rho),$$
(18a)

$$\hat{\kappa}_{R}(T)(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{E}\left[\left(T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{E}\right)\left(\left(\rho \otimes \sigma\right)A^{\dagger}\right) U^{\dagger}B\right] + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}_{E}\left[\left(T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{E}\right)\left(\rho \otimes \sigma\right)B^{\dagger}B\right] + T(\rho K_{A}^{\dagger}) - T(\rho) iH_{B}.$$
(18b)

We can choose σ to be pure and \mathcal{H}_E with dim $(\mathcal{H}_E) \leq (d_A d_B)^2$, where d_A and d_B are the dimensions of \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B , respectively. Furthermore, \hat{L} generates a semigroup of superchannels if and only if \hat{L} generates a semigroup of preselecting supermaps and tr_o[$A^{\dagger}A$] = $K_A + K_A^{\dagger}$. In that case, we can split L into a dissipative part D and a "Hamiltonian" part Ĥ, i.e., a part that generates a (semi-)group of invertible superchannels whose inverses are superchannels as well. We have $\hat{L}(T) = \hat{D}(T) + \hat{H}(T)$, with

$$\hat{D}(T)(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{E}[\hat{D}'(T)(\rho)] \quad and \quad \hat{H}(T)(\rho) = -i[H_{B}, T(\rho)] - iT([H_{A}, \rho])$$

where H_A is the imaginary part of K_A , where

J. Math. Phys. 63, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 © Author(s) 2022

$$\hat{D}'(T)(\rho) = U(T \otimes \mathrm{id}_E)(A(\rho \otimes \sigma)A^{\dagger})U^{\dagger} - \frac{1}{2}(T \otimes \mathrm{id}_E)(\left\{A^{\dagger}A, \rho \otimes \sigma\right\})$$
(19a)

$$+B(T\otimes \mathrm{id}_{E})(\rho\otimes\sigma)B^{\dagger}-\frac{1}{2}\left\{B^{\dagger}B,\ (T\otimes \mathrm{id}_{E})(\rho\otimes\sigma)\right\}$$
(19b)

$$+\left[U(T\otimes \mathrm{id}_E)(A(\rho\otimes\sigma)), B^{\dagger}\right] + \left[B, (T\otimes \mathrm{id}_E)((\rho\otimes\sigma)A^{\dagger})U^{\dagger}\right]$$
(19c)

and where $[\cdot, \cdot]$ and $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ denote the commutator and anticommutator, respectively.

Remark V.19. Similar to Theorem V.6, the Proof of Theorem V.18 is constructive. In Appendix D, we discuss in detail how to obtain the operators A, U, K_A , B, H_A , and H_B starting from the conditions in Theorem V.17.

As in the classical case, the proof strategy is to use the relation between superchannels and semicausal channels and Theorem V.6. As this translation process is more involved than in the classical case, we need two auxiliary lemmas.

Lemma V.20. Let $S : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ be given by

$$S(X) = \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes L_{B}) (L_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) X (R_{A}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes R_{B}^{\dagger}) \Big],$$

$$(20)$$

with Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_C and \mathcal{H}_E , operators $L_A, R_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C)$, and $L_B, R_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_C \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$. Then, for $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B))$ and $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$,

$$\left[\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1}\circ S\circ\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}\right](T)(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{E}\left[V_{L}(T\otimes \operatorname{id}_{C})\left(W_{L}\rho W_{R}^{\dagger}\right)V_{R}^{\dagger}\right],\tag{21}$$

with $V_L = L_B \mathbb{F}_{B;C}$, $V_R = R_B \mathbb{F}_{B;C}$, and $W_L = L_A^{T_A}$, $W_R = R_A^{T_A}$. Here, the partial transpose on \mathcal{H}_A is taken with respect to the basis used to define the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism.

Proof. The proof is a direct calculation. We present it in detail in Appendix A.

Lemma V.21. Let
$$X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$$
, $Y \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C)$, $\rho \in \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_B)$. Then, $\operatorname{tr}_{\rho}[XY]^T = \operatorname{tr}_{C}[Y^{T_A}(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \rho)X^{T_A}]$.

Proof. The proof is a direct calculation. We present it in detail in Appendix A.

We are finally ready to prove Theorem V.18

Proof (Theorem V.18). The idea is to relate the generators of superchannels to semicausal maps. This relation is given by definition for preselecting supermaps and by Theorem V.3 for superchannels. For a generator \hat{L} of a semigroup of preselecting supermaps $\{\hat{S}_t\}_{t\geq0}$, we have

$$\hat{L} = \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1} \circ \left. \frac{d}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \left[\mathfrak{C}_{A;B} \circ \hat{S}_t \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1} \right] \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}$$

Thus, \hat{L} generates a semigroup of preselecting supermaps if and only if \hat{L} can be written as $\hat{L} = \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1} \circ L \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}$ for some generator L of a semigroup of Schrödinger $B \neq A$ semicausal CP-maps. Thus, to prove the first part of our theorem, we can take the normal form in Corollary V.15 and compute the similarity transformation above. We now execute this in detail. To start with, Corollary V.15 tells us that $L(\rho)$ = $\Phi_S(\rho) - K\rho - \rho K^{\dagger}$, where

$$\Phi_{S}(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{E}\left[V\rho V^{\dagger}\right], \text{ with } V = (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \tilde{U})(\tilde{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) + (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \tilde{B}),$$
(22a)

$$K = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \tilde{B}^{\dagger} \tilde{U}) (\tilde{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) + \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{1}_A \otimes \tilde{B}^{\dagger} \tilde{B} + \tilde{K}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes i \tilde{H}_B,$$
(22b)

for some unitary $\tilde{U} \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, some self-adjoint $\tilde{H}_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$, and some operators $\tilde{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, $\tilde{B} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, and $\tilde{K}_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$. In order to apply Lemma V.20, we fix a unit vector $|\xi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_E$ and define $\Xi_A := \mathbb{1}_A \otimes |\xi\rangle \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ and $\Xi_B := |\xi\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ so that $\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \tilde{B} = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \tilde{B}\Xi_B^{\dagger})(\Xi_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$. We can then write

$$\Phi_{S}(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \tilde{U}) (\tilde{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) \rho (\tilde{A}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes U^{\dagger}) \Big] + \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \tilde{B}\Xi_{B}^{\dagger}) (\Xi_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) \rho (\Xi_{A}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \Xi_{B}\tilde{B}^{\dagger}) \Big] \\ + \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \tilde{U}) (\tilde{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) \rho (\Xi_{A}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \Xi_{B}\tilde{B}^{\dagger}) \Big] + \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \tilde{B}\Xi_{B}^{\dagger}) (\Xi_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) \rho (\tilde{A}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes U^{\dagger}) \Big],$$

J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 © Author(s) 2022 П

ħ

which is an expression suitable for a term by term application of Lemma V.20. Doing so yields

$$\begin{aligned} (T)(\rho) &\coloneqq (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1} \circ \Phi_{S} \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B})(T)(\rho) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[U \ (T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{E})(A(\rho \otimes \sigma)A^{\dagger}) \ U^{\dagger} \Big] + \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[B \ (T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{E})((\rho \otimes \sigma)A^{\dagger}) \ U^{\dagger} \Big] \\ &+ \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[U \ (T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{E})(A(\rho \otimes \sigma)) \ B^{\dagger} \Big] + \operatorname{tr}_{E} \Big[B \ (T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{E})((\rho \otimes \sigma)) \ B^{\dagger} \Big], \end{aligned}$$

where we defined $U := \tilde{U}\mathbb{F}_{B;E}$, $B := \tilde{B}\Xi_B^{\dagger}\mathbb{F}_{B;E}$, $A := \tilde{A}^{T_A}\Xi_A^{\dagger}$, and $\sigma := |\xi\rangle\langle\xi|$. This proves Eq. (17). Similarly, upon defining $\kappa_L(\rho) := K\rho$, we can write³²

$$\begin{aligned} \varepsilon_L(\rho) &= \operatorname{tr}_E \Big[(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{F}_{E;B} \Xi_B \tilde{B}^{\dagger} \tilde{U}) (\tilde{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) \rho(\Xi_A^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{F}_{B;E}) \Big] + \operatorname{tr}_E \Big[(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{F}_{E;B} \Xi_B \tilde{B}^{\dagger} \tilde{B} \Xi_B^{\dagger}) (\Xi_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) \rho(\Xi_A^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{F}_{B;E}) \Big] \\ &+ \operatorname{tr}_C \Big[(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) (\tilde{K}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) \rho(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) \Big] + \operatorname{tr}_C \Big[(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) \rho(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) \Big] \end{aligned}$$

and apply Lemma V.20 term by term, which yields

â

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{\kappa}_L(T)(\rho) &:= (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1} \circ \kappa_L \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B})(T)(\rho) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}_E \Big[B^{\dagger} U \ (T \otimes \operatorname{id}_E) (A(\rho \otimes \sigma)) \Big] + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}_E \Big[B^{\dagger} B(T \otimes \operatorname{id}_E)(\rho \otimes \sigma) \Big] + T(K_A \rho) + i H_B \ T(\rho), \end{aligned}$$

where U, A, and B are defined as above and $K_A := (\tilde{K}_A)^T$ and $H_B := \tilde{H}_B$. An analogous calculation with $\kappa_R(\rho) := \rho K^{\dagger}$ and $\hat{\kappa}_R(T) := (\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1} \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B})(T)$ finishes the proof of the first part, since the claim about the dimension of \mathcal{H}_E follows form the corresponding statements in Theorem V.6.

To prove the second part, first remember that we have observed above that Theorem V.3 implies that *L* is Schrödinger $B \not\Rightarrow A$ semicausal, with $\operatorname{tr}_B[L(\rho)] = L^A(\operatorname{tr}_B[\rho])$. Furthermore, if we write $S_t = \mathfrak{C}_{A;B} \circ \hat{S}_t \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1}$, then Theorem V.3 implies that S_t is Schrödinger $B \not\Rightarrow A$ semicausal for all $t \ge 0$, with $\operatorname{tr}_B[S_t(\rho)] = S_t^A(\operatorname{tr}_B[\rho])$, and also $S_t^A(\mathbb{1}_A) = \mathbb{1}_A$ holds. Differentiating that expression at t = 0 yields the equivalent condition $L^A(\mathbb{1}_A) = 0$. Hence, our goal is to incorporate the last condition into the form of (22). To do so, we determine L^A by calculating $\operatorname{tr}_B[L(\rho)]$, where *L* is in the form of (22). We obtain $\operatorname{tr}_B[L(\rho)] = \operatorname{tr}_E[\tilde{A}\operatorname{tr}_B[\rho]\tilde{A}^{\dagger}] - \tilde{K}_A\operatorname{tr}_B[\rho] - \operatorname{tr}_B[\rho]\tilde{K}_A^{\dagger}$. Thus, the condition $L^A(\mathbb{1}) = 0$ holds if and only if $\operatorname{tr}_E[\tilde{A}\tilde{A}^{\dagger}] = \tilde{K}_A + \tilde{K}_A^{\dagger}$. Transposing both sides of this equation and using that the definition of *A* implies that $\tilde{A} = A^{T_A}\Xi_A$ yield $\left(\operatorname{tr}_E[A^{T_A}(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \sigma)(A^{\dagger})^{T_A}]\right)^T = K_A + K_A^{\dagger}$. However, the left-hand side is, by Lemma V.21, equal to $\operatorname{tr}_\sigma[A^{\dagger}A]$. This proves the claim that \hat{L} generates a semigroup of superchannels if and only if \hat{L} is hyper-preselecting and $\operatorname{tr}_\sigma[A^{\dagger}A] = K_A + K_A^{\dagger}$. Finally, defining $H_A := \frac{1}{2i}(K_A - K_A^{\dagger})$ and a few rearrangements lead to (19).

VI. CONCLUSION

A. Summary

The underlying question of this work is as follows: How can we mathematically characterize the processes that describe the aging of quantum devices? We have argued that, under a Markovianity assumption, such processes can be modeled by continuous semigroups of quantum superchannels. Therefore, the goal of this work was to provide a full characterization of such semigroups of superchannels.

We have derived such a general characterization in terms of the generators of these semigroups. Crucially, we have exploited that superchannels correspond to certain semicausal maps and that, therefore, it suffices to characterize generators of semigroups of semicausal maps. We have demonstrated both an efficient procedure for checking whether a given generator is indeed a valid semicausal GKLS generator and a complete characterization of such valid semicausal GKLS generators. The latter is constructive in the sense that it can be used to describe parametrizations of these generators. Aside from the theoretical relevance of these results, they will be valuable in studying properties of these generators numerically. Finally, we have translated these results back to the level of superchannels, thus answering our initial question.

We have also posed and answered the classical counterpart of the above question. That is, we have characterized the generators semigroups of classical superchannels and of semicausal non-negative maps. These results for the classical case might be of independent interest. From the perspective of quantum information theory, they provide a comparison helpful to understand and interpret the characterizations in the quantum case.

B. Outlook and open questions

We conclude by presenting some open questions raised by our work. First, in our proof of the characterization of semicausal GKLS generators, we have described a procedure for constructing a semicausal CP-map associated with such a generator. We believe that this method can be applied to a wide range of problems. Determining the exact scope of this method is currently work in progress.

Second, there is a wealth of results on the spectral properties of quantum channels and, in particular, semigroups of quantum channels. With the explicit form of generators of semigroups of superchannels now known, we can conduct analogous studies for semigroups of quantum superchannels. Understanding such spectral properties, and potentially how they differ from the properties in the scenario of quantum

channels, would, in particular, lead to a better understanding of the asymptotic behavior of semigroups of superchannels, e.g., with respect to entropy production, ^{33,34} the thermodynamics of quantum channels, ³⁵ or entanglement-breaking properties.³⁶

A further natural question would be a quantum superchannel analog of the Markovianity problem: When can a quantum superchannel \hat{S} be written as $e^{\hat{L}}$ for some \hat{L} that generates a semigroup of superchannels? Several works have investigated the Markovianity problem for quantum channels^{21,37–39} and a divisibility variant of this question, both for quantum channels and for stochastic matrices.^{40–42} It would be interesting to see how these results translate to quantum or classical superchannels. Similarly, we can now ask questions of reachability along Markovian paths. Yet another question aiming at understanding Markovianity is as follows: If we consider master equations arising from a Markovianity assumption on the underlying process formalized not via semigroups of channels but instead via semigroups of superchannels, what are the associated classes of (time-dependent) generators and corresponding CPTP evolutions?

Two related directions, both of which will lead to a better understanding of Markovian structures in higher order quantum operations, are as follows: support our mathematical characterization of the generators of semigroups of superchannels by a physical interpretation, similar to the Monte Carlo wave function interpretation of Lindblad generators of quantum channels, and extend our characterization from superchannels to general higher order maps.

This work has focused on generators of general semigroups of superchannels, without further restrictions. For quantum channels and their Lindblad generators, there exists a well-developed theory of locality, at the center of which are Lieb–Robinson bounds.⁴³ If we put locality restrictions on generators of superchannels, how do these translate to the generated superchannels?

Finally, an important conceptual direction for future work is to identify further applications of our theory of dynamical semigroups of superchannels. In the Introduction, we gave a physical meaning to semigroups of superchannels by relating them to the decay process of quantum devices. This, however, is only one possible interpretation. For example, semigroups of superchannels might also describe a manufacturing process, where a quantum device is created layer-by-layer. We hope that other use-cases will be found in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

M.C.C. and M.H. thank Michael M. Wolf for insightful discussions about the contents of this paper. We also thank Li Gao, Lisa Hänggli, Robert König, and Farzin Salek for helpful suggestions for improving the presentation. M.C.C. and M.H. also thank the anonymous reviewers from TQC 2022 and from the Journal of Mathematical Physics for their constructive criticism. M.H. was supported by the Bavarian excellence network ENB via the International Ph.D. Program of Excellence *Exploring Quantum Matter* (EXQM). M.C.C. gratefully acknowledges support from the TopMath Graduate Center of the TUM Graduate School at the Technische Universität München, Germany, from the TopMath Program at the Elite Network of Bavaria, and from the German Academic Scholarship Foundation (Studienstiftung des deutschen Volkes).

AUTHOR DECLARATIONS

Conflict of Interest

The authors have no conflicts to disclose.

DATA AVAILABILITY

Data sharing is not applicable to this article as no new data were created or analyzed in this study.

APPENDIX A: PROOF OF LEMMAS V.20 AND V.21

In this appendix, we provide a complete proof of Lemmas V.20 and V.21.

Lemma A.1 (restatement of Lemma V.20). Let $S : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ be given by

$$S(X) = \operatorname{tr}_{E} \left[(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes L_{B})(L_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})X(R_{A}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes R_{B}^{\dagger}) \right],$$

with Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_C and \mathcal{H}_E , operators L_A , $R_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C)$, and L_B , $R_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_C \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$. Then, for $T \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A); \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B))$ and $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$,

$$\left[\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1}\circ S\circ\mathfrak{C}_{A;B}\right](T)(\rho)=\mathrm{tr}_{E}\left[V_{L}(T\otimes\mathrm{id}_{C})\left(W_{L}\rho W_{R}^{\dagger}\right)V_{R}^{\dagger}\right],$$

with $V_L = L_B \mathbb{F}_{B;C}$, $V_R = R_B \mathbb{F}_{B;C}$ and $W_L = L_A^{T_A}$, $W_R = R_A^{T_A}$. Here, the partial transpose on \mathcal{H}_A is taken with respect to the basis used to define the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism.

Proof. Let $\{|e_i\}\}_i$ be the orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}_A with respet to which the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism is defined. Let $\{|c_n\}\}_n$ be an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}_C . Then, the formal calculation, which is an algebraic version of drawing the corresponding tensor-network pictures,

can be executed as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}^{-1} \circ S \circ \mathfrak{C}_{A;B} \end{bmatrix} (T)(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{A} \begin{bmatrix} (\rho^{T} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) \operatorname{tr}_{E} \begin{bmatrix} (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes L_{B}) (L_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(T) (R_{A}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes R_{B}^{\dagger}) \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{E} \begin{bmatrix} L_{B} \operatorname{tr}_{A} \begin{bmatrix} (\rho^{T} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{C} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) (L_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) \mathfrak{C}_{A;B}(T) (R_{A}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) R_{B}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \sum_{i,j} \operatorname{tr}_{E} \begin{bmatrix} L_{B} \left(\operatorname{tr}_{A} \begin{bmatrix} (\rho^{T} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{C}) L_{A} | e_{i} \rangle \langle e_{j} | R_{A}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} \otimes T(|e_{i} \rangle \langle e_{j}|) R_{B}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \sum_{i,j,k,m,n} \langle e_{k} c_{n} | (\rho^{T} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{C}) L_{A} | e_{i} \rangle \langle e_{j} | R_{A}^{\dagger}) e_{k} c_{m} \rangle \operatorname{tr}_{E} \begin{bmatrix} L_{B} (|c_{n} \rangle \langle c_{m}| \otimes T(|e_{i} \rangle \langle e_{j}|)) R_{B}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \sum_{i,j,m,n} \langle e_{i} | (L_{A}^{T}(\rho \otimes |c_{n} \rangle \langle c_{m}|) \overline{R}_{A}) e_{j} \rangle \operatorname{tr}_{E} \begin{bmatrix} L_{B} (|c_{n} \rangle \langle c_{m}| \otimes T(|e_{i} \rangle \langle e_{j}|)) R_{B}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \sum_{i,j,m,n} \operatorname{tr}_{E} \begin{bmatrix} L_{B} (|c_{n} \rangle \langle c_{m}| \otimes T(L_{A}^{T}(\rho \otimes |c_{n} \rangle \langle c_{m}|) \overline{R}_{A}) e_{j} \rangle \operatorname{tr}_{E} \begin{bmatrix} L_{B} (|c_{n} \rangle \langle c_{m}| \otimes T(|e_{i} \rangle \langle e_{j}|)) R_{B}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \sum_{m,n} \operatorname{tr}_{E} \begin{bmatrix} L_{B} (|c_{n} \rangle \langle c_{m}| \otimes T(L_{A}^{T}(\rho \otimes |c_{n} \rangle \langle c_{m}|) \overline{R}_{A}) R_{B}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{E} \begin{bmatrix} L_{B} \mathbb{F}_{B;C}(T \otimes \operatorname{id}_{C}) (\left[\sum_{n} (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |c_{n} \rangle) L_{A}^{T} (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |c_{n} \rangle \right] \rho \left[\sum_{m} (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |c_{m} \rangle) R_{A}^{T} (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes |c_{m} \rangle) \right]^{\dagger} \right] \mathbb{F}_{B;C} R_{B}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix}$$

Lemma A.2. Let $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$, $Y \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_C)$, $\rho \in \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_B)$. Then, $\operatorname{tr}_{\rho}[XY]^T = \operatorname{tr}_C[Y^{T_A}(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes \rho)X^{T_A}]$.

Proof. Let $\{|a_i\rangle\}_i$ be the orthonormal basis with respect to which the transposition is taken. Using the general identity tr $[M^T]$ = tr[M], the definition of the trace with respect to a trace-class operator, and the cyclicity of the trace, we obtain, for every $\sigma \in S_1(\mathcal{H}_A)$,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{tr}\left[\sigma \operatorname{tr}_{\rho}[XY]^{T}\right] &= \operatorname{tr}\left[\sigma^{T} \operatorname{tr}_{\rho}[XY]\right] \\ &= \operatorname{tr}\left[\left(\sigma^{T} \otimes \rho\right)XY\right] \\ &= \sum_{i,j,k} \operatorname{tr}\left[\left(\langle a_{i} | \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}\right)(\sigma^{T} \otimes \rho)(|a_{j}\rangle\langle a_{j} | \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})X(|a_{k}\rangle\langle a_{k} | \otimes \mathbb{1}_{C})Y(|a_{i}\rangle\otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})\right] \\ &= \sum_{i,j,k} \operatorname{tr}\left[\left(\langle a_{j} | \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}\right)(\sigma \otimes \rho)(|a_{i}\rangle\langle a_{k} | \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})X^{T_{A}}(|a_{j}\rangle\langle a_{i} | \otimes \mathbb{1}_{C})Y^{T_{A}}(|a_{k}\rangle\otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})\right] \\ &= \sum_{k} \operatorname{tr}\left[\rho(\langle a_{k} | \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})X^{T_{A}}\left(\left(\sum_{i,j}\langle a_{j} | \sigma a_{i}\rangle |a_{i}\rangle\langle a_{j}|\right)\otimes \mathbb{1}_{C}\right)Y^{T_{A}}(|a_{k}\rangle\otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})\right] \\ &= \operatorname{tr}\left[(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \rho)X^{T_{A}}(\sigma \otimes \mathbb{1}_{C})Y^{T_{A}}\right] \\ &= \operatorname{tr}\left[\sigma \operatorname{tr}_{C}\left[Y^{T_{A}}(\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \rho)X^{T_{A}}\right]\right].\end{aligned}$$

This proves the claim.

APPENDIX B: NO INFORMATION WITHOUT DISTURBANCE

Here, we prove a "no information without disturbance"-like lemma that yielded a useful interpretation in the main text.

Lemma B.1. Let $T \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ be such that

$$T(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B) = X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \tag{B1}$$

for all $X_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$. Then, $T(X) = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes W^{\dagger})(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)(\mathbb{1}_A \otimes W)$ for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$ and some isometry $W \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, where \mathcal{H}_E is some Hilbert space.

Proof. This claim follows from the uniqueness of the minimal Stinespring dilation in the same way as the "semicausal = semilocalizable" theorem. Write Eq. (B1) in the Stinespring form as

$$V^{\dagger}(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V = X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$$

J. Math. Phys. **63**, 072204 (2022); doi: 10.1063/5.0070635 © Author(s) 2022 for some $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_C)$. Then, V and $\mathbb{1}_{AB}$ are the Stinespring operators of the same CP-map $(X_A \mapsto X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$ and the latter clearly belongs to a minimal dilation. Thus, there exists an isometry $W \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ such that $V = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes W)\mathbb{1}_{AB}$. This is the claim. П

Note that the lemma above is just a formulation of the "obvious" fact that if system A undergoes a closed system evolution (id_A) , then there is no interaction with an external system B.

APPENDIX C: CONSTRUCTIVE APPROACH TO THEOREM V.6

In this appendix, we are going to describe in detail how one can computationally construct the operators A, U, B, K_A , and H_B in Theorem V.6 if the conditions of Lemma V.5 are met.

Since it is important for an actual implementation on a computer, let us be very precise about notation. We introduce indexed copies of \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B , i.e., $\mathcal{H}_{A_0} = \mathcal{H}_{A_1} = \mathcal{H}_{A_2} = \mathcal{H}_A$ and $\mathcal{H}_{B_0} = \mathcal{H}_{B_1} = \mathcal{H}_{B_2} = \mathcal{H}_B$. Furthermore, we fix orthonormal bases $\{|a_i\}_{i=1}^{d_i}$ and $\{|b_i\}_{i=1}^{d_i}$ of \mathcal{H}_A and \mathcal{H}_B , respectively. We use the symbol Ω with some subscript to denote the maximally entangled state on various systems. For example, $|\Omega_{A_1;A_2}\rangle \coloneqq \sum_i |a_i\rangle \otimes |a_i\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2}$ and $|\Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}\rangle = \sum_{i,j} |a_i\rangle \otimes |b_j\rangle \otimes |a_i\rangle \otimes |b_j\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2}$. We further reserve $P \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2}) \text{ for the orthogonal projection onto span}\{|\Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}\rangle\} \text{ (i.e., } P = (d_A d_B)^{-1}|\Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}\rangle\langle\Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}|) \text{ and take } |\Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}\rangle = (d_A d_B)^{-1}|\Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}\rangle |\Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}\rangle = (d_A d_B)^{-1}|\Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}\rangle |\Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}\rangle |\Omega_$ $P^{\perp} = \mathbb{1}_{A_1B_1A_2B_2} - P.$

Now, let $\mathfrak{L} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2})$ be given as in Lemma V.5, then we can compute the operators A, U, B, K_A, and H_B via the following 15 steps:

- Compute $\tau = P^{\perp} \mathfrak{L} P^{\perp}$. 1.
- Compute $V = (\mathbb{1}_{A_0B_0} \otimes \sqrt{\tau})(|\Omega_{A_0B_0;A_1B_1}\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{A_2B_2}).$ 2.
- Define $\mathcal{H}_E := \mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2}$ so that $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ (identification). 3.
- Compute $B = \frac{1}{d_A} \operatorname{tr}_A[V]$. 4.
- Compute $V_{sc} = V \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B$. 5.
- Compute $\tau_{sc} = (\mathbb{1}_{A_1B_1} \otimes V_{sc})^{\dagger} (|\Omega_{A_1B_1;AB}\rangle \langle \Omega_{A_1B_1;AB}| \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) (\mathbb{1}_{A_1B_1} \otimes V_{sc}) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B).$ 6.
- Choose any unit vector $|\beta\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_B$. 7.
- Compute $\tau_{sc}^{A} = (\mathbb{1}_{A_{1}A_{2}} \otimes \langle \beta |) \operatorname{tr}_{B_{1}}[\tau_{sc}](\mathbb{1}_{A_{1}A_{2}} \otimes |\beta \rangle).$ 8.
- Compute $\mathcal{H}_F = \text{range}(\sqrt{\tau_{sc}^A})$ so that $\sqrt{\tau_{sc}^A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2}; \mathcal{H}_F)$ is surjective. 9.
- Compute $A = (\mathbb{1}_{A_0} \otimes \sqrt{\tau_{sc}^A})(|\Omega_{A_0;A_1}\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{A_2}).$ 10.
- Compute U as the solution of the system of linear equations $\mathcal{M}(U) = V_{sc}$, where the $d_A^2 d_B^2 d_E \times d_F d_B^2 d_E$ -matrix $\mathcal{M} : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_F \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B)$ 11. $\otimes \mathcal{H}_E$) $\rightarrow \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$ is defined by $\mathcal{M}(U) = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$. Clearly, we must first represent \mathcal{M} with respect to some basis.
- Compute $K = -\text{tr}_{A_1B_1}[P\mathfrak{L}P^{\perp} + \frac{1}{2}\text{tr}[P\mathfrak{L}]P]$, where we identify $\mathcal{H}_{A_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$ so that $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B)$. 12.
- Compute $K_{sc} = K (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes B^{\dagger}) V_{sc} \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{1}_A \otimes B^{\dagger} B.$ 13.
- Compute $K_A = \frac{1}{d_B} \operatorname{tr}_B[K_{sc}].$ 14.
- Compute $H_B = \frac{-i}{d_*} \operatorname{tr}_A [K_{sc} K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B].$ 15.

Note that the procedure above computes an isometry $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_F \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, which can then be extended to a unitary, if necessary. In that case, we also have to embed \mathcal{H}_F into \mathcal{H}_E and redefine A accordingly. More precisely, we need to execute the following additional steps:

- 16. Compute $\mathbb{1}_{F \to E} = \mathbb{1}_{A_1} \otimes |\beta\rangle_{B_1} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{A_2} \otimes |\beta\rangle_{B_2}$.
- 17. Redefine $A \leftarrow (\mathbb{1}_{A_0} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{F \to E})A$.
- 18. Extend U via the following steps:
 - (a) Compute $\hat{U} = U(\mathbb{1}_{F \to E}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_B).$
 - Compute an orthonormal basis $\{|f_i^{\perp}\rangle\}_{i=1}^N$ of range $(\mathbb{1}_{EB} \hat{U}^{\dagger}\hat{U})$. Compute an orthonormal basis $\{|r_i^{\perp}\rangle\}_{i=1}^N$ of range $(\mathbb{1}_{BE} \hat{U}\hat{U}^{\dagger})$. (b)
 - (c)
 - Redefine $U \leftarrow \hat{U} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} |r_i^{\perp}\rangle \langle f_i^{\perp}|$. (d)

Let us comment on why the steps above give the right result. In general, we have

$$\mathfrak{L} = P^{\perp}\mathfrak{L}P^{\perp} + P\mathfrak{L}P^{\perp} + P^{\perp}\mathfrak{L}P + P\mathfrak{L}P = \tau + \left(P\mathfrak{L}P^{\perp} + \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}[P\mathfrak{L}]P\right) + \left(P^{\perp}\mathfrak{L}P + \frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}[P\mathfrak{L}]P\right).$$

Thus, the maps Φ and K appearing in the GKLS-form in Theorem V.6 can be extracted from the previous equation by applying the inverse of the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism. One readily obtains $\Phi = \mathfrak{C}_{AB;AB}^{-1} \circ \tau$ and $K = -\operatorname{tr}_{A_1B_1} \left[P\mathfrak{L}P^{\perp} + \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}\left[P\mathfrak{L}\right]P \right]$.

scitation.org/journal/jmp

- Step 2 computes the Stinespring dilation of a CP-map whose Choi–Jamiołkowski operator is τ . A direct computation shows that $\tau = (\mathbb{1}_{A_1B_1} \otimes V)^{\dagger} (|\Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}\rangle \langle \Omega_{A_1B_1;A_2B_2}| \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) (\mathbb{1}_{A_1B_1} \otimes V).$
- Step 4 computes the operator *B* in the representation. In the Proof of Theorem V.6, *B* was obtained from \tilde{B} , which, in turn, was obtained from *V* and Lemma V.13. In the finite-dimensional setting, Lemma V.13 constructs *B* exactly as is written down above.
- Steps 6, 7, and 8 define τ_{sc} as the Choi–Jamiołkowski operator of a CP-map with the Stinespring operator V_{sc} . Thus, according to the Proof of Theorem V.6, τ is the Choi–Jamiołkowski of a Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal map. Semicausality is expressed on the level of Choi–Jamiołkowski operators by the existence of an operator τ_{sc}^{4} such that $\text{tr}_{B_1}[\tau_{sc}] = \tau_{sc}^{4} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_2}$ (compare with the Proof of Lemma V.5). Using this relation makes clear that step 8 extracts τ_{sc}^{4} from τ_{sc} and that the result is independent of the choice of $|\beta\rangle$.
- Step 10 defines A as the Stinespring dilation of the (reduced) map whose Choi–Jamiołkowski operator is τ_{sc}^{A} . The dilation constructed in this way is minimal. This is exactly the way in which the operator W = A was constructed in the Proof of Theorem V.6.
- Step 11 obtains U by solving the defining relation (for \tilde{U}) in the Proof of Theorem V.6. One might wonder why the solution to this system of equations is unique (even though \mathcal{M} is not a square matrix). Uniqueness follows from the minimality of $A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B$, that is, vectors of the form $(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{FB})(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)|\psi\rangle$ span $\mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E$. In detail, if U and U' satisfy $\mathcal{M}(U) = \mathcal{M}(U')$, then $0 = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes (U U'))(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)$ and hence $0 = (\mathbb{1}_A \otimes (U U'))(X_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{FB})(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B)|\psi\rangle$. By linearity, this implies U U' = 0.
- Step 12 computes the operator *K* in the GKLS-form according to the discussion above.
- Step 13 defines an operator K_{sc} , which according the statement of Theorem V.6 and also due to the discussion below Eq. (16) is of the form $K_A \otimes \mathbb{1}_B + \mathbb{1}_A \otimes iH_B$.
- Steps 14 and 15 extract K_A and H_B from K_{sc} . Note that such a decomposition is not unique, since for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, the transformation $K_A \rightarrow K_A + i\lambda \mathbb{1}_A$, $H_B \rightarrow H_B \lambda \mathbb{1}_B$ leaves K_{sc} invariant. This transformation, however, allows us to choose H_B traceless. In that case, steps 14 and 15 determine K_A and H_B .

APPENDIX D: CONSTRUCTIVE APPROACH TO THEOREM V.18

In this appendix, we are going to describe in detail how one can computationally construct the operators A, U, B, H_A , and H_B in Theorem V.18 if the conditions of Lemma V.17 are met. We use the notation from Appendix C.

Given the operator $\hat{\mathfrak{L}} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2})$ as in Lemma V.17, then we can compute the operators *A*, *U*, *B*, *H*_A, and *H*_B via the following eight steps:

- 1. Apply steps 1–18 in the protocol in Appendix C to $\hat{\mathfrak{L}}$. This yields $\mathcal{H}_E = \mathcal{H}_{A_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{A_2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_2}$, $\tilde{A} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A_2}; \mathcal{H}_{A_0} \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, $\tilde{U} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_E \otimes \mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_B \otimes \mathcal{H}_E)$, $\tilde{K}_A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_A)$, and $\tilde{H}_B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_B)$.
- 2. Choose any unit vector $|\xi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_E$.
- 3. Compute $\sigma = |\xi\rangle\langle\xi|$.
- 4. Compute $A = (\mathbb{1}_{A_{-1}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_E \otimes (\Omega_{A_0;A_3}|)(\mathbb{1}_{A_{-1}} \otimes \mathbb{F}_{A_0;E}\tilde{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{A_3})(|\Omega_{A_{-1};A_2}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{A_3} \otimes \langle \xi|).$
- 5. Compute $B = \tilde{B}(\mathbb{1}_B \otimes \langle \xi |)$.
- 6. Compute $U = \tilde{U}\mathbb{F}_{B;E}$.
- 7. Set $\overline{H_B} = \tilde{H}_B$.
- 8. Calculate $H_A = \frac{1}{2i} (\tilde{K}_A^T \tilde{K}_A^{\dagger T})$, where the transposition is with respect to the $\{|a_i\rangle\}$ basis defined in Appendix C.

Let us comment on why the steps above yield the right result:

- Step 1 can be executed, since the assumptions of Lemma V.5 are the first two assumptions in Lemma V.17.
- Steps 2 and 3 define σ as in the Proof of Theorem V.18.
- Step 4 is a more explicit expression for $\tilde{A}^{T_A} \Xi_A^{\dagger}$ in the Proof of Theorem V.18.
- Steps 5, 6, and 7 are exactly the definitions of *B*, *U*, and \mathcal{H}_B , respectively, in the Proof of Theorem V.18.
- For step 8, we note that the condition $\operatorname{tr}_{A_1}[\hat{\mathfrak{L}}^A] = 0$ implies $L^A(\mathbb{1}) = 0$ so that we can follow the last few sentences in the Proof of Theorem V.18.

REFERENCES

- ¹G. Chiribella, G. M. D'Ariano, and P. Perinotti, Europhys. Lett. **83**, 30004 (2008).
- ²D. Beckman, D. Gottesman, M. A. Nielsen, and J. Preskill, Phys. Rev. A **64**, 052309 (2001).
- ³G. Chiribella, G. M. D'Ariano, and P. Perinotti, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101, 060401 (2008).
- ⁴G. Chiribella, G. M. D'Ariano, and P. Perinotti, Phys. Rev. A 80, 022339 (2009).
- ⁵A. Bisio and P. Perinotti, Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A **475**, 20180706 (2019).
- ⁶O. Oreshkov, F. Costa, and Č. Brukner, Nat. Commun. 3, 1092 (2012).
- ⁷G. Chiribella, G. M. D'Ariano, P. Perinotti, and B. Valiron, Phys. Rev. A 88, 022318 (2013).
- ⁸E. Castro-Ruiz, F. Giacomini, and Č. Brukner, Phys. Rev. X 8, 011047 (2018).
- ⁹J. H. Selby, A. B. Sainz, and P. Horodecki, "Revisiting dynamics of quantum causal structures—When can causal order evolve?," arXiv:2008.12757 [quant-ph] (2020).
- ¹⁰T. Eggeling, D. Schlingemann, and R. F. Werner, Europhys. Lett. **57**, 782 (2002).

¹¹ M. Piani, M. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, and R. Horodecki, Phys. Rev. A 74, 012305 (2006).

¹²M. Reed and B. Simon, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics, Rev. ed. (Academic Press, San Diego, CA, 1980).

¹³S. Attal, Tensor products and partial traces, 2021.

¹⁴E. Davies, *Quantum Theory of Open Systems* (Academic Press, 1976).

¹⁵S. Attal, Quantum channels, 2021.

¹⁶M.-D. Choi, Linear Algebra Appl. **10**, 285 (1975).

¹⁷A. Jamiołkowski, Rep. Math. Phys. **3**, 275 (1972).

- ¹⁸K. J. Engel and R. Nagel, One-Parameter Semigroups for Linear Evolution Equations, Graduate Texts in Mathematics (Springer, New York, 2006).
- ¹⁹G. Lindblad, Commun. Math. Phys. 48, 119 (1976).

²⁰V. Gorini, A. Kossakowski, and E. C. G. Sudarshan, J. Math. Phys. 17, 821 (1976).

²¹ M. M. Wolf, J. Eisert, T. S. Cubitt, and J. I. Cirac, Phys. Rev. Lett. **101**, 150402 (2008).

²²D. Evans and J. Lewis, *Dilations of Irreversible Evolutions in Algebraic Quantum Theory*, Communications of the Dublin Institute for Advanced Studies, Series A Vol. 24 (Dublin Institute for Advanced Studies, 1977).

²³ A. Bátkai, M. Fijavž, and A. Rhandi, *Positive Operator Semigroups: From Finite to Infinite Dimensions*, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications (Springer International Publishing, 2017).

²⁴T. M. Liggett, *Continuous Time Markov Processes: An Introduction* (American Mathematical Society, 2010), Vol. 113.

²⁵G. Chiribella, A. Toigo, and V. Umanità, Open Syst. Inf. Dyn. 20, 1350003 (2013).

²⁶D. Kretschmann and R. F. Werner, Phys. Rev. A **72**, 062323 (2005).

²⁷B. Collins, Int. Math. Res. Not. 2003, 953.

²⁸B. Collins and P. Śniady, Commun. Math. Phys. **264**, 773 (2006); arXiv:0402073 [math-ph].

²⁹M. Fukuda, R. König, and I. Nechita, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **52**, 425303 (2019).

³⁰Uniqueness of such a limit is clear. Existence follows by the Banach–Alaoglu theorem and an application of the uniform boundedness principle, which implies that the sequence $\Phi_{m,n}^A(X_A)$ is norm-bounded.

³¹ M. M. Wolf, Quantum channels and operations: Guided tour, 2012.

 32 The partial trace $tr_{\mathbb{C}}[\cdot]$ over the one-dimensional space \mathbb{C} is just to ensure formal similarity with Lemma V.20.

³³G. Gour and M. M. Wilde, Phys. Rev. Res. **3**, 023096 (2021).

³⁴G. Gour, IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory **65**, 5880 (2019).

³⁵P. Faist, M. Berta, and F. Brandão, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**, 200601 (2019).

³⁶S. Chen and E. Chitambar, Quantum 4, 299 (2020).

³⁷T. S. Cubitt, J. Eisert, and M. M. Wolf, Commun. Math. Phys. **310**, 383 (2012).

³⁸T. S. Cubitt, J. Eisert, and M. M. Wolf, Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 120503 (2012).

³⁹E. Onorati, T. Kohler, and T. Cubitt, "Fitting quantum noise models to tomography data," arXiv:2103.17243 [quant-ph] (2021).

⁴⁰M. M. Wolf and J. I. Cirac, Commun. Math. Phys. **279**, 147 (2008).

⁴¹ J. Bausch and T. Cubitt, Linear Algebra Appl. **504**, 64 (2016).

⁴²M. C. Caro and B. R. Graswald, J. Math. Phys. **62**, 042203 (2021).

⁴³B. Nachtergaele, R. Sims, and A. Young, J. Math. Phys. **60**, 061101 (2019).

Appendix B

Further articles as principal author under review

B.1 On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups with invariant subalgebras

In this article, we consider quantum dynamical semigroups with an invariant algebra. More precisely, we look at uniformly continuous one-parameter semigroups $\{T_t\}_{t\geq 0} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}))$ that have the property that for every $t \geq 0$, the map T_t is a normal CP-map that leaves an (atomic) weakly closed *-algebra \mathcal{A} invariant. The generators of quantum dynamical semigroups are known to be representable in GKSL-form. That is, every generator $L : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ can be written as $L(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V - K^{\dagger}X - XK$, for some $V \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ and $K \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Moreover, the invariance assertion $T_t(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ for all $t \geq 0$ is equivalent to $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$. So, the real question is, what can we say about V and K if we know that $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$?

This research question has its origin in the days I was finalizing Article [2] and is the answer to the question "How can the techniques developed in Article [2] (where they were specifically targeted at semicausal and superchannels) be generalized". To see that the current question is a generalization, note that a linear map $T : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$ is Heisenberg $B \not\rightarrow A$ semicausal if and only if $T(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}$. We further remark that $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}$ has the canonical form of a type-I factor von Neumann algebra.

Our result consists of two parts. First, we show that for approximately finite-dimensional algebras \mathcal{A} , the question: "How do GKSL-generators L with $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ look like?" can be reduced to "How do CP-maps T with $T(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ look like?". This is the content of Theorem 4 in [3]. In the second part, we show how to characterize CP-maps that leave an *atomic* weakly closed *-algebra \mathcal{A} invariant (Theorem 5). This result is a generalization of the equivalence of semicausal and semilocalizable CP-maps [16].

Combining the two partial results leads to a normal form for GKSL-generators with invariant atomic weakly closed *-algebra (Theorem 6). As a further result, we characterize the gauge-freedom in our normal form (Theorem 7).

Our result can be seen as a unifying approach to derive several important results in the literature. Among those are the normal form for quantum dynamical semigroups with an invariant decoherence-free subalgebra [60, Theorem 3.2(1)], quantum dynamical semigroups with an invariant maximally abelian subalgebra [66, 67] and the Koashi-Imoto theorem [59, Eq. (85) and Theorem 3].

Let me reiterate that the idea for the article originates from the request to generalize the techniques of Article [2]. I am the principal author of this article. My main contributions include (but are not limited to) the ideas and the technical write-ups of Theorems 4, 5, 6 and 7.

On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups with invariant subalgebras

Markus Hasenöhrl*

Department of Mathematics, Technical University of Munich, 85748 Garching, Germany Munich Center for Quantum Science and Technology (MCQST), 80799 Munich, Germany m.hasenoehrl@tum.de

Matthias C. Caro[†]

Department of Mathematics, Technical University of Munich, 85748 Garching, Germany Munich Center for Quantum Science and Technology (MCQST), 80799 Munich, Germany caro@ma.tum.de

(Date: February 11, 2022.)

Abstract. The problem of characterizing GKLS-generators and CP-maps with an invariant von Neumann subalgebra \mathcal{A} appeared in different guises in the literature. We prove two unifying results: First, we show how to construct a normal form for \mathcal{A} -invariant GKLS-generators, if a normal form for \mathcal{A} -invariant CP-maps is known — rendering the two problems essentially equivalent. Second, we provide a normal form for \mathcal{A} -invariant CP-maps if \mathcal{A} is atomic (which includes the finite-dimensional case). As an application we reproduce several results from the literature as direct consequences of our characterizations and thereby point out connections between different fields.

1. Introduction

Quantum dynamical semigroups play in important role in many areas of physics. A (norm-continuous) quantum dynamical semigroup is a collection of normal completely positive maps $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ on $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ such that $T_0 = \mathrm{id}$, $T_{s+t} = T_s \circ T_t$ for all $s, t \geq 0$ and the map $t \mapsto T_t$ is norm-continuous. By the general theory of continuous one-parameter semigroups [9, Theorem 3.7], there exists a bounded operator L, called generator, such that $T_t = e^{tL}$ for all $t \geq 0$. The fundamental result due to Gorini, Kossakowski, Sudarshan [12] and Lindblad [17] is that L generates a norm-continuous quantum dynamical semigroup if and only if L is of the form

$$L(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V - K^{\dagger}X - XK, \quad X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}),$$
(1)

^{*}Supported by the Bavarian excellence network ENB via the International PhD Programme of Excellence *Exploring Quantum Matter*.

[†]Supported by the TopMath Graduate Center of the TUM Graduate School at the Technische Universität München, Germany, the TopMath Program at the Elite Network of Bavaria, and the German Academic Scholarship Foundation (Studienstiftung des deutschen Volkes).

for some $V \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ and $K \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$.

In the past, special cases of the following question on restricted GKLS-generators arose in the literature: Suppose $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is a von Neumann algebra such that $T_t(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ for all $t \geq 0$ or, equivalently, such that $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$. How does this condition constrain the operators V and K? In this work, we provide an answer to this question, if \mathcal{A} is atomic — thus covering many interesting cases, in particular the finite-dimensional case. It should be noted here that $T_t(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ for all $t \geq 0$ is equivalent to $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$.

Among the results for which the answer to the question posed above is useful are: The Koashi-Imoto theorem [16], an important result in the theory of quantum communication, giving the general form of a quantum channel leaving a certain set of density matrices invariant; the form of the GKLS-generator imposed by the invariance of the decoherence-free subalgebra [1, 7, 10, 24]; general questions about decoherence, where the form of the GKLS-generator imposed by the invariance of a maximally abelian subalgebra is important [5, 11, 21-23]; the study of Markovian subsystems [26] and the study of the aging process of quantum devices via dynamical semigroups of superchannels [13].

This paper is structured as follows: In Section 2., we introduce the notation and remind the reader of several facts related to completely positive (CP) maps, GKLSgenerators, and weakly closed *-algebras. In Section 3.1., we show how to reduce the general problem of classifying GKLS-generators with an invariant approximately finite-dimensional algebra to the one of classifying normal CP-maps with the same invariant algebra. In Section 3.2. we classify normal completely positive maps with an invariant *atomic* algebra. Section 3.3. combines the results from Sections 3.1. and 3.2. to obtain a classification of GKLS-generators with invariant atomic algebras. In Section 4., we use our results to reproduce several results from the literature discussed above. Finally, in Section 5., we conclude our work and outline possible further lines of research.

2. Preliminaries and Notation

Functional analysis: Throughout, \mathcal{H} (with some subscript) denotes a *separable* complex Hilbert space. For Banach spaces \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{Y} , we denote by $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}; \mathcal{Y})$ the set of bounded linear operators from \mathcal{X} to \mathcal{Y} , which becomes a Banach space when equipped with the operator norm. We abbreviate $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X}; \mathcal{X})$ by $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X})$. The strong operator topology (SOT) on $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}})$ is the smallest topology such that for all $|\psi_{\mathsf{A}}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}}$, the map $X \mapsto X |\psi_{\mathsf{A}}\rangle$ is continuous. The weak operator topology (WOT) on $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}})$ is the smallest topology such that for all $|\psi_{\mathsf{A}}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}}$ and $|\psi_{\mathsf{B}}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}}$, the map $X \mapsto \langle \psi_{\mathsf{B}} | X \psi_{\mathsf{A}} \rangle$ is continuous. The ultraweak (or weak-*) topology on $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}})$ is the smallest topology such that for all $\rho \in \mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}})$, the map $X \mapsto \text{tr}[X\rho]$ is continuous. Here, tr denotes the trace and $\mathcal{S}_1(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}})$ the set of trace-class

operators, that is those $\rho \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_B; \mathcal{H}_A)$ for which tr $\left[\sqrt{\rho^{\dagger} \rho}\right] < \infty$. A subset $T \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is total in \mathcal{H} if its linear span is dense in \mathcal{H} . An operator $V \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_A; \mathcal{H}_B)$ is called an isometry if $\|V|\psi\rangle\| = \||\psi\rangle\|$ for all $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_A$. A surjective isometry is called unitary.

CP-maps and GKLS-generators: A linear map $\Phi : \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}})$ is a normal CP-map if there exists a Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_{E} and an operator $V \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ such that $\Phi(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V$. We denote the set of such normal CP-maps by $\operatorname{CP}_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}})$ and abbreviate $\operatorname{CP}_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H})$ by $\operatorname{CP}_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H})$. The pair $(V, \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ is called a *Stinespring representation* of Φ . An equivalent characterization of normal CPmap is that they admit a *Kraus representation*. That is, there exist operators $\{v_i\}_i \subset \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ such that $\Phi(X) = \sum_i v_i^{\dagger} X v_i$ for all $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, where the series is SOT-convergent. The choice of $(V, \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ representing Φ is not unique. However, the following well-known theorem (see e.g. [19, Theorem 29.6]) quantifies the freedom.

THEOREM 1. Let $\tilde{V} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})$ and define $\Phi(X) = \tilde{V}^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})\tilde{V}$ for all $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}})$. Then there exist \mathcal{H}_{E} and $V \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ such that a) $\Phi(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V$ for all $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}})$ and such that b) $\{(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V|\psi\rangle | X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}}), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}}\}$ is total in $\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}$.

If $(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}, V)$ is any pair such that a) and b) are satisfied, and if $(\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}, \tilde{V})$ is another pair such that a) is satisfied, then there exists an isometry $W \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}; \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})$ such that $\tilde{V} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}} \otimes W)V$. If b) is also satisfied for $(\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}, \tilde{V})$, then W is unitary.

If V satisfies condition b) above, then it is called *minimal*.

A linear map $L : \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is called *GKLS-generator* (or generator in GKLS-form) if there exists $\Phi \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H})$ and $K \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, such that $L(X) = \Phi(X) - K^{\dagger}X - XK$ for all $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{X})$. As for normal CP-maps, the representation is not unique. The following characterization of the freedom can be extracted from [19, Chapter 30], in particular from the proof of Proposition 30.14. We give a complete proof in Appendix B.

THEOREM 2. Let $\tilde{V} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}})$ and $\tilde{K} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and define $L(X) = \tilde{V}^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}})\tilde{V} - \tilde{K}^{\dagger}X - X\tilde{K}$ for all $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$. Then there exist \mathcal{H}_{E} , $V \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ and $K \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ such that a) $L(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V - K^{\dagger}X - XK$ for all $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and such that b) $\{((X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V - VX)|\psi\rangle \mid X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}\}$ is total in $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E}$. If (\mathcal{H}_{E}, V, K) is any triplet such that a) and b) are satisfied, and if $(\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}}, \tilde{V}, \tilde{K})$ is an-

other triplet such that a) is satisfied, then there exists an isometry $W \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}; \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})$, a vector $|\tilde{\psi}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}$, and a number $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\tilde{V} = (\mathbb{1} \otimes W)V + \mathbb{1} \otimes |\tilde{\psi}\rangle, \quad \tilde{K} = K + (\mathbb{1} \otimes \langle \tilde{\psi}|W)V + \frac{1}{2}\|\tilde{\psi}\|^2 + i\mu.$$
(2)

If b) is also satisfied for $(\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}}, \tilde{V}, \tilde{K})$, then W is unitary.

Weakly closed *-algebras: We introduce several conventions that will be useful in simplifying the notation throughout. A weakly closed *-algebra $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is a subalgebra of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ that is closed w.r.t. the WOT¹ and w.r.t. taking adjoints. A weakly closed *-algebra does not necessarily contain the identity — if it does then it is called a von Neumann-algebra (abbr. vN-algebra). Every weakly closed *-algebra \mathcal{A} is (unitarily equivalent to) the direct sum of a zero-dimensional algebra 0_0 and a vN-Algebra [14, Proposition 5.1.8]. That is, $\mathcal{A} = U_{\mathcal{A}} (0_0 \oplus \mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}}) U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$, where $U_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{H}_{\oplus} \to \mathcal{H}$ is a unitary on $\mathcal{H}_{\oplus} = \mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \mathcal{H}_{\overline{0}}, 0_0 = \{0\} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_0)$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}}$ is a vN-algebra in $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\overline{0}})$. If $P_0^{\oplus} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\oplus}; \mathcal{H}_0)$ and $P_{\overline{0}}^{\oplus} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\oplus}; \mathcal{H}_{\overline{0}})$ are the orthogonal projections onto \mathcal{H}_0 and $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{0}}$, then we define $P_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_0)$ and $P_{\overline{0}} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_{\overline{0}})$ by $P_0 = P_0^{\oplus} U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$ and $P_{\overline{0}} = P_{\overline{0}}^{\oplus} U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}$.

Two special types of weakly closed *-algebras are of particular importance to us: the approximately finite-dimensional ones and the atomic ones. A weakly closed *algebra $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is called *approximately finite-dimensional (AFD)* if there exists an increasing sequence $\mathcal{A}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{A}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{A}_3 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ of finite-dimensional (hence weakly closed) sub-*-algebras of \mathcal{A} such that $\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{A}_n$ is WOT-dense in \mathcal{A} . Atomic weakly closed *-algebras are usually defined by the requirement that every non-zero projection in \mathcal{A} majorizes a non-zero minimal projection [25, Definition 5.9] — a property always fulfilled in finite dimensions. For our purposes, it is more convenient to think of them as those weakly closed *-algebras that are the direct sum of type-I factors. A proof of this equivalence can be found in the appendix of [7].

DEFINITION 3. A weakly closed *-algebra $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is called *atomic* if

$$\mathcal{A} = U_{\mathcal{A}} \left(0_0 \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} (\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i}) \right) U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}, \tag{3}$$

for a Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_0 , sequences of Hilbert spaces $\{\mathcal{H}_{A_i}\}_{i\in I}$ and $\{\mathcal{H}_{B_i}\}_{i\in I}$ indexed by a countable index set I, and a unitary $U_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{H}_{\oplus} \to \mathcal{H}$, where $\mathcal{H}_{\oplus} = \mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \bigoplus_{i\in I} (\mathcal{H}_{A_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_i})$.

We further define for all $i \in I$ the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_i = \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{B}_i}$. For all $k \in I \cup \{0\}$, let $P_k^{\oplus} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\oplus}; \mathcal{H}_k)$ be the orthogonal projection onto \mathcal{H}_k and let us define $P_k \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_k)$ as $P_k = P_k^{\oplus} U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}^2$ Hence, an arbitrary element $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$ can be written as SOT-convergent series $X_{\mathcal{A}} = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i$, for some operators $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$, with $\sup_{i \in I} ||X_{\mathbf{A}_i}|| < \infty$.

For $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, we denote by $\mathcal{A}' := \{X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}) | XX_{\mathcal{A}} = X_{\mathcal{A}}X, \forall X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}\}$ its *commutant*. If \mathcal{A} is an atomic weakly closed *-algebra with decomposition given

¹Equivalently, one can use the SOT or the ultraweak topology.

 $^{^{2}}$ Note that this definition is consistent with the one introduced in the first paragraph above.

above, then as a special case of general theory of direct integral decompositions of vN-algebras (see e.g. [15, Proposition 14.1.24, Theorem 11.2.16])), \mathcal{A}' is given by

$$\mathcal{A}' = U_{\mathcal{A}} \left(\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_0) \oplus \bigoplus_{i \in I} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i})) \right) U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}.$$
(4)

Hence, an arbitrary element $X'_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}'$ can be written as SOT-convergent series $X_{\mathcal{A}'} = P_0^{\dagger} X_0 P_0 + \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes X_{B_i}) P_i$, for some operators $X_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_0)$ and $X_{B_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{B_i})$, with $\sup_{i \in I} ||X_{B_i}|| < \infty$. And $X_{\mathcal{A}'}$ is self-adjoint if and only if all the operators in the decomposition are self-adjoint [15, Proposition 14.1.8].

3. Results

3.1. GKLS-generators with invariant *-Algebra

In this section we state and prove our first main result, namely a theorem that allows us to reduce the problem of characterizing GKLS-generators with invariant weakly closed *-algebras to characterizing CP-maps with invariant weakly closed *-algebras. Since CP-maps are special GKLS-generators (for K = 0), this renders these problems essentially equivalent. For technical reasons, we need to restrict ourselves to AFD algebras. The notation in the following theorem and the subsequent proof follows Section 2..

THEOREM 4. Let $L : \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ be defined by $L(X) = \Phi(X) - K^{\dagger}X - XK$, for some $\Phi \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H})$ and $K \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, and let $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ be an AFD weakly closed *-algebra. The following are equivalent

- 1. $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$.
- 2. (Stinespring) Suppose Φ is given in Stinespring representation $\Phi(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V$, where $V \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$. Then there exist operators $V_{0} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_{0} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$, $A, B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ and $K_{0} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_{0})$; an operator $K_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$; and a self-adjoint operator $H_{\mathcal{A}'} \in \mathcal{A}'$ such that

(a)
$$A^{\dagger}(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})A \in \mathcal{A} \text{ and } (X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})B = BX_{\mathcal{A}}, \text{ for all } X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}.$$

(b) V and K have the following form:

$$V = (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_0 + A + B, \tag{5a}$$

$$K = B^{\dagger}A + \frac{1}{2}B^{\dagger}B + K_{\mathcal{A}} + iH_{\mathcal{A}'} + P_0^{\dagger}K_0.$$
 (5b)

3. (Kraus) Suppose Φ is given in Kraus representation $\Phi(X) = \sum_{n \in N} \phi_n^{\dagger} X \phi_n$. Then there exists a countable index set N; collections of operators $\{v_n\}_{n \in N} \subset$ $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H};\mathcal{H}_0)$ and $\{a_n\}_{n\in N}, \{b_n\}_{n\in N} \subset \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ such that $\sum_{n\in N} v_n^{\dagger} v_n, \sum_{n\in N} a_n^{\dagger} a_n$ and $\sum_{n\in N} b_j^{\dagger} b_j$ SOT-converge; an operator $K_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H};\mathcal{H}_0)$; an operator $K_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$; and a self-adjoint operator $H_{\mathcal{A}'} \in \mathcal{A}'$ such that

- (a) $\sum_{n \in N} a_n^{\dagger} X_{\mathcal{A}} a_n \in \mathcal{A} \text{ for all } X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A} \text{ and } b_n \in \mathcal{A}' \text{ for all } n \in N.$
- (b) $\{\phi_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and K have the following form:

$$\phi_n = P_0^{\dagger} v_n + a_n + b_n, \text{ for all } n \in N,$$
(6a)

$$K = \sum_{n \in N} b_n^{\dagger} a_n + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n \in N} b_n^{\dagger} b_n + K_{\mathcal{A}} + iH_{\mathcal{A}'} + P_0^{\dagger} K_0.$$
(6b)

Proof. We prove $1 \iff 2$ and obtain 3 as a corollary. For the implication $2 \implies 1$, let $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$ be arbitrary. We have

$$\Phi(X_{\mathcal{A}}) = (V_0^{\dagger}(P_0 \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) + A^{\dagger} + B^{\dagger})(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})((P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_0 + A + B)$$

$$\stackrel{P_0X_{\mathcal{A}}=0=X_{\mathcal{A}}P_0^{\dagger}}{=} (A^{\dagger} + B^{\dagger})(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})(A + B)$$

$$\stackrel{(X_{\mathcal{A}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})B=BX_{\mathcal{A}}}{=} A^{\dagger}(X_{\mathcal{A}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})A + (B^{\dagger}A + \frac{1}{2}B^{\dagger}B)^{\dagger}X_{\mathcal{A}} + X_{\mathcal{A}}(B^{\dagger}A + \frac{1}{2}B^{\dagger}B)$$

and

$$K^{\dagger}X_{\mathcal{A}} + X_{\mathcal{A}}K = (B^{\dagger}A + \frac{1}{2}B^{\dagger}B)^{\dagger}X_{\mathcal{A}} + X_{\mathcal{A}}(B^{\dagger}A + \frac{1}{2}B^{\dagger}B) + K_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}X_{\mathcal{A}} + X_{\mathcal{A}}K_{\mathcal{A}}$$
$$-\underbrace{iH_{\mathcal{A}'}X_{\mathcal{A}} + iX_{\mathcal{A}}H_{\mathcal{A}'}}_{=0, \text{ since } H_{\mathcal{A}'}\in\mathcal{A}'} + \underbrace{K_{0}^{\dagger}P_{0}X_{\mathcal{A}} + X_{\mathcal{A}}P_{0}^{\dagger}K_{0}}_{=0, \text{ since } P_{0}X_{\mathcal{A}}=0=X_{\mathcal{A}}P_{0}^{\dagger}}.$$

Combining the calculations above yields

$$L(X_{\mathcal{A}}) = A^{\dagger}(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})A - K_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}X_{\mathcal{A}} - X_{\mathcal{A}}K_{\mathcal{A}},$$

which belongs to \mathcal{A} since by assumption $A^{\dagger}(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})A \in \mathcal{A}, K_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$ and $K_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} \in \mathcal{A}$. The proof of the converse proceeds in two main steps: First we show that there are operators V_{0} , A and B such that the conditions in 2a and Eq. (5a) hold. Second, we derive the form of K. As a first step, we construct a family of linear maps on $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ each of which is closely related to L and leaves \mathcal{A} invariant. Since $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$, and since \mathcal{A} is a *-algebra,

$$\Psi(X,Y,Z) := L(Y^{\dagger}XZ) - Y^{\dagger}L(XZ) - L(Y^{\dagger}X)Z + Y^{\dagger}L(X)Z$$
(7)

is an element of \mathcal{A} whenever $X, Y, Z \in \mathcal{A}$. A direct calculation using the representation $\Phi(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V$ reveals that

$$\Psi(X, Y, Z) = [VY - (Y \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V]^{\dagger} (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) [(VZ - (Z \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V].$$
(8)

With the notation introduced in Section 2.: Since \mathcal{A} is AFD, so is $U_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}\mathcal{A}U_{\mathcal{A}} = 0_0 \oplus \mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}}$ and so is the vN-algebra $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\overline{0}})$. Let $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1 \subseteq \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_2 \subseteq \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_3 \subseteq \cdots$ be an increasing sequence of finite-dimensional *-subalgebras of $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}}$, such that $\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_n$ is WOT-dense in $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}}$. For every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, define $\mathcal{A}_n := \operatorname{span}\{\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_n \cup \mathbb{C}\mathbf{1}_{\overline{0}}\}$. Clearly, also $\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{A}_n$ is WOT-dense in $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}}$, but now \mathcal{A}_n is a vN-algebra for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$. In the following, we will often need to assign to operators in $\mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}}$ the corresponding ones in \mathcal{A} . For notational convenience, we define for each $X \in \mathcal{A}_{\overline{0}}$ the operator $\hat{X} = P_{\overline{0}}^{\dagger} X P_{\overline{0}} \in$ $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$. We denote by $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}_n)$ the unitary group in \mathcal{A}_n . As \mathcal{A}_n is finite-dimensional, $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}_n)$ is a compact group, so there exists a unique Haar probability measure on $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}_n)$. For any $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, we obtain the following Haar average

$$\int_{\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}_m)} \int_{\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}_n)} \Psi(\hat{U}_n X \hat{W}_m^{\dagger}, \hat{U}_n^{\dagger}, \hat{W}_m) \, \mathrm{d}U_n \mathrm{d}W_m
= \left((\hat{1}_{\overline{0}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) V - \mathbb{E}_n(V) \right)^{\dagger} (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) \left((\hat{1}_{\overline{0}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) V - \mathbb{E}_m(V) \right),$$
(9)

where

$$\mathbb{E}_{k}(V) := \int_{\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}_{k})} (\hat{U}_{k}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) V \hat{U}_{k} \, \mathrm{d}U_{k}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Since we integrate over a probability measure, $||\mathbb{E}_k(V)|| \leq ||V||$ and hence the (sequential) Banach–Alaoglu theorem implies that the sequence $(\mathbb{E}_k(V))_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ has an ultraweakly convergent subsequence whose limit we denote by $\mathbb{E}(V)$. For $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$, the RHS of Eq. (9) is an element of \mathcal{A} for all $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$, since the integrand is in \mathcal{A} and the Bochner integral converges in norm. Furthermore, since \mathcal{A} is ultraweakly closed, passing to subsequences and taking the limit $n \to \infty$ and then $m \to \infty$ yields that

$$\Psi(X_{\mathcal{A}}) := \left(\left(\hat{\mathbb{1}}_{\overline{0}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}} \right) V - \mathbb{E}(V) \right)^{\mathsf{T}} \left(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}} \right) \left(\left(\hat{\mathbb{1}}_{\overline{0}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}} \right) V - \mathbb{E}(V) \right)$$
(10)

is an element of \mathcal{A} for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$. In other words, Ψ interpreted as a CP-map satisfies $\Psi(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$. We now define V_0 , B and A as follows: $V_0 = (P_0 \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V$, $B = \mathbb{E}(V)$ and $A = V - (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V_0 - B$. Thus $V = A + B + (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)V$, which is precisely Eq. (5a). It follows directly from Eq. (10) that $A^{\dagger}(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)A \in \mathcal{A}$ for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$ — verifying the first part of condition 2a. By the definition of the Haar measure and since $(\mathcal{A}_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is an increasing sequence, we have $(\hat{U}_k \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)\mathbb{E}(V) = \mathbb{E}(V)\hat{U}_k$ for all $U_k \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}_k)$. But since every $X_k \in \mathcal{A}_k$ can be written as a finite linear combination of elements in $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}_k)$ (see [14, Theorem 4.1.7]), we have $(\hat{X}_k \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)\mathbb{E}(V) = \mathbb{E}(V)\hat{X}_k$, for all $X_k \in \mathcal{A}_k$ and hence $(\hat{X} \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)\mathbb{E}(V) = \mathbb{E}(V)\hat{X}$ for all $X \in \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{A}_n$. Evidently, this equation is also preserved under ultraweak limits. Thus $(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)\mathbb{E}(V) = \mathbb{E}(V)X_{\mathcal{A}}$, for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$. Since $B = \mathbb{E}(V)$, this implies the second part of condition 2a. It remains to show that K has the desired form. To this end, note that for any $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$, we have $L(X_{\mathcal{A}}) \in \mathcal{A}$ by assumption, but since $V = (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_0 + A + B$, $(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})B = BX_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $P_0X_{\mathcal{A}} = 0$, we also have

$$L(X_{\mathcal{A}}) = [A+B]^{\dagger} (X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) [A+B] - K^{\dagger} X_{\mathcal{A}} - X_{\mathcal{A}} K$$
$$= A^{\dagger} (X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) A - (K-B^{\dagger} A - \frac{1}{2} B^{\dagger} B)^{\dagger} X_{\mathcal{A}} - X_{\mathcal{A}} (K-B^{\dagger} A - \frac{1}{2} B^{\dagger} B).$$

Since $A^{\dagger}(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})A \in \mathcal{A}$, this implies that

$$-\kappa^{\dagger} X_{\mathcal{A}} - X_{\mathcal{A}} \kappa \in \mathcal{A}, \tag{11}$$

for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$, where $\kappa = K - B^{\dagger}A - \frac{1}{2}B^{\dagger}B$. For $U_n \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}_n)$, we choose $X_{\mathcal{A}} = \hat{U}_n$, multiply Eq. (11) from the left by \hat{U}_n^{\dagger} and integrate over the Haar measure. Thus, we see that

$$-\int_{\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A}_n)} \hat{U}_n^{\dagger} \kappa \hat{U}_n \, \mathrm{d}U_n - \hat{\mathbb{1}}_{\overline{0}} \kappa \tag{12}$$

belongs to \mathcal{A} . By the same arguments as above, we can pass to a subsequence such that for $n \to \infty$, expression Eq. (12) converges to

$$-\kappa_{\mathcal{A}'} - \hat{\mathbb{1}}_{\overline{0}}\kappa,\tag{13}$$

for some $\kappa_{\mathcal{A}'} \in \mathcal{A}'$ and such that the whole expression belongs to \mathcal{A} . We now define the self-adjoint operator $H_{\mathcal{A}'} = -\frac{1}{2i}(\kappa_{\mathcal{A}'} - \kappa_{\mathcal{A}'}^{\dagger}) \in \mathcal{A}'$, the operator $K_{\mathcal{A}} := \hat{\mathbb{1}}_{\overline{0}}\kappa - iH_{\mathcal{A}'} = \kappa - P_0^{\dagger}P_0\kappa - iH_{\mathcal{A}'}$ and $K_0 = P_0\kappa$. By the definition of K_0 and $K_{\mathcal{A}}$ we thus get $\kappa = K_{\mathcal{A}} + iH_{\mathcal{A}'} + P_0^{\dagger}K_0$, which is the desired form if $K_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$. This last assertion can be seen as follows:

$$K_{\mathcal{A}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(K_{\mathcal{A}} + K_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(K_{\mathcal{A}} - K_{\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} \right)$$
$$= \underbrace{\frac{1}{2} \left(\kappa^{\dagger} \hat{1}_{\overline{0}} + \hat{1}_{\overline{0}} \kappa \right)}_{\in \mathcal{A}, \text{ by } \hat{1}_{\overline{0}} \in \mathcal{A} \text{ and Eq. (11)}} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\underbrace{(\hat{1}_{\overline{0}} \kappa + \kappa_{\mathcal{A}'})}_{\in \mathcal{A}, \text{ by Eq. (13)}} - \underbrace{(\hat{1}_{\overline{0}} \kappa + \kappa_{\mathcal{A}'})^{\dagger}}_{\in \mathcal{A}, \text{ by Eq. (13)}} \right).$$

This finishes the proof of $1 \iff 2$.

Part 3 is a matter of going from the Stinespring representation of normal CPmaps to their Kraus representation and back. This is a standard procedure and a very nice account can be found in [3]. We just mention here that after choosing an orthonormal basis $\{|e_n\rangle\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of \mathcal{H}_{E} , the collections $\{v_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, $\{a_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $\{b_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ and the operators V_0 , A and B are related via $v_n := (\mathbb{1} \otimes \langle e_n |)V_0$, $a_n := (\mathbb{1} \otimes \langle e_n |)A$ and $b_n := (\mathbb{1} \otimes \langle e_n |)B$. The corresponding properties are then routinely verifiable.

3.2. CP-maps with invariant atomic algebra

In this section, we study the problem of finding a normal form for (normal) CPmaps with an *atomic* invariant subalgebra. Slightly more generally, we aim to find normal a normal form for normal CP-maps Φ with the property that $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{C}$, for two atomic weakly closed *-algebras \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} . Since we are now dealing with two algebras, we need to distinguish them in the notation in Definition 3. For the algebra $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}})$: the index set is called *I*; the Hilbert spaces $\{\mathcal{H}_i\}_{i\in I\cup\{0\}}$ are denoted by $\mathcal{H}_{i:\mathcal{A}}$, with $\mathcal{H}_{i:\mathcal{A}} = \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i}$ $(i \in I)$; and the operators P_i are called $P_{i:\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}}; \mathcal{H}_{i:\mathcal{A}})$. For the algebra $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}})$: the index set is called *J*; the Hilbert spaces $\{\mathcal{H}_j\}_{j\in J\cup\{0\}}$ are denoted by $\mathcal{H}_{j:\mathcal{C}}$, with $\mathcal{H}_{j:\mathcal{C}} = \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{C}_j} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{D}_j}$ $(j \in J)$; and the operators P_j are called $P_{j:\mathcal{C}} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}; \mathcal{H}_{j:\mathcal{C}})$. With this notation in place, we can state our second main result:

THEOREM 5. Let $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}})$ and $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}})$ be two atomic weakly closed *algebras. For $\Phi \in \operatorname{CP}_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}};\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}})$ defined by $\Phi(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V$, with $V \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}};\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$, the following are equivalent

- 1. $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{C}$.
- 2. There exist an operator $V_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{C}}; \mathcal{H}_{0:\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$; and for all $i \in I$ and $j \in J$ Hilbert spaces $\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}}$, operators $A_{ij} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{C}_j}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}})$, and isometries $U_{ij} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{D}_j}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$, such that
 - V can be decomposed as

$$V = (P_{0:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_0 + \sum_{i \in I, \, j \in J} (P_{i:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_{ij}P_{j:\mathcal{C}},$$
(14)

with $V_{ij} = (\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes U_{ij})(A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{D_i})$, s.t. the series SOT-converges.

• The relation $U_{ik}^{\dagger}U_{il} = \delta_{kl}\mathbb{1}$ holds for all $i \in I$ and $k, l \in J$.

The representation in 2 can be chosen such that $\{(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{F_{ij}})A_{ij}|\psi\rangle | X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A_i}), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{C_j}\}$ is total in $\mathcal{H}_{A_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{F_{ij}}$.

Remark. The theorem above tells us that if V is written as a block matrix (w.r.t. a basis determined by the structure of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C}), then all the blocks are necessarily of the "semicloalizable" form $(\mathbb{1} \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1})$ — and that the U's need to satisfy an orthogonality relation.

Proof. Let us start by showing that $2 \implies 1$. We know that $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$ if and only if it can be decomposed as SOT-convergent series $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{A}} = \sum_{i \in I} P_{i:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}})P_{i:\mathcal{A}}$, for $X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}})$ with $\sum_{i \in I} ||X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}|| < \infty$. Since \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{C} are ultraweakly closed, Φ is ultraweakly continuous, and the operators in $\mathcal{A}_{F} := \{X_{\mathcal{A}} | X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \neq$ 0 only for finitely many $i \in I$ } are ultraweakly dense in \mathcal{A} , it suffices to show the claim for $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}_F$ so that convergence issues (w.r.t. the *I*-summation) play no role in the following calculation (where the *J*-summation SOT-converges):

$$\Phi(X_{\mathcal{A}}) = \sum_{i \in I} \left[(P_{i:\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) V \right]^{\dagger} (X_{\mathsf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) \left[(P_{i:\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) V \right]$$

$$= \sum_{i \in I} \sum_{k,l \in J} P_{k:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger} V_{ik}^{\dagger} (X_{\mathsf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) V_{il} P_{l:\mathcal{C}}$$

$$= \sum_{i \in I} \sum_{k,l \in J} P_{k:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger} (A_{ik}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_{k}}) (X_{\mathsf{A}_{i}} \otimes U_{ik}^{\dagger} U_{il}) (A_{il} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_{l}}) P_{l:\mathcal{C}}$$

$$= \sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in J} P_{j:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger} (A_{ij}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}) (X_{\mathsf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}) (A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_{j}}) P_{j:\mathcal{C}}$$

$$= \sum_{j \in J} P_{j:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger} \left[\left(\sum_{i \in I} A_{ij}^{\dagger} (X_{\mathsf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}}) A_{ij} \right) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_{j}} \right] P_{j:\mathcal{C}},$$

where we used the expansion of $X_{\mathcal{A}}$ in the first line, Eq. (14) in the second line (in particular the orthogonality of the projections), the explicit form $V_{ij} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes U_{ij})(A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_j})$ in the third line, the orthogonality relation $U_{ik}^{\dagger}U_{il} = \delta_{kl}\mathbb{1}$ in the fourth line and algebraic manipulations in the fifth line. But the last line is just the decomposed form of an element of \mathcal{C} . Thus we have shown that $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \subset \mathcal{C}$.

For the converse, suppose that Φ , defined by $\Phi(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V$ satisfies $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{C}$. Let $I_0 = I \cup \{0\}$ and $J_0 = J \cup \{0\}$. Then $\sum_{i_0 \in I_0} P_{i_0:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} P_{i_0:\mathcal{A}} = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $\sum_{j_0 \in J_0} P_{j_0:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger} P_{j_0:\mathcal{C}} = \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{C}}$, where the series SOT-converge. Hence, we can expand

$$V = (P_{0:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_0 + \sum_{i \in I} (P_{i:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_{i0}P_{0:\mathcal{C}} + \sum_{i \in I, j \in J} (P_{i:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_{ij}P_{j:\mathcal{C}}, \qquad (15)$$

where we defined $V_0 = (P_{0:\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V$ and for all $i \in I$ and $j_0 \in J_0$ the operator $V_{ij_0} = (P_{i:\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})VP_{j_0:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger}$. Thus it remains to show that $V_{i0} = 0$ and that V_{ij} has our specific form.

By definition, every $X_{\mathcal{C}} \in \mathcal{C}$ is of the form $X_{\mathcal{C}} = \sum_{j \in J} P_{j:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger} (X_{\mathsf{C}_j} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_j}) P_{j:\mathcal{C}}$. Thus, in particular $\Phi(X_{\mathcal{A}})$ assumes that form for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$. This has the following three implications: First, for every $i \in I$, $j \in J$ and every $X_{\mathsf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}_i})$, there exists $X_{\mathsf{C}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{C}_i})$ such that

$$P_{j:\mathcal{C}}\Phi\left(P_{i:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}})P_{i:\mathcal{A}}\right)P_{j:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger}=V_{ij}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{E}})V_{ij}=X_{\mathbf{C}_{j}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}.$$
 (16)

Second, for every $i \in I$ and $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$, we have

$$P_{0:\mathcal{C}} \Phi \left(P_{i:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}}) P_{i:\mathcal{A}} \right) P_{0:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger} = V_{i0}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{E}}) V_{i0} = 0.$$
(17)

3.2. CP-maps with invariant atomic algebra

Third, for every $i \in I$ and $k, l \in J$ with $k \neq l$ and all $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$, we have

$$P_{k:\mathcal{C}} \Phi \left(P_{i:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}}) P_{i:\mathcal{A}} \right) P_{l:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger} = V_{ik}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{E}}) V_{il} = 0.$$
(18)

It is a direct consequence of Eq. (17), by choosing $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} = \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i}$, that $V_{i0} = 0$ for all $i \in I$. Hence the second term in Eq. (15) vanishes as desired.

We will now see that Eq. (16) implies that $V_{ij} = (\mathbb{1} \otimes U_{ij})(A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1})$. This is due to the equivalence between semicausal and semilocalizable CP-maps, established for finite-dimensional systems in [8]. We reproduce the argument here for the infinite-dimensional case. Choose some unit vector $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{D_j}$ and define the normal CP-maps $\Phi_{ij} \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_{i:\mathcal{A}};\mathcal{H}_{j:\mathcal{C}})$ and $\Psi_{ij} \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H}_{A_i};\mathcal{H}_{C_j})$ by $\Phi_{ij}(X_i) =$ $P_{j:\mathcal{C}}\Phi\left(P_{i:\mathcal{A}}^{\dagger}X_iP_{i:\mathcal{A}}\right)P_{j:\mathcal{C}}^{\dagger}$ and $\Psi_{ij}(X_{A_i}) = (\mathbb{1}_{C_j}\otimes\langle\psi|)\Phi_{ij}(X_{A_i}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{B_i})(\mathbb{1}_{C_j}\otimes|\psi\rangle)$. Eq. (16) then implies that

$$\Phi_{ij}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i}) = \Psi_{ij}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_j},\tag{19}$$

for all $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$. By Stinespring's dilation theorem (see Theorem 1), there exists a minimal dilation given by $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}}$ and $A_{ij} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{C}_j}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}})$ such that $\Psi_{ij}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i}) = A_{ij}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}})A_{ij}$. It follows that $A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_j}$ is a minimal dilation for $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \mapsto \Psi_{ij}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_j}$. But Eqs. (19) and (16) then imply that

$$V_{ij}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{E}})V_{ij}=(A_{ij}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_{j}})^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_{j}})(A_{ij}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_{j}}),\qquad(20)$$

for all $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$. In other words, V_{ij} and $A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_j}$ are Stinespring operators of the same map. Since $A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_j}$ is minimal, there exists an isometry $U_{ij} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{D}_j}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{B}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{E}})$ such that $V_{ij} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes U_{ij})(A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_j})$. This is the desired form.

It remains to show that $U_{ik}^{\dagger}U_{il} = \delta_{kl}\mathbb{1}$ for all $i \in I$ and $k, l \in J$. Since the U_{ij} 's are isometries, this condition is fulfilled for k = l. For $k \neq l$, we choose arbitrary $|\psi_k\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{k:\mathcal{C}}$ and $|\psi_l\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{l:\mathcal{C}}$ and $X_L, X_R \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$. Eq. (18), with $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} = X_L^{\dagger}X_R$ implies

$$0 = \langle (X_L \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) V_{ik} \psi_k | (X_R \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) V_{il} \psi_l \rangle$$

= $\langle (X_L \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{F}_{ik}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_k}) (A_{ik} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_k}) \psi_k | \left[\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes U_{ik}^{\dagger} U_{il} \right] (X_R \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{F}_{il}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_l}) (A_{il} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{D}_l}) \psi_l \rangle$

Since $\{(X_L \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ik}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_k})(A_{ik} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_k})|\psi_k\rangle | X_L \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i}), |\psi_k\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{k:\mathcal{C}}\}$ being total and $\{(X_R \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{il}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_l})(A_{il} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_l})|\psi_l\rangle | X_R \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i}), |\psi_l\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{l:\mathcal{C}}\}$ being total is the definition of minimality of $A_{ik} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_k}$ and $A_{il} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{D}_l}$, respectively, we can conclude from the equation above (using sesquilinearity of the inner product) that $\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes U_{ik}^{\dagger} U_{il} = 0$ and hence that $U_{ik}^{\dagger} U_{il} = 0$, as desired. Finally, note that the claim about the totality of $\{(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}})A_{ij}|\psi\rangle | X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i}), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{C}_j}\}$ in $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}}$ follows by construction.

3.3. GKLS-generators with invariant atomic algebra

The notation in the following theorem and its proof follows Section 2...

THEOREM 6. Let $L : \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ be given by $L(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V - K^{\dagger}X - XK$ with $V \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ and $K \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and let \mathcal{A} be an atomic *-subalgebra of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, with decomposition given by Definition 3. Then the following are equivalent

- 1. $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$.
- 2. There exist operators $V_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ and $K_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_0)$; for all $i, j \in I$ a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{F_{ij}}$, operators $A_{ij} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A_j}; \mathcal{H}_{A_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{F_{ij}})$, and isometries $U_{ij} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{F_{ij}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B_j}; \mathcal{H}_{B_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$; and for every $i \in I$ operators $B_i \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{B_i}; \mathcal{H}_{B_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$, $K_{A_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A_i})$, and self-adjoint operators $H_{B_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{B_i})$, such that
 - V and K can be decomposed as

$$V = (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_0 + \sum_{i,j \in I} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_{ij}^{sc}P_j + \sum_{i \in I} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes B_i)P_i,$$

$$K = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes B_i^{\dagger})V_{ii}^{sc}P_i + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes B_i^{\dagger}B_i)P_i$$

$$+ K_{\mathcal{A}} + iH_{\mathcal{A}'} + P_0^{\dagger}K_0,$$

with $V_{ij}^{sc} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes U_{ij})(A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_j}), \ K_{\mathcal{A}} = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(K_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i, \ and \ H_{\mathcal{A}'} = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes H_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i, \ s.t. \ all \ series \ SOT-converge.$

• The relation $U_{ik}^{\dagger}U_{il} = \delta_{kl}\mathbb{1}$ holds for all $i, k, l \in I$.

Proof. The basic strategy is to use Theorem 4 to reduce the problem to CP-maps with invariant algebra \mathcal{A} , followed by an application of Theorem 5. In detail: Part 2 of Theorem 4 provides us with operators \tilde{A} , \tilde{B} , \tilde{V}_0 , \tilde{K}_0 , $K_{\mathcal{A}}$ and $\tilde{H}_{\mathcal{A}'}$ such that

$$V = (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})\tilde{V}_0 + \tilde{A} + \tilde{B}, \tag{21a}$$

$$K = \tilde{B}^{\dagger} \tilde{A} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{B}^{\dagger} \tilde{B} + K_{\mathcal{A}} + i \tilde{H}_{\mathcal{A}'} + P_0^{\dagger} \tilde{K}_0.$$
(21b)

We observe the following:

- Since $K_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$, it can be decomposed as $K_{\mathcal{A}} = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(K_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i$ for operators $K_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$.
- Since $\Phi(X_{\mathcal{A}}) := \tilde{A}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})\tilde{A} \in \mathcal{A}$ for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$, we can apply Theorem 5, which implies that there exist $A_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H}_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$; and for all $i, j \in I$, a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}}$, operators $A_{ij} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}_j}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}})$, and isometries $U_{ij} \in$ $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_j}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ such that $\tilde{A} = (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})A_0 + \sum_{i,j \in I} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_{ij}^{sc}P_j$, where $V_{ij}^{sc} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes U_{ij})(A_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_j})$ and $U_{ik}^{\dagger}U_{il} = \delta_{kl}\mathbb{1}$ for all $i, k, l \in I$.

3.3. GKLS-generators with invariant atomic algebra

- Since \tilde{B} satisfies $(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})\tilde{B} = \tilde{B}X_{\mathcal{A}}$ for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$, a calculation executed in Lemma 11 shows that there exist $B_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_0; \mathcal{H}_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ and operators $B_i \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ such that $\tilde{B} = (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})B_0P_0 + \sum_{i \in I}(P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes B_i)P_i$.
- Since $\tilde{H}_{\mathcal{A}'} \in \mathcal{A}'$, the discussion around Eq. (4) yields that it can be decomposed as $\tilde{H}_{\mathcal{A}'} = P_0^{\dagger} H_0 P_0 + \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes H_{\mathbf{B}_i}) P_i$, for self-adjoint $H_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_0)$ and $H_{\mathbf{B}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{B}_i})$.

Each of the points above provides an explicit representation of the operators in Eqs. (21a) and (21b). Plugging them in yields

$$V = (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})\tilde{V}_0 + (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})A_0 + (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})B_0P_0 + \sum_{i,j \in I} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V_{ij}^{sc}P_j + \sum_{i \in I} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})(\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes B_i)P_i,$$

which has the desired form after defining $V_0 = \tilde{V}_0 + A_0 + B_0 P_0$. And

$$\begin{split} K &= P_0^{\dagger} \tilde{K}_0 + P_0^{\dagger} B_0^{\dagger} A_0 P_0 + \frac{1}{2} P_0^{\dagger} B_0^{\dagger} B_0 P_0 + i P_0^{\dagger} H_0 P_0 \\ &+ \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes B_i^{\dagger}) V_{ii}^{sc} P_i + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes B_i^{\dagger} B_i) P_i + K_{\mathcal{A}} + i H_{\mathcal{A}'}, \end{split}$$

which has the desired form after defining $K_0 = \tilde{K}_0 + B_0^{\dagger} A_0 P_0 + \frac{1}{2} B_0^{\dagger} B_0 P_0 + i H_0 P_0$. \Box

The representation in Part 2 of Theorem 6 is not unique. The following theorem quantifies the freedom in that representation.

THEOREM 7. The operators and spaces in Part 2 of Theorem 6 can be chosen to satisfy the following minimality conditions: a) For all $i \in I$, the set $\{(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}})A_{ii} - A_{ii}X_{\mathbf{A}_i}|\psi\rangle | X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i}), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i}\}$ is total in $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}}$, and b) the set $\{(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}})A_{ij}|\psi\rangle | X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i}), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_j}\}$ is total in $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}}$ for all $i, j \in I$ with $i \neq j$.

Let $\tilde{L}: \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and $\tilde{L}: \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ be given by $L(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V - K^{\dagger}X - XK$ and $\tilde{L}(X) = \tilde{V}^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}})\tilde{V} - \tilde{K}^{\dagger}X - X\tilde{K}$, with $V \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$, $\tilde{V} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}})$, and $K, \tilde{K} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, and let \mathcal{A} be an atomic *-subalgebra of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, with decomposition given by Definition 3. Suppose that $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ and $\tilde{L}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ and let the corresponding representations (Theorem 6) $(V_0, K_0, \{\mathcal{H}_{F_{ij}}\}, \{U_{ij}\}, \{A_{ij}\}, \{B_i\}, \{K_{A_i}\}, \{H_{B_i}\})$ and $(\tilde{V}_0, \tilde{K}_0, \{\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{F}_{ij}}\}, \{\tilde{U}_{ij}\}, \{\tilde{A}_{ij}\}, \{\tilde{B}_i\}, \{\tilde{K}_{A_i}\}, \{\tilde{H}_{B_i}\})$ both satisfy conditions a) and b) above. Then, the following hold:

1. If $L(X_{\mathcal{A}}) = \tilde{L}(X_{\mathcal{A}})$ for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$, then, for every $i \in I$, there exist a unitary $W_{ii} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{\tilde{F}}_{ii}})$, vectors $|\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{\tilde{F}}_{ii}}$ with $\sup_{i \in I} \|\tilde{\psi}_i\| < \infty$, and numbers $\mu_i \in \mathbb{R}$, with $\sup_{i \in I} |\mu_i| < \infty$, such that $\tilde{A}_{ii} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes W_{ii})A_{ii} + \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes |\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle$ and

 $\tilde{K}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} = K_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} + (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \langle \tilde{\psi}_{i} | W_{ii}) A_{ii} + \frac{1}{2} \| \tilde{\psi}_{i} \|^{2} + i\mu_{i}. Moreover, for all <math>i, j \in I$ with $i \neq j$ there exists a unitary $W_{ij} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}})$ such that $\tilde{A}_{ij} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes W_{ij}) A_{ij}.$

2. If $\tilde{V} = V$ and $\tilde{K} = K$, then $\tilde{V}_0 = V_0$, $\tilde{K}_0 = K_0$, $\tilde{B}_i = B_i - U_{ii}(|W_{ii}^{\dagger}\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i})$, and $\tilde{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i} = H_{\mathsf{B}_i} + \frac{i}{2}(G - G^{\dagger}) - \mu_i \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i}$, where $G = B_i^{\dagger}U_{ii}(|W_{ii}^{\dagger}\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i})$. Moreover, for all $i, j \in I$, we have $\tilde{U}_{ij} = U_{ij}(W_{ij}^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i})$.

Remark It is the matter of a straightforward calculation to show that the (simultaneous) substitutions in 1 and 2 above leave the operators V and K invariant. Thus Theorem 7 quantifies exactly the freedom in our representation. Moreover, Theorem 2 quantifies the freedom in the choice of $(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}, V, K)$.

Proof. We start with proving the possibility of a reduction to minimality, as claimed in the first part of the theorem. Suppose L is given according to Part 2 of Theorem 6, with data $(V_0, K_0, \{\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{F}_{ij}}\}, \{\tilde{U}_{ij}\}, \{\tilde{A}_{ij}\}, \{\tilde{B}_i\}, \{\tilde{K}_{A_i}\}, \{\tilde{H}_{B_i}\})$. For any $i \in I, X_{A_i} \in I$ $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}), \text{ we have } P_{i}L(P_{i}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}})P_{i})P_{i}^{\dagger} = \left[\tilde{A}_{ii}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}\otimes\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbf{F}}_{ii}})\tilde{A}_{ii} - \tilde{K}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}^{\dagger}X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} - X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}\tilde{K}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}\right] \otimes$ $\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i} =: L_{ii}^{\downarrow}(X_{\mathsf{A}_i}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i}. \text{ By Theorem 2, there exists } (\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ii}}, A_{ii}, K_{\mathsf{A}_i}) \text{ such that } L_{ii}^{\downarrow}(X_{\mathsf{A}_i}) =$ $A_{ii}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}})A_{ii} - K_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}^{\dagger}X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} - X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}K_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}, A_{ii} \text{ satisfies condition a}), \tilde{A}_{ii} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes W_{ii})A_{ii} + (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes W_{ii})A_{ii} - (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes W_{ii})A_{ii} + (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes W_{ii})A_{ii} - (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes W_{ii})A_{ii}$ $\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes |\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle$, and $\tilde{K}_{\mathbf{A}_i} = K_{\mathbf{A}_i} + (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \langle \tilde{\psi}_i | W_{ii}) A_{ii} + \frac{1}{2} \|\tilde{\psi}_i\|^2 + i\mu_i$, for an isometry $W_{ii} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}})$, a vector $|\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}}$, and a number $\mu_i \in \mathbb{R}$. We define $U_{ii} =$ $\tilde{U}_{ii}(W_{ii} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i})$, so that U_{ii} is an isometry. Furthermore, we define $B_i = \tilde{B}_i + |\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i}$ and $H_{\mathsf{B}_i} = \tilde{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i} + \frac{i}{2}(\tilde{G} - \tilde{G}^{\dagger}) + \mu_i \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i}$, where $\tilde{G} = \tilde{B}_i^{\dagger} \tilde{U}_{ii}(|\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i})$. A direct calculation shows that replacing the operators with 'tilde' by the ones without, does not change V and K, but now A_{ii} satisfies condition a). The claim that $\sup_{i \in I} \|\hat{\psi}_i\| < \infty$ and $\sup_{i \in I} |\mu_i| < \infty$ follows, since L would be unbounded otherwise. For $i, j \in I$ with $i \neq j$ j, we have $P_j L(P_i^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i)P_j^{\dagger} = \left[\tilde{A}_{ij}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbf{F}}_{ij}})\tilde{A}_{ij}\right] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_j} =: L_{ij}^{\downarrow}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_j}.$ By Theorem 1, there exists $(\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathbf{F}}_{ij}}, A_{ij})$ such that $L_{ij}^{\downarrow}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i}) = A_{ij}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}})A_{ij}$, condition b) holds, and $\tilde{A}_{ij} = (\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes W_{ij})A_{ij}$, for some isometry $W_{ij} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{F_{ij}}; \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{F}_{ij}})$. We define $U_{ij} = \tilde{U}_{ij}(W_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_j})$. It follows that U_{ij} is an isometry and also that $U_{il}^{\dagger}U_{il} = \delta_{kl}\mathbb{1}$. Again, a calculation shows that replacing the operators with 'tilde' by the ones without, does not change K and V.

Next, we want to prove 1. Since $L(X_{\mathcal{A}}) = \tilde{L}(X_{\mathcal{A}})$ for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$, we have in particular $P_i L(P_i^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i)P_i^{\dagger} = P_i \tilde{L}(P_i^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i)P_i^{\dagger}$ for all $i \in I$. This is equivalent to $A_{ii}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}})A_{ii} - K_{\mathbf{A}_i}^{\dagger}X_{\mathbf{A}_i} - X_{\mathbf{A}_i}K_{\mathbf{A}_i} = \tilde{A}_{ii}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}})\tilde{A}_{ii} - \tilde{K}_{\mathbf{A}_i}^{\dagger}X_{\mathbf{A}_i} - X_{\mathbf{A}_i}\tilde{K}_{\mathbf{A}_i}$. Since a) holds for L and \tilde{L} , Theorem 2 implies the existence of unitaries $W_{ii} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}})$, vectors $|\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}}$, and numbers $\mu_i \in \mathbb{R}$ s.t. $\tilde{A}_{ii} =$ $(\mathbbm{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes W_{ii})A_{ii} + \mathbbm{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes |\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle$ and $\tilde{K}_{\mathbf{A}_i} = K_{\mathbf{A}_i} + (\mathbbm{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \langle \psi_i|W_{ii})A_{ii} + \frac{1}{2}\|\tilde{\psi}_i\|^2 + i\mu_i$. The claim that $\sup_{i \in I} \|\tilde{\psi}_i\| < \infty$ and $\sup_{i \in I} |\mu_i| < \infty$ follows, since \tilde{L} would be unbounded otherwise. For $i, j \in I$ with $i \neq j$ we have $P_j L(P_i^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i)P_j^{\dagger} = P_j \tilde{L}(P_i^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i)P_j^{\dagger}$, which is equivalent to $A_{ij}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}})A_{ij} = \tilde{A}_{ij}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}})\tilde{A}_{ij}$ for all $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$. Since b) holds for L and \tilde{L} , Theorem 1 implies the existence of a unitary $W_{ij} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}})$ s.t. $\tilde{A}_{ij} = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes W_{ij})A_{ij}$. This is claim 1.

For part 2, we first notice that $\tilde{V} = V$ and $\tilde{K} = K$ immediately implies (by projecting into the respective subspace) that $\tilde{V}_0 = V_0$ and $\tilde{K}_0 = K_0$. Moreover, for any $i \in I$,

$$V_{ii} := (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{ii}} \otimes U_{ii}) (A_{ii} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{ii}}) + \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes B_i = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{ii}} \otimes \tilde{U}_{ii}) (\tilde{A}_{ii} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{ii}}) + \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \tilde{B}_i =: \tilde{V}_{ii} .$$
(22)
Thus

$$(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}\mathbf{E}})V_{ii} - V_{ii}(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}}) = (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes U_{ii})([(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbf{F}}_{ii}})A_{ii} - A_{ii}X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}})$$
$$= (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes (\tilde{U}_{ii}(W_{ii} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}})))([(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}})A_{ii} - A_{ii}X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}})$$
$$= (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes U_{ii})([(X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}})A_{ii} - A_{ii}X_{\mathbf{A}_{i}}] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_{i}}), \qquad (23)$$

where the second line was obtained by using the relation between A_{ii} and \tilde{A}_{ii} in Part 1. From the equality of the last two lines and the totality implied by a), we conclude $U_{ii} = \tilde{U}_{ii}(W_{ii} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i})$. Using this relation, the relation between A_{ii} and \tilde{A}_{ii} , and Eq. (22) yields $\tilde{B}_i = B_i - U_{ii}(|W_{ii}^{\dagger}\tilde{\psi}_i\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i})$. Moreover, from $P_iKP_i^{\dagger} =$ $(\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes B_i^{\dagger})(\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes U_{ii})(A_{ii} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i}) + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes B_i^{\dagger}B_i) + (K_{A_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i}) + (\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes iH_{B_i}) =$ $(\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes \tilde{B}_i^{\dagger})(\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes \tilde{U}_{ii})(\tilde{A}_{ii} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i}) + \frac{1}{2}(\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes \tilde{B}_i^{\dagger}\tilde{B}_i) + (\tilde{K}_{A_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i}) + (\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes i\tilde{H}_{B_i}) = P_i\tilde{K}P_i^{\dagger}$ and the already established relations between the operators with and without 'tilde', we obtain $\tilde{H}_{B_i} = H_{B_i} + \frac{i}{2}(G - G^{\dagger}) - \mu_i\mathbb{1}_{B_i}$. Finally, for $i, j \in I$ with $i \neq j$ we get $(X_{A_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_iE})V_{ij} = (\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes U_{ij})([(X_{A_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{F_{ij}})A_{ij}] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_j}) = (\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes \tilde{U}_{ij})([(X_{A_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i})))([(X_{A_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{F_{ij}})A_{ij}] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_j})$. By the totality condition b), we can conclude $U_{ij} = \tilde{U}_{ij}(W_{ij} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_j})$. Since W_{ij} is unitary, this finishes the proof.

For later convenience, we also note the following.

COROLLARY 8. Let $L : \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ be given by $L(X) = -K^{\dagger}X - XK$, with $K \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, and let \mathcal{A} be an atomic *-subalgebra of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, with decomposition given by Definition 3. If $L(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$, then we can choose $A_{ij} = 0$ and $B_i = 0$, for all $i, j \in I$ in the corresponding representation of Part 2 of Theorem 6. Thus, $K = K_{\mathcal{A}} + iH_{\mathcal{A}'} + P_0^{\dagger}K_0$.

Proof. If V = 0 and K are given via $(V_0, K_0, \{\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}}\}, \{U_{ij}\}, \{A_{ij}\}, \{B_i\}, \{K_{\mathsf{A}_i}\}, \{H_{\mathsf{B}_i}\})$ such that a) and b) in Theorem 7 hold, $0 = V_{ij} = (P_i \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})VP_j$ implies $(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes U_{ij})([(X_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}})A_{ij}] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_j}) = 0$ for $i \neq j$ and $(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes U_{ii})([(X_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{F}_{ii}})A_{ii} - A_{ii}X_{\mathsf{A}_i}] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i}) = 0$ for all $i \in I$ (compare Eqs. (22) and (23)). Thus by the totality conditions a) and b), we conclude $U_{ij} = 0$ for all $i, j \in I$, which implies that $\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{F}_{ij}}$ is zero-dimensional. Hence, $A_{ij} = 0$ and consequently also $B_i = 0$ for all $i \in I$. \Box

4. Applications

4.1. Semicausal quantum dynamical semigroups

As a first application of our results, we use them to reprove the main result of [13], namely the characterization of GKLS generators of semicausal quantum dynamical semigroups, a crucial step towards characterizing the generators of continuous oneparameter semigroups of quantum superchannels. Here, we call a CP-map Φ : $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$ semicausal if there is a CP-map $\Phi_{A} : \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A})$ such that $\Phi(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) = \Phi_{A}(X_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}$ holds for all $X_{A} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A})$. That is, Φ is semicausal if and only if $\Phi(\mathcal{A}_{sc}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{sc}$ holds for the atomic vN-subalgebra $\mathcal{A}_{sc} :=$ $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B})$.

Using Theorem 6, we see that a GKLS generator $L : \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}),$ $L(X) = V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V - K^{\dagger}X - XK$, satisfies $L(\mathcal{A}_{sc}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{sc}$ if and only if there exist a Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_{F} , an operator $A \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A}; \mathcal{H}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{F})$, and an isometry $U \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{F} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{B}; \mathcal{H}_{B} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$; operators $B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{B}; \mathcal{H}_{B} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E}), K_{A} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A}),$ and a selfadjoint operator $H_{B} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{B}),$ such that $V = (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) + \mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes B$ and $K = (\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes B^{\dagger}U)(A \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) + \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes B^{\dagger}B + K_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B} + \mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes iH_{B}.$ This is exactly [13, Theorem V.6].

4.2. Quantum dynamical semigroups with an atomic decoherence-free subalgebra

For our second application, we first recall that for a uniformly continuous and unital quantum dynamical semigroup $\mathcal{T} = (T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ acting on $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ the decoherencefree subalgebra $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})$ is the largest vN-subalgebra of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ on which every T_t acts as a *-automorphism [10, Theorem 3] or, equivalently, such that $T_t(X_{\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})}) = e^{i\tilde{H}t}X_{\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})}e^{-i\tilde{H}t}$ for all $X_{\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})} \in \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})$, where $\tilde{H} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is self-adjoint [10, Proposition 2]. In particular, note that every T_t leaves $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})$ invariant. As shown in [7], a quantum dynamical semigroup inherits structure from its decoherence-free subalgebra. This is the content of the following:

THEOREM 9. [7, Theorem 3.2(1)] Let \mathcal{T} and $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})$ be as above, and assume that $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})$ is atomic, with normal form as in Definition 3. Then, for any GKLS-generator L, given in Kraus form by $L(X) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \phi_n^{\dagger} X \phi_n - K^{\dagger} X - X K$, where $K = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \phi_n^{\dagger} \phi_n + i \operatorname{Im}(K)$, we have

$$\phi_n = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \beta_{n;i}) P_i, \quad \operatorname{Im}(K) = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(\kappa_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i} + \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \kappa_{\mathbf{B}_i}) P_i, \quad (24)$$

for some $\beta_{n;i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i})$ and some self-adjoint $\kappa_{\mathsf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}_i})$ and $\kappa_{\mathsf{B}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i})$.

4.3. Quantum dynamical semigroups and CP-maps with an invariant maximal abelian subalgebra 17

We can recover Theorem 9 as a special case of our results as follows. By the characterization of the decoherence-free subalgebra described above, we have $L(X_{\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})}) = i[\tilde{H}, X_{\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})}] \in \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})$ for all $X_{\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})} \in \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})$. Therefore, if we define $\tilde{L}(X) := -(i\tilde{H})^{\dagger}X - X(i\tilde{H})$ for all $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, then Corollary 8 implies $\tilde{H} = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(\tilde{H}_{A_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i} + \mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes \tilde{H}_{B_i})P_i$ for self-adjoint $\tilde{H}_{A_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A_i})$ and $\tilde{H}_{B_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{B_i})$. This already provides a normal form representation of \tilde{L} as in Theorem 6, and the minimality conditions of Theorem 7 are satisfied, since $\tilde{A}_{ij} = 0$. Now, if L is w.l.o.g. also minimal, Part 1 of Theorem 7 (with the roles of the operators with and without 'tilde' interchanged) implies that $A_{ii} = \mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes |\psi_i\rangle$ for some vectors $|\psi_i\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{F_{ii}}$ and that $A_{ij} = 0$ for $i \neq j$. On the level of the Kraus operators, this yields $\phi_n = (\mathbb{1} \otimes \langle e_n|) (\sum_{i \in I} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_E) (\mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes U_{ii} (|\psi_i\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i}) + \mathbb{1}_{A_i} \otimes B_i)P_i)$, which has the desired form with $\beta_{n;i} = (\mathbb{1}_{B_i} \otimes \langle e_n|) (U_{ii}(|\psi_i\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B_i}) + B_i)$. (Note: If L is not already minimal, we can first follow the steps in the proof of Theorem 7 to reduce to a minimal generator and then apply the above reasoning.) Moreover, using the representation of Theorem 6 and again Part 1 of Theorem 7,

$$\operatorname{Im}(K) = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger} \left(\operatorname{Im}((\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes B_i^{\dagger} U_{ii})(A_{ii} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i})) + \operatorname{Im}(K_{\mathsf{A}_i}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i} + \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes H_{\mathsf{B}_i} \right) P_i$$
$$= \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger} \left(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \operatorname{Im}(B_i^{\dagger} U_{ii}(|\psi_i\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i})) + \operatorname{Im}(\tilde{K}_{\mathsf{A}_i}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i} + \mu_i + \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes H_{\mathsf{B}_i} \right) P_i,$$

which has the desired form with $\kappa_{\mathbf{A}_i} := \operatorname{Im}(\tilde{K}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$ and $\kappa_{\mathbf{B}_i} := H_{\mathbf{B}_i} + \operatorname{Im}(B_i^{\dagger}U_{ii}(|\psi_i\rangle \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})) + \mu_i$.

As a final remark on our short discussion of the decoherence-free subalgebra, we point out that [24, Corollary 21] showed that $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})$ is atomic whenever the quantum dynamical semigroup \mathcal{T} admits a normal faithful invariant state. In many situations of interest, we can therefore focus on $\mathcal{N}(\mathcal{T})$ being atomic, as in Theorems 6 and 9.

4.3. Quantum dynamical semigroups and CP-maps with an invariant maximal abelian subalgebra

Our third application is concerned with the following question: Given a maximal abelian vN-subalgebra \mathcal{C} of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, that is $\mathcal{C}' = \mathcal{C}$, what is the most general form of a GKLS-generator that leaves \mathcal{C} invariant? According to Theorem 4, we can reduce the above question to characterizing CP-maps with an invariant maximal abelian vN-subalgebra. The latter question was previously investigated in [11, 23]. More precisely, [23, Theorem 1] gave an abstract characterization of such GKLS-generators in terms of a commutation relation and a sufficient condition on the Kraus operators of the CP part of the GKLS-generator. Ref. [11] extended these deliberations and, in particular, gave a necessary and sufficient condition for a normal CP-map to leave a maximal abelian vN-subalgebra invariant:

THEOREM 10. [11, Corollary 3.4] Let Φ be a normal CP-map on $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ with Kraus decomposition $\Phi(X) = \sum_{n \in N} \phi_n^{\dagger} X \phi_n$. Let \mathcal{C} be a maximal abelian vN-subalgebra of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$. Then, Φ leaves \mathcal{C} invariant if and only if for every $c \in \mathcal{C}$ there exist $c_{mn} = c_{mn}(c) \in \mathcal{C}$ for $m, n \in N$ s.t. 1) $c_{mn}(c^{\dagger}) = c_{nm}(c)^{\dagger}$ and 2) $[c, \phi_m] = \sum_{n \in N} c_{mn} \phi_n$.

The "if"-direction in Theorem 10 can be seen using the von Neumann bicommutant theorem. We can recover the "only if"-direction, albeit only for atomic \mathcal{C} , as a consequence of Theorem 5 as follows: If \mathcal{C} is a maximal abelian and atomic vN-subalgebra of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, then its decomposition as in Definition 3 becomes particularly simple, with dim $(\mathcal{H}_{A_i}) = 1 = \dim(\mathcal{H}_{B_i})$ for all $i \in I$. Thus, for any $i \in I$, there exists $|p_i\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $P_i = \langle p_i | \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathbb{C})$ such that $\{|p_i\rangle\}_{i\in I}$ forms an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H} . The decomposition of V in Theorem 5 in this case simplifies to $V = \sum_{i,j\in I} |p_i\rangle\langle p_j| \otimes |\psi_{ij}\rangle$ for some vectors $|\psi_{ij}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}$ satisfying $\langle \psi_{ij} |\psi_{ik}\rangle = 0$ for all $i, j, k \in I$ with $j \neq k$. Accordingly, the Kraus operators of Φ can be written as $\phi_n = \sum_{i,j\in I} \langle e_n |\psi_{ij}\rangle |p_i\rangle\langle p_j|$ for some orthonormal basis $\{|e_n\rangle\}_{n\in N}$ of \mathcal{H}_{E} .

 $\phi_n = \sum_{i,j \in I} \langle e_n | \psi_{ij} \rangle | p_i \rangle \langle p_j |$ for some orthonormal basis $\{ | e_n \rangle \}_{n \in N}$ of \mathcal{H}_{E} . Since any $c \in \mathcal{C}$ can be decomposed as $c = \sum_{i \in I} c_i | p_i \rangle \langle p_i |$, we obtain for any $m \in N$:

$$[c,\phi_m] = \sum_{i,j\in I} (c_i - c_j) \langle e_m | \psi_{ij} \rangle | p_i \rangle \langle p_j | .$$
(25)

As $\langle \psi_{ij} | \psi_{ik} \rangle = 0$ for $j \neq k$, we can define $C_i \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ by linearly extending

$$C_i |\psi_{ij}\rangle = (c_i - c_j) |\psi_{ij}\rangle, \quad \text{for all } i, j \in I.$$
 (26)

We consider a basis expansion $C_i := \sum_{m,n \in N} c_{mn;i} |e_m\rangle \langle e_n|$ and define $c_{mn} = \sum_{i \in I} c_{mn;i} |p_i\rangle \langle p_i| \in \mathcal{C}$. Then, we get

$$\sum_{n \in N} c_{mn} \phi_n = \sum_{n \in N} \sum_{i,j \in I} \langle e_n | \psi_{ij} \rangle c_{mn;i} | p_i \rangle \langle p_j |$$

$$= \sum_{i,j \in I} | p_i \rangle \langle p_j | \cdot \sum_{\substack{n \in N \\ = \langle e_m | C_i | \psi_{ij} \rangle^{(26)}(c_i - c_j) \langle e_m | \psi_{ij} \rangle}} \sum_{\substack{n \in N \\ = \langle e_m | C_i | \psi_{ij} \rangle^{(26)}(c_i - c_j) \langle e_m | \psi_{ij} \rangle}} \sum_{\substack{n \in N \\ = \langle e_m | C_i | \psi_{ij} \rangle \langle p_j |},$$

which equals $[c, \phi_m]$ by Eq. (25). Thus, 2) is satisfied. Also 1) holds, since the replacement $c \mapsto c^{\dagger}$ in the above reasoning leads to $c_i \mapsto \bar{c}_i$, which in turn gives $C_i \mapsto C_i^{\dagger}$, finally implying $c_{mn;i} \mapsto \bar{c}_{nm;i}$ and thus $c_{mn} \mapsto c_{nm}^{\dagger}$.

We note that our Theorem 5 not only gives rise to Theorem 10, but also provides a concrete characterization of the most general CP-maps satisfying the criterion of Theorem 10 for the atomic case. Similarly, we can reproduce and concretize [21, Theorem 1.2] for atomic C.

4.4. Completely positive and trace-preserving maps with fixed points

In this section, we look at the Koashi-Imoto Theorem [16, Eq. (85) and Theorem 3] and restrict ourselves to finite-dimensional systems. The Koashi-Imoto Theorem characterizes the form of CP-maps $T \in CP_{\sigma}(\mathcal{H})$ that are trace-preserving and statepreserving, in the sense that $T(\rho_s) = \rho_s$ for some set of density matrices $\{\rho_s\}_{s\in S}$. If $T(\rho) = \operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{E}} [V\rho V^{\dagger}]$, with $V \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$; \mathcal{F}_T is the set of fixed points of $T; \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{F}_T} := \bigcup_{\rho \in \mathcal{F}_T} \operatorname{supp}(\rho) \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ is the support of a maximal rank fixed point; and $Q: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{F}_T}$ is the corresponding projection, then the Koashi-Imoto Theorem states that there is a decomposition of $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{F}_T} = U_{\mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}^*}}(\bigoplus_{i \in I} (\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i}))$ for some unitary $U_{\mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}^*}}$ (the notation will soon make sense) and an index set I such that

$$\hat{V} = \bigoplus_{i \in I} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes V_i) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{F}_T = Q^{\dagger} U_{\mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}^*}} \bigoplus_{i \in I} (\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i}) \otimes \sigma_i) U_{\mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}^*}}^{\dagger} Q, \qquad (27)$$

where $\hat{V} = (U_{\mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}^*}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) \left[(Q \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) V Q^{\dagger} \right] U_{\mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}^*}}^{\dagger}$, all $V_i \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ are isometries and all $\sigma_i \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i})$ are density matrices.

We can reproduce this result as follows: By elementary considerations (exploiting the positivity of T), the map $\tilde{T} : \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{F}_T}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{F}_T}), \tilde{T}(X) = QT(Q^{\dagger}XQ)Q^{\dagger}$ is a trace-preserving CP-map (see [27, Proof of Lemma 6.4] for details), which, by construction, has a full-rank fixed-point. Since Lindblad [18, Section 3] we know that if \tilde{T} has a full rank fixed-point, then the set of fixed points of the (unital) dual map \tilde{T}^* forms a vN-algebra, $\mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}^*}$. As dim $(\mathcal{H}) < \infty$, $\mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}^*}$ it is atomic and can be decomposed according to Definition 3. Moreover, $\tilde{T}^*(X) = W^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)W$ with $W = (Q \otimes \mathbb{1}_E)VQ^{\dagger}$ and $\tilde{T}^*(\mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}^*}) \subseteq \mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}^*}$. Hence, W decomposes according to Theorem 5. This implies $P_i\tilde{T}^*(P_i^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i)P_i^{\dagger} = \left[A_{ii}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}})A_{ii}\right] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i} =$ $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i}$ for $i \in I$ and $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$. Since we can choose A_{ii} minimal, this implies $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{F}_{ii}} = \mathbb{C}$ and $A_{ii} = \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i}$. For $i, j \in I$ with $i \neq j$, we have $P_j\tilde{T}^*(P_i^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i})P_i)P_j^{\dagger} = \left[A_{ij}^{\dagger}(X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{F}_{ij}})A_{ij}\right] \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{B}_i} = 0$ for all $X_{\mathbf{A}_i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{A}_i})$. Thus $A_{ij} = 0$. In conclusion, we have $W = \sum_{i \in I} P_i^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{A}_i} \otimes U_{ii})P_i$, with P_i given by Definition 3. From the definition of P_i this is exactly the first part of Eq. (27), if we identify V_i with U_{ii} .

For the second part, first note that by construction, $\mathcal{F}_T = Q^{\dagger} \mathcal{F}_{\tilde{T}} Q$. By the Brouwer fixed-point theorem, there exists a density matrix σ_i such that $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathsf{E}} \left[V_i \sigma_i V_i^{\dagger} \right] = \sigma_i$. With that choice, it is easy to see that operators of the form of the second part in Eq. (27) are fixed-points. But since, as a general property of linear maps on finite-dimensional spaces, the dimension of the fixed-point space of \tilde{T} equals the dimension the fixed-point space of \tilde{T}^* , the claim follows. Thus we have arrived at the Koashi-Imoto Theorem.

5. Conclusion

In this work, we have fully characterized the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups with an invariant vN-subalgebra. We have provided a constructive normal form for such restricted GKLS-generators and determined the freedom in their representation. In particular, these results encompass corresponding characterizations for CP-maps with invariant vN-subalgebras.

The assumption of an invariant atomic vN-subalgebra implies that the restriction of the quantum dynamical semigroup to that subalgebra is again a valid quantum dynamical semigroup. This means that we can also interpret Theorem 6 as providing, given a GKLS generator on a vN-subalgebra, a complete characterization of the possible extensions to a GKLS generator on $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$. In particular, Theorem 5 can be regarded as a constructive version of Arveson's extension theorem [2, 20], describing the most general CP extension on $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ of a given CP-map defined on a vN-subalgebra, if that subalgebra is atomic.

As demonstrated in Section 4., our characterization of GKLS-generators with an invariant vN-subalgebra provides a unifying perspective on the results of different prior works. We expect that this point of view can be useful for further scenarios, such as the study of dynamical semigroups of higher-order quantum maps [4, 6], generalizing dynamical semigroups of quantum superchannels [13].

Acknowledgements: M.H. and M.C.C. thank Michael M. Wolf, Andreas Bluhm, Li Gao, and Zahra Baghali Khanian for insightful and encouraging discussions.

Bibliography

- 1. Franco Fagnola Ameur Dhahri and Rolando Rebolledo. The decoherence-free subalgebra of a quantum markov semigroup with unbounded generator. *Infinite Dimensional Analysis, Quantum Probability and Related Topics*, 13(03):413–433, 2010.
- 2. William B Arveson. Subalgebras of C*-algebras. Acta Mathematica, 123:141-224, 1969.
- 3. Stephane Attal. Quantum channels, 2021.
- 4. Alessandro Bisio and Paolo Perinotti. Theoretical framework for higher-order quantum theory. Proceedings of the Royal Society A, 475(2225):20180706, 2019.
- Ph. Blanchars and R. Olkiewicz. Decoherence induced transition from quantum to classical dynamics. *Reviews in Mathematical Physics*, 15(03):217–243, 2003.
- G. Chiribella, G. M. D'Ariano, and P. Perinotti. Transforming quantum operations: Quantum supermaps. *EPL (Europhysics Letters)*, 83(3):30004, Jul 2008.
- Julien Deschamps, Franco Fagnola, Emanuela Sasso, and Veronica Umanità. Structure of uniformly continuous quantum markov semigroups. *Reviews in Mathematical Physics*, 28(01):1650003, 2016.
- T Eggeling, D Schlingemann, and R. F Werner. Semicausal operations are semilocalizable. Europhysics Letters (EPL), 57(6):782–788, Mar 2002.
- K.J. Engel and Nagel. One-Parameter Semigroups for Linear Evolution Equations. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer New York, 2006.
- Franco Fagnola, Emanuela Sasso, and Veronica Umanità. The role of the atomic decoherencefree subalgebra in the study of quantum markov semigroups. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 60(7):072703, 2019.
- Franco Fagnola and Michael Skeide. Restrictions of CP-semigroups to maximal commutative subalgebras. Banach Center Publications, 78(1):121–132, 2007.
- 12. V. Gorini, A. Kossakowski, and E. C. G. Sudarshan. Completely positive dynamical semigroups of n-level systems. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 17(5):821, 1976.
- Markus Hasenöhrl and Matthias C. Caro. Quantum and classical dynamical semigroups of superchannels and semicausal channels, 2021.
- 14. R.V. Kadison and J.R. Ringrose. Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras. Volume I. Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras. American Mathematical Society, 1997.
- 15. R.V. Kadison and J.R. Ringrose. Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras. Volume II. Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras. American Mathematical Society, 1997.
- 16. Masato Koashi and Nobuyuki Imoto. Operations that do not disturb partially known quantum states. *Phys. Rev. A*, 66:022318, Aug 2002.
- G. Lindblad. On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 48(2):119–130, 1976.
- Göran Lindblad. A general no-cloning theorem. Letters in Mathematical Physics, 47(2):189– 196, 1999.
- 19. K. R. Parthasarathy. An Introduction to Quantum Stochastic Calculus. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser Verlag, 1992.
- Vern Paulsen. Completely bounded maps and operator algebras. Number 78 in Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, 2002.

- BV Rajarama Bhat, Franco Fagnola, and Michael Skeide. Maximal commutative subalgebras invariant for cp-maps:(counter-)examples. *Infinite Dimensional Analysis, Quantum Probability* and Related Topics, 11(04):523–539, 2008.
- Rolando Rebolledo. Decoherence of quantum markov semigroups. Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincare (B) Probability and Statistics, 41(3):349–373, 2005. En hommage a Paul André Meyer.
- Rolando Rebolledo. A view on decoherence via master equations. Open Systems & Information Dynamics, 12(01):37–54, 2005.
- 24. Emanuela Sasso and Veronica Umanità. The general structure of the decoherence-free subalgebra for uniformly continuous quantum markov semigroups, 2021.
- 25. M. Takesaki and University of Chicago. Dept. of Mathematics. *Theory of Operator Algebras I.* Number v. 1 in Encyclopaedia of mathematical sciences. Springer New York, 1979.
- Francesco Ticozzi and Lorenza Viola. Quantum markovian subsystems: Invariance, attractivity, and control. *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 53(9):2048–2063, 2008.
- 27. Michael M. Wolf. Quantum channels & operations: Guided tour, 2012.
A Auxiliary Lemma

In this appendix, we provide a full statement and a complete proof of a lemma useful in proving Theorem 6. Here, we use the notation from Section 3.

LEMMA 11. Let $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ be an atomic weakly closed *-algebra. An operator $B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}}; \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ satisfies $(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})B = B(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}})$ for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$ if and only if there exist $B_{0} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{0} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}}; \mathcal{H}_{0} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ and for every $i \in I$ an operator $B_{i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{B_{i}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}}; \mathcal{H}_{B_{i}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{E})$ such that B is given by the SOT-convergent series

$$B = (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) B_0(P_0 \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}) + \sum_{i \in I} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}}) (\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes B_i) (P_i \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}).$$

Proof. We fix orthonormal bases $\{|e_n\rangle\}_{n\in N}$ and $\{|\tilde{e}_m\rangle\}_{m\in M}$ of \mathcal{H}_{E} and $\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}$, respectively. Since $(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})B = B(X_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})$ for all $X_{\mathcal{A}} \in \mathcal{A}$, it follows that the operators $\beta_{nm} := (\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \langle e_n|)B(\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes |\tilde{e}_m\rangle)$ belong to \mathcal{A}' . Thus (following the discussion around Eq. (4)), there are operators $\beta_{nm;0} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_0)$ and $\beta_{nm;i} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i})$ such that $\beta_{nm} = P_0^{\dagger}\beta_{nm;0}P_0 + \sum_{i\in I} P_i^{\dagger}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{A}_i} \otimes \beta_{nm;i})P_i$. We define $B_0 = \sum_{n\in N, m\in M}(\mathbb{1}_0 \otimes |e_n\rangle)\beta_{nm;0}(\mathbb{1}_0 \otimes \langle \tilde{e}_m|) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}; \mathcal{H}_0 \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ and for all $i \in I$ the operator $B_i = \sum_{n\in N, m\in M}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i} \otimes |e_n\rangle)\beta_{nm;i}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{B}_i} \otimes \langle \tilde{e}_m|) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}_i} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$. We then have

$$B = \sum_{n \in N, m \in M} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes |e_n\rangle) \beta_{nm} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \langle \tilde{e}_m |)$$

$$= \sum_{n \in N, m \in M} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes |e_n\rangle) P_0^{\dagger} \beta_{nm;0} P_0 (\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \langle \tilde{e}_m |)$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{n \in N, m \in M, \\ i \in I}} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes |e_n\rangle) P_i^{\dagger} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{A}_i} \otimes \beta_{n;i}) P_i (\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \langle \tilde{e}_m |)$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{n \in N, m \in M, \\ i \in I}} (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{E}}) (\mathbb{1}_0 \otimes |e_n\rangle) \beta_{nm;0} (\mathbb{1}_0 \otimes \langle \tilde{e}_m |) (P_0 \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbb{E}}})$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{n \in N, m \in M, \\ i \in I}} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{E}}) (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{A}_i} \otimes [(\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{B}_i} \otimes |e_n\rangle) \beta_{nm;i} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{B}_i} \otimes \langle \tilde{e}_m |)]) (P_i \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbb{E}}})$$

$$= (P_0^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{E}}) B_0 (P_0 \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbb{E}}}) + \sum_{i \in I} (P_i^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{E}}) (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{A}_i} \otimes B_i) (P_i \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbb{E}}}).$$

This is the claimed result.

B Proof of Theorem 2

LEMMA 12. Two operators $K, \tilde{K} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{A}} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{B}})$ satisfy a) $(X_{\mathtt{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathtt{B}})K^{\dagger} + K(X_{\mathtt{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathtt{B}})$ $\mathbb{1}_{\mathtt{B}} = (X_{\mathtt{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathtt{B}})\tilde{K}^{\dagger} + \tilde{K}(X_{\mathtt{A}} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathtt{B}})$ for all $X_{\mathtt{A}} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{A}})$ if and only if there exists a self-adjoint $H_{\mathtt{B}} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathtt{B}})$ such that b) $\tilde{K} = K + \mathbb{1}_{\mathtt{A}} \otimes iH_{\mathtt{B}}$.

Proof. If $\tilde{K} = K + \mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes iH_{B}$, then a) holds trivially. For the converse, decompose K and \tilde{K} into real and imaginary part as K = R + iH and $\tilde{K} = \tilde{R} + i\tilde{H}$. By choosing $X_{A} = \mathbb{1}_{A}$, we obtain $\tilde{R} = R$. The relation a) the simplifies to $iH(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) - (X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})iH = i\tilde{H}(X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}) - (X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B})i\tilde{H}$. In terms of the commutator, this reads $\left[i(H - \tilde{H}), X_{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}\right] = 0$ for all $X_{A} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A})$. Thus $i(H - \tilde{H})$ is in the commutant of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{A}) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{B}$, which is $\mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{B})$. Hence, there exists a self-adjoint $H_{B} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{B})$ such that $\tilde{H} = H + \mathbb{1}_{A} \otimes H_{B}$. With $\tilde{K} = R + i\tilde{H}$, the claim follows. \Box

We provide a proof of Theorem 2. The proof follows Chapter 30 in [19], in particular the proof of Proposition 30.14 therein.

Proof. For any triplets $(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}, V, K)$ and $(\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}, \tilde{V}, \tilde{K})$, we introduce the shorthand $\pi(X) := (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V - VX$ and $\tilde{\pi}(X) := (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})\tilde{V} - \tilde{V}X$. For the triplet $(\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}, \tilde{V}, \tilde{K})$ given in the statement of the theorem, the space $\tilde{S} := \operatorname{span}\{\tilde{\pi}(X)|\psi\rangle | X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}\}$ is invariant under the action of $Y \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}$ for all $Y \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, since for any $\tilde{S} \ni |\phi\rangle = \sum_{i} \tilde{\pi}(X_{i}) |\psi_{i}\rangle$, we have

$$(Y \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbf{E}}}) |\phi\rangle = \sum_{i} (Y \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbf{E}}}) \tilde{\pi}(X_{i}) |\psi_{i}\rangle$$
$$= \sum_{i} \underbrace{\tilde{\pi}(YX_{i}) |\psi_{i}\rangle}_{\in \tilde{S}} - \underbrace{\tilde{\pi}(Y)X_{i} |\psi_{i}\rangle}_{\in \tilde{S}} \in \tilde{S}$$

Thus, the closure of \tilde{S} is of the form $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}$, for some subspace $\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}$. Denote by $P \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}; \mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}})$ the associated orthogonal projection onto \mathcal{H}_{E} . We define $V := (\mathbb{1} \otimes P)\tilde{V}$. By construction, V satisfies b). So, to prove the first part of the theorem, it remains to construct a suitable K. Since $\mathbb{1} \otimes P^{\dagger}P$ is the projection onto the closure of \tilde{S} , we obtain

$$(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})\dot{V} - \dot{V}X = (\mathbb{1} \otimes P^{\dagger}P)((X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})\dot{V} - \dot{V}X)$$
$$= (\mathbb{1} \otimes P^{\dagger})((X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V - VX)$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$. A rearrangement yields

$$(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})(\tilde{V} - (\mathbb{1} \otimes P^{\dagger})V) = (\tilde{V} - (\mathbb{1} \otimes P^{\dagger})V)X$$

By Lemma 11 (with $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$), this implies that there exists $|\tilde{\phi}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}}$ such that $\tilde{V} - (\mathbb{1} \otimes P^{\dagger})V = \mathbb{1} \otimes |\tilde{\phi}\rangle$. We define $K := \tilde{K} - (\mathbb{1} \otimes \langle \tilde{\phi} |)\tilde{V} + \frac{1}{2} \|\tilde{\phi}\|^2$, and notice that $PP^{\dagger} = \mathbb{1}_{E}$. Thus,

$$V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{E}})V = \left[(\mathbb{1} \otimes P^{\dagger})V \right]^{\dagger} (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbf{E}}}) \left[(\mathbb{1} \otimes P^{\dagger})V \right]$$
$$= \left[\tilde{V} - \mathbb{1} \otimes |\tilde{\phi}\rangle \right]^{\dagger} (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbf{E}}}) \left[\tilde{V} - \mathbb{1} \otimes |\tilde{\phi}\rangle \right].$$

From here, it is easy to see that $V^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathsf{E}})V - K^{\dagger}X - XK = \tilde{V}^{\dagger}(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})\tilde{V} - \tilde{K}^{\dagger}X - X\tilde{K} = L(X)$ for all $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$. This is our first claim.

For the second claim suppose that for $(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}, V, K)$, a) and b) are satisfied, and that for $(\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}}, \tilde{V}, \tilde{K})$, a) is satisfied. A direct calculation reveals that

$$\Psi(X,Y) := L(X^{\dagger}Y) - X^{\dagger}L(Y) - L(X^{\dagger})Y + X^{\dagger}L(1)Y$$
$$= \pi(X)^{\dagger}\pi(Y) = \tilde{\pi}(X)^{\dagger}\tilde{\pi}(Y), \qquad (28)$$

for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$. On $S := \operatorname{span}\{\pi(X)|\psi\rangle | X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}), |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}\}$, we define a map W_0 by linear extension of the relation $W_0\pi(X)|\psi\rangle := \tilde{\pi}(X)|\psi\rangle$. This is well-defined, since if $\sum_i \pi(X_i)|\psi_i\rangle = \sum_j \pi(Y_j)|\psi_j\rangle$, then

$$\begin{split} \|\sum_{i} \tilde{\pi}(X_{i})|\psi_{i}\rangle &- \sum_{j} \tilde{\pi}(Y_{j})|\psi_{j}\rangle\|^{2} \\ = \sum_{i,i'} \langle \psi_{i} | \tilde{\pi}(X_{i})^{\dagger} \tilde{\pi}(X_{i'})\psi_{i'}\rangle + \sum_{i,j'} \langle \psi_{i} | \tilde{\pi}(X_{i})^{\dagger} \tilde{\pi}(Y_{j'})\psi_{j'}\rangle \\ &+ \sum_{j,i'} \langle \psi_{j} | \tilde{\pi}(Y_{j})^{\dagger} \tilde{\pi}(X_{i'})\psi_{i'}\rangle + \sum_{j,j'} \langle \psi_{j} | \tilde{\pi}(Y_{j})^{\dagger} \tilde{\pi}(Y_{j'})\psi_{j'}\rangle \\ \stackrel{(28)}{=} \sum_{i,i'} \langle \psi_{i} | \pi(X_{i})^{\dagger} \pi(X_{i'})\psi_{i'}\rangle + \sum_{i,j'} \langle \psi_{i} | \pi(X_{i})^{\dagger} \pi(Y_{j'})\psi_{j'}\rangle \\ &+ \sum_{j,i'} \langle \psi_{j} | \pi(Y_{j})^{\dagger} \pi(X_{i'})\psi_{i'}\rangle + \sum_{j,j'} \langle \psi_{j} | \pi(Y_{j})^{\dagger} \pi(Y_{j'})\psi_{j'}\rangle \\ &= \|\sum_{i} \pi(X_{i})|\psi_{i}\rangle - \sum_{j} \pi(Y_{i})|\psi_{j}\rangle\|^{2} = 0. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, W_0 can be extended to an isometry \overline{W}_0 on the closure of S, since for any $|\phi\rangle = \sum_i \pi(X_i) |\psi_i\rangle \in S$, we have

$$\|W_0|\phi\rangle\|^2 = \sum_{i,i'} \langle \psi_i | \tilde{\pi}(X_i)^{\dagger} \tilde{\pi}(X_{i'}) \psi_{i'} \rangle$$

$$\stackrel{(28)}{=} \sum_{i,i'} \langle \psi_i | \pi(X_i)^{\dagger} \pi(X_{i'}) \psi_{i'} \rangle = \|\phi\|^2$$

Moreover, from

$$(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbf{E}}})\overline{W}_0\pi(Y)|\psi\rangle = (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbf{E}}})\tilde{\pi}(Y)|\psi\rangle = \tilde{\pi}(XY)|\psi\rangle - \tilde{\pi}(X)Y|\psi\rangle$$
$$= \overline{W}_0\pi(XY)|\psi\rangle - \overline{W}_0\pi(X)Y|\psi\rangle = \overline{W}_0(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathbf{E}})\pi(Y)|\psi\rangle$$

and totality of S, we conclude that $(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}})\overline{W}_0 = \overline{W}_0(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})$. Lemma 11 (with $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and the roles of \mathcal{H}_{E} and $\mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}}$ interchanged) yields that there is an isometry

 $W \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{E}}; \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{\mathsf{E}}})$ such that $\overline{W}_0 = \mathbb{1} \otimes W$. We note that W_0 maps S surjectively onto \tilde{S} . Thus, (since isometries have closed ranges) if \tilde{S} is dense, \overline{W}_0 is surjective and hence W is a unitary. This is the claim of the last sentence in the theorem.

It remains to verify Eq. (2). To this end, note that by definition $(\mathbb{1} \otimes W)((X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{E})V - VX) = (X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}})\tilde{V} - \tilde{V}X$, which can be expressed as

$$(X \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\tilde{\mathbf{E}}})((\mathbb{1} \otimes W)V - \tilde{V}) = ((\mathbb{1} \otimes W)V - \tilde{V})X.$$

Since this holds for all $X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, Lemma 11 (with $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$) tells us that there exists a vector $|\tilde{\psi}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{\tilde{E}}$ such that $(\mathbb{1} \otimes W)V - \tilde{V} = -\mathbb{1} \otimes |\tilde{\psi}\rangle$. This is the first part of Eq. (2). To find the relation between K and \tilde{K} we equate versions two of L(X) in a) (with and without the tilde) and substitute $\tilde{V} = (\mathbb{1} \otimes W)V + \mathbb{1} \otimes |\tilde{\psi}\rangle$ After expanding the quadratic term and some cancellations and rearrangements, we arrive at

$$\hat{K}^{\dagger}X + X\hat{K} = \tilde{K}^{\dagger}X + X\tilde{K}, \text{ for all } X \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}),$$

with $\hat{K} = K + (\mathbb{1} \otimes \langle \tilde{\psi} | W)V + \frac{1}{2} \|\tilde{\psi}\|^2$. By Lemma 12 (with $\mathcal{H}_{\mathsf{B}} = \mathbb{C}$), there is $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\tilde{K} = \hat{K} + i\mu$. This finishes the proof.

The end